
 

 

 

22 March 2021 

At the conclusion of the Cultural and Community Committee 

 

Transport, Heritage and Planning 
Committee 

 



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 

  

Agenda 
  
 

 

1.   Disclosures of Interest 

2.   The Crescent Synthetic Sports Field Update and Proposed Permanent Road 
Closure - Chapman Road, Annandale 

3.   Post Exhibition - Planning Proposal - Open and Creative Planning Reforms and 
Draft Sydney Development Control Plan - Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

4.   Post Exhibition - Planning Proposal - 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth 
Park Road, Glebe - Sydney Local Environmental Plan Amendment and Draft Sydney 
Development Control Plan 

5.   Post Exhibition - Planning Proposal - 4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills - Sydney 
Local Environmental Plan 2012 Amendment and Draft Sydney Development Control 
Plan 2012 

6.   Post Exhibition - Planning Proposal - 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters - Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012 Amendment and Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 
2012 

7.   Gateway Determination - Planning Proposal - 600-660 Elizabeth Street, Redfern - 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 Amendment and Draft Design Guide 

8.   Fire Safety Reports 

 



 

 

 
 

Disclaimer, Terms and Guidelines for 
Speakers at Council Committees 
As part of our democratic process, the City invites members of the community to speak directly to Councillors during 
Committee meetings about items on the agenda. 

Webcast  

In accordance with the City of Sydney Code of Meeting Practice, Committee meetings are recorded and webcast 
live on the City of Sydney website at www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au.  

Members of the public attending a council or committee meeting may have their image, voice and personal 
information (including name and address) recorded, publicly broadcast and archived for up to 12 months.  

Consent  

By attending a council or committee meeting, members of the public consent to this use of their image, voice and 
personal information.  

Disclaimer 

Statements made by individuals at a council or committee meeting, and which may be contained in a live stream 
or recording of the meeting are those of the individuals making them, and not of the City. To be clear, unless set 
out in a resolution of council, the City does not endorse or support such statements. 

The City does not accept any liability for statements made or actions taken by individuals during a Council or 
Committee meeting that may be contrary to law, including discriminatory, defamatory or offensive comments. Such 
statements or actions are not protected by privilege and may be the subject of legal proceedings and potential 
liability, for which the City takes no responsibility. 

Guidelines  

To enable the Committee to hear a wide range of views and concerns within the limited time available, we 
encourage people interested in speaking at Committee to: 

1. Register to speak by calling Secretariat on 9265 9310 or emailing secretariat@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au 
before 10.00am on the day of the meeting. 

2. Check the recommendation in the Committee report before speaking, as it may address your concerns so 
that you just need to indicate your support for the recommendation. 

3. Note that there is a three minute time limit for each speaker (with a warning bell at two minutes) and 
prepare your presentation to cover your major points within that time. 

4. Avoid repeating what previous speakers have said and focus on issues and information that the 
Committee may not already know. 

5. If there is a large number of people interested in the same item as you, try to nominate three 
representatives to speak on your behalf and to indicate how many people they are representing. 

Committee meetings can continue until very late, particularly when there is a long agenda and a large number of 
speakers. This impacts on speakers who have to wait until very late, as well as City staff and Councillors who are 
required to remain focused and alert until very late. At the start of each Committee meeting, the Committee Chair 
may reorder agenda items so that those items with speakers can be dealt with first. 

Committee reports are available at www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au 

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/
mailto:secretariat@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/


Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

Disclosures of Interest 

Pursuant to the provisions of the City of Sydney Code of Meeting Practice and the City of 
Sydney Code of Conduct, Councillors are required to disclose pecuniary interests in any 
matter on the agenda for this meeting. 

Councillors are also required to disclose any non-pecuniary interests in any matter on the 
agenda for this meeting. 

This will include receipt of reportable political donations over the previous four years. 

In both cases, the nature of the interest must be disclosed. 

Local Government and Planning Legislation Amendment (Political Donations) 
Act 2008 

The Local Government and Planning Legislation Amendment (Political Donations) Act 2008 
(“the Act”) requires the disclosure of relevant political donations or gifts when planning 
applications are made to minimise any perception of undue influence. The amendments to 
the Act require disclosure to the Electoral Funding Authority of: 

 a reportable political donation as defined in the Election Funding and Disclosures 
Act 1981 (a donation of $1000 or more made to or for the benefit of the party, elected 
member, group or candidate or made by a major political donor to or for the benefit of 
a party, elected member, group or candidate, or made to the major political donor), or  

 a gift (as defined in the Election Funding and Disclosures Act 1981) to any local 
councillor or council employee (and includes a disposition of property or a gift of 
money or the provision of other valuable or service for no consideration or for 
inadequate consideration) when a relevant planning application is made to a council.  

A donation of less than $1000 can be a reportable political donation if the aggregated total of 
such donations was made by an entity or person to the same party, elected member, group 
or candidate or person. 

1

Item 1.



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

The Crescent Synthetic Sports Field Update and Proposed Permanent Road 
Closure - Chapman Road, Annandale  

File No: X006324 

Summary 

In 2013, Council adopted the Johnstons Creek Parklands Master Plan which supported the 
reclamation of industrial land along The Crescent for open space. The vision included the 
creation of a Village Green for junior sports within a new recreational precinct. 

The Sports Field Development Program was endorsed by Council in 2019 and identified The 
Crescent Open Space as a suitable location for the development of a concept design for a 
multi-purpose synthetic field. 

This report provides an update on the progress of the Crescent Synthetic Sports Field 
concept design which proposes to provide a compact multi-purpose synthetic sports field 
and associated landscape and field works. 

To enable the construction of the sports field, approximately 1,822 square metres of 
Chapman Road, Annandale, requires closure to traffic. Further changes to traffic treatment 
identified within the concept design is subject to review by the Local Pedestrian, Cycling and 
Traffic Calming Committee, and a future Council report.  

Under Section 38B of the Roads Act 1993, a notification was published in the Sydney 
Morning Herald and Sydney Your Say between 9 November and 27 December 2020, inviting 
feedback on the proposed road closure. Sixty-one public submissions and one formal 
objection from Ausgrid were received. 

This report recommends the endorsement of the permanent road closure of Chapman Road, 
Annandale to enable progression of community consultation for the Crescent Synthetic 
Sports Field concept design. Community consultation outcomes will be further discussed 
and considered as part of the Crescent Synthetic Sports Field project scope report. 

  

1

Item 2.



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council endorse the progression of community consultation on the design of the 
Crescent Synthetic Sports Field on the basis that a section of Chapman Road, 
Annandale is closed to traffic; 

(B) Council endorse the permanent road closure of approximately 1,822 square metres of 
Chapman Road, Annandale, to traffic, located to the south of the Glebe Viaducts (6A 
Chapman Road, Annandale);  

(C) Council note the proposed changes to traffic treatment along Chapman Road involving 
the creation of a turning circle are subject to review by the Local Pedestrian, Cycling 
and Traffic Calming Committee, and a future Council report;  

(D) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to approve the publication of a 
Gazette to formalise the road closure and enter into any documentation required to 
give effect to the road closure. 

Attachments 

Attachment A. The Crescent Synthetic Sports Field Concept Design 

Attachment B. Identification Plan - Chapman Road, Annandale 

Attachment C. Community Engagement Report - Chapman Road Closure 

  

2



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

Background 

The Crescent Synthetic Sports Field 

 In 2013, the Johnstons Creek Parklands Master Plan was adopted and endorsed a 
strategic vision to redevelop The Crescent Open Space into a new recreation precinct.  

 The Master Plan supported the implementation of a new Village Green for junior sports 
which would reclaim the land at 7 The Crescent, Annandale (The Crescent Open 
Space) and a section of Chapman Road.  

 In 2019, Council endorsed the Sports Field Development Program which proposed a 
strategy to increase playing capacity across the City, equivalent to 20 natural turf fields 
by 2030. Along with partnering with other land owners and purchasing new land to 
provide public use, the strategy proposed increasing capacity and building new sports 
fields at existing City of Sydney sites.  

 The Crescent Open Space, Annandale was selected for development of a concept 
design along with Perry Park, Waterloo Oval and Turruwul Park. The Crescent Open 
Space will provide a new valuable recreational space for the local community and offer 
a flexible, active and engaging open space to cater for a range of uses. 

 Attachment A details the proposed concept design for The Crescent Synthetic Sports 
Field. The works include; a new compact multi-purpose synthetic sports field with 
lighting, fencing and goal netting, new water bubblers, seating, paths and soft 
landscaping as well as a new turning-circle to a reduced Chapman Road. 

 To facilitate the construction of the sports field a section of Chapman Road requires 
closure and will result in the removal of forty parking bays, consistent with the adopted 
Master Plan. 

 A turning circle has been incorporated into the concept to accommodate vehicular 
movement at the southern end of Chapman Road before the area proposed for 
closure, resulting in a further loss of five parking bays. This will allow vehicles to 
perform a three-point turn and exit the road in a forward direction. 

 The proposed changes to traffic treatment associated with the creation of the turning 
circle requires a review by the Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic Calming 
Committee and will be the subject of a future report to Council. 

Chapman Road, Annandale 

 Chapman Road, Annandale is a public road controlled by the City as the Roads 
Authority.  

 The section of road proposed for closure is approximately 1,822 square metres in area 
and is accessible from the intersection at Nelson Street, see Attachment B. It contains 
subsurface assets owned by Sydney Water and Ausgrid.  

 No through traffic is permissible due to the location of the Glebe Viaducts, separating 
Chapman Road midway. The proposed closure does not impede access to adjoining 
land.  

 This section of Chapman Road is currently used for on-street parking and contains 
forty parking bays.   

3



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

Key Implications 

Strategic Alignment - Sustainable Sydney 2030 

 Sustainable Sydney 2030 is a vision for the sustainable development of the City to 
2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of the City, as 
well as 10 targets against which to measure progress. This report is aligned with the 
following strategic directions and objectives: 

(a) Direction 4 - A City for Walking and Cycling - the proposed redevelopment of The 
Crescent and Chapman Road will enable the integration of walking tracks around 
the field and cycle parking, creating greater connectivity between existing park 
spaces.  

(b) Direction 6 - Vibrant Local Communities and Economies - local sports fields 
provide spaces for local recreation, fitness, health and social inclusion. The 
provision of new infrastructure expands the recreational offering, providing 
opportunities for the local community to interact. 

(c) Direction 9 - Sustainable Development, Renewal and Design - the development 
of a new sports field provides the City with an opportunity to adopt sustainable 
development techniques in its construction, maintenance and management. 

Risks 

 Failure to implement the scope of these works will impact the Sports Field 
Development Program and affect the City's ability to increase playable hour capacity to 
meet the growing needs of the community. 

 Failure to implement is contrary to the strategic vision endorsed in the 2013 Johnstons 
Creek Parklands Master Plan. 

Social / Cultural / Community 

 The Johnstons Creek Parklands are recognised as a destination precinct for both 
passive and active recreational uses. The redevelopment of The Crescent Open 
Space provides greater activation of an area currently inaccessible to park users.   

 The proposed road closure will enable the creation of: 

(a) a compact multi-purpose synthetic sports field that can be built to cater for a 
range of sports, including junior hockey and training; 

(b) additional open space to service passive recreational activities; and 

(c) new accessible pathways, providing greater connectivity between The Crescent, 
Glebe Viaducts and Federal Park. 

 The Glebe District Hockey Club approached Council proposing a small field suitable 
for junior teams and practice activities on this same site. A critical objective for them is 
having an appropriate surface (i.e. synthetic) for the development of junior players. 
The subject site can accommodate this requirement.  

4



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

Environmental 

 Much of the road proposed for closure is to be converted into open space. This will 
assist in the enhancement of biodiversity within the Johnstons Creek Parklands 
precinct.  

 New landscaping which incorporates native tree planting provides for a more 
compatible use with the adjoining Federal Park - an area identified for bush 
regeneration and the location of a potential habitat link. 

Financial Implications 

 Funds are available in the Multi-purpose Synthetic Sports Practice Field - The 
Crescent, Annandale budget to undertake the works associated with the road closure. 

Relevant Legislation 

 The following sections of the Roads Act 1993 are relevant: 

(a) Section 38A permits Council as the Road Authority to close a public road if it is 
not reasonably required for public use, does not provide continuity for an existing 
road network; and is not required for access to adjoining land; 

(b) Section 38B requires Council to give notice of the proposed road closure for a 
minimum period of twenty-eight days; 

(c) Under Section 38C, public submissions and formal objections by notifiable 
authorities may be issued to Council during the notifiable period;  

(d) Upon consideration of any submissions duly made, Section 38D (1) authorises 
Council to close the public road via the publication of a Gazette however, this is 
subject to the withdrawal of any formal objection from a notifiable authority (38D 
(2)(b)); and 

(e) Under Section 38E, upon publication of the Gazette, the road ceases to be a 
public road, whereby all rights of passage and access are extinguished. The land 
comprising of the former road remains vested in the Council as operational land. 

Critical Dates / Time Frames 

 Section 38B (1) of the Roads Act 1993 requires the proposal to be publicly notified for 
a minimum period of twenty-eight days. 

 The Crescent Synthetic Sports Field is proposed to be constructed by the end of 
December 2022. The road closure process can be administered in parallel to other 
project activities to ensure that the program is not delayed  

  

5



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 If approved by Council, the timeframe for the project is: 

(a) Commence community consultation - mid-2021; 

(b) Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic Calming Committee report - mid to late-
2021;  

(c) Scoping report to Council mid to late-2021; 

(d) Commence construction - mid-2022; 

(e) Complete construction - end-2022.  

Public Consultation 

 As required under Section 38B (1) of the Roads Act 1993, the City consulted with the 
community and state authorities on the proposed road closure. 

 The proposal was published in the Sydney Morning Herald and Sydney Your Say for a 
period of 49 days, commencing 9 November and concluding 27 December 2020. 600 
letters were also distributed to local businesses and residents. 

 The consultation generated 61 public submissions and are summarised in Attachment 
C. Of the responses, 24 were in support of the proposal, with 31 in opposition. A 
further six submissions were neutral. 

 Many of the responses were in support of the construction of a new sports field and 
the integration of open space between The Crescent and Federal Park. 

 Responses objecting to the proposal raised the following concerns surrounding the 
total loss of the forty-five parking bays: 

 the precinct is already heavily utilised by the community which will increase upon 
completion of surrounding significant projects; 

 removal of these bays will instigate overspill parking and congestion in the 
surrounding residential streets; and 

 loss of accessible parking impacts parents who use the services at the Crescent 
Early Learning Centre. 

 The overspill of parking associated from the cumulative loss of the forty-five parking 
bays can be readily accommodated in surrounding streets which are currently 
underutilised.  

 The dedicated drop off/pick up parking for the Early Learning Centre will be retained as 
part of the future design of the synthetic field and closed road area.  

  

6



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 In principle approval has been provided by Sydney Water subject to satisfying 
conditions associated with the redevelopment of the sports field, this may include the 
need to grant an easement for sewerage/water supply purpose over existing line of 
pipes. 

 A formal objection has been received by Ausgrid but is subject to withdrawal upon the 
granting of an easement for electricity and other purposes; and a right of carriageway. 

AMIT CHANAN 

Director City Projects and Property 

Damon La'rance, Delivery Manager  

Cailin Martin, Crown Lands Manager 

7



Attachment A

The Crescent Synthetic
Sports Field Concept Design

8



TH
E C

R
ESC

EN
T

CHAPMAN  ROAD

MULTI-PURPOSE SYNTHETIC 
SPORTSFIELD

FEDERAL PARK
MULTI-PURPOSE 
PLAYING FIELD

EXISTING 
SALTMASH

NEW PARK WORKS
IN CONSTRUCTION

x8 PARKING BAYS ASSOCIATED 
WITH THE CHILDCARE TO BE 
RETAINED IN EXISTING LOCATION

AREA OF EXISTING x45 PARKING 
BAYS PROPOSED TO BE REMOVED

EXISTING CHILDCARE 
CENTRE

THE CRESCENT SYNTHETIC SPORTS FIELD - CONCEPT

NTS
9



Attachment B 

Identification Plan - 

Chapman Road, Annandale

10



© City  of  Sydney Council 2020. All  Rights Reserved. This map  has
been  compiled  from  various  sources  and  the  publisher  and/or
contributors accept  no responsibility  for  any injury,  loss or  damage
arising  from the  use,  error  or  omissions  therein.  While  all  care  is
taken  to  ensure  a  high  degree  of  accuracy,  users  are  invited  to
notify Council’s Spatial Services of any map discrepancies.  No part
of this map may be reproduced without written permission.

A4 1:

0

Metres 20-Jan-21Date: 

13

500

6 25

Identification Plan:
Proposed Road Closure - Chapman Road, Annandale (part)

Total Area 1,822m2
Measurements are approximate 11



Attachment C 

Community Engagement Report – 

Chapman Road Closure

12



 

 
 

Engagement 
report 
Permanent road closure – Chapman Road, 
Annandale 

January 2021 

13



Engagement report – Chapman Road road-closure 

2 

Contents 

Background 3 

Engagement summary 3 

Key findings 5 

Engagement activities 7 

Appendix 8 

 

 

14



Engagement report 

3 

Background 
The City proposes to permanently close a portion of Chapman Road, Annandale to traffic to 
create an extra 1,500 square metres of open space for community sports and recreation. 

This redevelopment is part of the Johnstons Creek parklands masterplan, which includes 
a new sports field and recreation precinct in the area. 

The design for this new facility involves closing the road and removing 45 car spaces. 

 

15



Engagement report 

4 

Engagement 
summary 
From 9 November to 27 December 2020, we asked the 
community for feedback on a plan to close a portion of 
Chapman Road. 
Consultation on the plan provided an opportunity for stakeholders and the community to 

review and comment on the design.  

Consultation activities included online engagement, a letter to residents and email sporting 

groups as well as a notice in the Sydney Morning Herald. 

This report outlines the community engagement activities that took place to support the 

consultation and summarises the key findings from the consultation. 

Purpose of the engagement 
The purpose of the engagement was to: 

– gather feedback from stakeholders and the community about the proposed closure  

– determine the level of satisfaction with the proposal. 

Outcomes from the engagement 

Submissions received during consultation 

We received a total of 61 submissions (via Survey Monkey and email) during the public 

exhibition period. The Sydney Your Say page was visited 763 times during the consultation 

period. 

 

 

 

16



Engagement report 

5 

Key findings 
Online feedback form  
Respondents who completed the online feedback form were asked to provide feedback on 

the proposal to close a portion of Chapman Road to traffic. 

The consultation generated sixty-one public submissions. Of the responses, twenty-four 

were in support of the proposal. 

The submissions that supported the proposal focused on the benefits of creating new open 

space for public use as well as for organised sports. The Glebe District Hockey Club were 

particularly vocal in their support. 

Thirty-one submissions did not support the removal of the parking. The key issues raised 

when opposing the removal was: 

– the precinct is already heavily utilised by the community which will increase upon 

completion of surrounding significant projects; and 

– Removal of these bays will instigate overspill parking and congestion in the 

surrounding residential streets, 

These submissions were received from residents in surrounding streets as well as people 

currently using the park for organised sports. 

Six of the submissions were neutral on the proposal. 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

17



Engagement report 

6 

 

Subjects/topics raised in submissions 
Several subjects/topics were raised in the feedback received. These were presented as 

concerns, suggestions and/or requests and are summarised below. 

 

Inner West Council 
A submission was also received from Inner West Council.  Inner West are supportive of a 

new car park along The Crescent, as proposed in the 2013 Master Plan and would be 

happy to work with the City and RMS to address pedestrian safety in this location. 

There is concern regarding the potential relocation of parking demands into adjacent streets 

in their LGA. This is of concern during weekends and summer holidays.  

General 

Comments raised Total 

Support of the concept: 

• “I fully support the proposal for more open space, and less road space / car parking.” 

• “I support the planned road closure 100% 

• “I think this is brilliant.  I think all of it should be closed from the roundabout.  I 
support all measures to make our public spaces more pleasant for cyclists and 
pedestrians.” 

24 

Oppose the removal of parking 36 

Support for the creation of new open space if parking losses are offset nearby 

 

7 

There is no need for new sporting facilities in the area 
5 

2P/resident parking should be implemented in Trafalgar Street, so residents are not impacted 
by the parking removal 

4 

Dedicated spaces for day care drop off and pick up should remain in Chapman Street 
2 

Empty block between Pet-O and day care centre should be converted to parking to offset 
losses 

2 

Toilet and change facilities in the park should be upgraded 
1 

18



Engagement report 

7 

Engagement 
activities 
Overview of engagement  
A Sydney Your Say webpage was created, along with an online survey. 600 letters were 

sent to residents in the area and key stakeholders were contacted.  

1. Sydney Your Say webpage 

A Sydney Your Say webpage, https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/vision-setting/proposal-

close-part-chapman-road-annandale was created. The page included an electronic copy of 

the revised concept design, survey and other key information about the consultation. 

2. Online feedback form via Survey Monkey 

The community and stakeholders were able to give feedback using an online feedback 

form. A link to the feedback form was provided on the Sydney Your Say website. 

3. Sydney Your Say e-News 

The consultation was included in the Sydney Your Say November 2020 e-Newsletter (4,070 

subscribers).  

4. Consultation letter   

A letter was posted to residents, inviting them to give feedback on the proposal. 600 letters 

were distributed. 

5. Notice in the Sydney Morning Herald 

A Section 38B notice was placed in the Sydney Morning Herald notifying people of the 

proposed road closure. 

6. Notification email 

An email was sent to key stakeholders including Glebe District Hockey Club, Glebe 

Wanderers, Urban Rec, Glebe Greyhounds JAFC, Inner West Council, PetO Annandale, 

The Crescent Early Learning Centre and Webber’s Carpet Warehouse. 

19

https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/vision-setting/proposal-close-part-chapman-road-annandale
https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/vision-setting/proposal-close-part-chapman-road-annandale


Engagement report 

8 

Appendix 
Appendix A: concept design 

 

 

 

 

20



Engagement report 

9 

 

 

 

Appendix B: Consultation letter 

 

 

  

21



Engagement report 

10 

 

 

Appendix C: Notification distribution map 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

22



Engagement report 

11 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

23



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Post Exhibition – Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms – 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan Amendment and Draft Sydney Development 
Control Plan 

File No: X009155 

Summary 

A strong cultural life and night time economy strengthens Sydney’s global competitiveness 
as a productive, liveable and inviting city. It provides a wide range of social, cultural, leisure 
and entertainment opportunities throughout the day, evening and night to match the city's 
growing and changing population. This diversity creates a more connected community, an 
inclusive and vibrant nightlife, improves safety and reduces crime. 

The Open and Creative planning reforms have been informed by research and consultation 
since 2015. This included extensive consultation on a discussion paper in 2017 with strong 
support through deliberative community workshops and over 1,300 submissions. The 
reforms reflect the City’s long-term commitment to the night time and cultural sectors and 
assist in addressing the significant challenges that creative and cultural businesses face 
from Covid-19. They aim to reactivate the night time economy and remove regulatory burden 
from shops and businesses wanting to trade later, provide alternative venues for small scale 
cultural activities, and allow a greater range of creative uses in local centres and in 
Erskineville Town Hall. 

The proposal was granted Gateway determination on 17 September 2020. The planning 
proposal and draft Development Control Plan and other supporting documents were then 
publicly exhibited from 19 October to 18 November 2020.  

In response, 190 submissions from residents, individuals, resident associations, government 
agencies, music and performance venue operators, business owners, business associations 
and developers were received. Of these, 128 were in support, 36 in objection, 26 were 
neutral and 13 related to the City's proposed fair management of entertainment sound 
proposal. In order to enable the most efficient possible progression of the other aspects of 
the proposed reform, the fair management of entertainment sound proposal does not form 
part of this report. This is because the detailed and technical nature of the submissions and 
the implications of new NSW Government legislation for entertainment precincts requires 
further analysis and engagement. In anticipated that entertainment sound provisions will be 
reported to Council later in the year.  

A summary of and responses to matters raised in submissions (excluding entertainment 
sound) is provided at Attachment F. 

There was strong support for the proposal overall, in particular:  

 Support for controls that will facilitate increased vibrancy and a 24-hour economy, 
post-Covid; 

 Opportunities for more small scale cultural activities to diversify the night time 
economy and provide alternative venue space; 

1

Item 3.



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

 Reducing red tape and costs for business and creative sector;  

 Less regulatory burden to encourage later trading shops; and 

 More diversity on high streets, including much needed maker space for creative 
industries and performance and rehearsal space in Erskineville Town Hall. 

There were also concerns and objections in relation to:  

 The potential cumulative impact of later opening shops and small-scale cultural 
activities; 

 Potential impacts on amenity from performance and patron entry/egress noise, 
smoking and waste; 

 Compliance, enforcement and lack of oversight by the council; and 

 The absence of a DA assessment for small scale cultural activities and shops trading 
until 10pm. 

There were also concerns raised in regard to recent changes implemented through the NSW 
Government's Liquor Amendment (Night-time Economy) Act 2020 (the Night-time Economy 
Act) from December 2020 and the potential for further amenity impacts. The Night-time 
Economy Act and how it interacts with the City's Open and Creative planning reforms is 
addressed as part of this report. This new legislation is seen as complementary to the City's 
work. 

The planning proposal has been amended to require operators to notify council of their 
intention to host a small scale cultural activity via an online form, to allow council to monitor 
frequency and impacts of the exempt provision. It is proposed to undertake a review of the 
take-up of the small scale cultural activity exempt provisions two years after they are 
published. This change has been made in response to submissions and a condition of the 
Gateway determination. Other changes to minimise impacts on residents include not 
permitting pack down of small scale cultural activities after 10pm and ensuring that waste 
collection from these events only takes place between 7am and 7pm daily. 

Overall, the Open and Creative planning reforms are considered to permit business activities 
in a way that will have minimal impact on our residential communities. The expected impacts 
are in line with those experienced in any major city with a healthy night time economy. The 
reforms do not permit any additional activities past 10pm, they support business in a time 
where business requires additional support and they promote Sydney as a productive, 
liveable and inviting city. 

This report recommends Council and the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve the 
amended planning proposal at Attachment A and request that the Department of Planning, 
Industry and Environment make it as a local environmental plan. It also recommends 
approval of the draft DCP and Technical Guidelines at attachments B and C, noting that the 
consideration of the entertainment sound controls is deferred to enable proper consideration 
of technical submissions will be reported to Council at a later time.  

The local environmental plan will come into effect when it is published on the NSW 
Legislation website. The development control plan will come into effect at the same time. 

2



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council note matters raised in response to the public exhibition of the Planning 
Proposal: Open and Creative Planning Reforms and draft Sydney Development 
Control Plan 2012: Open and Creative Planning Reforms, as detailed in this report and 
as shown in Attachment F to the subject report; 

(B) Council approve the amended Planning Proposal: Open and Creative Planning 
Reforms, as shown at Attachment A to the subject report, and request that the 
Department of Planning Industry and Environment  make it as a local environmental 
plan under S3.36 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979; 

(C) Council approve the draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012: Open and Creative 
Planning Reforms, as shown at Attachment B to the subject report, noting that it will 
come into effect on the date of publication of the subject local environmental plan, in 
accordance with Clause 21 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 
2000;  

(D) Council note that the entertainment sound management from Schedule 2 of the draft 
Sydney Development Control Plan 2012: Open and Creative Planning Reforms as 
approved for exhibition on 25 June 2020 are deferred from the proposed amendment 
to enable further consideration of submissions and will be reported to Council at a later 
date; 

(E) Council approve the Draft Technical Guidelines - Small Scale Cultural Activities in 
spaces less than 500 square metres, shown at Attachment C to the subject report; and 

(F) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor amendments 
to the Planning Proposal: Open and Creative Planning Reforms and draft Sydney 
Development Control Plan 2012: Open and Creative Planning Reforms to correct any 
minor errors or omissions prior to finalisation. 

 

  

3



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Attachments 

Attachment A. Amended Planning Proposal Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012: 
Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

Attachment B. Draft Sydney Development Control Plan: Open and Creative Planning 
Reforms (amended to exclude the Entertainment Sound Management 
provisions) 

Attachment C. Draft Technical Guidelines - Small Scale Cultural Activities in Spaces 
less than 500 square metres 

Attachment D. Resolution of Council and Central Sydney Planning Committee 

Attachment E. Gateway Determination 

Attachment F. Summary of and Responses to Matters raised in Submissions  

4



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Background  

1. Globally, successful cities provide a wide range of opportunities to create or 
experience the city’s cultural life and its leisure and entertainment options. They strike 
a rich balance between private and public activities and attract a diversity of ages, 
lifestyles, and cultures throughout the day, evening and night. Evidence shows that a 
diversity of options leads to a stronger, more connected and resilient community, 
creates a more inclusive and vibrant nightlife, improves safety and reduces crime.  

2. In October 2017, Council endorsed 'An Open and Creative City: planning for culture 
and the night time economy' discussion paper for public exhibition. The discussion 
paper was prepared in response to actions in the City’s OPEN Sydney Strategy and 
Action Plan, Creative City Policy and Action Plan and Live Music and Performance 
Action Plan.  

3. The discussion paper included proposals to make it easier for shops and businesses 
to open later in the City’s business precincts, support small scale cultural uses in 
existing under-used buildings and provide a clear and fair approach to managing 
entertainment sound from venues, by applying the ‘agent of change’ approach. The 
proposals received strong support from the creative sector and community with over 
1,300 pieces of feedback received through an online survey, submissions and a 
deliberative workshop. This consultation informed the further development of the 
proposals into changes to the City's planning controls. 

4. At the meetings on 25 and 29 June 2020, Council and CSPC approved the submission 
of a request for Gateway Determination to publicly exhibit the Open and Creative 
planning reforms. The reforms propose changes to the Sydney LEP and DCP and new 
technical guidance to encourage later opening shops, more small scale cultural uses 
and the fair management of entertainment. They also encourage more creative work 
spaces on village high streets and make permissible entertainment uses in the 
Erskineville Town Hall. The proposed changes will complement the City's amended 
late night trading controls approved by Council in 2019. 

5. The proposals aim to strengthen the city's cultural life and night time economy and 
assist in addressing the significant challenges that creative and cultural businesses 
face from Covid-19. They will help to re-activate the night time economy, which has 
been greatly impacted, with businesses forced to close and others struggling to 
survive.  

6. A Gateway determination was issued by the Department of Planning, Industry and 
Environment on 17 September 2020. The planning proposal and draft Development 
Control Plan and other supporting documents were then publicly exhibited from 19 
October to 18 November 2020. In response, 190 submissions were received. Of these, 
128 were in support, 36 objected, 26 were neutral.  

7. Of these 190 submissions,13 related specifically to the City's proposed fair 
management of entertainment sound proposal. Because of the technical nature of the 
entertainment sound submissions and the submissions provided there is a need for 
further analysis and engagement. In order to enable this analysis and engagement to 
occur without causing any further delay to the other parts of the proposal the fair 
management of entertainment sound provisions in the DCP are deferred from 
consideration at this time. It is anticipated that they will be reported later in the year.  

  

5



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

8. This report details the outcomes of public exhibition and the changes made to the 
planning proposal in response to submissions. No changes are made to the draft DCP 
(other than the deferral of the entertainment sound management provisions for further 
consideration) and Technical Guidelines as exhibited. 

The Open and Creative planning reforms 

9. The Open and Creative planning reforms progressed as part of this report propose to 
allow shops to open later without the need for an additional development consent, 
encourage more small scale cultural uses to occur in existing buildings without 
consent, allow a greater range of creative uses in local centres and entertainment uses 
in Erskineville Town Hall. 

10. The proposed changes to the Sydney LEP 2012 are outlined in Attachment A and 
include: 

(a) Two new exempt development provisions, one for later opening shops and the 
other for small scale cultural activities; 

(b) Making ‘light industry’ a use permitted with consent to allow creative and maker 
spaces to operate in B2 Local Centre zones; and 

(c) Additional permitted uses for Erskineville Town Hall. 

11. The proposed amendments to the Sydney DCP 2012 are outlined in Attachment B and 
include a new section for cultural activities, including objectives and guidance on low 
impact activities, other cultural activities, fire safety and plan of management 
considerations. 

12. Technical guidelines separate to the DCP are included at Attachment C. This guidance 
provides advice on alternative fire safety and building compliance solutions for cultural 
activities taking place in spaces of less than 500sqm. 

13. The proposed changes: 

(a) Allow shops and local businesses in B1 Neighbourhood Centre, B2 Local Centre, 
B3 Commercial Centre, B4 Mixed Use or B8 Metropolitan Centre zones to 
extend their opening hours without a further development consent (exempt) from 
7am to 10pm, seven days per week, subject to meeting certain criteria. The 
criteria require that eligible businesses are not food and drink premises, not 
licensed and do not contravene conditions of consent relating to noise, car 
parking, loading or waste management; 

(b) Allow minimal impact small scale cultural uses without development consent 
(exempt) to take place in existing office, business, retail and community facility 
buildings located in the B2 Local Centre, B3 Commercial Core, B4 Mixed Use, 
B5 Business Development, B6 Enterprise Corridor, B7 Business Park, B8 
Metropolitan Centre and IN1 Industrial Zone zones subject to meeting certain 
criteria. The criteria address capacity, location in building, fire safety, frequency, 
duration, sanitary facilities, waste management, entry/egress, licensing, amplified 
sound, building works, existing consent conditions (for car parking, vehicular 
movement, traffic, loading or waste management), notification and signage; 

6



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

(c) Establish new planning controls specifically for cultural uses that need 
assessment through the development consent process, to provide better 
planning guidance and greater certainty; 

(d) Allow creative and maker tenants and owners to operate in B2 zoned local 
centres; and 

(e) Extend the current community and cultural uses available for Erskineville Town 
Hall to include entertainment uses such as theatre, cinema, music and dance. 

Outcomes of public exhibition and public authority consultation 

14. The planning proposal, draft DCP and supporting guidance were placed on public 
exhibition from 19 October to 18 November 2020. 

15. The exhibition was advertised in the Sydney Morning Herald and 121,714 notification 
letters were sent to owners and occupiers. Notification of the public exhibition was 
advertised on the Sydney Your Say website with copies of the planning proposal, draft 
DCP Amendment and supporting documents made available. 

16. Emails were sent to 751 stakeholders including local community groups, resident 
groups, government agencies, councils, bars, performance venues, education 
facilities, creative organisations, festival organisers and business associations. Eight 
public agencies were also consulted as required by the Gateway determination, 
including the NSW Environmental Protection Authority, Create NSW, NSW Liquor and 
Gaming, NSW Police, NSW Health Alcohol and other Drug Prevention and Harm 
Minimisation and the NSW Night Time Economy Taskforce. 

17. In response, 190 submissions from residents, individuals, resident associations, 
government agencies, music and performance venue operators, business owners, 
business associations and developers were received. Of these, 128 were in support, 
36 in objection and 26 were neutral.  As noted above, 13 submissions related to the 
City's proposed fair management of entertainment sound proposal which, due to the 
technical nature and detailed consideration required, will be reported to Council in the 
future.  

18. A summary of and responses to matters raised in submissions (excluding 
entertainment sound) is provided at Attachment F. The predominant issues arising 
from submissions are addressed below. 

Strong support for Sydney's night time economy, post-Covid 

19. Most submitters strongly support the night time economy and measures to encourage 
shops to open later and more cultural activities. They say that the proposals provide 
the potential opportunity to reinvent Sydney post-Covid, revitalise its nightlife and 
increase the standing of Sydney as an international city.  

  

7



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

20. The impact of the pandemic on the city’s nightlife, and cultural and creative sector is a 
significant concern, with many submissions noting the limited activity, trading hours 
and early closures of venues and restaurants. One submitter stated: 

As a resident in Glebe, I fully support any reforms that make it easier for business, 
retail, arts and culture and night life industries to thrive in Sydney. Especially in these 
difficult pandemic times. Online trading is hurting traditional retail and allowing shops 
to open later allows them to catch the after work foot traffic market.  

21. The need for more diversity in the night time economy is a key concern as described 
by another submitter:  

As a performer and resident of Oxford Street I would love to see creative energy return 
to our neighbourhood. Get our pubs, clubs, galleries, theatres and creative spaces 
open and working at times which make their existence viable. I didn't move to Oxford 
Street to live in a quiet community. Noise, laughter, music, colour, art, food, artistic and 
individual freedoms are what make Sydney great. 

22. Submitters support more night time activity in Green Square, Rosebery and Waterloo, 
where there is a growing large residential population seeking more cultural and 
entertainment options close to where they live.  

Response: 

23. The significant concern about Sydney's night time economy and support for the 
proposed changes to improve Sydney's night time economy in the recovery from the 
pandemic is noted. The City is committed to improving the city at night to ensure night‐
time experiences are balanced with daytime activities and are safe and inclusive of the 
broader population. OPEN Sydney aims to double the city's night-time turnover to $30 
billion and increase night-time employment by 25 per cent to 100,000 jobs by 2030. 
These proposed planning controls changes are one of a range of measures the City 
undertakes to support the night time economy.  

24. The reforms for later opening shops and small-scale cultural activities aim to activate 
and provide a more diverse nightlife in Green Square and Waterloo where over 70,000 
people will live by 2030. The proposals complement the City's late night trading DCP 
controls published in June 2019, which support a late night cultural and arts precinct in 
North Alexandria and other late night trading areas in Green Square town centre and 
Danks Street. 

Strong support for helping businesses and the creative sector 

25. Most submitters support reducing red tape for later opening shops and small scale 
cultural uses. They see this as helping the creative sector to find accommodation, 
reuse space and create opportunities for artists to be able to use existing spaces and 
non formal venues for performances.  

26. The NSW Small Business Commissioner supports the proposals, and the growth of 
creative performing arts businesses using alternative spaces in areas where space is 
scarce. The Commissioner supports the potential for businesses to activate and 
diversify their activities through the use of underused or vacant spaces. 

  

8



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Response: 

27. The support for reducing regulatory processes and the significant impacts of the 
pandemic on cultural and creative businesses is noted. The Australian Bureau of 
Statistics Business Indicators report in February 2021 shows that 70% of arts and 
recreation businesses are reporting ‘COVID-19 restrictions’ as a factor significantly 
impacting businesses, as are 80% of accommodation and food services, the highest of 
any industry group.  

Concerns about the absence of DA assessment and impact on amenity  

28. Some Chippendale residents are concerned about the proposals for later opening 
shops and small scale cultural activities which will be exempt from requiring 
development consent. They believe that proposals to allow these activities without 
development consent is inconsistent with the City’s previous position regarding late-
night trading. The City previously indicated that any changes to operating hours or 
uses would require development consent and that late-night trading would be limited to 
main streets such as Abercrombie Street, Regent Street, and Broadway.  

Response: 

29. The Open and Creative planning reforms were referenced in the report to Committee 
on Late night Trading DCP in May 2019 and have been developed to complement and 
support late night trading in the city. 

30. The Open and Creative proposals allow later opening shops and small scale cultural 
uses exempt from development consent to occur before 10pm. Submitters refer to 
consultation that the City undertook with Chippendale residents in respect of the Late 
Night Trading DCP in 2019, which limited activities occurring after 10pm to 
Abercrombie Street, Regent Street and Broadway.  

31. All proposals for late night trading, including shops, pubs, bars and clubs that operate 
after 10pm are subject to a DA. The later opening shops and small scale cultural 
activities which are exempt from development consent occur before 10pm. Those 
cultural activities or shops that trade after 10pm will be subject to a DA and will be 
notified so that the community has the opportunity to comment. 

Concerns that small scale cultural activities may not have enough oversight   

32. Submitters are concerned about the lack of oversight by Council of the small scale 
cultural activities which are exempt from development consent. They consider that 
there should be more avenues to manage non-compliance and potential impacts on 
amenity, other than having to lodge a complaint to City Rangers or Police.  

Response: 

33. The exempt provision requires operators to display signage and information about the 
event before and during the event so neighbours can contact the operator is there are 
issues. If activities do not comply with any of the proposed exempt criteria they are in 
breach of the exempt provision and risk being asked to cease by City compliance staff. 

34. A post-exhibition change to the LEP exempt provision will include additional criteria. It 
will require that operators wishing to host an event or activity exempt from 
development consent, notify the City of the intention to hold an event, via an online 
web form five days prior to the commencement of the event.   

  

9



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

35. The notification will require the same details as required for signage notification of the 
event. This includes the event name, a description of the nature of the event, 
commencement, duration, and completion date and the name and telephone number 
for contacting the person responsible for the event at all hours during which the 
premises is operating. This information will be made available to the City compliance 
team and will also be used by the City to monitor the take-up of the provision and track 
any impacts on local amenity. This information will be used to inform a review of the 
provisions two years after their commencement to confirm whether they are achieving 
their goals and whether any amendments are required. 

Concerns that small scale cultural activities may impact on amenity 

36. Submitters are concerned that the reforms may result in an increase in late-night 
venues which encourage drinking and antisocial behaviour which will impact 
neighbourhoods and exacerbate existing issues associated with pubs and bars. They 
are concerned about construction activities, gambling, waste, intoxicated people and 
noise impacts from local bars on families with young children and residents who want 
a quiet night. Smoking from patrons outside events on the public domain and waste 
and litter issues is also a concern for residents.  

37. Some submitters are concerned that noise from up to 70 people leaving a building at 
10pm will continue until 11pm as people will hold conversations after an event in the 
street with set up and pack down. They request that set up and pack down be included 
in the event duration time. 

38. Other issues include cumulative impacts of several events and the need to restrict 
events with amplified sound to 10pm on any night and to 6pm on Sundays. A one-year 
trial of the proposals was suggested. 

Response: 

39. The small scale cultural activity proposals have been developed and subject to 
community consultation since 2017 and will involve changes to the Sydney LEP.  

40. A post-exhibition change to the exempt provision is proposed to require online 
notification of exempt small scale cultural activities, which will give council the ability to 
monitor where, when and how often it is being taken up. The City will also review the 
take up and impacts associated with the exempt provision two years after its 
publication. This will enable the City to identify whether it is achieving its intended 
outcomes and also identify any amendments which may be required to better achieve 
those outcomes or resolve any impacts. 

41. These activities will not exacerbate impacts associated with existing pubs and bars, 
which already trade later than 10pm and have capacities greater than 70 patrons. 
Small scale cultural activities do not include outdoor trading/performance or allow 
amplified music in residential business zones. If noise or amplified sound from a small 
scale cultural event continues after 10pm it is in breach of the exempt provision and 
risk being asked to cease by City compliance staff.  

42. While the exempt criteria have been set to minimise impacts on neighbours, the 
relevant provisions of the Protection of the Environment (Operations) Act 1997 will still 
apply and persons undertaking exempt activities will need to ensure ‘offensive noise’ is 
not created. 

  

10



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

43. The exempt provision does not apply to activities which require building works (with 
the exception of minor approved exempt works), so no noise from construction 
activities will occur. Other larger cultural activities will be subject to DAs and conditions 
of consent will minimise impact on neighbours and the public domain.  

44. The 4 hour duration of events which can occur between 7am-10pm, should not be 
reduced to include set up and pack down. This is the minimum time that has been 
confirmed as viable by the City’s Nightlife and Creative Sector Panel for small scale 
cultural activities which can include seminars, talks and exhibitions as well as 
performance. The small-scale nature of these cultural activities means that set up and 
pack down will be limited and not create significant impacts. Operators will be required 
to manage the impact of smoking and patron egress on local amenity and ensure the 
orderly entry and egress of patrons which does not affect the amenity of the 
neighbourhood. This includes queueing of patrons and ensuring that there is adequate 
public access to other pedestrians on footpaths. Any proposals later than 10pm will be 
assessed through a DA. 

45. Notwithstanding these requirements, a post-exhibition change is proposed to address 
concerns of residents about the impacts of packing down an event on local amenity 
after 10pm. The proposed change will require that no pack down occur after 10pm, 
and instead be undertaken between 7am and 10pm the following day. 

46. The exempt criteria requires that that small scale cultural activities not contravene any 
existing condition of the active development consent for the main use of the building. If 
there is no consent condition applying to the premises relating to waste management, 
then waste must be removed from the premises and not placed on the public way at 
any time. Glass is not to be emptied or transferred anywhere in a public place. To 
further minimise the impacts of pack down activities on residents, a post-exhibition 
change requires that waste collection must only occur between 7am to 7pm daily. 

47. If small-scale cultural activities exempt from development consent occur in mixed-use 
zones, concurrently or on separate days until 10pm, they must meet all criteria so that 
any impacts will be minimal. Consistent trading hours through the week will provide 
flexibility for operators and encourage vibrancy and minimise cumulative impacts of 
activity in the weekend. If more activities with minimal impact are spread throughout 
the week, there may be less activities in a single location in the weekend. A restriction 
on Sunday night is not proposed because it will limit performance, such as small 
theatre runs which may take place on Sunday nights until 10pm with minimal impacts.  

Concerns that small scale cultural activities may impact parking and public transport  

48. Submitters are concerned that the proposals will increase traffic in busy streets or 
small laneways, where parking for local residents is not sufficient, such as Kings 
Cross, Pyrmont and Chippendale. They are concerned that public transport service is 
not adequate to service current late night trading areas and is not safe. 

Response: 

49. Small scale cultural activities under exempt development are limited to 10pm when 
public transport still operates at a high frequency. The exempt criteria for small scale 
cultural activities do not allow operators to contravene conditions of consent of the 
building which relate to traffic generation, vehicle movement, loading or parking. This 
is to minimise the impacts on residents and enable them access to their properties. 

  

11



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

50. It is agreed that the night time economy should be supported by a range of public 
transport options. The reforms are applied to areas of the city that are well served by 
public transport such bus, ferry light and heavy rail transport. The Sydney Metro will 
introduce a new high frequency, 21 hour service in the City with stations at Pyrmont, 
Barangaroo, Martin Place, Pitt Street, Central and Waterloo. These stations will serve 
Pyrmont, Barangaroo, city centre, Surry Hills, Redfern, Chippendale and North 
Alexandria, increasing accessibility to these areas later at night. The City continues to 
engage with the relevant State Government agencies to increase the provision of 
services and infrastructure to match population growth. 

Concerns about the impact of small scale cultural activities on specific areas 

Pyrmont  

51. Some submitters are concerned about the alignment of the proposals with the Pyrmont 
Peninsula Place Strategy, and the sub-precinct Master Plans, which may rezone land 
in Pyrmont.  

52. Other issues include the impact of retail premises at the Star Casino and Doltone 
House holding exempt small scale cultural activities with indoor/outdoor amplified 
music on neighbouring properties, and the presence of existing residential in the B3 
Commercial Core zone where amplified music is proposed to be permitted in Pyrmont. 

Response: 

53. The Pyrmont Peninsula Place Strategy is an NSW Department of Planning, Industry 
and Environment led project. The Department are in the process of preparing sub-
precinct master plans for Pyrmont and Ultimo that may inform LEP amendments in the 
future. Any amendments will require public consultation and consideration of zoning 
and associated impacts, including how any rezoning aligns with the City's Open and 
Creative planning reforms. 

54. It is not considered appropriate to pre-empt rezoning that may occur under the 
Department's project for Pyrmont and Ultimo. These issues will be addressed at that 
time, with the City always seeking to ensure the appropriate and reasonable protection 
of residential amenity. 

55. The proposals do not apply to function centres such as Doltone House, which are not 
classified as commercial uses under the Standard Instrument LEP definitions. Existing 
conditions on function centre approvals will continue to apply. The reforms may apply 
to retail and commercial tenancies located in the Star Casino, which will be allowed 
amplified music until 10pm. The proposals do not permit outdoor performance or 
outdoor trading without development consent. Other cultural activities which do not 
meet exempt criteria will be subject to a DA. 

56. Overall the Open and Creative planning reforms are considered to permit business 
activities in a way that will have minimal impact on our residential communities. The 
impacts expected are considered to be commensurate with those impacts experienced 
in any global city and they are consistent with the B3 Commercial Core which seeks to 
provide a wide range of retail, business, office, entertainment, community and other 
suitable land uses that serve the needs of the local and wider community. 

  

12



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Chippendale 

57. Some Chippendale residents are concerned about the noise impacts of small scale 
cultural events on low rise residential properties, many of which are heritage properties 
with no acoustic protection. They believe that an event with a microphone, background 
music and two speakers on any floor with doors opening for entry/exit will have 
significant impacts. This will exacerbate noise issues with cultural activities at 
Kensington Street and in local streets where cultural events have recently been 
staged. 

58. Other issues include the impacts on local amenity from exempt small scale cultural 
activities being permitted in Darlington, south of Cleveland Street and Rose and 
Shepherd Lane, where residential development may be impacted by commercial uses. 
Residents believe that only existing venues on City Road, including the Lansdowne 
Hotel should be allowed exempt small scale cultural activities. 

Response: 

59. The proposed exempt criteria relating to capacity, frequency and duration include 
thresholds to ensure impacts will be minimal. Noise impacts experienced in 
Chippendale from these exempt small scale events will be minimal, given that there 
will be no outdoor activity, the events will be until 10pm and no amplification is allowed. 
The character and built form of the conservation area is like that in other conservation 
areas in other mixed-use zones such as Surry Hills where the proposals apply.  

60. An area of Darlington, south of Cleveland Street, is included in the area where exempt 
activities can occur because it is part of the mixed use zone. This area features 
creative spaces and shops, which could be activated for events through the day and 
evening until 10pm. It is also included in the City's existing DCP as a late night trading 
area. 

61. Land in Rose Street and Shephard Street is zoned B4 mixed use, where a wide range 
of uses are permissible, including residential and commercial uses. If more commercial 
or retail uses locate in this mixed use area, temporary small scale activities may be 
able to occur until 10pm.  Microphones are permitted until 10pm, however amplified 
music is not permitted anywhere in Chippendale. 

62. Overall the Open and Creative planning reforms are considered to permit business 
activities in a way that will have minimal impact on our residential communities. The 
impacts expected are considered to be commensurate with those impacts experienced 
in any global city and they are consistent with the objectives of the B4 Mixed Use zone 
which seeks to provide a mixture of compatible land uses. 

Strong support for later opening shops without consent and including restaurants 

63. Submitters strongly support later opening shops to activate and provide vibrancy to 
areas of the city. They would like the exempt provision to be extended to restaurants 
and outdoor dining because they believe that food and drink is important to engage 
people in the night time economy.  

64. The NSW Small Business Commissioner supports a diversity of retail options to 
integrate with the traditional night-time economy. The Commissioner supports 
extended trading hours for existing retailers as it will allow businesses to adapt and 
diversify, and to trial extended trading. The proposals will enable businesses take 
advantage of opportunities provided by events, festivals and seasons where increased 
foot traffic may occur, while ensuring staffing and other costs remain within their 
control. 

13



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Response: 

65. The support for a more diversified night time economy and flexibility for business is 
noted. The proposals for later opening shops do not apply to food and drink premises 
because these can become licensed and generate different impacts that have the 
potential to impact on amenity and require assessment through a development 
application, with the potential to apply specific conditions to manage impacts. The 
impacts of outdoor dining or trading on residents may differ depending on individual 
site circumstances and should be assessed on a case by case basis through 
applications for development consent.  

Concerns that later opening shops may impact on amenity 

66. Submitters are concerned about the cumulative impact of longer trading hours of 
shops on local areas. They are concerned about the impact of patron entry and egress 
to shops on residents’ right to peace and the enjoyment of their homes.  

Response: 

67. The provisions facilitate later opening shops until 10pm in areas with an established 
retail character, such as the city centre or village high streets. These streets are daily 
destinations for community, retail and commercial activity where later opening times 
after 6pm can be accommodated without creating significant impacts on neighbours. In 
these areas, the impacts of standard business hours for shop or businesses have 
been already assessed in individual development approvals.  

68. Eligible shops will be unlicensed and include for example those selling clothing, books, 
stationery and homewares, or businesses such as drycleaners, banks and 
hairdressers, which do not create noise or encourage anti-social behaviour. As these 
are unlicensed and non-food and drink premises the cumulative impacts on local 
amenity from patron entry and egress will be minor. 

Strong support for the diversity of high streets  

69. Submitters support more diverse high streets and the provision of maker spaces in the 
B2 zone to provide much needed maker space for the creative industries that are 
struggling to secure appropriate and affordable accommodation.  

70. The NSW Small Business Commissioner supports the proposals because it provides 
additional opportunities for creatives and makers to use premises closer to their 
potential customer base and other retailers. The Commissioner says that many small 
businesses categorised as ‘light industrial’ have shop fronts and include activities that 
do not impact negatively on local amenity.  

Response: 

71. The support for additional opportunities for creatives and makers and the minimal 
impact on amenity is noted. 

Concerns that light industrial uses in local centres may impacts on amenity 

72. Submitters note that the provision of more maker space in local centres will include 
'light industrial uses'. It is suggested that there may be impacts on residences located 
in streets and lanes behind high street premises and raise the need to restrict 
machinery that generates significant noise. 

  

14



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Response: 

73. The LEP classifies creative and maker spaces as light industrial uses. These uses are 
currently not permitted in B2 Local centre zones. Light industrial uses are currently 
permitted with consent in the B4 mixed use zones such as Pyrmont, Surry Hills and 
Chippendale.  

74. Any industrial activity that interferes with the amenity of the neighbourhood cannot be 
permitted in the B2 Local centre zone. The definition of Light Industry in the LEP 
requires that the 'industrial activity that does not interfere with the amenity of the 
neighbourhood' due to a range of impacts including noise, vibration, smell, fumes, 
smoke, vapour, steam or dust. If a proposal is likely to interfere with the amenity of the 
neighbourhood then it does not meet the definition of light industry. It would then be 
classified as general or heavy and industry and not be permitted in the zone. The 
potential impact of proposed light industrial uses will be assessed on a case by case 
basis through applications for consent.  

Strong support for a diverse night time economy and increased performance space 

75. Submitters support increasing the use of the Erskineville Town Hall for cultural uses 
and live performance to provide a more diverse night time economy in Erskineville. It is 
suggested that Erskineville Town Hall could provide an affordable opportunity for 
emerging musicians to rehearse.   

76. The NSW Small Business Commissioner supports the proposal because it will 
provided much needed performance and theatre space, particularly by performers or 
small businesses wishing to stage their own shows.  

Response: 

77. The support for diversity and increased theatre space is noted. As a result of the 
significant impact of Covid on the cultural sector and creative spaces, it is recognised 
that the use of publicly owned spaces for cultural and performance activities is more 
important than ever. If the proposals are approved via a development application, the 
Erskineville Town Hall will be available for hire by musicians and performers to 
rehearse. 

Concerns that the extended use of Erskineville Town Hall will impact on amenity 

78. Some submitters raise the need to ensure that the use of Erskineville Town Hall for 
performance does not result in noise impacts on residents living in nearby properties 
who are already impacted by nearby hotels. They raise the need for the City to 
undertake acoustic testing and install noise abatement measures.   

Response: 

79. If the proposed change is made to the LEP to permit entertainment facilities with 
consent, a development application on behalf of the City will be submitted for the 
extended use of the facility, which will include a Plan of Management to address 
operational issues. Any potential impacts, including noise, on neighbours will be 
assessed, and conditions to mitigate the impacts of noise imposed upon the 
development consent. 

  

15



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

The fair management of entertainment sound  

80. 13 submissions, including eight objections and five in support, were received in 
response to the proposed entertainment sound planning controls. Specific issues 
include the definition of entertainment sound, changes in internal and external noise 
criteria measurements and acoustic testing requirements. These issues require further 
technical analysis and engagement with submitters to ensure the provisions meet the 
intent to have a fair approach to entertainment sound that protects existing venues and 
provides appropriate amenity. As a result, and to enable the rest of the proposal to 
proceed as quickly as possible, these amendments have been deferred for 
consideration at this time. It is anticipated that a response to the submissions and the 
draft controls will be reported to Council later in the year. 

Key Implications 

Liquor Amendment (Night-time Economy) Act 2020 

81. In December 2020, after the public exhibition of the Open and Creative planning 
reforms, the Liquor Amendment (Night-time Economy) Act 2020 received assent. This 
legislation implements two changes of particular relevance to the Open and Creative 
reforms. 

Special entertainment precincts 

82. From 30 April 2021 the Local Government Act 1993 is to be amended to allow councils 
to create special entertainment precincts in their LEPs. In these precincts the 
amendment allows amplified music to be regulated by planning controls and 
conditions, noise requirements to apply to certain types of development and venues to 
trade for an additional 30 minutes. Councils must have a plan for regulating noise in 
the precinct and must notify residents and people moving into the area about the 
precinct including through planning certificates. The Minister may prepare guidelines 
about establishing and operating precincts, which may potentially include noise 
requirements.  

83. The special entertainment precinct amendment has merit as a potential avenue for 
progressing the City's fair management of entertainment sound proposal. The potential 
benefits include the ability to adopt a consistent approach to the management of 
entertainment sound across NSW. The City will consider this and the technical 
submissions received in relation to entertainment sound before reporting a preferred 
approach back to Council. 

Exempt development for entertainment associated with existing premises 

84. The NSW Exempt and Complying State Environmental Planning Policy (the SEPP) 
has been amended to allow low impact performance of music or arts in an existing 
building not in a residential zone as exempt development subject to criteria. The 
activity is limited by the hours on the relevant development consent and other 
conditions relating to number of persons allowed, noise, traffic and loading allowed for 
that building. As the provision does not allow a change of use, it only includes music or 
arts activities which are ancillary to the primary use of the building and can occur while 
this use is operating. 

85. The new exempt development for low impact performance is different to the City's 
proposed small scale cultural activities exemption. The key similarities and differences 
are highlighted in the table below. 

16



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

NSW Exempt and Complying SEPP 

Low impact performance of music or 
arts without development consent 
where: 

 

City's proposed local exempt provision 

Temporary live performance, production, 
exhibition, teaching and discussion of art, 
craft, design, media, image or immersive 
technology without development consent 
where: 

 Not in a residential zone 

 Is inside a building 

 Must be ancillary to the primary 
use 

 No contravention of existing 
conditions relating to hours, 
noise, number of people 
permitted, parking, vehicle 
movement, loading and waste 
management or landscaping 

 No offensive noise 

 Not in a residential zone 

 Is inside a building 

 Additional activities to a shop, office, 
warehouse or community building's 
primary use 

 Hours extended beyond those on 
development consent until 10pm 

 Subject to range of criteria including 
location, frequency, duration, 
capacity, amplified music and 
notification to manage amenity 

 No offensive noise 

86. The SEPP provision only addresses ancillary activities, which must occur at the same 
time as the primary use of the building, within existing approved trading hours. The 
City's small scale cultural activity exempt provision allows a broader range of additional 
activities within extended trading hours until 10pm, supported by a range of criteria to 
manage potential impacts. Consultation with the Department of Planning, Industry and 
Environment has confirmed that City can proceed with the exhibited small scale 
cultural activity exempt provision and that it can be applied independently of the SEPP 
provision.  

87. Some submissions raised concern over the cumulative impact on local amenity from 
the City's small scale cultural activity exempt provision and the Night-time Economy 
Act. In response to this and the Gateway Determination, the planning proposal has 
been amended to require operators to notify council of their intention to host a small 
scale cultural activity via an online form, to allow council to monitor frequency and 
impacts of the exempt provision. It is proposed to review the take-up of the small scale 
cultural activity exempt provisions two years after they are published. 

Gateway 

88. The Gateway determination included a condition which requires the updating of the 
planning proposal to consider the potential impacts on amenity and non-compliance 
with the proposals for late opening shops and small scale cultural activities.  

89. A post-exhibition amendment proposes a mechanism to monitor the impacts of the 
small scale cultural activity to satisfy part of this Gateway condition. A mechanism to 
monitor the impact of unlicensed later opening shops until 10pm is not appropriate due 
to the limited impacts on amenity of these activities, which already have approved 
standard business hours and are located in areas with an established retail character.  

17



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Eastern District Plan 

90. The Eastern City District Plan prepared by the Greater Sydney Commission in March 
2018 is a 20 year plan to manage growth in the context of economic, social and 
environmental matters. The District Plan identifies 22 planning priorities and 
associated actions that support a liveable, productive and sustainable future for the 
district. The proposals give effect to the District Plan by aligning with the following 
planning actions: 

(a) Actions under Liveability priority E3 aim to provide services and social 
infrastructure to meet peoples changing needs. The planning proposal and draft 
DCP encourage the provision of services and social infrastructure to meet needs 
of a growing and more diverse population such as later opening shops and 
cultural and creative uses across the city centre and in high streets. 

(b) Actions under Liveability priority E4 aim to foster healthy, creative, culturally rich 
and socially connected communities. The planning proposal and draft DCP seek 
to facilitate opportunities for creative and artistic expression and with night time 
diversity on local high streets by minimising regulatory burden.  

(c) Actions under Productivity priority E7 aim to grow a stronger and more 
competitive Harbour CBD. The planning proposal and draft DCP strengthen the 
competitiveness of the Harbour CBD by providing economic, social and cultural 
opportunities to meet the needs of a changing and growing population. It 
encourages later opening shops, cultural and creative uses in areas across the 
city centre and in high streets. 

Strategic Alignment - Sustainable Sydney 2030 

91. Sustainable Sydney 2030 is a vision for the sustainable development of the City to 
2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of the City, as 
well as 10 targets against which to measure progress. This policy is aligned with the 
following strategic directions and objectives: 

(a) Direction 1 - A Globally Competitive and Innovative City. Extending night time 
shop trading until 10pm, encouraging more small scale cultural activities in 
existing buildings encourages a diverse late night time offering consistent with 
the City's vision and community's expectation for a global city. 

(b) Direction 5 - A Lively and Engaging City Centre. Allowing shops to open 
until10pm and enabling a range of small scale cultural activities without the 
requirement for development consent may diversify nightlife and encourage a 
lively and more engaging city centre and village high streets. 

(c) Direction 7 - A Cultural and Creative City. The proposals encourage small scale 
cultural uses including performance, creative and cultural uses. These reforms 
directly respond to Operational Plan action 7.3.1 to develop planning and 
regulatory reforms to support the provision of cultural infrastructure and activities. 

  

18



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Local Strategic Planning Statement 

92. City Plan 2036: City of Sydney Local Strategic Planning Statement (the Planning 
Statement) sets out a 20-year land use vision for the city through local planning 
priorities and actions. It gives effect to and links the Greater Sydney Commission's 
Region and District Plans to Sustainable Sydney 2030 with the City's local planning 
controls. It will also guide the review of the City’s planning controls, inform decisions 
about infrastructure and set out how we will collaborate with relevant stakeholders in 
planning for the city’s liveability, productivity and sustainability. The planning proposal 
and draft DCP give effect to the following priorities and actions of the Planning 
Statement. 

(a) Local Priority L1 'A creative and socially connected city'. The planning proposal 
responds to action L1.1 and contributes to the diversity and social life of the city 
by encouraging later trading of neighbourhood shops. It responds to L1.8 by 
seeking to remove barriers that inhibit cultural and creative uses from occurring 
in existing buildings. It may prevent the loss of creative, arts, cultural or 
performance space as required by action L.1.5.  

(b) Local Priority P2 'Developing innovative and diverse business clusters in the 
Sydney Fringe.' The planning proposal responds to Action P2.4 in enabling lively 
and thriving village economies by supporting a wide range of entertainment, live 
music and performance, retail, creative maker spaces and night time options. It 
also responds to Action P2.6 by protecting and enhancing entertainment, arts, 
performance and cultural role of areas and high streets, including those within 
the Eastern Creative Precinct. 

(c) Local Priority P3 ' Protecting industrial and urban services in the Southern 
Enterprise Area and evolving businesses in the Green Square-Mascot Strategic 
Centre.' The planning proposal responds to Action P3.1c by supporting growth of 
cultural activities and enterprise uses in appropriate locations in the Green- 
Square Mascot Strategic Centre. 

Social / Cultural / Community 

93. The planning proposal and draft DCP respond to issues raised by the community in 
early consultation about later opening shops and small scale cultural uses. The 
provisions aim to encourage more diverse social and cultural activities at night to 
match the needs of a growing and changing population. 

Economic 

94. The planning proposal and draft DCP supports the city's cultural sector which 
houses a third of Australia’s creative industries contributing $111.7 billion to the 
national GDP and $1.4 billion to the State economy. It supports the core night time 
economy which has a turnover of more than $4.1 billion and creates over 35,000 
jobs within the City of Sydney. 

95. The planning proposal and draft DCP will support businesses in these sectors facing 
significant challenges during and after the Covid-19 pandemic. The proposed changes 
may strengthen Sydney's competitiveness and economic output, by creating more jobs 
and tourism, attracting longer hotel stays and the long term retention of younger 
people in the economy. The proposals seek to encourage business at night by 
reducing cost and removing the regulatory burden of a development consent to 
encourage shops and businesses to stay open later and small scale cultural uses to 
occur in existing underused retail, office, business or community buildings. 

19



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Relevant Legislation 

96. Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

97. Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000. 

98. Liquor Amendment (Night-time Economy) Act 2020 

Critical Dates / Time Frames 

99. The Gateway Determination of 17 September 2020 requires that the amendment to 
Sydney LEP 2012 is completed within 12 months. 

100. The Council has not been given delegation to make the local environmental plan 
because of the complexity and unique nature of the City's planning proposal. 

101. If approved by Council, the planning proposal will be forwarded to the Department of 
Planning, Industry and Environment with a request to draft and publish the LEP. 

102. The amendment to Sydney DCP 2012 will come into effect on the same day as the 
amendment to Sydney LEP 2012. 

103. The deferred amendments to Sydney DCP 2012 relating to entertainment sound 
management will be reported to Council at a later date following consideration of 
detailed technical submissions. 

GRAHAM JAHN, AM 

Director City Planning, Development and Transport 

Julie Prentice, Specialist Planner 

20



Attachment A 

Amended Planning Proposal – Sydney 

Local Environmental Plan 2012: Open and 

Creative Planning Reforms 

 

21



 

 

Planning Proposal 
Sydney Local Environmental 
Plan 2012: Open and Creative 
Planning Reforms 

City of Sydney 
Town Hall House 
456 Kent Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 

February 2021  

 

 

 

 

22



 

1 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

Contents 

Executive Summary .................................................................................................. 2 

Introduction ............................................................................................................... 4 

Part 1 - Objectives or Intended Outcomes ................................................................. 9 

Part 2 - Explanation of the Provisions ....................................................................... 9 

Part 3 - Justification ................................................................................................ 20 

Part 4 - Community Consultation............................................................................. 36 

Part 5 - Indicative Project Timeline .......................................................................... 37 

Appendix 1 – Open and Creative City Planning Reforms ........................................ 38 

 

  

23



 

2 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

Executive Summary 

A strong cultural life and economy has the potential to strengthen Sydney’s global 
competitiveness as a productive, liveable and inviting city. It can provide a wide 
range of social, cultural and leisure and entertainment opportunities to match the 
needs of a growing population of residents, workers and visitors and attract a 
diversity of ages, lifestyles and cultures throughout the day, evening and night. 
Evidence shows that this diversity of options leads to a stronger, more connected 
and resilient community, creates a more inclusive nightlife, improves safety and 
reduces crime. 
 
This planning proposal seeks a number of changes to the Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012 (Sydney LEP 2012), and other relevant LEPs which aim to 
strengthen the city’s cultural and night life and create a more diverse evening 
economy. 
 
It progresses the reforms proposed in the City’s Open and Creative City: planning for 
culture and the night time economy Discussion Paper which was publicly exhibited in 
October 2017. The discussion paper was prepared in response to actions in the 
City’s OPEN Sydney Strategy and Action Plan, Creative City Policy and Action Plan 
and Live Music and Performance Action Plan. These actions aim to improve the 
City's planning and regulatory framework to support a strong cultural and diverse 
night time economy and thriving live music and performance industry. 
 
The discussion paper included proposals to make it easier for shops and businesses 
to open later in the City’s business precincts and support more small-scale cultural 
uses in existing under-used buildings. Strong support for the proposals was received 
from the creative sector and community with over 1,300 pieces of feedback received 
through an online survey, submissions and a deliberative workshop. 
 
This planning proposal explains the intent of and justification for the proposed 
amendment to the Sydney LEP 2012 and other relevant LEPs. It proposes to: 
 

 make it easier for shops and business to trade in central Sydney and local 
centres from 7am to 10pm, seven days a week 

 make it easier for small scale cultural activities to take place in existing office, 
industrial, retail and community facility buildings  

 make it easier for creative and maker tenants to locate in B2 Local Centres, 
and 

 maintain and extend the current community uses available for Erskineville 
Town Hall 
 

The planning proposal has been prepared by the City in accordance with section 
3.33 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 and the Department, 
Planning, Infrastructure and Environment’s ‘Guide to preparing planning proposals’ 
and ‘A guide to preparing local environmental plans.’ 
 
The planning proposal is for amendments to: 
 

a. Schedule 2 ‘Exempt Development’ to include a new provision that specifies 
development with lawful consent to operate as a shop, kiosk or business 
premises which trades indoors until 10pm as development exempt from the 

24



 

3 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

requirement for consent on the basis of meeting specific criteria, which address 
the activity, location, licensing and existing consent conditions 

b. Schedule 2 ‘Exempt Development’ to include a new provision that specifies 
development with lawful consent to operate as retail, industrial, office or 
community facility which is a small scale cultural activity, as development 
exempt from consent on the basis of meeting criteria which address the 
activity, location, duration, frequency, density, fire safety, alcohol service, 
amplified music, existing consent condition and amenity matters 

c. the B2 Local Centre land use table to include ‘light industry’ as a use permitted 
with consent, to allow creative and maker tenants to operate in local centres, 
and 

d. Schedule 1 to include entertainment uses such as theatre, cinema, music and 
dance, as an additional permitted use with consent, and extend the current 
community and cultural uses available for Erskineville Town Hall. 

 
The proposed LEP amendments described in this planning proposal will be 
supported by new provisions under the Sydney Development Control Plan (Sydney 
DCP) 2012 and other relevant DCPs which: 
 
(i) outline thresholds of activity for small scale cultural and performance activities 

which are considered low impact 
(ii) outline the matters to be addressed in Plans of Management for small scale 

cultural and performance activities 
(iii) permit the approval of cultural and performance activities without requiring full 

National Construction Code upgrades, provided that appropriate alternative 
solutions are implemented 

(iv) outline amenity requirements for new sound-generating entertainment 
development 

(v) outline amenity requirements for new entertainment sound affected 
development 

(vi) outline the methodology and matters to be addressed in a Noise Impact 
Assessment submitted with development applications for entertainment sound-
generating uses, or noise-sensitive uses which may be affected by an existing 
adjacent sound-generating development, and 

(vii) includes new maps identifying land that may be affected by entertainment 
sound and the criteria for acceptable sound levels that must be met by 
development. 

 
The fair management of entertainment sound proposals outlined in (iv)-(vii) 
above are being deferred for consideration by Council later this year. This is 
because the detailed and technical nature of the submissions received and the 
implications of new NSW Government legislation for entertainment precincts 
requires further analysis and engagement.  
 
These proposed DCP provisions do not form part of this planning proposal. 
 

 

 

 

  

25



 

4 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

Introduction 

This planning proposal seeks a number of changes to the Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012 (Sydney LEP 2012) and other relevant LEPs which aim to 
strengthen the city’s cultural and night life and create a more diverse evening 
economy by supporting late opening shops and more small scale cultural activities. It 
progresses the reforms proposed in the City’s Open and Creative City: planning for 
culture and the night time economy Discussion Paper which was publicly exhibited in 
October 2017. 
 
A clear vision for a city with a strong cultural and diverse night time economy and 
thriving live music and performance industry is established as a result of research 
and consultation on the City’s OPEN Sydney Strategy and Action Plan, Creative City 
Policy and Action Plan and Live Music and Performance Action Plan. The planning 
proposal focuses on reforms to planning and regulation which contribute to the City’s 
vision and are addressed in these action plans. 
 
This planning proposal gives effect to strategies in the Eastern City District Plan 
(released by the Greater Sydney Commission in March 2018) and the City’s City 
Plan 2036: Local Strategic Planning Statement (the Planning Statement). It is 
consistent with the planning priorities and actions included in the Eastern District 
Plan which address healthy, creative, and culturally rich and socially connected 
communities and the provision of services and social infrastructure to meet the 
changing needs of the community. 
 
It has been prepared in accordance with section 3.33 of the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979 (the Act) and the relevant Department of Planning, 
Infrastructure and Environment (DPIE) Guidelines including ‘A Guide to Preparing 
Local Environmental Plans’ and ‘A Guide to Preparing Planning Proposals’. 

An open and creative city 
 
A strong cultural life and economy has the potential to strengthen Sydney’s global 
competitiveness as a productive, liveable and inviting city. It can provide a wide 
range of social, cultural and leisure and entertainment opportunities to match the 
needs of a growing population of residents, workers and visitors and attract a 
diversity of ages, lifestyles and cultures throughout the day, evening and night. 
Evidence shows that this diversity of options leads to a stronger, more connected 
and resilient community, creates a more inclusive nightlife, improves safety and 
reduces crime.  
 
The City’s night time economy represents the heart of Sydney’s social, cultural and 
leisure opportunities, comprising food, drink, cultural and entertainment industries. It 
is estimated to produce $4 billion in revenue per year, involving 4,872 businesses 
and employing 35,000 people.  
 
The City’s late night planning controls in the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 
encourage economic activity in the city, in the context of Sydney as a growing global 
24-hour economy, as the gateway to greater Sydney and the importance of 
performance, cultural and creative spaces to the city’s fabric. The DCP encourages a 
greater diversity of jobs in the night-time economy, later opening shops and 
businesses in late night trading areas, and performance provisions and later opening 
hours for venues in the city centre and local areas. 

26



 

5 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

 
The creative sector is vital to Sydney’s future. Small art galleries, performance 
spaces and music venues, as well as co-working spaces, start-ups and social 
enterprises, are incubators for Sydney’s creative life. They diversify the night time 
economy, attract tourists and provide places for people to produce and engage with 
local culture. 
 
The NSW Government’s 2013 Creative Industries Economic Profile found New 
South Wales is home to 40 per cent of the nation’s creative industries workforce, 
contributing $1.4 billion to the state economy. While overall 27 per cent of Australia’s 
creative jobs are in Greater Sydney, a large proportion of this is concentrated in the 
City of Sydney.  
 
This planning proposal is for changes to the City’s planning controls to support the 
City’s cultural life and night time economy. The changes: 
 

 make it easier for shops and business to trade in central Sydney and local 
centres from 7am to 10pm, seven days a week 

 make it easier for small scale cultural activities to take place in existing office, 
industrial, retail and community facility buildings  

 make it easier for creative and maker tenants to locate in B2 Local Centres, and 

 maintain and extend the current community uses available for Erskineville Town 
Hall. 

A more diverse evening economy 
 
Research and public and industry consultation for the OPEN Sydney strategy 
indicated that people want shops and other businesses to open later. It showed there 
are limited non-alcohol based options after 6pm, with options including mainly 
restaurants, bars, clubs and pubs. It found that only 14 per cent of people out in the 
city after 10pm were aged over 40 years. These findings informed objectives in 
OPEN Sydney to support an evening economy that attracts people of all ages and 
interests by providing more unlicensed uses which do not create excessive noise or 
encourage anti-social behaviour. 
 
There are considerable opportunities for extended trading hours for retail and service 
businesses in areas of the city serviced by good public transport, parking, destination 
marketing, events, night time signs and wayfinding. City surveys undertaken in 
March 2017 show there are significant numbers of potential customers on the streets 
in Glebe and Newtown well into the evening. Shops and businesses in these areas 
have opportunities for increased trading hours on weekdays and weekends. Glebe 
Point Road maintains high pedestrian numbers from 5pm to 11pm on weekdays and 
weekends though few retail and service businesses are open. King Street, Newtown 
also has a high level of pedestrians into the evening with few businesses staying 
open. There are more pedestrians on King Street between 7pm and 10pm than from 
8am to 11am. Figure 1 shows the survey results for King Street, Newtown. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

27



 

6 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

 

 

Figure 1a (below) King Street, Newtown pedestrian counts and shop/business premises trading hours, 

Monday to Thursday in March 2017 

 

Figure 1b (above) King Street, Newtown pedestrian counts and shop/business premises trading hours, 

on Saturdays in March 2017 

 
Extended trading hours for retailers and businesses in areas with high volumes of 
pedestrians in the evening could increase street activity and the sense of safety by 
attracting a greater diversity of people out at night. It could give businesses the 
flexibility to choose operating hours such as opening and closing later, enable 
business owners to take advantage of events and festivals and provide more 
opportunities for people to shop and attend appointments after work. 
 
The planning proposal includes changes which make it easier for shops and 
businesses in business zones to trade from 7am to 10pm, seven days a week. 
 

More small-scale cultural activities 
 
Small-scale cultural activities involve making or presenting creative content, such as 
film, art or performance, as well as talks or community events. They can be free, 
entry-by-donation or ticketed. They are often irregular or one-off events, which if held 
on a small-scale may not be suitable in one of the city’s permanent theatres, 
galleries or entertainment spaces. Most small-scale cultural activities happen in older 
retail, office or industrial buildings, and involve no works. They do not necessarily 
have the same safety or neighbourhood amenity risks as permanent licenced 
venues, major theatres or public halls. 
 

28



 

7 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

Cultural activities can prove difficult to categorise within our existing building and 
planning classifications. This means that cultural activity may be included in the 
broader classification of entertainment use, and so may be subject to building code 
requirements designed for much larger venues, with greater impacts. For example 
an artist studio wishing to host public lectures may need fire safety upgrades 
designed for a major function centre. 
 
The City’s planning controls and national building regulations provide enough 
flexibility for small and large scale cultural activities in many areas throughout the 
city. However, there is little guidance specific to cultural activities about what should 
be done to get an approval. Approvals often require advice from experts in building 
compliance, planning and environmental health to manage issues like fire safety and 
residential amenity. This advice can be costly and time-consuming for a sector which 
provides significant benefits to the City but doesn’t have a lot of financial capacity.  
 
The planning proposal includes changes to make it easier for small scale cultural 
activities to take place in existing buildings. It aims to address some regulatory 
barriers for three types of small-scale cultural activities: 
 

 existing businesses hosting temporary cultural activity, such as small retail 
tenancies seeking to host an art exhibition or ticketed events and performances 

 creative entrepreneurs wishing to utilise existing buildings for short periods of 
time. For example, a theatre group wishing to perform in a vacant shop, or a 
social enterprise wishing to use a warehouse for a community event, and  

 new cultural and community spaces, such as an artist studio or social enterprise, 
seeking approval for an ongoing activity in an existing retail, office or warehouse 
building. 

 
Creative work spaces 
 
Global cities create a competitive advantage by retaining and growing creative 
production. Creative and maker tenants include visual art and craft studios, printing, 
furniture making and repair, instrument repair and production, jewellery, ceramics, 
3D printing, glass blowing/cutting and fashion/sewing and pattern making. 
 
Many creative and maker industries desire a shop front and retail function. They are 
best located close to their market to provide more diversity and create employment 
opportunities in local centres. The creative and maker spaces are often 
characterised as a light industrial land use which is not presently permitted in the 
city's local centres zoned B2, preventing creative and maker spaces locating in 
village high streets. 
 
The planning proposal includes a change to reduce barriers to creative and maker 
spaces uses by introducing “light industry” to the B2 Local Centre zone. 
 

Erskineville Town Hall 
 
The City intends to extend the range of community and cultural uses currently 
permissible for Erskineville Town Hall, including opportunities to host entertainment 
uses. The town hall is currently zoned B1 Neighbourhood Centre which prohibits 
entertainment facilities. The planning proposal includes a change to allow 
entertainment uses. 

 

29



 

8 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

Associated DCP changes 
 
The proposed LEP amendments described in this planning proposal will be 
supported by new provisions under the Sydney Development Control Plan (Sydney 
DCP) 2012 and other relevant DCPs which: 
  
(viii) outline thresholds of activity for small scale cultural and performance activities 

which are considered low impact 
(ix) outline the matters to be addressed in Plans of Management for small scale 

cultural and performance activities 
(x) permit the approval of cultural and performance activities without requiring full 

National Construction Code upgrades, provided that appropriate alternative 
solutions are implemented 

(xi) outline amenity requirements for new sound-generating entertainment 
development 

(xii) outline amenity requirements for new entertainment sound affected 
development 

(xiii) outline the methodology and matters to be addressed in a Noise Impact 
Assessment submitted with development applications for entertainment sound-
generating uses, or noise-sensitive uses which may be affected by an existing 
adjacent sound-generating development, and 

(xiv) includes new maps identifying land that may be affected by entertainment 
sound and the criteria for acceptable sound levels that must be met by 
development. 

 
The fair management of entertainment sound proposals outlined in (iv)-(vii) 
above are being deferred for consideration by Council later this year. This is 
because the detailed and technical nature of the submissions received and the 
implications of new NSW Government legislation for entertainment precincts 
requires further analysis and engagement.  
 
These proposed DCP provisions do not form part of this planning proposal. 
 

Response to Discussion Paper 
 
The planning proposal has been informed by early consultation which was 
undertaken from 25 October to 13 December 2017. The proposals were presented in 
the ‘Open and Creative City planning for culture and night time economy’ Discussion 
Paper on the Sydney Your Say web page. Other consultation activities included an 
online survey, community deliberative process, and stakeholder and industry 
briefings.  
 
A total of 1,303 online surveys were received from the community; 33 residents were 
randomly selected to attend a community deliberative workshop on the proposals 
held over two evenings; 44 people attended stakeholder briefings, representing 29 
organisations; 20 submissions were received from industry stakeholders and a 
further three from individuals. An invitation to participate in the consultation was sent 
to 484 stakeholders. 
 
Key themes arising from the consultation included: 
 
1. support for small-scale cultural activities with minimal impacts and without 

development consent. 

30



 

9 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

2. support for more flexible rules to ensure the viability of small-scale cultural 
activities and take up of the exempt provisions, including the limit on patrons and 
frequency of events, but also concern about potential noise impacts on 
residents, and 

3. support for shops and local business to trade until 10pm without development 
consent in established retail areas. 

 
Part 1 - Objectives or Intended 
Outcomes 

The objective of this planning proposal is to implement changes to planning controls 
in the Sydney LEP 2012 and other relevant LEPs: 
 

 make it easier for shops and business to trade in business zones from 7am to 
10pm, seven days a week 

 make it easier for small scale cultural activities to take place in existing office, 
industrial, retail and community facility buildings  

 make it possible for creative and maker tenants to operate in Local Centres, and  

 increase the range of cultural activities that may be undertaken in the 
Erskineville Town Hall community facility. 

 
These changes give effect to the vision set out in the City’s OPEN Sydney Strategy 
and Action Plan, Creative City Cultural Policy and Action Plan and Live Music and 
Performance Action Plan of creating a City with a strong cultural life, diverse and 
safe night time economy and thriving live music and performance industry.   

 

Part 2 – Explanation of the Provisions 

The vision and objectives from City strategies for an open and creative city will be 
achieved by enabling shops, kiosks and businesses which trade until 10pm and 
small-scale cultural activities in approved retail, office, business and community 
facility buildings to be exempt development in appropriate locations, subject to 
certain criteria.  
 
To achieve these intended outcomes, this planning proposal seeks to amend the 
following instruments: 
 

 Sydney Local Environmental Plan (LEP) 2012 

 Sydney LEP 2005 

 Sydney LEP (Green Square Town Centre) 2013 

 Sydney LEP (Green Square Town Centre Stage 2) 2013 

 Sydney LEP (Glebe Affordable Housing Project) 2011 

 Sydney LEP (Harold Park) 2011 

 South Sydney LEP 1998 

 South Sydney LEP No. 114 (Southern Industrial and Rosebery/Zetland Planning 
Districts). 

 

31



 

10 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

The planning proposal does not seek to amend any other environmental planning 
instruments. As noted in Part 1 it will be supported by associated amendments to the 
Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 and other relevant DCPs which are 
addressed in a separate document and are not part of this planning proposal.  

 

A more diverse evening economy – late opening shops and 
businesses 
 
The proposed LEP provision will allow shop, kiosk or business premises with 
approved standard business hours to operate until 10pm without the requirement for 
further development consent. The extended hours without development consent will 
not apply to the operation of outdoor spaces. 
 
Proposed exempt criteria to ensure minor impact 
 
Criteria in the provision will limit this activity to shops and businesses in areas of the 
city zoned B1 Neighbourhood Centre, B2 Local Centre, B3 Commercial Centre, B4 
Mixed Use Zone and B8 Metropolitan Centre. It will apply to Central Sydney and 
local centres as shown in Figure 2 below.  
 
 
 

32



 

11 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

 
Figure 2: Areas where shops and businesses could open until 10pm without development consent 

 
Other criteria will exclude licensed premises. It will not allow the contravention of an 
existing condition of an active development consent that applies to the premises 
relating to noise, car parking, loading or waste management. 
 
 

 

33



 

12 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

 
Drafting instructions 
 
Standard Instrument LEPs: 
 
1. Amend Schedule 2 relating to Clause 3.1 and introduce a new provision that 

specifies development with lawful consent to operate as a shop, kiosk or 
business premises which trades until 10pm indoor (outdoor trading is not 
included) as exempt development, on the basis of meeting criteria.  
 

2. Include exempt development criteria, that the shop or business use must:  
 

 be located on land zoned B1 Neighbourhood Centre, B2 Local Centre, B3 
Commercial Centre, B4 Mixed Use or B8 Metropolitan Centre 

 not be a licensed premises in accordance with the definition under the 
Liquor Act 2007 

 not, as a result of the exempt development, contravene any existing 
condition of any active development consent that applies to the premises 
relating to noise, car parking, loading or waste management 
 

3. The new provisions are to be inserted under Schedule 2 of the following 
instruments: 
 

 Sydney LEP 2012 

 Sydney LEP (Green Square Town Centre) 2013 

 Sydney LEP (Green Square Town Centre Stage 2) 2013 

 Sydney LEP (Harold Park) 2011 
 
Pre-standard Instrument LEPs: 
 
1. Insert new clause to apply Clause 3.1 and Schedule 2 to read: 

  

 “Clause 3.1 of, and Schedule 2 to the Sydney LEP 2012 (to the extent that 
they specify development with lawful consent to operate as a shop which 
trades until 10pm as exempt development) apply to development on land to 
which this plan applies in the same way as they apply to development on 
land to which that Plan applies”. 
 

2. The new subclause is to be inserted under: 
 

 Part 3, Clause 16 of the Sydney LEP 2005  

 Schedule 3 of the South Sydney LEP 1998 

 Part 3, Clause 30 of the South Sydney LEP No. 114 (Southern Industrial 
and Rosebery/Zetland Planning Districts) 

 
More small-scale cultural activities 
 
The proposed LEP provision will allow temporary small scale cultural activities, to 
occur in office, retail, business and community facility premises as exempt 
development in specific locations across the local government area, subject to 
certain criteria. 
 
 

34

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/#/view/EPI/2012/628


 

13 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

Small scale cultural activities will be defined as activities including:  
 

 live entertainment, (being an event at which one or more persons are 
engaged to play or perform live or pre-recorded music, or a performance at 
which at least some of the performers are present in person), including the 
presentation or rehearsal of music, film, theatre, spoken word, comedy or 
dance, or  

 the production, or an event in association with an exhibition of art, craft, 
design, media, image or immersive technology, or 

 teaching or discussion related to (a) or (b). 
 
This definition will not include activities that are ancillary to the primary use of a 
building, because ancillary activities can happen lawfully without the need for 
development consent. Rather, they are an additional activity of a retail, commercial, 
business, industrial or community facility.  
 
Proposed exempt criteria to ensure minor impact 
 
Application 
 
Small-scale cultural activities will be permitted as exempt development in the B2 
Local Centre, B3 Commercial Core, B4 Mixed Use, B5 Business Development, B6 
Enterprise Corridor, B7 Business Park, B8 Metropolitan Centre and IN1 Industrial 
Zone. It will not be permitted as exempt development in residential locations (zones 
R1 and R2). The areas where the exempt provision will apply are shown in Figure 3 
below: 
 
 
 
 

35



 

14 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

 
 
Figure 3: Areas where small-scale cultural activities could happen without approval (updated) 

 
Activity 
 
Exempt small scale cultural activities must not involve building works, unless those 
works are otherwise exempt or approved development. They must not include the 
use of pyrotechnics, theatrical smoke or dangerous goods. 
 

36



 

15 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

Density 
 
The patron capacity of exempt small scale cultural activities will be limited to 1 
person per square metre of floor space accessible by patrons and to a total of no 
more than 70 people in total, including staff and performers.  
 
Frequency 
 
The exempt provision will limit how often and when the activity can happen. Exempt 
small scale cultural activities will be permitted to occur: 
 

 between 7am and 10pm  

 For no more than 4 hours on any one day, not including event set up and pack 
down 

 Up to 26 days a year and no more than 4 days a week and 8 days in a month  
 
Fire safety 
 
The exempt provision will only permit activities to take place on the ground floor of 
office, retail, industrial and community premises with a current Annual Fire Safety 
Statement (AFSS). The AFSS must enable current occupation of the space in the 
building for its current approved use. 
 
Amenity 
 
Small-scale cultural activities will be required to comply with conditions of the active 
development consent for the main use of the building relating to car parking, 
vehicular movement, traffic generation, loading and waste management. If there is 
no waste condition, the provision will require that all waste generated as a result of 
the exempt development is removed from the premises and not placed on the public 
way. It requires that waste collection occurs only between 7am to 7pm daily.  
 
The exempt provision will require the orderly entry and egress of patrons and that 
the exempt development not detrimentally affect the amenity of the neighbourhood. 
To minimise impacts on residents, the pack down of an event is not permitted 
after 10pm and must occur the following day between 7am and 10pm. 
 
The provision will require that signage be displayed in a visible place within the 
premises five to seven days before and during the event describing the activity and 
including contact details for the person operating the event. The exempt provision 
will also require the operator to notify council of the event, including the same 
information as included on signage. This may be submitted five days prior to 
an event through an online form provided on the City’s website.  
 
Amplified music 
 
Amplified music will be defined in the proposed clause and only be permitted as 
exempt development in Central Sydney or industrial and business only zones. These 
areas include the B3 Commercial Core, B5 Business Development, B6 Enterprise 
Corridor, B7 Business Park, B8 Metropolitan Centre and IN1 General Industrial 
zones as shown in Figure 4 below. 
 
In areas outside of the zones where amplified music is allowed, the exempt provision 
will allow the use of background music and the use of a microphone for the duration 
of an event. This will support activities such as educational seminars, where the 

37



 

16 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

amplified sound is intended as an accompaniment rather than the main focus of the 
event. 
 
 

 
 
Figure 4: Areas where small scale cultural activities that do not need approval from Council can have 

amplified music 

 
 
 
 

38



 

17 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

Alcohol service 
 
The exempt provision will allow for the service of alcohol during small-scale cultural 
activities in limited circumstances. The first circumstance is where the premises 
already holds a liquor licence and is not a hotel or small bar. In these instances, 
alcohol can be served as long as it is consistent with the conditions of that liquor 
licence. These conditions will generally relate to the patron capacity of the premises, 
the areas where alcohol can be served and consumed, and the hours of service.  
 
The second circumstance is where the operator engages an outside caterer to serve 
food or drinks. In this instance, the outside caterer is required to hold a liquor licence 
(an ‘off-premises authorisation’) which will also have conditions that must be 
complied with. The outside caterer will be required to notify Council and the local 
police at last two weeks before the event.  
 
Sanitary provision 
 
Exempt activities must include adequate access to sanitary facilities. This may 
include shared access to facilities within other venues in reasonable proximity to the 
small scale cultural activity. 
 
Drafting instructions 
 
Standard Instrument LEPs: 
 

1. Amend Schedule 2 relating to Clause 3.1 and introduce a new provision that 
specifies small scale cultural activity occurring in a building with lawful consent to 
operate as a retail, industrial, office or community facility as development exempt 
from consent on the basis of meeting criteria.  
 

2. For the purposes of this clause a temporary small scale cultural activity means: 
 

 live entertainment, (being an event at which one or more persons are 
engaged to play or perform live or pre-recorded music, or a performance at 
which at least some of the performers are present in person), including the 
presentation or rehearsal of music, film, theatre, spoken word, comedy or 
dance, or  

 the production, or an event in association with an exhibition of art, craft, 
design, media, image or immersive technology, or 

 teaching or discussion related to (a) or (b). 
 

3. Include criteria which requires that temporary small scale cultural activities: 
 

 only take place in a building which can be lawfully used for the purposes of 
a retail, office, industrial or community facility 

 only take place on the ground floor of the retail, office, industrial or 
community facility  

 only take place in a building with a current annual fire safety statement 
which enables occupation of the building for its current approved use 

 not involve building works, unless those works are otherwise exempt or 
approved development 

39



 

18 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

 only take place on land in the B2 Local Centre, B3 Commercial Core, B4 
Mixed Use, B5 Business Development, B6 Enterprise Corridor, B7 Business 
Park, B8 Metropolitan Centre and IN1 General Industrial zones 

 only occur between the hours of 7am and 10pm 

 have a maximum duration of 4 hours on each day, excluding set up and 
pack down. The pack down of an event is not permitted after 10pm and 
must occur the following day between 7am and 10pm 

 not occur more than 26 days in a 12 month period, 4 days in any single 
week and 8 days in any single calendar month 

 accommodate no more than 1 person per square metre in the area 
accessible by patrons, up to a maximum of 70 people, including patrons, 
staff and performers. 

 not include the use of pyrotechnics, theatrical smoke, or dangerous goods.  

 only include the service of alcohol if it is consistent with an existing liquor 
license issued under the Liquor Act 2007, or served under a caterer’s 
authorisation issued under the Liquor Act 2007 

 provide adequate access to sanitary facilities  

 only have amplified sound if the activity is in a B3 Commercial Core, B5 
Business Development, B6 Enterprise Corridor, B7 Business Park, B8 
Metropolitan Centre or IN1 General Industrial zone. For the purposes of this 
clause, amplified sound means sound which is generated, provided or aided 
through the use of any electrically powered device. This includes but is not 
limited to the following: use of a public address system, 
bullhorn/megaphone, loudspeaker or any speaker or subwoofer, power 
amplifier, stereo system. It includes both background music and foreground 
music 

 may, outside of the B3 Commercial Core, B5 Business Development, B6 
Enterprise Corridor, B7 Business Park, B8 Metropolitan Centre and IN1 
General Industrial zones, include the use of a microphone through one 
small speaker and/or include background music for the duration of the 
event. For the purposes of this clause:  

 

 Background music means pre-recorded music played through no more 
than two electrically amplified speakers, which is intended as an 
accompaniment rather then the main focus of an audience/event. It is 
played at a soft, low volume / low amplification level which does not 
require persons to elevate their voices to hold conversations. It is not 
audible within any separate premises and does not create nuisance.  

 Foreground music means any music or sound, amplified or not, which 
is directly played as a primary source of entertainment. 
 

 not contravene any existing condition of any active development consent 
that applies to the land relating to car parking, vehicular movement, traffic 
generation, loading or waste management. Where there is no condition 
relating to waste management, waste must be removed from the premises 
and not placed on the public way at any time, and glass is not to be emptied 
or transferred anywhere in a public place. Waste collection must only 
take place between 7am to 7pm, daily. 

40



 

19 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

 ensure the orderly entry and egress of patrons and not detrimentally affect 
the amenity of the neighbourhood, including queueing of patrons while 
ensuring adequate public access to other pedestrians on footpaths. 

 five to seven days prior to the commencement and during the event display 
in a clearly visible public place outside of the premises, a sign including 
following information in bold letters not less than 25mm in height on a 
contrasting background: 

 
(a) the event name, address, including a description of the nature 

of the event, commencement, duration, and completion date 

(b)  the name and telephone number for contacting the person 
responsible for the event at all hours during which the premises 
is operating 

 five days prior to the commencement of the event notify the Council of 
the event including the information required for signage in (a) and (b) 
above. 
 

While the exempt criteria has been set to minimise impacts on neighbours, 
relevant provisions of the Protection of the Environment Operations Act 
1997 will continue to apply and persons undertaking exempt activities will 
have to ensure that offensive noise is not created 

 
4. The new provisions are to be inserted under Schedule 2 of the following 

instruments: 
 

 Sydney LEP 2012 

 Sydney LEP (Green Square Town Centre) 2013 

 Sydney LEP (Green Square Town Centre Stage 2) 2013 

 Sydney LEP (Harold Park) 2011 
 
Pre-standard Instrument LEPs: 
 

5. Insert new subclause to apply the Clause 3.1 and Schedule 2 as described below:   
 

“Clause 3.1 of, and Schedule 2 to, the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 
2012 (to the extent that they specify development with lawful consent to 
operate as a retail, office, industrial premises or community facility which is a 
small scale cultural activity, as development exempt from consent on the 
basis of meeting criteria) apply to development on land to which this plan 
applies in the same way as they apply to development on land to which that 
Plan applies”. 

 
6. The new subclause is to be inserted under: 

 

 Part 3, Clause 16 of the Sydney LEP 2005  

 Schedule 3 of the South Sydney LEP 1998 

 Part 3, Clause 30 of the South Sydney LEP No. 114 (Southern Industrial and 
Rosebery/Zetland Planning Districts) 
 

41

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/#/view/EPI/2012/628
https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/#/view/EPI/2012/628


 

20 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

 
 
Creative work spaces 
 
This amendment will allow creative and maker tenants to operate in local centres 
and reduce barriers for future uses. It amends the uses permitted with consent in the 
B2 zone to include light industrial uses so that existing and future creative and maker 
spaces are authorised to locate in village high streets.  
 
 
Drafting instructions 
 
Standard Instrument LEP: 
 
1. Amend the Zone B2 Local Centre land use table to insert ‘Light Industry’ in 3 

Permitted with consent. 
 
Pre-standard Instrument LEPs: 
 
2. Amend the Residential-Business zone to include ‘Light Industry’ as permitted 

with consent. 
 

3. Include the amendment under clause 87 of the Sydney LEP 2005. 

 
Erskineville Town Hall 
 
The proposed LEP amendment will allow Erskineville Town Hall to extend its range 
of community and cultural uses, including entertainment uses such as theatre, 
cinema, music and dance. It will allow entertainment uses as an additional use 
permitted with consent. 
 
Drafting instructions 
 
Standard Instrument LEP: 

Insert ‘Entertainment facilities’ as an additional permitted use with consent under 
Schedule 1 applying to Erskineville Town Hall (104 Erskineville Road, Erskineville 
being Lot 1 DP 664780 and Lot 14 DP 663317) 

 
Part 3 - Justification 

This section of the planning proposal provides the rationale for the amendments and 
responds to questions set out in ‘A guide to preparing planning proposals’, published 
by the Department of Planning and Environment in December 2018. 
 

A more diverse evening economy – late opening shops and 
businesses 
 
The proposals aim to meet the targets in OPEN Sydney strategy to provide more 
non-alcohol based shops and businesses after 6pm, and attract a greater range of 
age groups and interests out at night. Providing a mix of uses and later opening 

42



 

21 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

times for non-food and drink uses may help attract a wider range of people out at 
night for different activities. It is broadly accepted that attracting a more diverse 
crowd at night can increase safety and surveillance, potentially reducing crime and 
anti-social behaviour. 
 
Shops and businesses eligible to extend indoor trading hours for premises will 
contribute to the liveability, vibrancy and safety of an area, and not create noise or 
encourage anti-social behaviour. The category includes shops, for example those 
selling clothing, books, stationery and homewares, or businesses such as 
drycleaners, banks and hairdressers. They do not include food and drink premises, 
or licensed premises which sell, supply or allow the consumption of liquor on or off 
the premises. This is because later trading hours for these uses may have different 
impacts that have the potential to impact on amenity and require assessment 
through a development application. 
 

The proposed provision applies to the B1 Neighbourhood Centre, B2 Local Centre, 
B3 Commercial Centre, B4 Mixed Use and B8 Metropolitan Centres zones, which 
include the city centre and local centres. In these zones, the principle and impacts of 
standard business hours for shop or businesses have been assessed in individual 
development approvals. Allowing shops to open until 10pm in the B1, B2, B3, B4 and 
B8 zones is consistent with the objectives of these zones to provide a mixture of 
compatible land uses in accessible locations to encourage walking and increases the 
availability of services for communities. 

Many of these areas include ‘activity streets’ or streets where most services and 
infrastructure are located and which are daily destinations for community, retail and 
commercial activity. The impact of longer trading hours and of the activation of shops 
and businesses on surrounding development will be minor.  
 
The proposed requirement that there is no contravention of any existing condition of 
the active development consent relating to noise, car parking, loading and waste 
management will ensure that there are no unacceptable impacts on surrounding 
amenity. 
 
The proposals will avoid imposing unnecessary regulatory costs on business 
owners. Later trading hours may give businesses the flexibility to choose to open 
later, to participate in events and festivals and provide opportunities for people to 
shop at their convenience after work.  
 

More small-scale cultural activities 
 
The proposals aim to meet the objectives in the City’s Creative City Cultural Policy to 
support more performance and cultural activity and review the planning controls to 
streamline processes for small scale and temporary live music and performance 
activity.   
 
They aim to encourage the use of vacant or underused retail, office, business and 
community facility buildings that could host cultural events, but which are not used 
due to regulatory barriers which create costs and onerous requirements and 
discourage these temporary activities from occurring. Removing the need for 
development consent for temporary activities with only minor impacts, may reduce 
the cost and regulatory burden from operators of activities encourage more cultural 
activities in under-used buildings.  
 
 

43



 

22 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

Application 
 
The exempt provision will only be applied in business and industrial zones in the city, 
where the mixed use activity is already established. These areas include the B2 Local 
Centre, B3 Commercial Core, B4 Mixed Use, B5 Business Development, B6 
Enterprise Corridor, B7 Business Park, B8 Metropolitan Centre and IN1 General 
Industrial zones. 
 
Density, duration and frequency 
 
To limit amenity impacts, such as noise and ensure that spaces are safe, the exempt 
provision will limit the capacity of exempt small scale cultural activities to 1 person 
per square metre of floor space and no more than 70 people in total, including staff 
and performers. This is considered the maximum number of patrons that can be 
present at a cultural activity without the need for development consent. 
 
The provision limits how often and when the activity can happen to allow a balance 
between the activity and neighbour amenity and maintain the temporary nature of the 
activity. It allows up to a maximum of 26 days a year, and 8 days in a single month to 
ensure that impacts on neighbours are minimised. The provision allows a maximum 
of 4 consecutive days in any month which is the maximum typical run for a small 
theatre or arts projects. This period may assist in ensuring that have the opportunity 
to run to a workable schedule and remain viable. 
 
The proposed 4 hour duration excludes set up and pack down to maximise the time 
available for the cultural activity. The proposed 4 hours will limit amenity impacts 
such as noise, and is a sufficient period to accommodate the range of activities 
permitted by the provision, such as performance, seminars or talks. The requirement 
for the activity to take place between 7am to 10pm will also ensure that any impacts 
on amenity are minimised. 
 
Fire safety 
 
The safety of events of this size can be managed when the right fire approvals are in 
place, so the exempt provision only permit activities to take place in office, retail, 
business and community facility premises with a current Annual Fire Safety 
Statement (AFSS). The AFSS must ensure that the proposed space can be 
occupied safely for its approved base use, for example retail, office, industrial or 
community use, and does not apply to spaces where essential services are not up to 
date or functioning. This will minimise fire risk and encourage the reuse of vacant 
spaces, for example ground floor shops, warehouses and offices. 
 
The exempt provision will require that small scale cultural activities only occur on the 
ground level of buildings to ensure that spaces are designed and approved with the 
appropriate fire safety measures and for and increased capacity, rather than the 
potential for first floor spaces that may not be appropriate or designed for that type of 
activity. 
 
These proposals are supported by research commissioned by the City into fire safety 
measures required for the adaptation of an office, shop or warehouse building for 
use temporarily as a creative space. This research identifies upper occupancy, area 
and floor level limits to achieving a level of safety comparable to the BCA base use 
classes. 
 
 

44



 

23 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

Amenity 
 
So that the operation of the main use of the building is not affected and the cultural 
use does not involve any adverse impacts on neighbours, small-scale cultural 
activities will be required to comply with conditions of the active development 
consent for the main use of the building relating to car parking, vehicular movement, 
traffic generation, loading and waste management. If there is no waste condition, the 
provision will require that waste is removed from the premises and not placed on the 
public way. The provision requires that waste collection only takes place 
between 7am to 7pm daily, to minimise impacts on local amenity. 
 
The exempt provision only allows cultural activity to occur until 10pm, however, to 
minimise impacts on neighbours criteria in the provision will require the orderly entry 
and egress of patrons and not detrimentally affect the amenity of the neighbourhood. 
Further, pack down activities will not be permitted after 10pm, and must 
instead occur the following day between 7am and 10pm.  
 
The provision will require that signage be displayed in a visible place within the 
premises five to seven days before and during the event describing the activity and 
including contact details for the person operating the event. This will ensure that 
neighbours are aware of activities before they take place and have a person to 
contact should any problems arise.  
 
The information shown on the signage will be submitted to the Council five 
days before the event via a web form for monitoring and information purposes. 
This information will not be publicly accessible. It will be provided so that 
Council can monitor compliance with the exempt provision regarding 
frequency of the events and locations where the provision is being taken up.  
 
Exempt activities must provide adequate access to sanitary facilities. The constraints 
of some retail or industrial premises means that facilities may not be available to 
serve a maximum of 70 patrons attending a temporary cultural activity. Given the 
limited duration and temporary nature of the small scale cultural activity it is 
considered appropriate that shared facilities located within a reasonable distance 
may be utilised to serve the activity. This is appropriate as shared facilities can be 
approved under the National Construction Code for small bars and restaurants which 
have similar space constraints. 
 
Amplified music may have the potential to cause impacts on neighbours, and so will 
only be allowed as exempt development in areas with less residential development, 
such as in Central Sydney or industrial and business only zones where the mixed 
use activity is already established. This means that amplified music will not be 
allowed in B4 Mixed Use zones, which includes residential development. 
 
The provision defines amplified music and background and foreground music. 
Background music will be allowed outside business only zones, so that a 
microphone can be used and ambient music played at seminars, talks or training 
events where live music or performance is not the main focus. 

 
Creative work spaces 
 
The planning proposal aims to reduce barriers for future creative and maker spaces, 
which are currently classified in the Sydney LEP 2012 as light industrial uses, which 
are not permitted in B2 zones. The proposal to allow light industrial uses in the B2 
zone will encourage a diversity of creative uses in the city’s local centre areas. 

45



 

24 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

 
Many creative and maker tenants include a shop front function. The incorporation of 
a retail component or shop front may increase employment opportunities in our local 
centres and contributes to a diverse range of services offered to local communities.  
 
Although excluded from the B2 Local Centre zone, these light industrial uses are 
permissible in the majority of the City’s other business zones. It is considered 
appropriate to include these uses in the B2 Local Centre zone because they are 
consistent with the objectives of the zone to encourage employment opportunities in 
accessible locations and provide a range of retail and business uses that serve the 
needs of people who live in, work in and visit the local area.  
 
B2 zones are located on Harris Street, Pyrmont, Glebe Point Road, Glebe, Redfern 
Street, Redfern, Danks Street, Waterloo, Oxford Street, Darlinghurst, King Street, 
Newtown, Darlinghurst Road, Kings Cross, Crown Street, Surry Hills, and Defries 
Avenue, Zetland. The planning proposal will also amend the Business-Residential 
Zone on the Central Park site on Broadway, Chippendale. 
 
The recent inclusion of artisan food and drink industry uses to the definition of Light 
Industry is also considered appropriate for local centres in the City of Sydney local 
government area. 
 
The definition of Light Industry provides a list of considerations to reduce potential 
amenity impacts on the neighbourhood such as noise, vibration, smell, fumes, 
smoke, vapour, steam or dust which will support intended outcomes. Proposals for 
these uses will be assessed on a case by case basis through applications for 
development consent. 
 
This proposal will encourage more creative spaces in local centres and provide 
certainty to cultural producers and the community about the permissibility of these 
uses and that any potential impacts on neighbours will be assessed through 
applications for consent. 
 

 
Erskineville Town Hall 
 
The proposed inclusion of entertainment uses as an additional use permitted with 
consent will increase the activities that may be undertaken in the town hall such as 
theatre, cinema, music and dance. This will better reflect the intended use of this 
community facility, and other town hall spaces in the city.   
 
The inclusion of entertainment uses in Schedule 1 as an additional use permitted 
with consent will provide certainty that theatre, music, cinema and dance are 
permitted with consent and encourage the use of this space for these activities.  Any 
potential impacts on neighbours will be assessed on a case by case basis through 
applications for consent.  

Section A – Need for the planning proposal 

Q1. Is the planning proposal a result of any strategic study or report? 

The planning proposal is a result the OPEN Sydney Strategy and Action Plan, 
Creative City Cultural Policy and Action Plan, Live Music and Performance Action 
Plan and the City’s Open and Creative City Discussion Paper. These strategies set 

46



 

25 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

out a vision and actions to create a city with a strong cultural life, diverse and safe 
night time economy and thriving live music and performance industry.   
 

 The City’s OPEN Sydney Strategy and Action Plan strategy forms the basis for 
how the City makes decisions about Sydney at night between now and 2030. 

The strategy includes actions for making Sydney’s night‐time economy better 
connected, more diverse, more inviting and safer, and more responsive to 
change. The City is committed to improving the functioning of the city at night to 
ensure night‐time experiences are balanced with daytime activities and are 
inclusive of the broader population. Achieving this is important as tourism 
markets, work practices and leisure patterns change. A thriving night-time 
economy is also an integral part of the City’s social sustainability, providing an 
important role in social interaction and connection, and employment.  
 

 The OPEN Sydney Strategy includes under Action 3.1.1 diverse options to 
consider policy options to encourage non-alcohol based businesses to extend 
their operating hours further into the evening. Action 3.1.5 proposes new uses 
for night-time and fine grain spaces to focus on evening-oriented activation of 
underutilised spaces in the city, especially from 6-10pm. Under Action 5.2 
Cutting red tape to explore options within the “exempt and complying” 
development provisions to create a “multi-function” approval to encourage 
temporary, one-off or multiple events similar to a “function” licence for a one-
off/multiple event or occasion, to enable businesses to provide diversity of 
activities within their premises. 
 

 Creative City Cultural Policy and Action Plan 2014-2024 supports the greater 
diversification of the night-time economy and details the vision and foundation 
principles for supporting Sydney’s cultural life. It defines six strategic priorities 
and accompanying actions for implementation over the next 10 years, some of 
which address creativity in the public domain, new avenues for creative 
participation, sector sustainability, improving access and creating markets. 
 
Strategic Priority 3 includes an action to review the City’s planning controls to 
streamline approval processes for small-scale and temporary live-music and 
performance activity, including development of definitions for ‘small to medium’ 
live-music and performance. The action includes consideration of opportunities 
through the expansion of ‘Exempt and Complying Development’ provisions in 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012. 
 

1. The Live Music and Performance Action Plan focuses on the regulation of live 
music and the growth of night-time leisure and entertainment options in Sydney. 
The action plan commits the City to regulatory reform, advocacy, research and 
strategic projects across four areas: development controls and noise, National 
Construction Code, liquor licensing and audience and sector development.  
 
It also includes an action to identify opportunities to streamline approval 
processes for small-scale and temporary live-music and performance activity, 
through the Exempt and Complying Development provisions in Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012. 

 
(1) The City’s Open and Creative City Discussion Paper was circulated for public 

comment in October 2017. It proposes three separate regulatory reforms which 
form the basis of this planning proposal and aim to strengthen the city’s cultural 
and night time economy. They propose to enable businesses to trade later into 

47



 

26 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

the night, make it easier for artists to open creative spaces, and balance the 
impacts of live music and performance venues.  

Q2. Is the planning proposal the best means of achieving the objectives or 
intended outcomes, or is there a better way? 

A more diverse evening economy - Late opening shops and businesses 
 
The planning proposal aims to amend the exempt provisions of the LEP to 
encourage shops in the city centre and on local high streets, in existing buildings to 
trade later until 10pm. Amendments to the Exempt and Complying Development 
SEPP which specify thresholds and criteria for the later opening shops until 10pm in 
specified zones, such as the B2, B3, B4 and B8 zones, without the need for 
development consent would remove the need for amendments to the LEP. This 
would reduce the regulatory burden of local businesses wanting to open later and 
promote increased diversity, social connections and convenience for residents 
across NSW. 
 
More small-scale cultural activities 
 
The absence of State-wide regulatory pathways which exempt the requirement for 
consent for temporary cultural activities with minimal impact means that cultural 
producers are often required to prepare development applications for their proposals. 
This means that these temporary small scale cultural activities are often subject to 
building code requirements designed for ‘entertainment uses’ and much larger 
venues. This can be costly and time-consuming for a sector which provides 
significant benefits to the City but has limited financial capacity and can mean that 
often small scale activities do not occur, or obtain the appropriate approvals. 
 
While the City’s proposed reforms aim to reduce barriers and encourage more small 
scale cultural activities to occur without development consent, far greater impacts 
could be achieved through changes to State Environmental Planning Policy. This 
could include amendments to the SEPP Exempt and Complying Development to 
include provisions which specify thresholds and criteria for the type of cultural activity 
that may take place in a venue, without the need for development consent. This 
would remove need for these provisions to be included in LEPs, reduce the 
regulatory burden on cultural; producers and promote more small-scale cultural 
activities across NSW.  
 
Erskineville Town Hall 
 
For this amendment, three options were considered in relation to the intended 
outcomes. These are listed and discussed below: 
 
Option 1: Rezone the Erskineville Town Hall site from zone B1 Neighbourhood 
Centre to zone SP2 Special Infrastructure  
 
Numerous town halls and community centres in the Sydney local government area 
are zoned SP2 Special Infrastructure. Using the SP2 zone is consistent with the 
zoning of other town halls. However, SP2 is a restrictive zone and entertainment 
uses would need to be assessed as incidental or ancillary to the purpose shown on 
the zoning map. This option would also require reclassification of the land from 
“operational” to “community” land and the preparation of a plan of management. It is 
considered that this option involves a lengthy process and that the desired outcomes 
could be achieved through a simpler planning approach.  
 

48



 

27 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

Option 2: Add “entertainment facilities” to the B1 Neighbourhood Centre zone land 
use table 
 
Option 2 would provide entertainment facilities uses for all land zoned B1 
Neighbourhood Centre in the Sydney local government area. Neighbourhood centres 
have a limited ability to encourage employment opportunities, in addition to their 
current uses, and only have limited sites large enough to host entertainment 
facilities. This option may require consideration of potential impacts in relation to all 
impacted areas, i.e. neighbouring residential, traffic generation and pedestrian 
access. It is therefore not considered to be an appropriate means for facilitating the 
intended outcome for a specific site. 
 
Option 3: Add a Schedule 1 Additional Permitted Use for the Erskineville Town Hall 
site 
 
Option 3 is the preferred option and the most suitable pathway to achieving the 
desired outcome for the Erskineville Town Hall site. This option is the best means of 
achieving the objective to extend the range of community and cultural uses for the 
town hall as it will provide certainty that the intended use(s) are permitted with 
consent and potential impacts on residential areas surrounding neighbourhood 
centres can be managed through the development application process.  

 
Section B – Relationship to strategic planning framework 

Q3. Will the planning proposal give effect to the objectives and actions of the 
applicable regional, or district plan or strategy (including any exhibited draft 
plans or strategies)? 

A. Does the proposal have strategic merit? 

The Eastern City District Plan prepared by the Greater Sydney Commission in March 
2018 is a 20 year plan to manage growth in the context of economic, social and 
environmental matters. The District Plan identifies 22 planning priorities and 
associated actions that support a liveable, productive and sustainable future for the 
district. The proposals are consistent with the following planning actions from the 
Eastern District Plan: 
 

Table 1 - Consistency with Eastern District Plan planning priorities 

Eastern District Plan Consistency 

Liveability priority E3 – Provide services and 
social infrastructure to meet peoples changing 
needs 

 

The proposal encourages the provision of 
services and social infrastructure such as later 
opening shops, cultural and creative uses in 
areas across the city centre and in high streets. 

Liveability priority E4 - Fostering healthy, 
creative, culturally rich and socially connected 
communities 

The proposals seek to facilitate opportunities for 
creative and artistic expression and participation 
in socially connected communities, with a 
minimum regulatory burden and to encourage a 
diversity of approaches to revitalise high streets.  

Productivity priority E7 - Growing a stronger and 
more competitive Harbour CBD 

The proposal strengthens the competitiveness of 
the Harbour CBD by matching the cultural and 
creative offer with the needs of a changing and 
growing population. It encourages later opening 
shops, cultural and creative uses in areas across 
the city centre and in high streets in Surry Hills 
and Darlinghurst, Potts Point and Kings Cross.  

49



 

28 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

 

Productivity priority E8 - Growing and investing 
in health and education precincts and the 
innovation corridor 

The proposal encourages later opening shops, 
cultural and creative uses in areas across the city 
centre and in high streets in Camperdown, 
Redfern, Pyrmont-Ultimo and Chippendale to 
support the worker and resident populations in 
the innovation corridor.  
 

Productivity priority 11 - Growing investment, 
business opportunities and jobs in strategic 
centres 

The proposal encourages later opening shops, 
cultural and creative uses in areas across the city 
centre and in high streets to support the worker 
and resident populations in the innovation 
corridor in the Green Square – Mascot strategic 
centre.  
 

B. Does the proposal have site-specific merit? 

Allowing later opening shops until 10pm without development consent in the city 
centre and on high streets will utilise existing infrastructure and services in the B2, 
B3, B4 and B8 zones with established retail character.  
 
In these zones, the principle and impacts of each use have already been assessed 
in individual development approvals. These premises, for example those selling 
clothing, books, stationery and homewares, or businesses such as drycleaners, 
banks and hairdressers contribute to the liveability, vibrancy and safety of an area, 
do not create noise or encourage anti-social behaviour. They are located in existing 
commercial areas where given the nature of the uses and the times permitted, it is 
considered that any environmental impact of longer trading hours and of the 
activation of these frontages on surrounding development will be minimal.  
 
As the provisions to encourage more temporary small scale cultural activities 
meeting specified criteria to occur without the need for development consent, would 
only apply to existing buildings approved for office, retail, business or community 
use, it is unlikely that there will be any service or infrastructure demands arising from 
the proposal or impact on existing or future uses of land in the vicinity. The criteria 
limiting the size and extent of the use will ensure that environmental impacts from 
these temporary uses are minimal, and that there are no impacts on services or local 
infrastructure. 
 
 
Q4. Will the planning proposal give effect to a council’s endorsed local 
strategic planning statement, or another endorsed local strategy or strategic 
plan? 
 
Sustainable Sydney 2030 

 
Sustainable Sydney 2030 (SS 2030) provides the vision for sustainable development 
in the City of Sydney local government area to 2030 and beyond. It includes 10 
strategic directions for a ‘green’, global and connected city of Sydney and sets 
targets, objectives and actions to achieve that vision. 

Through the proposals to allow shops to open later up to 10pm and small-scale 
cultural uses as exempt development, the planning proposal gives effect to the 
SS2030 strategic directions outlined in Table 2. 

50



 

29 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

Table 2 - Consistency with Sustainable Sydney 2030 Strategic Directions 

SS2030 Strategic Direction Consistency 

Strategic Direction 1 – A globally competitive 
and innovative city 

Consistent. Extending night time shop trading 
until 10pm and encouraging more small scale 
cultural activities in existing buildings encourages 
a diverse late night time offering consistent with 
the City's vision and community's expectation for 
a global city. 

Strategic Direction 2 – A leading environmental 
performer 

Consistent. The additional use of existing shops, 
business and community facilities for temporary 
cultural activities utilises existing infrastructure 
and reduces the need for new built space in the 
city. 

Strategic Direction 5 – A lively and engaging city 
centre 

Consistent. Allowing shops to open until 10pm 
and enabling a range of small scale cultural 
activities without the requirement for 
development consent will encourage a livelier 
and more engaging city centre and high streets 
and diversify the night-time offering in across the 
city. 

Strategic Direction 6 – Resilient and inclusive 
local communities 

Consistent. The proposals will enable a diverse 
range of businesses to operate while managing 
potential adverse impacts on local 
neighbourhoods. This will support local 
economies that support both housing and job 
opportunities. 

Strategic Direction 7 – A cultural and creative 
city 

Consistent. The proposals encourage small 
scale cultural activities including performance, 
creative and activities.  

Strategic Direction 8 – Housing for a diverse 
community 

Consistent. The proposals will ensure that future 
housing and venues are appropriately located to 
meet the needs of a diverse and growing 
population of workers, residents and visitors.    
 

Strategic Direction 9 – Sustainable development, 
renewal and design 

Consistent. The proposals encourage small scale 
cultural activities including performance, creative 
and activities. These activities encourage people 
to participate in social, civic and cultural life, 
which in turn promotes community health and 
wellbeing. 

 

City Plan 2036: City of Sydney Local Strategic Planning Statement 

City Plan 2036: City of Sydney Local Strategic Planning Statement (LSPS) sets out a 
20-year land use vision for the city through local planning priorities and actions. It 
gives effect to and links the Greater Sydney Commission's Region and District Plans 
to Sustainable Sydney 2030 with the City's local planning controls. It will also guide 
the review of the City’s planning controls, inform decisions about infrastructure and 
set out how we will collaborate with relevant stakeholders in planning for the city’s 
liveability, productivity and sustainability. 

The planning proposal gives effect to the following LSPS local priorities and actions 
as outlined in Table 3. 

51



 

30 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

Table 3 - Consistency with Local Strategic Planning Statement Local Priorities 

LSPS Local Priority Consistency 

Local Priority I1 – Movement for walkable and 
liveable neighbourhoods and a connected city 

Consistent – The planning proposal encourages 
more walkable neighbourhoods by allowing later 
trading of neighbourhood shops provide 
increased diversity, social connections and 
convenience 

Local Priority I3 – Supporting community 
wellbeing with infrastructure 

Consistent – The planning proposal will increase 
the permissibility of cultural and community uses 
at Erskineville Town Hall and extend retail 
opportunities for creative maker spaces in the B2 
zone in local centres. 
 

Local Priority L1 – A creative and socially 
connected city 

Consistent - The planning proposal responds to 
action L1.8 and seeks to remove barriers that 
inhibit cultural and creative uses from occurring 
in existing buildings and support performance 
venues by reducing uncertainty and complexity. 
It encourages no net loss of creative, arts, 
cultural or performance space as required by 
action L.1.5. It also encourages later trading of 
neighbourhood shops to increase diversity, 
social connections and convenience. 
 

Local Priority L2 – Creating great places Consistent – Allowing later opening shops as 
exempt development may increase opportunities 
for businesses and service to provide the daily 
needs of local communities within an easy 
walking distance and is consistent with action 
L2.1. 

Local Priority P1 – Growing a stronger, more 
competitive Central Sydney 

Consistent – The planning proposal responds to 
the LSPS Action P1.2 by encouraging an 
appropriate mix of land uses including a range of 
retail, cultural, entertainment, live music and 
performance activities while maintaining 
appropriate amenity for sensitive uses including 
residential. Enhancing the night-time economy 
also supports employment growth, consistent 
with Action P1.1. 

Local Priority P2 – Developing innovative and 
diverse business clusters in the Sydney Fringe 

Consistent – The planning proposal responds to 
Action P2.4 in enabling lively and thriving village 
economies by supporting a wide range of 
entertainment, live music and performance, 
retail, creative maker spaces and night time 
options. It also responds to Action P2.6 by 
protecting and enhancing entertainment, arts, 
performance and cultural role of areas and high 
streets, including those within the Eastern 
Creative Precinct. 

Local Priority P3 – Protecting industrial and 
urban services in the Southern Enterprise Area 
and evolving businesses in the Green Square-
Mascot Strategic Centre 

Consistent – The planning proposal responds to 
Action P3.1c by supporting growth of cultural 
activities and enterprise uses in appropriate 
locations in the Green-Square Mascot Strategic 
Centre. 

52



 

31 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

Q5. Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable State Environmental 
Planning Policies? 

The consistency of the planning proposal with applicable State Environmental 
Planning Policies (SEPPs) and Regional Environmental Plans (deemed SEPPs) is 
outlined in Table 3 below. 

Table 4 - Consistency with applicable State Environmental Planning Policies 

State Environmental Planning Policy 
(SEPP) 

Comment 

SEPP No 1—Development Standards Consistent – The planning proposal will not 
contradict or hinder application of this SEPP. 

SEPP No 19—Bushland in Urban Areas Not applicable. 

SEPP No 21—Caravan Parks Not applicable. 

SEPP No 33—Hazardous and Offensive 
Development 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 36—Manufactured Home 
Estates 

Not applicable. 

SEPP No 44—Koala Habitat Protection Not applicable. 

SEPP No 47—Moore Park Showground Not applicable. 

SEPP No 50—Canal Estate Development Not applicable. 

SEPP No 55—Remediation of Land Consistent – The planning proposal does not 
propose to rezone land.  
 
The planning proposal will not contradict or hinder 
the application of this SEPP. 

SEPP No 64—Advertising and Signage Consistent – The planning proposal will not 
contradict or hinder application of this SEPP. 

SEPP No 65—Design Quality of 
Residential Flat Development 

Consistent - The planning proposal will not 
contradict or hinder application of this SEPP. 

SEPP No 70—Affordable Housing 
(Revised Schemes) 

Consistent - The planning proposal will not 
contradict or hinder application of this SEPP. 

SEPP No 71—Coastal Protection Not applicable. 

SEPP (Aboriginal Land) 2019 Consistent - The planning proposal will not 
contradict or hinder the application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Affordable Rental Housing) 2009 Consistent - The planning proposal will not 
contradict or hinder application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Building Sustainability Index: 
BASIX) 2004 

Consistent - The planning proposal will not 
contradict or hinder application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Coastal Management) 2018 Consistent - The planning proposal will not 
contradict or hinder application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Concurrences) 2018 Consistent - The planning proposal will not 
contradict or hinder application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Educational Establishments and 
Child Care Facilities) 2017 

Consistent - The planning proposal will not 
contradict or hinder application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Exempt and Complying 
Development Codes) 2008 

Consistent - The planning proposal will not 
contradict or hinder application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Gosford City Centre) 2018 Not applicable. 

SEPP (Housing for Seniors or People with 
a Disability) 2004 

Consistent - The planning proposal will not 
contradict or hinder application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Infrastructure) 2007 Consistent - The planning proposal will not 
contradict or hinder application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (State Significant Precincts) 2005 Consistent - The planning proposal will not 
contradict or hinder application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Sydney Region Growth Centres) 
2006 

Not applicable. 

53



 

32 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

State Environmental Planning Policy 
(SEPP) 

Comment 

SEPP (Infrastructure) 2007 Consistent - The planning proposal will not 
contradict or hinder application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Kosciuszko National Park— Alpine 
Resorts) 2007 

Not applicable. 

SEPP (Mining, Petroleum Production 
and Extractive Industries) 2007 

Not applicable. 

SEPP (Miscellaneous Consent Provisions) 
2007 

Consistent - The planning proposal will not 
contradict or hinder application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Rural Lands) 2008 Not applicable. 

SEPP (Western Sydney Parklands) 2009 Not applicable. 

SEPP (Western Sydney Employment Area) 
2009 

Not applicable. 

SEPP (Kurnell Peninsula) 1989 Not applicable. 

SEPP (Penrith Lakes Scheme) 1989 Not applicable 

SEPP (Urban Renewal) 2010 Not applicable. 

SEPP (Sydney Drinking Water Catchment) 
2011 

Not applicable. 

SEPP (State and Regional Development) 
2011 

Consistent - The planning proposal will not 
contradict or hinder application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Three Ports) 2013 Not applicable 

Regional Environmental Plan (REP) Comment 

Sydney REP No 9—Extractive Industry (No 
2—1995) 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 16 – Walsh Bay Consistent - The planning proposal will not 
contradict or hinder application of this SEPP. 

Sydney REP No 20—Hawkesbury- 
Nepean River (No 2—1997) 

Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 24—Homebush Bay Area Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 26 – City West Not applicable 

Sydney REP No 30—St Marys Not applicable. 

Sydney REP No 33—Cooks Cove Not applicable. 

Sydney REP (Sydney Harbour Catchment) 
2005 

Consistent - The planning proposal will not 
contradict or hinder application of this SEPP. 

Q6. Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable Ministerial Directions 
(s.9.1 directions)? 

The Planning Proposal has been assessed against each Section 9.1 Direction. The 
consistency of the Planning Proposal with these directions is shown in Table 4. 

Table 5 - Consistency with applicable Ministerial Directions under Section 9.1 

No. Title Comment 

1. Employment and Resources 

1.1 Business and Industrial Zones Consistent. The planning proposal supports 
employment growth and the viability of the city’s 
night time economy, including in identified centres. 

1.2 Rural Zones Not applicable 

1.3 Mining, Petroleum Production and 
Extractive Industries 

Not applicable 

1.4 Oyster Aquaculture Not applicable 

1.5 Rural Lands Not applicable 

2. Environment and Heritage 

2.1 Environment Protection Zones Consistent. The planning proposal does not affect 
environmentally sensitive areas. 

54



 

33 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

2.2 Coastal Protection Not applicable 

2.3 Heritage Conservation Consistent. Small-scale cultural activities and late 
opening shops will not be exempt development if it 
is on land containing a heritage item, within a 
heritage conservation area or special character 
area. Provisions relating to entertainment sound 
management do not contradict with provisions 
relating to heritage conservation. 

2.4 Recreation Vehicle Areas Consistent. The planning proposal does not relate 
to a recreation vehicle area. 

2.5 Application of E2 and E3 Zones and 
Environmental Overlays in Far 
North Coast LEPs 

Not applicable 

3. Housing Infrastructure and Urban Development 

3.1 Residential Zones Consistent. The planning proposal allows for 
residential amenity to be balanced with diverse 
evening options including cultural uses, live music, 
entertainment and retail activities. 

3.2 Caravan Parks and Manufactured 
Home Estates 

Consistent. The planning proposal does not relate 
to caravan parks or manufactured home estates. 

3.3 Home Occupations Consistent. The planning proposal does not relate 
to home occupations. 

3.4 Integrating Land Use and Transport Consistent. The planning proposal will not affect 
integrated land use and transport. 

3.5 Development Near Licensed 
Aerodromes 

Consistent. The planning proposal will not affect 
licensed aerodromes. 

3.6 Shooting Ranges Consistent. The planning proposal will not affect 
licensed aerodromes. 

4. Hazard and Risk 

4.1 Acid Sulfate Soils Consistent. The planning proposal will not affect 
acid sulfate soils. 

4.2 Mine Subsidence and Unstable 
Land 

Consistent. The planning proposal does not affect 
provisions relating to mine subsidence and 
unstable land. 

4.3 Flood Prone Land Consistent. The planning proposal does not affect 
provisions relating to flood prone land. 

4.4 Planning for Bushfire Protection Consistent. The planning proposal does not relate 
to bushfire prone land. 

5. Regional Planning 

5.1 Implementation of Regional 
Strategies 

Consistent. The planning proposal will not affect 
implementation of regional strategies. 

5.2 Sydney Drinking Water Catchments Not applicable 

5.3 Farmland of State and Regional 
Significance on the NSW Far North 
Coast 

Not applicable 

5.4 Commercial and Retail 
Development along the Pacific 
Highway, North Coast 

Not applicable 

5.8 Second Sydney Airport, Badgerys 
Creek 

Not applicable 

5.9 North West Rail Link Corridor 
Strategy 

Not applicable 

5.10 Implementation of Regional Plans The planning proposal will not affect 
implementation of regional plans. 

6. Local Plan Making 

6.1 Approval and Referral 
Requirements 

Consistent. The planning proposal does not include 
any concurrence, consultation or referral provisions 
nor does it identify any development as designated 
development. 

55



 

34 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

6.2 Reserving Land for Public Purposes Consistent. The planning proposal will not affect 
reservation of land for public purposes. 

6.3 Site Specific Provisions Consistent. The planning proposal does not include 
site specific provisions. 
 

7. Metropolitan Planning 

7.1 Implementation of A Plan for 
Growing Sydney 

Consistent. The planning proposal is consistent 
with this direction and does not hinder the 
implementation of A Plan for Growing Sydney or 
the Greater Sydney Region Plan (A Metropolis of 
Three Cities) 

7.2 Implementation of Greater 
Macarthur Land Release 
Investigation 

Not applicable 

7.3 Parramatta Road Urban 
Transformation Strategy 

Not applicable 

7.4 Implementation of North West 
Priority Growth Area Land Use and 
Infrastructure  
Implementation Plan  

Not applicable 

7.5 Implementation of Greater 
Parramatta Priority Growth Area 
Interim Land Use and  
Infrastructure Implementation Plan  

Not applicable 

7.6 Implementation of Wilton Priority 
Growth Area Interim Land Use and 
Infrastructure  
Implementation Plan  

Not applicable 

Section C – Environmental, social and economic impact 

Q7. Is there any likelihood that critical habitat or threatened species, 
populations, or their habitats, will be adversely affected as a result of the 
proposal? 

The planning proposal is unlikely to adversely affect any critical habitat or threatened 
species, populations or ecological communities or their habitats.  
 
Q8. Are there any other likely environmental effects as a result of the planning 
proposal and how are they proposed to be managed? 
 
It is unlikely that the proposed amendments will result in development creating any 
environmental effects that cannot be readily controlled.  
 
The proposal ensures minimal noise impacts from small scale cultural events on 
surrounding community and businesses by only allowing exempt activities to have 
amplified music only if they occur in areas with less residential development, such as 
in Central Sydney or industrial and business only zones. The proposal through the 
setting of criteria which restricts patronage, hours of operation until 10pm and 
frequency per week, month and year will limit the impacts of noise from the operation 
of the event even if there is no amplified music. 
 
The proposal for later opening shops and businesses are proposed on existing high 
streets or Central Sydney or mixed use and commercial only zones where later 
trading is considered appropriate. These land use zones already provide a range of 
commercial, business and retail uses to service a wide catchment area. They also 
include cultural and civic land uses that fit with the character of the local area, as well 
as some residential dwellings. 

56



 

35 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

Q9. Has the planning proposal adequately addressed any social and economic 
effects? 

The planning proposal responds to issues raised by the community in early 
consultation about the cultural and night time economy in the city. The provisions 
aim to encourage more diverse social and cultural activities at night to match the 
needs of a growing and changing population. They aim to balance the different 
needs of the community and business, by encouraging a diversity of smaller scale 
cultural events and later opening shops in suitable locations and without less 
regulatory burden.  
 
The proposals support the city's night time and cultural sectors which are worth 
$4.1 billion and $1.4 billion respectively. Increasing and diversifying nightlife in the 
City may strengthen Sydney's global competitiveness and economic output, by 
creating more jobs and tourism, attracting longer hotel stays and the long-term 
retention of younger people in the economy.  

Section D – State and Commonwealth interests 

Q10. Is there adequate public infrastructure for the planning proposal? 

Yes. The planning proposal is unlikely to result in additional development capacity 
that would affect the demand on infrastructure currently planned for.  

Q11. What are the views of state and Commonwealth public authorities 
consulted in accordance with the Gateway determination? 

In the preparation of the planning proposal, the City has consulted or used 
information from the following relevant state and commonwealth public authorities: 

 Department of Planning, Industry and Environment 

 NSW Environmental Protection Authority (EPA) 

 Create NSW 

 Liquor and Gaming NSW 

 NSW Police 

 Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA) 

 NSW Night Time Economy Taskforce 

 NSW Health Alcohol and other Drug Prevention and Harm Minimisation 
team 

Further consultation with relevant public authorities, including but not limited to the 
above, will be undertaken during public exhibition as required. This may include 
further consultation with the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment in 
relation to the Night Time Economy Round Table Action Plan 2016 and Guide for 
Establishing and Managing Night Time Economy Uses.   

57



 

36 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

Part 4 - Community Consultation 

Public Exhibition 
 
This planning proposal is to be exhibited in accordance with the Gateway 
Determination once issued by the Minister for Planning or delegate. It is anticipated 
for the Gateway Determination to require a public exhibition for a period of not less 
than 28 days in accordance with Section 6.5 of A guide to preparing Local 
Environmental Plans.  
 
Notification of the public exhibition will be via: 
 

 the City of Sydney website 

 newspapers that circulate widely in the area 

Information relating to the planning proposal will be made available online and at all 
City of Sydney customer service centres, where possible. 

  

58



 

37 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

Part 5 – Indicative Project Timeline 

The anticipated timeframe for the completion of the planning proposal is as follows: 

Action Indicative Timeframe 

Submission for Gateway determination July 2020 

Gateway determination September 2020 

Public Exhibition September-October 2020 

Consideration of submissions November 2020 

Post exhibition consideration of 
proposal 

December 2020 

Draft and finalise LEP January 2021 

LEP made (if delegated) February 2021 

Plan forwarded to the Department of 
Planning, Industry and Environment for 
notification 

February 2021 

  

59



 

38 / Planning Proposal – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

Appendix 1 – Open and Creative City 
Planning Reforms 

The report to the Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee on 22 June 2020 on 
the Open and Creative City Planning Reforms, and the Resolution of Council, will be 
inserted once determined by Council. 

 

60



Attachment B 

Draft Sydney Development Control Plan: 

Open and Creative Planning Proposals 

 

(Excluding Entertainment Sound 

Management) 

 

61



 

 

 

Draft Sydney Development 
Control Plan:  
Open and Creative 
Planning Reforms 

 

City of Sydney 
Town Hall House 
456 Kent Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 

May 2020 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 

62



 

1 / Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

Contents 

The purpose of the Development Control Plan ...................................................................2 

Citation .................................................................................................................................2 

Land covered by this Plan ...................................................................................................2 

Relationship of this Plan to other Development Control Plans ...........................................2 

Schedule 1: Amendment to Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 Small scale and 
other cultural activities .........................................................................................................4 

  

  

63



 

2 / Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

The purpose of the Development Control Plan 

1) The purpose of this Development Control Plan (DCP) is to amend various 

development control plans applying to the City of Sydney local government 

area by inserting provisions that: 

 

a) define small scale cultural and performance activities  
b) outline thresholds of activity for small scale cultural and performance 

activities which are considered to be low impact 
c) outline the matters to be addressed in Plans of Management for cultural 

activities 
d) provide guidance on alternative solutions for small scale cultural activities 

to meet the National Construction Code 
 

Citation 

2)  This amendment may be referred to as Sydney Development Control Plan 
2012: Open and Creative Planning Reforms. 

 
Land covered by this Plan 

3) This amendment applies to the City of Sydney Local Government area. 

 

Relationship of this Plan to other Development 
Control Plans 

4)  This plan amends Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 as follows: 
 

a) At the end of section 4.4 - insert new section 4.4.X Small scale and other 

cultural activities containing new objectives, definitions and provisions as 

shown at Schedule 1. 

 
5) This plan amends the Green Square Town Centre Development Control Plan 

2012 as follows: 
 

a) Include a new section ‘Small scale and other cultural activities in section 
GSTC 12 ‘Other Development Types and Uses’ to include the following 
text:  

 
In accordance with clause 3.43(3) of the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979 this Development Control Plan adopts 
the provisions of the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 in 
sections 4.4.X Small scale and other cultural activities 
 

6) This plan amends the Harold Park Development Control Plan 2011, as follows: 
 

a) Include a new section ‘Small scale and other cultural activities in Section 
5 ‘Building Use, Form and Design’ to include the following text:  

 

64



 

3 / Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

In accordance with clause 3.43(3) of the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979 this Development Control Plan adopts 
the provisions of the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 in 
sections 4.4.X Small scale and other cultural activities 
 

 

  

65



 

4 / Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

Schedule 1: Amendment to Sydney Development 
Control Plan 2012 Small scale and other cultural 
activities 

[1] Amendment to section 4.4 ‘Other development types and uses.’ 
 

4.4.X Small scale and other cultural activities 

 
This section guides the provision of temporary small scale and other cultural 
activities in the city, to provide social and economic benefits for residents, workers 
and visitors and meet the community’s expectations for a vibrant, diverse and 
evolving cultural life.  
 

These activities involve making or presenting creative content such as film, music, 
art, craft or performance. They may be irregular or one-off events held in adapted 
spaces on a small scale or regular activities in permanent venues, theatres, galleries 
or entertainment spaces.  

 

Advice on fire safety upgrades 
 
The National Construction Code (NCC) and NSW land use planning definitions do 
not address the potential range and unique characteristics of creative uses. Despite 
their size and sometimes temporary nature, these uses can be classified as 
entertainment or Class 9b of the NCC, which is characterised by much larger uses 
with greater impacts. Imposing the requirements for a Class 9b space to small and 
often temporary creative spaces can result in onerous fire and safety provisions. 
 
Council has prepared technical guidelines to outline alternative solutions for fire 
safety and building compliance standards for cultural activity taking place in existing 
building spaces less than 500 square metres. These include a checklist of 
specifications which address floor space, occupancy, travel distances between exits, 
exit capacities, stage size, sanitary provision and nature of stairways and ramps. 
 
This checklist may assist operators in choosing the right types of buildings and 
ensure that minimal, if any works need to be done to make them suitable, while 
maintaining compliance with the fire safety and building requirements under the NCC 
and the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. Certifiers will be 
responsible for deciding whether a proposal complies with the National Construction 
Code. 
 
In determining a development application for small scale cultural activities Council will 
take into account any measures implemented in accordance with the Technical 
Guidelines for Small Scale Cultural Activities in Spaces Less than 500 Square Metres 
when considering clauses 93 and 94 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Regulation 2000. 
 

Note 
Notwithstanding the above, these guidelines do not override the Council’s statutory 
obligations to ensure fire protection and structural capacity in proposals for changes 
of use or alterations of buildings under clauses 93 and 94 of the Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Regulations 2000. The Technical Guidelines will be 
considered in the assessment of applications, however there may be situations 
where they will not be applicable due to unacceptable levels of fire risk. 

66



 

5 / Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

Definitions 

 
Small scale cultural activities include:  

(a) live entertainment, (being an event at which one or more persons are engaged to 
play or perform live or pre-recorded music, or a performance at which at least some 
of the performers are present in person), including the presentation or rehearsal of 
music, film, theatre, spoken word, comedy or dance, or 

(b) the production or an event in association with an exhibition of art, craft, design, 
media, image or immersive technology, or 

(c) teaching or discussion related to (a) or (b). 

 
Amplified sound means sound which is generated, provided or aided through the 
use of any electrically powered device. This includes but is not limited to the 
following: use of a public address system, bullhorn/megaphone, loudspeaker or any 
speaker or subwoofer, power amplifier, stereo system. It includes both background 
music and foreground music. 
 
Background music means pre-recorded music played through no more than two 
electrically amplified speakers, which is intended as an accompaniment rather 
than the main focus of an audience/event. Background music is played at a soft, 
low volume/low amplification level which does not require persons to elevate their 

voices to hold conversations. It is not audible within any separate premises and 
does not create nuisance.  
 

Foreground music or sound means any music or sound, amplified or not, which 
is directly played as a primary source of entertainment, or focus of entertainment 
to people who are attending an activity. 

 
Objectives 

 
(a) To provide guidance for the provision of small scale cultural and performance 

activities in existing and new buildings where amenity impacts are managed 
according to scale and risk 

 
(b) Manage impacts of small scale cultural and performance activities on the 

amenity of the surrounding area 

 

Provisions 

 
Guidance for low impact small scale cultural activities 
 
The following guidance is provided to assist operators in understanding the suitability 
of building spaces for small-scale cultural and performance events. Criteria is 
included to demonstrate the thresholds of activity which the Council considers to 
result in minimal impacts. 
 
If an operator can demonstrate in a development application that the following 
criteria are satisfied, the Council’s assessment may focus on the site-specific 
impacts of the proposal on neighbourhood amenity, such as sound generation. 
 
(1) Development applications for small scale cultural activities which meet the 

following criteria will be considered to be low impact. The activity: 
 

67



 

6 / Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

(a) Accommodates less than 120 patrons 
 

(b) Occurs in a building with an operative development consent or other legal 
entitlement to operate as a retail, office, industrial premises or community 
facility 

 
(c) Occurs in a building with a current annual fire safety statement which 

enables occupation of the building for its current approved use 
 

(d) Complies with the alternative technical solutions to the National 
Construction Code 

 
(e) Occurs no more than 52 days a year, no more than 8 days a month, or 4 

consecutive days a month 
 

(f) Is no longer than 4 hours in duration, excluding set up and pack down 
 

(g) Finishes no later than 10pm if in a B2 Local Centre or B4 Mixed Use 
zone  

 
(h) Finishes no later than midnight if in a B3 Commercial Core, B5 

Business Development, B6 Enterprise Corridor, B7 Business Park, B8 
Metropolitan Centre and IN1 General Industrial zone 

 

(i) Does not include amplified music, but may include background music and 
the use of a microphone for the duration of the event 

 
(j) Includes the supply of alcohol subject to a liquor license or caterers 

authorisation 
 

(k) Provides adequate access to sanitary facilities. Where access is provided 
off site, this does not impact the amenity of separate noise sensitive 
locations 
 

(l) Is subject to a Plan of Management which manages potential impacts on 
adjoining and surrounding land uses in accordance with the section XX 
below. 

 

 
Guidance for other cultural activities 
 
The following guidance is provided for other cultural activities which do not meet the 
low impact criteria in XX above.  
 
Development applications for these cultural activities will be assessed taking into 
account a number of issues, which may include but are not limited to the:  
 
(a) location and context of the premises where the cultural activity will be held, 

including the provision of facilities for the event and proximity to residential and 
other sensitive land uses  
 

(b) specific nature of the cultural event, its patronage, programming and 
entertainment, liquor licensing and duration 

 

(c) likely impact on the amenity of surrounding sensitive land uses and the ability 

68



 

7 / Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

to manage these impacts. This may include, but not be limited to, the impact of 
amplified sound and sound from set up and pack down of the event 

 

(d) likely impacts arising from the opening and closing time of the event and patron 
arrival and dispersal on local amenity, local businesses, night time vibrancy and 
safety 

 

(e) measures to be used for ensuring adequate safety, security, waste management 
and crime prevention both on the site of the premises and in the public domain 
immediately adjacent to, and generally surrounding, the premises 

 

(f) accessibility and frequency of public transport during the operation of the event 
to ensure the efficient and safe movement of people and minimise impacts on 
local amenity 

 

(g) submission of a Plan of Management that includes measures for the good 
management of the event, particularly in relation to managing potential impacts 
on adjoining and surrounding land uses and premises, as well as the public 
domain. 
 

 
Plans of Management for cultural activities 
 
Plans of Management are to include information about the operational and 
contextual aspects of a premises which hosts a cultural activity and the actions that 
will be taken to ensure that premises will be responsibly managed, for example, 
crowd control procedures, noise minimisation and waste management. 
 
This will ensure that operators have considered and addressed any potential impacts 
that may arise from their event. It is the responsibility of the operator to facilitate a 
well-managed premises and display sensitivity about the impact of the premises on 
the liveability of neighbourhoods. 
 
(1) Where the Council is of the opinion that proposals for cultural activities have 

the potential to impact adversely on amenity and neighbourhood safety, 

applicants may be required to prepare and submit with their application a Plan 

of Management to ensure that it operates with minimal impact on adjoining 

owners and occupiers. A Plan of Management should be accompanied by a 

signed declaration from the operator that they have read and understood the 

Plan of Management.  

 
The Plan of Management should include details of: 

 
(a) the name and contact details of the operator 

 
(b) the times and days during which events are to occur 

 
(c) an emergency contact and address details for medical service, hospital, 

and police, in addition to emergency call triple zero “000” 
 

(d) the music, visual, performance, creative and cultural events that may be 
staged at the premises 

 

69



 

8 / Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

(e) the primary use of the premises as well as any secondary/ancillary uses. 
This shall include a floor and/or site plan that indicates the use of all 
areas within the building or site 

 

(f) the capacity of the space to host the small scale cultural activities 
including the location and dimensions the space, any stage and audience 
(standing or seating area) and equipment to present the cultural activity 

 

(g) the proposed operating hours for each day of the week for the small 
scale cultural activities at the premises  

 

(h) the maximum capacity of the premises and the maximum number of 
patrons that will be standing and/or sitting at the event any one time. The 
maximum capacity of specific areas of the premises should be updated 
to reflect fire safety requirement upon the issue of a construction 
certificate and the final Plan of Management submitted to the Council 
prior to the issue of an occupation certificate 

 

(i) the proximity of external doors, windows and other openings to 
residential and other sensitive land uses shown on a floor plan. The plan 
should also indicate the proposed layout of all areas of the premises and 
the location of waste storage areas, air conditioning, exhaust fan systems 
and security alarms 

 

(j) the staffing arrangements with the assigned duties of personnel for the 
event, including the number of staff to employed per patrons, security 
and the location or 24 hour contact details of any on-site manager, off-
site manager or who has overall responsibility for the operation, 
administration, cleanliness, maintenance and fire safety of the premises 

 

(k) adequate provision for sanitary facilities at the small-scale or other 
cultural event 

 

(l) any liquor licenses to be utilised at the premises 
 

(m) any food service delivered through a catering authorisation, or an 
approved development consent for the preparation and service of food 
and drink on the premises 

 

(n) compliance for any food and/or drink service with the requirements of the 
Food Act 2003 and Food Standards Code 

 

(o) a policy that describes the measures to minimise harm associated with 
alcohol consumption to ensure the responsible service of alcohol (if it is 
served) 

 

(p) all likely sound and vibration sources associated with the operation of the 
premises. This may include such sources as: 

 

 live performance and amplified sound; including the location of 
speakers and PA system and the wattage of amplification and any 
noise limiting devices to be installed 

 background music 

 external areas such as courtyards, rooftops, balconies etc; 

 patrons leaving and entering the premises; 

70



 

9 / Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – Open and Creative Planning Reforms 

 waste disposal, sorting and collection of bottles 

 ancillary equipment supporting the event e.g. generators, 
refrigerated shipping containers, air compressors or lighting stacks 

 

(q) all sound and vibration management and attenuation measures related to 
the use and operation of the premises 
 

(r) signage that is to be erected providing advice to patrons to maintain quiet 
and order when leaving and entering the premises 

 

(s) signage detailing the nearest transport options for patrons leaving the 
event 
 

(t) measures that will be taken to ensure that any queuing is controlled in a 
manner that will not adversely impact the amenity of the neighbourhood 
and that the footpath will not be unreasonably impeded  

 

(u) a waste management plan that outlines the procedures for minimising 
and managing waste that is generated by the premises. This should 
address such matters as disposal of bottles, how and when waste will be 
removed, details of waste management facilities, waste collection and 
storage areas 

 

(v) procedures for notifying neighbours about the nights when the event(s) 
will be held, including signage and/or letterbox drops advising of: 

 

 the event name, including a description of the nature of the 
event, commencement, duration, and  

 completion date the name and telephone number for contacting 
the person responsible for the event at all hours during which 
the premises is operating. 

 

(w) all actions that will been taken to respond to complaints made about the 
operation of the premises 
 

(x) procedures for addressing complaints and a complaint register for 
identifying issues that have caused disturbance to the neighbourhood. 

 

71



Attachment C 

Draft Technical Guidelines  

Small Scale Cultural Activities in Spaces 

Less Than 500 square metres 

 
 
 

72



 

 

Draft Technical Guidelines  
Small scale cultural activities 
occurring in spaces less than 500 
square metres 

City of Sydney 
Town Hall House 
456 Kent Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 

May 2020  

 

 
 
 

73



 

1 / Draft Technical Guidelines - Small scale cultural activities in spaces less than 500sqm 

Contents 

Purpose ...............................................................................................................................2 

Application of the guidance .................................................................................................2 

Checklist ..............................................................................................................................4 

 

  

74



 

2 / Draft Technical Guidelines - Small scale cultural activities in spaces less than 500sqm 

Purpose 

This guidance contains advice for cultural producers about the type of buildings or 
spaces that may be used and adapted for small scale cultural activities. The Sydney 
Development Control Plan 2012 (the DCP) defines small scale cultural activities as: 
 
a) live entertainment, (being an event at which one or more persons are engaged to 

play or perform live or pre-recorded music, or a performance at which at least some 

of the performers are present in person), including the presentation or rehearsal of 
music, film, theatre, spoken word, comedy or dance, or 

b) the production or an event in association with an exhibition of art, craft, design, 
media, image or immersive technology, or  

c) teaching or discussion related to (a) or (b). 
 
Council may consider these guidelines when determining whether an application for 
small scale cultural activities in spaces less than 500sqm needs building or fire 
safety upgrades. 
  
This guidance is a matter for consideration in the discharge of Council’s 
responsibilities under clauses 93 and 94 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Regulation 2000. Clause 93 requires Council to take into consideration 
whether the fire protection and structural capacity of an existing building will be 
appropriate where a new use is proposed with no buildings works. Clause 94 
requires the Council in determining a development application to take into 
consideration whether it would be appropriate to require the existing building to be 
brought into total or partial conformity with the National Construction Code (the 
NCC). 
 
Applications for cultural activities proposed in existing Class 5, 6 or 8 buildings may 
trigger fire and building compliance requirements that are more comparable to class 
9b assembly buildings. This can result in building upgrades that may not be 
necessary because the cultural activity is proposed in a building which already has 
an adequate degree of construction to mitigate fire, safety and amenity issues.  
 
This guidance includes a checklist of requirements, which provide an alternative 
performance solution to the standard requirements in the NCC. It provides advice for 
cultural producers about how they can reduce the costs of adapting buildings while 
maintaining compliance with fire safety and building compliance requirements under 
the NCC and the Environmental and Planning and Assessment Act 1979.  
 

Application of the guidance 

The checklist may assist operators in choosing the right types of buildings and 
ensure that minimal, if any works are required to make them suitable for the 
proposed activity. This checklist may be applied to small scale cultural activities 
which require development consent because they are: 
 
1. not considered to be ancillary or related to the primary use of a premises and  
2. do not satisfy the criteria for exempt development in Schedule 2 of the Sydney 

Local Environmental Plan 2012 and are otherwise not a form of complying 
development 

This checklist does not apply to cultural spaces located in basements which exceed 
200m2. Applicants seeking to use basements more than 200m2 in size should refer 
directly to the provisions of the National Construction Code. 

75



 

3 / Draft Technical Guidelines - Small scale cultural activities in spaces less than 500sqm 

The following steps summarise how this guidance may be applied when a 
development application is proposed for a cultural activity. 
 
Step 1 – DA Assessment  
 

 A development application (DA) is submitted to the City which proposes fire 
safety and building compliance in accordance with the specifications in the 
checklist  
 

 City officers assess the DA proposal to ensure that that the proposals are in 
accordance with the checklist, and address any other matters required under 
the National Construction Code (NCC). 

 
Step 2 – Development Consent granted 
 

 If/when a DA for a cultural activity is approved, a condition may be applied to 
the development consent which requires that the activity comply with the 
checklist. Alternatively a standard condition may be applied requiring 
compliance with the NCC and any associated alternative solutions. 

 
Step 3 – Certification 
 

 The checklist may be applied when the applicant applies for their construction 
certificate (if there are works) or an occupation certificate. A Council or private 
certifier will be responsible for deciding whether a proposal complies with the 
NCC and whether to apply this advice. 
 

 Depending on the condition imposed on the development consent, the certifier 
can choose to: 

 

(1) apply the Council adopted guidelines for spaces less than 500sqm, 
particularly if the condition on consent requires them to, or  

(2) apply a deemed to satisfy solution to the applicable construction or 
occupation certificate, or 

(3) apply for a performance solution from a suitably qualified person. 
 

 The certifier applies the checklist in the technical guideline and if all relevant 
matters are addressed, the Certifier may issue the construction or occupation 
certificate without an upgrade required under class 9b of the NCC. 

 
There may be situations where the checklist may not be appropriate due to 
unacceptable levels of fire risk. The checklist provides guidance only and will not 
override the Council’s or Certifier’s statutory obligations to ensure fire protection and 
structural capacity in relation to the individual circumstances of each application. 
These circumstances will be identified to the applicant during the assessment of a 
DA. 
 
The checklist is not the only mechanism that is available to the applicant. As an 
alternative to the checklist, the applicant may choose to: 
 
• Apply a Deemed to Satisfy solution to the applicable construction / occupation 

certificate; or 
• Apply for a performance solution from a suitable qualified person. 

 

76



 

4 / Draft Technical Guidelines - Small scale cultural activities in spaces less than 500sqm 

Checklist 

The advice in this checklist has been adapted from a ‘Creative Spaces Fire Safety 
Strategy’ prepared by Arup in January 2020. This strategy proposes a series of fire 
safety measures that shall be implemented when adapting a building for a cultural 
activity, in order to achieve a level of safety that is comparable to the class 5, 6 or 8 
uses of the base buildings. 
 
To be with consistent with the Fire Safety Strategy for Cultural Spaces, the proposed 

space must meet all of the following requirements in the checklist below.  
 
. 

Requirement 
Number 

Requirement  Supporting Information 

Venue geometry 

1 Cultural space shall be located on 
Basement Level 1, Ground Level or Level 
1. 

- If located on basement level, the 
cultural space shall be less than 
200m2. 

- If located on Ground Level or Level 
1, the cultural space shall be less 
than 500m2. 

 This information will be 
verified by a survey of the 
premises submitted with the 
development application. 

2 A void or open stair within the venue 
connects Basement Level 1 to Ground 
Level or Ground Level to Level 1 only. 

 This information can be 
requested from the building 
manager; this information will 
be listed on the building’s 
architectural drawings. 

3 Travel distances to an exit are limited to: 

- 30m single direction at Ground 
Floor; 

- 20m single direction at Basement 
Level 1; 

- 20m single direction at Level 1; 

- 40m overall travel at Basement 
Level 1, Ground Floor or Level 1. 

 This information can be 
requested from the building 
manager; this information will 
be listed on the building’s 
architectural drawings. 

Fire Safety Systems 

4 The venue shall have either (or both) of the 
following systems installed and 
operational: 

- Detection and alarm system to 
AS1668.1 

- Sprinkler system to AS2118.1 

 This information can be 
requested from the building 
manager; this information will 
be listed on the building’s Fire 
Safety Schedule. 

5 The venue shall have extinguishers 
provided and positioned in accordance 
with AS2441-2001. 

 This information can be 
requested from the building 
manager; this information will 

77



 

5 / Draft Technical Guidelines - Small scale cultural activities in spaces less than 500sqm 

Requirement 
Number 

Requirement  Supporting Information 

be listed on the building’s Fire 
Safety Schedule. 
Alternatively, this is simple to 
install for the change in use. 

Event use 

6 Any proposed stage (floor and raised) shall 
be <50m2 in floor area 

  

7 There will be no sleeping use within the 
cultural space compartment. 

  

8 Occupant numbers permitted within the 
space are limited based on the available 
exit capacity as follows: 

 

Maximum 
number of 
occupants 

Minimum 
aggregate exit 
width (door 
openings are 
permitted to 
be 250mm 
less) 

Notes 

Up to 50 1m 
1 exit 
permitted 

51 - 100 1m 
Minimum 2 
exits 

101 - 150 1.5m 
Minimum 2 
exits 

151 – 200 2m 
Minimum 2 
exits 

201 - 250 2.5m 
Minimum 2 
exits 

 

 The available exit width 
information can be requested 
from the building manager; 
this information will be listed 
on the building’s architectural 
drawings. Alternatively, the 
exit width can be measured 
on site. 

As an example, if a theatre 
production was intended for a 
cultural space and 175 
occupants are proposed, the 
chosen venue would require 2 
exits, each a minimum of 1m 
wide. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Non-addressable fire hazards 

9 The space shall not be defined as an 
entertainment venue (cinema, theatre, 
concert hall, or an indoor sports stadium) 
or used as a discotheque or nightclub. 

 This information can be 
requested from the building 
manager; if the building 
manager is unaware, a 
Certifier will be able to 
provide this information. 

This information can be 
checked under the NCC 
(https://ncc.abcb.gov.au/) or 
checked with Council before 

78

https://ncc.abcb.gov.au/


 

6 / Draft Technical Guidelines - Small scale cultural activities in spaces less than 500sqm 

Requirement 
Number 

Requirement  Supporting Information 

submitting for a DA or 
checked with a Certifier. 

10 Pyrotechnics or naked flames will not be 
used. 

  

11 Detectors and alarms will not be isolated.   

Sanitary facility provision 

12 (1) For the purpose of this checklist, 
‘sanitary facilities’ mean a room with 
toilet(s) and a sink. Sanitary facilities 
are to be made available to patrons for 
the duration of the cultural activity. This 
may include the use of:  
(a) sanitary facilities usually only 

allocated for staff use, or 
(b) any sanitary facilities that are 

accessed on a shared basis by 
patrons/staff within or associated 
with a building in close proximity,  

The venue operator must provide 
information and signage at the venue 
identifying the location of the sanitary 
facilities. 

 
(2)  If sanitary facility provision described 

in (1) cannot be achieved, the venue 
operator must obtain agreement for 
shared access to sanitary facilities 
located in a neighbouring food and 
drink premises for the duration of the 
cultural activity. The shared facilities 
must be located within a reasonable 
walking distance of the venue. 
Agreement for shared access must be 
included and verified in a Plan of 
Management. The venue operator 
must provide information and signage 
at the venue identifying the location of 
the sanitary facilities. 
 

(3) If both (1) and (2) cannot be achieved 
then the level of sanitary provision will 
be determined by applying Tables 
5.3.1 ‘Provision of Sanitary Facilities’ 
and 5.3.2 ‘Adjusting the number of 
required number of sanitary facilities 
for events’ of the Australian Building 
Codes Board Temporary Structures 
guidance. 

 

 

 

79



 

7 / Draft Technical Guidelines - Small scale cultural activities in spaces less than 500sqm 

Requirement 
Number 

Requirement  Supporting Information 

Access provisions 

13   Equitable access to the cultural space 
must be demonstrated in a Plan of 
Management. The Plan of Management 
must identify facilities and areas that are 
inaccessible and propose solutions which 
provide access without imposing special 
terms or conditions. For example, the 
Plan of Management may require a 
temporary ramp to provide an accessible 
entrance. Or if fully accessible sanitary 
facilities cannot be provided in the venue, 
the Plan of Management must identify 
the location of the nearest facilities within 
an accessible and reasonable distance of 
the venue which patrons can use for the 
duration of the cultural activity.   

. 

It is the user’s responsibility to implement the following fire safety requirements: 

1. A Fire Warden shall be assigned for the event who shall be present at all 

times. Training shall be provided to the fire warden in accordance with 

AS3745-2010. In addition to the requirements of the AS3745-2010 training, 

the fire warden shall undertake the following actions: 

a. Monitor and enforce the required material lining and ignition source 

provisions; 

b. Check all escape routes and exits are kept clear and are immediately 

and easily available at all times;  

c. Visually detect signs of fire and smoke; 

d. Manually activate (where possible) the fire alarm in a fire event; 

e. Verbally initiate an early evacuation in a fire event; 

f. Provide clear direction to occupants for the need to evacuate 

immediately; 

g. Assist occupants to the nearest exit; 

h. Provide first-attack fire-fighting measures if necessary. 

i. The fire load shall be strictly controlled within the space, to ensure 

that there is no accumulation of rubbish or large storage of 

combustible material. 

2. Occupants within the cultural space shall be awake at all times; no sleeping 

occupancy shall be permitted at any time. 

3. Exits and escape routes shall be maintained as follows: 

a. All exit doors are to remain unlocked at all times that the venue is in 

use. 

b. Egress paths are to remain clear and maintained free from 

obstructions 

80



 

8 / Draft Technical Guidelines - Small scale cultural activities in spaces less than 500sqm 

c. The exit capacity, number of exits and the maximum occupant 

numbers permitted shall be managed, monitored and enforced in 

accordance with the following table: 

Maximum 
number of 
occupants 

Minimum aggregate exit 
width (door openings are 
permitted to be 250mm 

less) 

Notes 

Up to 50 1m 1 exit permitted 

51 - 100 1m Minimum 2 exits 

101 - 150 1.5m Minimum 2 exits 

151 – 200 2m Minimum 2 exits 

201 - 250 2.5m Minimum 2 exits 

 

4. Remove combustible material as follows: 

a. No accumulation of rubbish or large storage of combustible material is 

permitted within the space when occupied.  

b. Combustible temporary linings shall be removed or covered with non-

combustible linings. Any polystyrene panels and foams shall be 

removed. 

c. Unless they are non-combustible, new linings, curtains, drapes, textile 

hanging, decorative textile fabrics, scenery or props shall not be 

positioned above or adjacent to escape routes or exits. 

d. Any combustible items such as general display storage, materials and 

decorations shall not be positioned adjacent to escape routes and 

exits. 

e. Any temporary items or equipment which pose a risk of ignition (e.g. 

lighting, electrical goods, fans) shall be inspected by the fire warden to 

check for signs of damage and overloading of electrical sockets.  Any 

equipment generating heat shall be positioned away from combustible 

materials/linings. 

5. If using a roller shutter or tilt up door as an exit, the following fire safety 

requirements (in addition to those listed above) shall be implemented: 

a. The exit shall be held in the open position at all times when a ‘cultural 

space’ event is happening. The mechanism for maintaining the door 

open shall be secure, tamper proof and continue to remain open on 

power failure (if electrically operated); 

b. NCC compliant exit signage above the roller shutter or tilt-up door 

shall be provided. 

 

81



Attachment D 

Resolutions of Council and  

the Central Sydney Planning Committee 

 

 

82



29 June 2020

Item 9.3

Public Exhibition - Planning Proposal - Open and Creative Planning Reforms 
and Draft Sydney Development Control Plan - Open and Creative Planning 
Reforms

Moved by Councillor Thalis, seconded by the Chair (the Lord Mayor) -

It is resolved that:

(A) Council approve the Planning Proposal - Open and Creative Planning Reforms, shown 
at Attachment A to the subject Information Relevant To Item 9.3 Memorandum, for 
submission to the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment with a request 
for a Gateway Determination;

(B) Council approve the Planning Proposal - Open and Creative Planning Reforms for 
public exhibition in accordance with any conditions required in the Gateway 
Determination;

(C) Council approve the Draft Sydney Development Control Plan: Open and Creative 
Planning Reforms, shown at Attachment B of the subject report, for public exhibition 
with the Planning Proposal;

(D) Council approve the Draft Technical Guidelines - Small Scale Cultural Activities in 
Spaces less than 500 square metres, shown at Attachment C to the subject report, for 
public exhibition with the Planning Proposal;

(E) Council seek authority from the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment to 
exercise its delegation under section 3.36 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act 1979 to make the amending Local Environmental Plan;

83



(F) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make minor changes, including 
any changes required by the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment as a 
condition of the Gateway Determination to the Planning Proposal: Open and Creative 
Planning Reforms, and minor changes to the Draft Sydney Development Control Plan:
Open and Creative Planning Reforms and Draft Technical Guidelines Small Scale 
Cultural Activities in Spaces less than 500 square metres to prepare them for public 
exhibition; and

(G) Council note a comprehensive review is being undertaken by staff separate to the 
subject report, of the land use zoning and permitted uses required to support the 
desired future uses of other town halls and Council-owned facilities.

Carried unanimously. 

X009155

84



 

25 June 2020 

Item 4 

Public Exhibition - Planning Proposal - Open and Creative Planning Reforms 
and Draft Sydney Development Control Plan - Open and Creative Planning 
Reform 

Moved by the Chair (the Lord Mayor), seconded by Councillor Scully – 

It is resolved that: 

(A) the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve the Planning Proposal - Open and 
Creative Planning Reforms, shown at Attachment A to the Information Relevant To 
Item 4 Memorandum – Public Exhibition - Planning Proposal - Open and Creative 
Planning Reforms, for submission to the Department of Planning, Industry and 
Environment with a request for a Gateway Determination; 

(B) the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve the Planning Proposal - Open and 
Creative Planning Reforms for public exhibition in accordance with any conditions 
required in the Gateway Determination; 

(C) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the recommendation to Council's 
Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee on 22 June 2020 that Council approve 
the Draft Sydney Development Control Plan: Open and Creative Planning Reforms, 
shown at Attachment B of the subject report, for public exhibition with the Planning 
Proposal; 

(D) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the recommendation to Council's 
Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee on 22 June 2020 that Council approve 
the Draft Technical Guidelines - Small Scale Cultural Activities in Spaces less than 500 
square metres, shown at Attachment C to the subject report, for public exhibition with 
the Planning Proposal; 

(E) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the recommendation to Council's 
Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee on 22 June 2020 that Council seek 
authority from the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment to exercise its 
delegation under section 3.36 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 
1979 to make the amending Local Environmental Plan; 

85



 

 

(F) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make minor changes, including 
any changes required by the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment as a 
condition of the Gateway Determination to the Planning Proposal: Open and Creative 
Planning Reforms, and minor changes to the Draft Sydney Development Control Plan: 
Open and Creative Planning Reforms and Draft Technical Guidelines Small Scale 
Cultural Activities in Spaces less than 500 square metres to prepare them for public 
exhibition; and 

(G) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note a comprehensive review is being 
undertaken by staff separate to the subject report, of the land use zoning and 
permitted uses required to support the desired future uses of other town halls and 
Council-owned facilities. 

Carried unanimously. 

X009155 

86



Attachment E 

Gateway Determination for the 
Open and Creative Planning Reform

87



 

4 Parramatta Square, 12 Darcy Street, Parramatta NSW 2150 | Locked Bag 5022 Parramatta NSW 2124 | planning.nsw.gov.au 

 
 

 
 

IRF20/3619 

 
 
 
Ms Monica Barone  
Chief Executive Officer 
City of Sydney Council 
GPO Box 1591 
SYDNEY NSW 2001 
 
 
 
Dear Ms Barone  
 
Planning proposal PP_2020_SYDNE_005_00 for Open and Creative Planning 
Reforms 

I am writing in response to Council’s request for a Gateway determination under 
section 3.34(1) of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 (the Act) in 
respect of the planning proposal for Open and Creative Planning Reforms. The 
proposal seeks to amend the Sydney LEP 2012, Sydney LEP 2005, Sydney LEP 
(Green Square Town Centre) 2013, Sydney LEP (Green Square Town Centre Stage 
2) 2013, Sydney LEP (Glebe Affordable Housing Project) 2011, Sydney LEP (Harold 
Park) 2011, South Sydney LEP 1998, and South Sydney LEP No. 114 (Southern 
Industrial and Rosebery/Zetland Planning Districts).  
 
As delegate of the Minister for Planning and Public Spaces, I have now determined 
that the planning proposal should proceed subject to the conditions, enclosed is the 
Gateway determination. 
 
The proposed amendments enable later trading hours and small-scale cultural 
activities as exempt development which could potentially result in social and amenity 
impacts to the community. To minimise potential negative impacts, it is 
recommended for appropriate mechanisms to be in place to ensure these impacts 
can be readily managed and monitored. Therefore, I have conditioned that prior to 
finalisation, the planning proposal be updated to consider appropriate and effective 
mechanisms to manage and monitor potential social and amenity impacts, and non-
compliance associated with the proposed amendments. These mechanisms could 
include, requiring a plan of management to mitigate impacts which allows Council to 
take enforcement action or implementing an online registration platform. The 
Department can work with Council to explore options and alternatives to best 
manage and monitor potential negative impacts and non-compliance.  
 
Council should ensure all occupants and landowners in the local government area 
are informed of the public exhibition of the planning proposal and given opportunity 
to comment on the proposal. The proposed amendment may not only affect the 
landowners within the Business and Industrial Zones that subject to the amendment, 
adjoining Residential Zones are likely to experience cumulative impacts.   
 

88



4 Parramatta Square, 12 Darcy Street, Parramatta NSW 2150 | Locked Bag 5022 Parramatta NSW 2124 | planning.nsw.gov.au 

 

It is noted that Council has requested to be authorised as the local plan-making 
authority. I have considered the complexity and unique nature of Council’s planning 
proposal and have determined not to condition the Gateway for Council to be the 
local plan-making authority.  
 
Amending the local environmental plan (LEP) is to be finalised within 12 months of 
the date of the Gateway determination. Council should aim to commence the 
exhibition of the planning proposal as soon as possible. Council’s request for the 
Department of Planning, Industry and Environment to draft and finalise the LEP 
should be made eight weeks prior to the projected publication date.   
 
The State government is committed to reducing the time taken to complete LEPs by 
tailoring the steps in the process to the complexity of the proposal, and by providing 
clear and publicly available justification for each plan at an early stage. In order to 
meet these commitments, the Minister may take action under section 3.32(2)(d) of 
the Act if the time frames outlined in this determination are not met. 
 
Should you have any enquiries about this matter, I have arranged for Mr Luke 
Thorburn, Planning Officer, to assist you Mr Thorburn can be contacted on (02) 8275 
1283. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 

 
  17/9/2020 

 
David McNamara 
Director, Eastern Harbour City (City of Sydney) 
Greater Sydney, Place and Infrastructure 
Department of Planning, Industry and Environment 
 
 
 
 
 
 

89



 

 
Gateway Determination 

 

Planning proposal (Department Ref: PP_2020_SYDNE_005_00): to amend the 
Sydney LEP 2012; Sydney LEP 2005; Sydney LEP (Green Square Town Centre) 
2013; Sydney LEP (Green Square Town Centre Stage 2) 2013; Sydney LEP (Glebe 
Affordable Housing Project) 2011; Sydney LEP (Harold Park) 2011; South Sydney 
LEP 1998; and South Sydney LEP No. 114 (Southern Industrial and 
Rosebery/Zetland Planning Districts) for Open and Creative Planning Reforms. 
 
I, the Director, Eastern District (City of Sydney) at the Department of Planning, 
Industry and Environment, as delegate of the Minister for Planning and Public 
Spaces, have determined under section 3.34(2) of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act 1979 (the Act) that an amendment to the Sydney LEP 2012, Sydney 
LEP 2005; Sydney LEP (Green Square Town Centre) 2013; Sydney LEP (Green 
Square Town Centre Stage 2) 2013; Sydney LEP (Glebe Affordable Housing 
Project) 2011; Sydney LEP (Harold Park) 2011; South Sydney LEP 1998; and South 
Sydney LEP No. 114 (Southern Industrial and Rosebery/Zetland Planning Districts) 
should proceed subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. Prior to finalisation, the planning proposal is to be updated to consider 
appropriate and effective mechanisms to manage and monitor potential social 
and amenity impacts and non-compliance associated with the proposed 
amendments.  

 
2. Public exhibition is required under section 3.34(2)(c) and schedule 1 clause 4 of 

the Act as follows: 

(a) the planning proposal must be made publicly available for a minimum of 
28 days; and 

(b) the planning proposal authority must comply with the notice requirements 
for public exhibition of planning proposals and the specifications for material 
that must be made publicly available along with planning proposals as 
identified in section 6.5.2 of A guide to preparing local environmental plans 
(Department of Planning and Environment, 2018).  

 
3. Consultation is required with the following public authorities/organisations under 

section 3.34(2)(d) of the Act and/or to comply with the requirements of relevant 
section 9.1 Directions: 
 

• Department of Customer Service; 

• NSW Environmental Protection Authority (EPA); 

• Create NSW; 

• NSW Liquor and Gaming; 

• NSW Police; 

90



PP_2020_SYDNE_003_00 (IRF20/2679) 

• Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA); 

• NSW Health Alcohol and other Drug Prevention and Harm Minimisation; 
and 

• NSW Night Time Economy Taskforce.  

4. A public hearing is not required to be held into the matter by any person or 
body under section 3.34(2)(e) of the Act. This does not discharge Council from 
any obligation it may otherwise have to conduct a public hearing (for example, 
in response to a submission or if reclassifying land). 

5. The time frame for completing the LEP is to be 12 months following the date of 
the Gateway determination. 

 
 

Dated   17th day of       September      2020. 
  

 

 
 
David McNamara 
Director, Eastern District (City of Sydney) 
Greater Sydney, Place and Infrastructure 
Department of Planning, Industry and 
Environment  
 
Delegate of the Minister for Planning and 
Public Spaces 

 

 

 

91



Attachment F 

Summary of and Responses to Matters 

Raised in Submissions 

 

(Submissions Relating to the Fair 

Management of Entertainment  

Sound Excluded)

92



 
 

General comments on the reforms 
 

  Issue raised 
 

Response 

1. City needs more 
vibrancy and a 
24-hour 
economy, to 
reactivate it as a 
global city, post-
Covid 
 

Support for the reactivation of 
Sydney as a global and vibrant city 
post-Covid. Submitters note the 
impact of the pandemic on the 
city’s nightlife, and cultural and 
creative sector, many noting the 
early closures of venues and 
restaurants, and the difficulty of 
buying late afternoon coffee and 
finding dinner in the city after 
9.30pm. The later opening shops 
and cultural activity reforms are 
supported as providing the 
potential opportunity to reinvent 
Sydney post-Covid. 
 

Support noted 

2. Impacts of 
Covid on retail 
sector 

The retail food sector has been 
severely impacted by the Covid 
pandemic and will take some time 
to recover. The proposals should 
provide a fair and reasonable 
approach to some complex and 
challenging issues, reduce red 
tape, provide greater certainty and 
make it easier for relevant 
businesses to do business. 
 

Support noted 

3. Proposals will 
increase quality 
of life and 
support 
increasing 
amount of 
residential 
development  
 

Support for the reforms to be 
applied to industrial sites and areas 
in Green Square, Rosebery and 
Waterloo. The submitters consider 
there is a growing large residential 
population which are not served 
with nightlife options and are 
seeking more cultural and 
entertainment close to where they 
live.  
 

The reforms for later opening 
shops and small-scale cultural 
activities apply to business and 
industrial zones in Green Square, 
Rosebery and Waterloo. They 
serve to activate and provide a 
more diverse nightlife in these 
areas where over 70,000 people 
will live by 2030. 
 
The proposals complement the 
City’s late night trading DCP 
controls published in June 2019 
which support a late night cultural 
and arts precinct in North 
Alexandria and other late night 
trading areas in Green Square 
town centre and Danks Street. 
 

4. Reduces red 
tape and costs 
for business and 
creative sector 

Support the City encouraging 
business and the arts by cutting 
some unnecessary bureaucracy 
and supporting the creative sector 

Support noted 

93



 
 

  Issue raised 
 

Response 

 in overcoming obstacles, 
particularly those who have 
suffered immensely during the 
pandemic.  
 

5. Will assist 
creative sector 
struggling to find 
space and could 
be helped by 
increased 
funding from 
Council 
 

The reforms provide a good 
opportunity for artists to be able to 
use non formal venues for 
performances. They will assist the 
reuse of vacant space in such as in 
Darlinghurst and creatives who are 
struggling to find venues.  
Submitters consider that funding 
should made be available by the 
Council to support these activities 
and unestablished creatives to 
access creative spaces.  
 
Council should provide initiatives 
that allow up-and-coming creatives 
to display and/or sell their wares in 
a non-market/weekend setting to 
grow Sydney's creative community.  

The City owns properties, 
including retail and office space, 
across the inner-city area. From 
time to time these properties are 
empty for short periods between 
commercial tenancies or when 
repairs or upgrades to the 
buildings are required. 

The City provides short term 
licences for periods of up to 12 
months for creative projects. 
Opportunities are offered when 
spaces become available.  

The City provides the following 
grant programs to support cultural 
and creative organisations 

 Cultural sector innovation 
grants  

 CBD activation grants 

 Commercial creative ad 
business events 
sponsorships 

 Cultural and creative 
grants 

 Artform festivals and 
events 

 

6. First Nations 
people 
participation 

Provide more opportunity for First 
Nations peoples to participate. 
 

The planning system creates 
opportunities for activities to take 
place but cannot prescribe who is 
able to take up those 
opportunities. The proposals 
encourage more small scale 
cultural activities in shops, offices, 
warehouses and community 
facilities, which may help all 
communities seeking to find 
alternative spaces for cultural 
events.   
 

7. Communities 
living in the city 
should not 
complain about 
noise 

Planning rules should not change 
because people who do not enjoy 
activity and nightlife move to into 
the city. 
     

Many of the city’s 
neighbourhoods are lively and 
vibrant places created by the mix 
of businesses, activities and 
neighbours. Living in these places 

94



 
 

  Issue raised 
 

Response 

 comes with the understanding 
that there will be a level of activity 
and sound from people carrying 
out their business, socialising and 
enjoying their neighbourhood. 
The City and other government 
agencies work to balance the 
effects of all the activities needed 
for a functional and attractive 
place to live and work. This is 
particularly the case when 
considering new activities in 
business zones such as B1, B2, 
B4 and B8 zones, where 
residential uses are also 
permitted. 
 

8. Encourage 
busking 

Non-amplified busking in in Town 
Hall and Saint Andrew's Square 
could attract people to dance and 
avoid drinking. 
 

The Open and Creative planning 
reforms do not apply to trading or 
performance outdoors.  
 
The City’s busking policy aims to 
support and promote busking 
culture in public places in Sydney. 
The policy defines low impact 
busking as including amplified 
music that can be adjusted and 
non-amplified instruments.  
 

9. Do not block 
footpaths and 
make residential 
streets alcohol 
free zones 

Maintain the right of residents to 
walk on footpaths. Footpaths 
should be wide for at least two 
people to walk and should not 
blocked by business furniture or 
patrons.   
 
Create alcohol free zones in 
residential streets in Newtown to 
protect local amenity.   
 

The later opening shops and 
small scale cultural activities 
reforms do not apply to outdoor 
trading or performance.  
 
Larger cultural activities that take 
place in large spaces or involve 
outdoor performance will be 
subject to DAs and conditions of 
consent will minimise impact on 
the public domain. 
 
Alcohol free zones are beyond 
the scope of the Open and 
Creative Planning Reforms and 
not part of the planning system. 
 

10. Incentivise late 
night uses 

Provide more incentives for late 
night businesses throughout the 
city and an extra incentive for late 
night businesses that do not 
promote, encourage or facilitate 
gambling.   

The Open and Creative reforms 
do not include late night trading 
uses, which operate after 10pm.  
 
Late night uses operating after 
10pm are subject to the Late 

95



 
 

  Issue raised 
 

Response 

 Night Trading DCP 2012, which 
incentivises the hosting of 
performance through the award of 
later trading hours and later 
opening shops after 10pm. 
 
The City is currently working with 
the NSW Government to fund live 
music, performance and art in 
venues, bars, restaurants and 
outdoors through a grants 
program to reactivate the city as 
part of its Covid recovery 
program. 
 

11. Diversify the night 
time economy 

A diverse and strong night time 
economy fosters and supports a 
broad range of other industries and 
individuals who work at night such 
as health, education, finance, 
logistics, and tourism and office 
workers. These workers can enjoy 
artists, performances, and 
exhibitions. 
 
Support for the proposals which 
may facilitate the revitalisation of 
Devonshire Street, Surry Hills for 
the purposes of community, 
cultural, and creative activities.  
 

Noted. The Open and Creative 
Planning reforms aim to establish 
a diverse social and cultural 
offering for residents and workers 
of all ages in Sydney, to ensure 
that a wide range of night-time 
activities are available to match 
Sydney's growing and changing 
population. 
 

12. The proposals 
could go further, 
and trading could 
be later. 

Businesses should be able to trade 
24 hours a day, without having to 
seek any sort of formal approval. 
Submitters consider that this 
should be the case for the 
hospitality industry, (bars, clubs 
and restaurants), where trading 
should be extended to midnight.  
 
Clubs should have unrestricted 
trading hours. 
 

The Open and Creative planning 
reforms do not include late night 
trading uses. Late night trading 
uses operate after 10pm. These 
uses have the potential to have 
different impacts on amenity 
which are assessed through DAs. 
 

13. Reforms should 
align with 
changes to the 
NSW Exempt and 
Complying State 
Environmental 
Planning Policy 
(SEPP) 
 

The changes to the NSW Exempt 
and Complying SEPP as a result of 
the Liquor Amendment (24 hour 
Economy) Bill 2020 means that 
many of the land use planning, 
liquor licensing and local 
government policy items in the 
Open and Creative planning 
reforms have now been 

The changes to the NSW Exempt 
and Complying SEPP address 
different scope of activities to the 
City’s proposed exempt provision.  
 
Subdivision 15AB of the SEPP 
allows the low impact 
performance of music or arts in 
existing buildings which are not in 

96



 
 

  Issue raised 
 

Response 

overhauled. These include 
additional instruments to create 
entertainment precincts and 
exempt development for the 
performance of low impact arts and 
music.   
 
These changes should be adopted 
within the Open and Creative 
Planning Reforms. 
 

a residential zone. It is limited by 
the hours on the relevant 
development consent and other 
conditions relating to number of 
persons allowed, noise, traffic, 
loading allowed for that building. 
The provision does not allow for a 
change of use, so is relevant to 
activities which are ancillary to 
the primary use of the building 
and must occur while the primary 
use is operating.  
 
The City’s proposed exempt 
provision allows a temporary live 
performance, as well as the 
production, or an event in 
association with an exhibition of 
art, craft, design, media, image or 
immersive technology, and the 
teaching or discussion related to 
performance or art, craft and 
design.  
 
It provides for the additional use 
of a shop, office, warehouse or 
community buildings. This is only 
allowed if it meets certain criteria 
relating to location, hours, 
frequency, patronage, duration 
and amplified music which ensure 
it has a minimal impact on local 
amenity. An important distinction 
is that the City’s exempt provision 
extends the hours for small scale 
cultural activities use beyond that 
included on the development 
consent, until 10pm. 
 
For these reasons the City’s 
proposed exempt provision can 
apply independently of the SEPP 
provision. 
 

14. Providing dance 
halls to encourage 
live music 

The City should encourage people 
to be active and listen to live 
music.  This could be achieved by 
providing dance halls.   
 

The Open and Creative planning 
reforms encourage live 
performance and the reuse of 
community facilities, like dance 
halls for events. 
 

97



 
 

  Issue raised 
 

Response 

15. Street closures 
and 
performance 

The City should consider closing 
streets like Darlinghurst Road in 
Kings Cross and opening them up 
to activity and performance. 
 

The Open and Creative planning 
reforms do not provide for 
outdoor performance or trading.  
 
The City is currently working with 
the NSW Government to fund 
outdoor live music and 
performance and art in venues, 
bars, restaurants and outdoors 
through a grants program to 
reactivate the city post-Covid. 
 

 

 

 

Small scale cultural activities 

  Issue raised Response 
 

16. Support for 
alternative spaces 
for creative 
businesses 

Providing clear definitions of what 
activities are small-scale and cultural, 
and outlining proposed ‘exempt’ 
criteria will assist businesses wishing 
to offer this type of activation.  
 
This proposal will encourage the 
growth of creative performing arts 
businesses by facilitating the 
provision of alternative creative 
performing spaces, including in areas 
where such space is scarce. It also 
will provide further options to assist 
businesses activate and diversify 
their activities using underused or 
vacant spaces.  

Support noted. The 
definitions of small scale 
cultural activity and the 
criteria that businesses must 
satisfy will be included in the 
published provision in the 
Sydney LEP and on the 
City’s website. 

17. Increased noise 
impacts on 
residential amenity 
from 
performance/activity 
and patron 
entry/egress, service 
of alcohol, smoking, 
waste and 
construction 
activities. 
 

The reforms may result in an 
increase in late-night venues which 
encourage drinking and antisocial 
behaviour which will impact on local 
neighbourhoods.  
 
Conditions must moderate the effect 
of construction activities illegal 
busking, intoxicated people and 
noise impacts from local bars on 
families with young children and 
residents who want a quiet night 
sleep. Smoking from patrons outside 
events on the public domain and 

Small scale activities which 
are exempt from 
development consent will 
only be permitted to serve 
alcohol with a liquor license 
or caterers authorisation and 
will be subject to regulations 
requiring the responsible 
service of alcohol.  
 
The exempt provision will 
require the orderly entry and 
egress of patrons and 
removal of waste from the 
public domain.  

98



 
 

  Issue raised Response 
 

waste will impact on neighbouring 
residents.  
 

A post-exhibition change 
requires that waste collection 
only take place between 7am 
and 7pm daily. 
 
The exempt provision does 
not apply to activities which 
require building works 
(except for minor approved 
or exempt works), so no 
construction activities will 
occur.  
 
Signage with the operators 
contact name and number 
must be displayed before 
and during the event so 
neighbours can contact the 
operator is there are issues. 
Operators must also register 
with council prior to the 
event.  
 
If activities do not comply 
with any of the proposed 
exempt criteria they are in 
breach of the exempt 
provision and risk being 
asked to cease by City 
compliance staff. 
 
Other larger cultural activities 
will be subject to DAs and 
conditions of consent will 
minimise impact on 
neighbours and the public 
domain. 
 

18. Lack of City 
oversight and 
proposals to manage 
the impacts of the 
activities on amenity 

There is a lack of oversight of the 
activities by the City and an absence 
of proposals to manage impacts on 
amenity.  
 
Additional night-time activity has the 
potential to create adverse noise, 
sanitary and waste impacts on 
residents in the city, including 
Chippendale and Pyrmont. There 
should be more proposals to manage 
these potential impacts, other than 
having to lodge a complaint to City 
Rangers or Police.  
 

Exempt activities are 
considered to have no more 
than minimal environmental 
impact. They do not involve 
any involvement from the 
City, unless activities breach 
exempt criteria. 
 
The proposed exempt criteria 
relating to a range of issues 
including capacity, frequency 
and duration have been 
proposed at thresholds 
where it is considered 
impacts will only be minimal. 

99



 
 

  Issue raised Response 
 

More City Ranger patrols should be 
introduced to address compliance 
with this provision. 
 

 
A post-exhibition change will 
require that operators 
wishing to host an event or 
activity exempt from 
development consent, notify 
the City of the intention to 
hold an event, via an online 
web form prior to the 
commencement of the event.  
The notification will require 
the same details as required 
for signage notification of the 
event. This includes the 
event name, a description of 
the nature of the event, 
commencement, duration, 
and completion date and the 
name and telephone number 
for contacting the person 
responsible for the event at 
all hours during which the 
premises are operating. 
 
This information will be made 
available to the City 
compliance team and used 
by the city to monitor the 
take-up of the provision and 
impacts on amenity.  
 

19. Cumulative impacts 
of provision, (if there 
are several premises 
trading later close to 
residences) 

The impacts of several retail 
premises in mixed use zones in close 
proximity of residential undertaking 
activities at the same time. A total of 
10 businesses in a small area like 
Pyrmont (near the Casino) or 
Chippendale could host 26 events 
per year, resulting in activity 260 
days per year.  

If small-scale cultural 
activities exempt from 
development consent occur 
in mixed-use zones, 
concurrently or on separate 
days, they are required to 
meet criteria which ensures 
that any impacts will be 
minimal and only occur until 
10pm. 
 

20. Need more 
soundproofing in 
heritage terraces 
 

Residents should have the 
opportunity to double glaze and seal 
windows to help with noise reduction 
and temperature control in heritage 
terraces. This would reduce impact 
on residents and assist venues and 
local businesses and local shops 
wanting to extend their trading hours.  
 

Residents can apply to 
double glaze heritage listed 
properties. Applications are 
considered on a case by 
case basis, and subject to 
site specific circumstances. 
 
 

100



 
 

  Issue raised Response 
 

21. Impacts on residents 
near bars 

The provisions will exacerbate 
concerns of residents living near a 
small bar in Clarence Street and 
Chippendale about impacts on 
amenity. 
 

The Open and Creative 
planning reforms are unlikely 
to exacerbate impacts 
associated with pubs and 
bars, because they do not 
address outdoor trading or 
performance and only allow 
events until 10pm. Many 
pubs and bars already trade 
later than 10pm and have 
capacities greater than 70 
patrons. 
 

22. Need responsible 
service of alcohol, 
security, cleaning, 
fire safety and 
banning of gambling 
 

The provisions need to ensure 
alcohol is served according to the 
appropriate NSW regulations, and 
that there is security and cleansing of 
areas before lockup. Fire safety must 
be maintained, and gambling must 
not be allowed at events. 
 

The definition of small scale 
activities which are exempt 
from development consent 
does not include gambling, 
so these activities will not be 
permitted.  
 
Alcohol can only be served 
at a small scale cultural 
event with a liquor license or 
caterers authorisation and 
will be subject to regulations 
requiring the responsible 
service of alcohol. 
 
The exempt criteria for small 
scale cultural activities have 
been developed in 
consultation with City 
building compliance officers 
and meet the thresholds 
identified in the Fire Safety 
Strategy commissioned by 
the City since 2017.  
 
Activities must occur on the 
ground floor, to have an up 
to date Annual Fire Safety 
Statement (AFSS) and not 
involve pyrotechnics, 
theatrical smoke, or 
dangerous goods.  
An up to date Annual Fire 
Safety Statement which 
enables current occupation 
of the space in the building 
for its current approved use, 
will ensure the fire safety risk 
from the additional use of the 
building can be managed 

101



 
 

  Issue raised Response 
 

and will allow the activation 
of vacant spaces, such as 
shops. The limitation to 
ground floor ensure that 
upper floor and staircases 
which may not be suitable for 
increased capacity are not 
utilised. 
 
The exempt criteria require 
the removal of waste from 
the public domain. A post-
exhibition change requires 
that waste collection only 
takes place between 7am 
and 7pm daily. 
 

23. The proposals 
should be supported 
by more parking and 
safe transport 
options 

The proposals will result in an 
increase in cars and traffic in the 
already over saturated streets or 
small laneways, where parking for 
residents is not sufficient, including 
Kings Cross, Pyrmont and 
Chippendale. Public transport should 
be increased to support the 
proposals.  
 

The exempt criteria requires 
operators to not contravene 
conditions of consent of the 
building which relate to traffic 
generation, vehicular 
movement, loading and 
parking. This is to minimise 
the impacts on residents and 
enable them access to their 
properties.  
 
Public transport serving 
Kings Cross, Chippendale 
and Pyrmont is sufficient to 
support temporary small-
scale events which finish at 
10pm. The Sydney Metro 
proposals will introduce a 
new high frequency service 
with more stations in the city 
which will increase 
accessibility to these areas 
later at night. 
 

24. Events should be 
restricted until 8pm 
or 9pm Sunday to 
Thursday 
 

To restrict impacts on amenity, 
performance and shops should not 
trade later than 8-9pm Sunday to 
Thursday, with later hours only 
permitted in the weekend. 
 

The City’s 2017 Open and 
Creative Discussion Paper 
proposed a 9pm closing time 
during weekdays, however 
over half of submissions from 
the cultural sector indicated 
that this timeframe was 
overly restrictive, and a 
longer duration was required 
to make events viable. This 
timeframe was extended to 

102



 
 

  Issue raised Response 
 

10pm on the basis that an 
additional hour would not 
create more than minimal 
impact, and that many of the 
City’s noise complaints are 
not related to activity within 
this timeframe.  
 
The exhibited proposals 
allow small scale cultural 
events to occur from 7am to 
10pm to minimise the impact 
of events and allow for 
seminars and training events 
that may occur during the 
day. 
 

25. Trading hours and 
performance 
extended to midnight 

Trading hours for entertainment on 
high streets should be extended to 
midnight.  
 
 

Trading hours for small scale 
activities without 
development consent are 
required to finish at 10pm so 
that impacts on local amenity 
are minimal. Cultural 
activities that need to 
operate longer will be subject 
to assessment through a DA. 
 
 

26. The proposed 
duration of 4 hours is 
too short 

A run time of 4 hours for events is too 
short, especially when there are 
multi-sessions required by Covid-
restrictions.  The freedom to run for 
6-8 hours would unlock more options. 
 

The duration of event is 
proposed to balance the 
needs of the cultural activity 
with potential impact on 
neighbouring properties. The 
proposed duration has been 
confirmed as viable by the 
City’s Nightlife and Creative 
Sector Panel. A run-time of 
6-8 hours for an activity that 
is not subject to a DA would 
result in unacceptable 
impacts on residents.  
 
The planning controls will be 
in place after Covid 
restrictions are removed, so 
it is not appropriate to extend 
durations to accommodate 
multi-session requirements. 
 

27. Noise impacts will 
continue until 11pm. 
Set up and pack-

If 70 people leave a building at 10pm 
noise would continue until at least 
11pm as people will hold 

The small scale nature of 
these cultural activities 

103



 
 

  Issue raised Response 
 

down should be 
included in 7am-
10pm time period 
 

conversations after an event in the 
street with set up and pack down.  
 
Set up and pack-down should be 
included in 7am-10pm time period. 
 

means that set up and pack 
down time will be limited.  
 
Operators will be required to 
manage the impact of patron 
entry and egress on local 
amenity. 
 
The 4 hour duration which 
can occur between 7am-
10pm, cannot be reduced to 
include set up and pack 
down, as this is the minimum 
time that is viable for small 
scale cultural activities which 
can include seminars, talks 
and exhibitions as well as 
performance.  
 
To minimise impacts on 
amenity, a post exhibition 
change is proposed which 
will not permit pack down 
activities after 10pm. 
Activities to pack down an 
event can take place the 
following day between 7am 
to 10pm. 
 

28. Sundays should be 
excluded, or events 
restricted on 
Sundays until 6pm 
 

Amplified sound (indoors or 
outdoors) should not be allowed after 
10pm on any night or after 6pm on 
Sundays.  Given the potential 
cumulative impact of several 
businesses hosting cultural activities 
until 10 every day, any activity on 
Sunday should be restricted until 
6pm.  
 

The Open and Creative 
planning reforms do not 
permit amplified sound 
outdoors, or the activities to 
continue after 10pm. 
Amplified music is only 
allowed in non-residential 
business and industrial 
zones. A restriction on 
Sunday will prevent small 
theatre performances with 
minimal impacts on Sunday 
nights. 
 

29. Exclude Pyrmont 
from Central Sydney 
 

The reforms include Pyrmont in 
Central Sydney where amplified 
music is allowed. This is not 
appropriate as unlike the CBD, 
Pyrmont has been redeveloped and 
planned with commercial 
development integrated into 
residential precincts, and amplified 
music, until 10pm, can adversely 

The Open and Creative 
planning reforms attempt to 
balance the need for the 
cultural and creative sector 
to find alternative space in 
the city with the amenity of 
residents in mixed use 
business zones.  
 

104



 
 

  Issue raised Response 
 

affect residential amenity, especially 
if it occurs on a regular basis. 
 

Overall the Open and 
Creative planning reforms 
are considered to permit 
business activities in a way 
that will have minimal impact 
on our residential 
communities. The impacts 
expected are considered to 
be commensurate with those 
impacts experienced in any 
global city and they are 
consistent with the B3 
Commercial Core which 
seeks to provide a wide 
range of retail, business, 
office, entertainment, 
community and other 
suitable land uses that serve 
the needs of the local and 
wider community. 
 

30. Amplified music may 
be allowed in 
Newtown or other 
exempt areas in the 
future 
 

Concerns that amplified music may 
be allowed in Newtown in the future. 
 

Amplified music at small 
scale cultural activities 
without development may 
have the potential to cause 
impacts on neighbours. They 
will only be allowed as 
exempt development when 
the activities are taking place 
in areas with less residential 
development, such as in 
Central Sydney or industrial 
and business only zones. 
 

31. Star Casino and 
Doltone House 

The Star Casino and Doltone House 
are included in an area where small 
scale culture activities do not need 
approval from Council for 
indoor/outdoor amplified music. This 
will have a significant impact on 
neighbouring properties. 
 

The Open and Creative 
reforms may apply to retail 
and commercial tenancies 
located in the Star Casino, 
which are in the B3 
Commercial Core zone and 
will be allowed amplified 
music until 10pm. The 
proposals do not permit 
outdoor performance or 
outdoor trading without 
development consent. 
 
These proposals do not 
however apply to function 
centres such as Doltone 
House, which are not 

105



 
 

  Issue raised Response 
 

classified as commercial 
uses. 
 

32. Proposals should be 
deferred until after 
rezoning from 
Pyrmont Peninsula 
Strategy 
 

The reforms should be considered in 
the context of the implementation of 
the Pyrmont Peninsula Place 
Strategy and the sub-precinct Master 
Plans, which may rezone land in 
Pyrmont.   
 

The Pyrmont Peninsula 
Place Strategy is an NSW 
Department of Planning, 
Industry and Environment led 
project. The Department are 
in the process of preparing 
sub-precinct master plans for 
Pyrmont and Ultimo that may 
inform LEP amendments in 
the future. Any amendments 
will require public 
consultation and 
consideration of zoning and 
associated impacts, including 
how any rezoning aligns with 
the City's Open and Creative 
planning reforms. 
It is not considered 
appropriate to pre-empt 
rezoning that may occur 
under the Department's 
project for Pyrmont and 
Ultimo. These issues will be 
addressed at that time with 
the City always seeking to 
ensure the appropriate and 
reasonable protection of 
residential amenity. 
 

33. Proposals should be 
trialled and 
monitored 
 

The reforms will require a high level 
of monitoring (including noise 
monitoring). The City should consider 
a one-year trial of the reforms and 
open community consultation, 
including a register of complaints 
before a more permanent planning 
change is granted.  
 

The Open and Creative 
reforms have been 
developed and subject to 
community consultation 
since 2017. The proposed 
exempt criteria relating to a 
range of issues including 
capacity, frequency and 
duration have been proposed 
at thresholds where it is 
considered impacts will only 
be minimal. 
 
The City will undertake a 
review of the take up and 
impacts associated with the 
exempt provision within two 
years of the publication of 
the LEP provision. 
   

106



 
 

  Issue raised Response 
 

34. Maps and amplified 
music affecting 
residential in the B3 
Commercial Core 
zone 

Maps are vague and poorly detailed. 
The proposals group residential with 
the Casino and Doltone House as an 
area where small scale culture 
activities do not need approval from 
Council for indoor/outdoor amplified 
music.  
 

Mapping in the planning 
proposal is for indicative 
purposes only, because the 
proposals apply to specific 
zones. The proposals allow 
amplified music only in non-
residential business zones 
so that residential properties 
are not affected.  
 
Overall the Open and 
Creative planning reforms 
are considered to permit 
business activities in a way 
that will have minimal impact 
on our residential 
communities. The impacts 
expected are considered to 
be commensurate with those 
impacts experienced in any 
global city and they are 
consistent with the B3 
Commercial Core which 
seeks to provide a wide 
range of retail, business, 
office, entertainment, 
community and other 
suitable land uses that serve 
the needs of the local and 
wider community. 
 

35. Include Tramsheds 
Harold Park 

Small scale cultural activities should 
be permitted within retail, industrial, 
office or community facilities in 
Tramsheds at Harold Park.  
 

The exhibited planning 
proposal amends the Harold 
Park LEP 2011 to apply the 
proposed small scale cultural 
activity exempt provision.  
The Harold Park Tramsheds 
include retail floorspace and 
on land zoned B4 mixed use 
and can access the exempt 
small scale cultural activity 
provision.  
 
An error on the indicative 
map in the planning proposal 
showing the zones where 
small scale cultural activities 
may occur without 
development consent, does 
not show the zones of the 
Harold Park LEP. These 
maps are indicative, are 
included to provide more 

107



 
 

  Issue raised Response 
 

understanding of the 
proposals, however are not 
part of the statutory 
amendments to the LEP 
planning controls.  
 
In addition, low impact arts 
and music performance 
within existing operating 
hours of the Tramsheds 
could be facilitated under 
Subdivision 15AB of the 
NSW Exempt and Complying 
SEPP. The City understands 
that restaurants in the 
Tramsheds currently operate 
until 10pm and therefore 
could achieve the same 
trading hours as allowed in 
the City's exempt provision. 
 

36. Lack of research to 
justify the inclusion 
of Chippendale 

The City’s Proposal fails to provide 
detailed research or independent 
data, that would usually be required 
to justify the proposals applying to 
Chippendale. 
 

The Open and Creative 
reforms have been 
developed and subject to 
community consultation 
since 2017. The City’s 
research into the Cultural 
Strategy, Live Music Action 
Plan and Making Space for 
Culture Study outline the 
need for cultural space and 
the barriers to using existing 
space, including those in the 
planning system.  
 
The City’s proposals are 
based on the objectives and 
composition of the business 
and industrial zones to which 
the proposals are considered 
appropriate and are applied. 
The proposals apply to other 
mixed-use business zones 
with conservation areas, 
such as Surry Hills and 
Pyrmont. 
 
Overall the Open and 
Creative planning reforms 
are considered to permit 
business activities in a way 
that will have minimal impact 
on our residential 

108



 
 

  Issue raised Response 
 

communities. The impacts 
expected are considered to 
be commensurate with those 
impacts experienced in any 
global city and they are 
consistent with the B4 
Commercial Core which 
seeks to provide a mixture of 
compatible land uses. 
 

37. Noise impacts on 
Chippendale and 
unique historic 
terrace/cubic 
form/narrow streets 

 

Small scale cultural events that allow 
up to 70 people on the premises will 
impact residents in adjacent 
properties, who are likely not to have 
acoustic protection, e.g Meagher 
Street, Bartley, Dick, Queen, and 
Little Queen, where most properties 
are residential.  
 
The reforms would have an adverse 
impact on low rise residential streets, 
where noise reverberation is 
significant where there is varying 
cubic form and no open space for 
noise to effectively dissipate, and 
after hours when the background 
noise is limited, and residential 
properties generally have no acoustic 
glazing.  
 
A microphone, background music 
and two speakers on any floor with 
doors opening for entry/exit and 
windows potentially open noise will 
always bounce around narrow streets 
and reverberate from concrete 
surfaces.  
 

The proposed exempt criteria 
relating to a range of issues 
including capacity, frequency 
and duration have been 
proposed at thresholds 
where impacts will only be 
minimal. 
 
Noise impacts experienced 
in Chippendale will be 
minimal and until 10pm. The 
built form in Chippendale is 
similar to other conservation 
areas in mixed-use zones 
such as Pyrmont and Surry 
Hills where the exempt 
provision also applies. 
 
Overall the Open and 
Creative planning reforms 
are considered to permit 
business activities in a way 
that will have minimal impact 
on our residential 
communities. The impacts 
expected are considered to 
be commensurate with those 
impacts experienced in any 
global city and they are 
consistent with the B4 
Commercial Core which 
seeks to provide a mixture of 
compatible land uses. 
 

38. Alfresco dining and 
performance before 
and after event 
preparation already 
cause issues in 
Chippendale 
 

Activities at Kensington Street, 
Chippendale have raised 
considerable concerns, as have 
smaller cultural activities in local 
streets; e.g. more recently, a series 
of cultural events were held in a local 
gallery in the east precinct. The 
events demonstrated the impact on 

Many of these activities are 
likely to be part of the City 
and NSW Government joint 
project to reactivate the city 
post-Covid.  
 
While the impacts on 
terraces and by set-up and 

109



 
 

  Issue raised Response 
 

not only the immediate adjacent 
properties but also the wider 
residential community as well as the 
impact in terms of pre and post-event 
preparation. 
 

pack-down are noted, the 
Open and Creative planning 
reforms do not propose 
trading or performance 
outdoors. 
 
To minimise impacts on 
amenity, a post exhibition 
change is proposed which 
will not permit pack down 
activities after 10pm. 
Activities to pack down an 
event can take place the 
following day between 7am 
to 10pm. 
 

39. Chippendale 
residents 
understood that 
later trading would 
always be subject to 
a DA 

 

The reforms are not consistent with 
the City’s previous position regarding 
late-night trading controls. The city 
previously indicated that any 
changes to consent conditions such 
as the operating hours or change in 
use would require development 
consent and that late night trading 
would be limited to main streets such 
Abercrombie Street, Regent Street, 
and Broadway.  
 

The Open and Creative 
planning reforms were 
referenced in the report to 
Committee on Late night 
Trading DCP in May 
2019.They are temporary 
cultural and creative 
activities that occur until 
10pm.  
 
Submitters refer to 
consultation that the City 
undertook with Chippendale 
residents in respect of the 
Late Night Trading DCP 
changes proposed in 2019, 
which limited activities after 
10pm to Abercrombie Street, 
Regent Street, and 
Broadway.  
 
All proposals for late night 
trading, including shops, 
pubs, bars and clubs that 
operate after 10pm are 
subject to a DA. The Open 
and Creative planning 
reforms occur before 10pm. 
 

40. Darlington should 
be excluded  

An area of Darlington south of 
Cleveland includes residential units 
located opposite a strip of 
commercial businesses on 
Abercrombie Street. If the 
businesses host small scale cultural 

These proposals only allow 
activity in this mixed-use 
zone until 10pm and no 
amplified music is permitted. 
This area of Darlington has 
been included as it includes 
creative spaces and is also a 

110



 
 

  Issue raised Response 
 

activities, there may be noise and 
traffic impacts on residents.  
 

late night trading area.  The 
exempt provision requires 
operators not to contravene 
existing consent conditions 
relating to traffic generation, 
loading, and parking. 
 

41. NSW Government 
changes to liquor 
laws will exacerbate 
situation, proposals 
should be re-
exhibited to 
consider cumulative 
impact 

 

The NSW government has published 
changes to the state’s liquor licensing 
laws, which when considered 
collectively with the proposed 
reforms have the capacity to 
exaggerate the impact. The public 
should have the opportunity to 
consider the City’s proposal in 
context of the changes to the Liquor 
Licensing laws, given that the likely 
cumulative impact and the proposals 
should be re-exhibited.  
 

Although the SEPP provision 
addresses a subset of similar 
activities, it addresses 
ancillary activities within the 
existing operating hours, 
rather than the additional use 
of a shop, office, warehouse 
or community facility until 
10pm. Consultation with the 
Department of Planning, 
Industry and Environment 
about the SEPP provision 
has confirmed that City can 
proceed with the exhibited 
small scale cultural activity 
exempt provision 
independent of the SEPP 
provision.  
 
The City cannot assess the 
cumulative impacts of the 
SEPP provision which was 
published on 1 December 
2020 by the NSW 
Government. This provision 
published on 1 December 
2020 will have limited take 
up to date and is beyond the 
control of the City of Sydney. 
 
The City will undertake a 
review of the take up and 
impacts associated with the 
exempt provision within two 
years of the publication of 
the LEP provision. 
 

42. In Chippendale, 
Rose and Myrtle 
streets do not have 
commercial 
premises but are 
included in exempt 
area 

 

Currently Rose Street and Shepherd 
Lane appear to be included in the 
area where small scale activities can 
take place however there are 
currently no commercial premises on 
these streets other than a 
convenience store and laundromat 
on the corner of Rose and Myrtle 

The area referenced is in a 
B4 mixed use zone, where a 
range of residential and 
commercial uses are 
permissible. Uses may 
change over time, and if 
more commercial or retail 
uses locate in this area 

111



 
 

  Issue raised Response 
 

streets. The proposals should 
exclude all areas of this part of 
Chippendale, except for the existing 
venues located directly facing City 
Road, including the Lansdowne 
Hotel. 
 

temporary small scale 
activities may be able to 
occur until 10pm. This is also 
an area where amplified 
music is not permitted in 
association with these 
events. Other criteria are 
included to ensure minor 
impact. 
 
Other late night uses 
activities in Chippendale are 
focused on Broadway, 
Central Park and Regent 
Street, however these 
activities occur before 10pm 
and are not considered late 
night activities. 
 

43. Density and 
capacity provisions  
 

Some of the conditions of the exempt 
criteria are too onerous and the 
Council has provided little justification 
for their inclusion. In particular, the 
density requirements of 1 square 
metre per person and no more than 
70 people (including Staff) should be 
removed. 
 
The density restrictions in the 
planning proposal are limited to “no 
more than 70 people in total,” 
however the DCP suggests they 
apply to premises which 
“Accommodates less than 120 
patrons”. 
  
To be Covid safe it should be 1 per 
4sqm. 
  

The criteria for smaller 
temporary activities are to 
ensure the activities have 
minimal impact as no 
approval is required. 
Activities with more people 
can occur with a DA 
approval.  
 
The activities are subject to a 
density provision of 1 person 
per sqm to ensure that the 
reuse of retail, commercial, 
industrial and community 
buildings is safe. The 
requirement is based on the 
recommendations of a Fire 
Safety Strategy 
commissioned by the City in 
July 2017.  
  
The limit of 70 patrons is the 
upper level considered to 
ensure that impacts of the 
activity occurring without 
development consent be only 
minimal. The City’s 2017 
Discussion Paper proposed 
a limit of 50 patrons for 
exempt small scale cultural 
activities, based on the City’s 
understanding of the scale of 
cultural events at the time. 
This was benchmarked from 

112



 
 

  Issue raised Response 
 

the change of use of 
premises provisions in the 
Exempt and Complying 
Codes SEPP which limits 
food and drink premises to 
50 seats. Advice from the 
City’s Nightlife Panel and 
submissions received from 
the cultural sector to the 
Discussion Paper provided a 
strong indication that this 
threshold would make this 
activity unviable, particularly 
if it were to include 
performers and staff.  
 
The increase from 50 to 70 
patrons remained within the 
fire safety occupancy 
threshold for activities within 
existing retail and business 
buildings. The impact of an 
additional 20 patrons is 
minimal, particularly given 
that these events would 
occur in business or 
industrial zones and finish by 
10pm. 
 
The draft DCP includes a 
criteria relating to 120 people 
which applies only to cultural 
activities which exceed 
exempt criteria requirements 
and need a development 
consent.  
 
The planning controls will be 
in place after the NSW social 
distancing restrictions as a 
result of the pandemic are 
removed. If the 1 person per 
4 sqm density was required 
in the future as a result of 
another health crisis, it would 
prevail over the planning 
controls. 
 

44. Need to ensure 
diversity of 
performance/cultural 
performance 
 

Need to ensure that the opportunity 
to provide performance is not 
dominated by commercial promoters 
who may produce a mono-cultural 
rather than diverse cultural offering. 

As these activities are 
exempt from development 
consent and will occur on 
private property, the City is 
unable to curate or provide a 

113



 
 

  Issue raised Response 
 

A quota for ethnically diverse cultures 
to be represented in events across 
the city should be implemented. 
 

quota for the types of 
activities to be carried out. 
The purpose of the planning 
controls is to make space 
more easily available for 
cultural activities. 
 

45. Need a Creative 
and Arts 
Entertainment 
licensing Authority  
 

A licensing authority which issues 
and reviews “creative” licenses for 
street-vendors and market stalls, 
performers and entertainers, the 
brokering of short-term uses or 
tenancy agreements between 
prospective “creative” tenants and 
landlords of vacant premises, should 
be established.  Council might 
encourage such activities by taking 
on public insurance liability and 
assist in ensuring compliance with 
public health and safety and fire 
regulations. The environmental 
impacts including noise associated 
with such activities would need to be 
assessed and monitored, particularly 
as the temporary nature of such 
activities may be regularised. 
 

The City is looking to reduce 
regulation and make it easier 
for small scale cultural 
activities to occur. Licensing 
the activities would creative 
more process and red tape.  

The City owns properties, 
including retail and office 
space, across the inner-city 
area. From time to time 
these properties are empty 
for short periods between 
commercial tenancies or 
when repairs or upgrades to 
the buildings are required. 

The City provides short term 
licences for periods of up to 
12 months for creative 
projects. Opportunities are 
offered when spaces 
become available.  

46. Public safety in 
warehouses 

There are safety concerns with public 
around heavy vehicles, plant and 
construction and manufacturing. 
 

The reforms encourage the 
additional use of business 
spaces such as warehouses 
for small scale cultural 
events. While the safety 
concerns are noted, the 
proposals can occur after the 
primary use of a business 
space has ceased. Exempt 
criteria requires that there be 
no use of pyrotechnics, 
theatrical smoke or 
dangerous goods. It will be 
the responsibility of the 
operator to ensure the safety 
of patrons.  

 

 

 

114



 
 

Later opening shops 

  Issue raised Response 

47. Support for 
businesses to 
diversify 

The proposals will provide a positive 
approach to encourage diversity of 
retail options to integrate with the 
traditional night-time economy.  
 
Introducing extended trading hours 
for existing retailers and allowing 
operators the flexibility to choose their 
operating hours from 7am to 10pm, 
seven days a week, will enable 
businesses to adapt and diversify, 
and to trial extended trading. It will 
enable businesses take advantage of 
opportunities provided by events, 
festivals and seasons where 
increased foot traffic may occur, 
whilst ensuring staffing and other 
costs remain within their control.  
 
In addition, it needs to be ensured 
that small businesses are not facing 
unnecessary delays and/or 
impediments, and are not subjected 
to ongoing, unreasonable complaints 
when operating within an authorised 
use. It is important to continue 
consulting and educating existing 
businesses and residents about the 
expected changes exempt 
development will have on the amenity 
of the local area, and how the 
regulation and compliance of the 
changes will be upheld by Council.  
 

Support noted 

48. Extend later trading 
to restaurants 
 

Restaurants should have extended 
trading to engage more people in the 
night time economy. 
 

The proposals for later 
opening shops exempt from 
development consent do not 
include food and drink 
premises, or licensed 
premises which sell, supply 
or allow the consumption of 
liquor on or off the premises. 
This is because later trading 
hours for these uses may 
have different impacts that 
have the potential to impact 
on amenity and require 
assessment through a 
development application. 
Most restaurants operate 
under DAs with trading hours 
until or later than 10pm. 

115



 
 

  Issue raised Response 

 

49. Limit later trading to 
Central Sydney 

Extending trading hours for should be 
limited to few business/entertainment 
areas such as Sydney CBD, 
Haymarket, Newtown, Kings Cross to 
protect residents’ right to live and 
sleep in peace and enjoy their homes. 
 

Later opening shops are 
proposed in areas with an 
established retail character, 
such as the city centre or 
village high streets. These 
streets are daily destinations 
for community, retail and 
commercial activity where 
later opening times after 6pm 
can be accommodated 
without creating significant 
impacts on neighbours. It is 
where the principle and 
impacts of standard business 
hours for shop or businesses 
have been already assessed 
in individual development 
approvals.  
 
Later opening shops will 
include for example those 
selling clothing, books, 
stationery and homewares, 
or businesses such as 
drycleaners, banks and 
hairdressers, which do not 
create noise or encourage 
anti-social behaviour.  
 

50. Later trading in 
Glebe and Central 
Sydney 
 

Extend existing shops and 
businesses to trade in Central Sydney 
and Glebe from 7am to 1:00am 
Thursday, Friday, Saturday am 
Sunday nights. 
 

Trading after 10pm would be 
considered late night trading 
and would require 
assessment through a DA. 
The City’s late night DCP 
controls allow unlicensed 
shops and business to apply 
to trade to 24 hours in 
Central Sydney and until 
2am on parts of Glebe Point 
Road. 
 

51. Extend later trading 
to outdoor dining 
 

Many cafes, kiosks, and shops 
currently operate outdoors, be it in 
private courtyards, or through footway 
licenses. Activities like alfresco dining 
provides much needed vibrancy and 
activation to a precinct and this 
should not be subject to the full 
requirements of a DA. These outdoor 
activities should be encouraged by 
including them as exempt 
development and we recommend any 

The proposals for later 
opening shops do not apply 
to food and drink premises 
because these can become 
licensed and generate 
different impacts that have 
the potential to impact on 
amenity and require 
assessment through a 
development application 
 

116



 
 

  Issue raised Response 

reference to “indoor” activities be 
removed. 
 

The impacts of outdoor 
dining or trading on residents 
may differ due to individual 
site circumstances and 
should be assessed on a 
case by case basis and may 
need conditions to manage 
the situation.  
 

52. Cumulative impacts 
of provision, (if there 
are several 
premises trading 
later close to 
residences) 
 

The impacts of several retail premises 
in close proximity of residential 
trading until 10pm at the same time.  
 

Later opening shops are 
proposed in areas with an 
established retail character, 
where there are several 
unlicensed shops, in the city 
centre or village high streets. 
These areas are daily 
destinations for community, 
retail and commercial activity 
where later opening times 
after 6pm can be 
accommodated without 
creating significant impacts 
on neighbours and where the 
principle and impacts of 
standard business hours for 
shop or businesses have 
already been assessed in 
individual development 
approvals.  
 
As these are unlicensed and 
non-food and drink premises 
the cumulative impacts on 
local amenity from patron 
entry and egress will be 
minor. 
 

53. Protection of 
workers working 15-
hour days 
 

Workers may be forced to work 
longer hours to support the reforms. 
Trading 15 hours a day every day 
may risk health and safety. Minimum 
wages will need to be enforced.  
 

Businesses will take 
decisions about staff safety 
and whether their operational 
costs make trading a viable 
option. Later trading may 
evolve over time as 
consumer habits change and 
tourist and visitor numbers 
increase. 
 

54. Council Licensing 
Authority  
 

Licenses should be issued by Council 
and approvals should be efficiently 
administered and based on 
compliance with clearly specified 
objectives and conditions. Objectives 
should not override each other, so 

The City is looking to reduce 
regulation and make it easier 
for shops to open later. 
Licensing the activities would 
create more approval 
processes that are not 

117



 
 

  Issue raised Response 

that the objective to activate 
commercial street frontages does not 
impact adversely on residential use of 
rear lanes and the amenity of 
residential streets. 
 

necessary given the small 
scale of the activity and 
limited impacts. 

Eligible businesses will be in 
areas with retail character 
and already have 
development consent for 
normal business hours.  

 

Erskineville Town Hall 
 

  Issue raised 
 

Response 

55. Support use and 
increased activation 
of Erskineville Town 
Hall for cultural 
activity/events 
 

The increased activation of the 
Erskineville Town Hall and cultural 
uses and live performance is 
supported. 
 
Theatre spaces on an annual basis 
are fully booked. This is a challenge to 
those performers or small businesses 
wishing to stage their own shows with 
no available performance venues for 
hire. The proposed planning changes 
are supported as this will offer 
performers or small businesses access 
to an additional venue for these 
activities.  
 

Support noted 

56. More cultural events 
will help contrast 
with pub/nightclub 
culture of the area 
 

The use of Erskineville Town Hall for 
cultural events is a positive step and 
may create a community atmosphere 
than the existing pub/nightclub zone 
that has developed in recent years. 
Small-scale (non-amplified) musical 
events will enrich the local community. 
It is important, however, that such use 
is limited and does not create a large-
scale 'entertainment industry' in a 
residential area.  
   

Support noted 

57. Support using the 
town hall for 
rehearsal space for 
emerging musicians 
 

There are many emerging musicians 
and aspiring performers who need 
inexpensive places to rehearse.  With 
the destruction of older buildings, the 
number of spaces for aspiring 
performers to use is limited. 
Erskineville Town Hall and Alexandria 
Town Hall could be potential places for 
emerging musicians, to use at very 
modest cost.  

Support noted. The 
proposal for Erskineville 
Town Hall will enable 
performances with DA 
approval. 
 
These proposals do not 
currently extend to the 
Alexandria Town Hall. 

118



 
 

  Issue raised 
 

Response 

 

58. Concerns about 
noise impacts on 
residents, 
exacerbating those 
already experienced 
from local pubs 
 

There may be potential negative 
impact of noise on residents living in 
nearby properties who already have 
issues with noise from nearby hotels. 
Council has an obligation to undertake 
acoustic testing and install noise 
abatement measures as required.   
 

As a result of the significant 
impact of Covid on the 
cultural sector and creative 
spaces, the use of City 
owned spaces for cultural 
and performance activities 
has increased as a priority.  
 
If the proposals are 
approved, a development 
application on behalf of the 
City will be submitted for the 
extended use of the facility 
which will include a Plan of 
Management to address 
operational issues. Potential 
impacts including noise, on 
neighbours will be assessed 
and conditions to mitigate 
the impacts imposed on the 
development consent. 
 

 
 
Creative and maker spaces in B2 zone 
 

  Issue raised Response 
 

59. Support diversity on 
high streets 
 

The inclusion of “maker and creative 
spaces” in B2 zones Local Centres 
which are located in village high 
streets is supported, noting that this 
also includes “light industry”. 
 

Support noted. The LEP 
classifies creative and 
maker spaces as light 
industrial uses, which are 
not permitted in B2 Local 
centre zones. The potential 
impact of light industrial 
uses will be assessed on a 
case by case basis through 
applications for consent. 
The definition of Light 
Industry in the LEP provides 
a list of considerations to 
reduce potential amenity 
impacts on the 
neighbourhood such as 
noise, vibration, smell, 
fumes, smoke, vapour, 
steam or dust, which will 
support intended outcomes.  
 
Light industrial uses are 
currently permitted with 

119



 
 

  Issue raised Response 
 

consent in the B4 mixed use 
zones such as Pyrmont, 
Surry Hills and 
Chippendale. 
 

60. Provides much 
needed maker 
space for creative 
industries that are 
struggling to secure 
appropriate and 
affordable 
accommodation in 
existing industrial 
zones 
 

The proposal allows ‘light industrial’ 
uses in the B2 zone will provide much 
needed maker space for the creative 
industries that are struggling to secure 
appropriate and affordable 
accommodation in existing industrial 
zones. 
 

Support noted 

61. Concerns about 
noise impact on 
residents from 
industrial machinery 
and processes 
 

There are residences located in 
streets and lanes behind high street 
premises. With creative and maker 
tenants, the manufacturing section of 
the business would typically be at the 
rear of the building. Any machinery 
that generates significant noise must 
have tighter restrictions on operating 
times than the retail section of the 
business which would be on the high 
street. 
 

The LEP classifies creative 
and maker spaces as light 
industrial uses, which are 
not permitted in B2 Local 
centre zones. The potential 
impact of light industrial 
uses will be assessed on a 
case by case basis through 
applications for consent, 
and conditions imposed to 
mitigate impacts on 
amenity. The definition of 
Light Industry in the LEP 
provides a list of 
considerations to reduce 
potential amenity impacts 
on the neighbourhood such 
as noise, vibration, smell, 
fumes, smoke, vapour, 
steam or dust, which will 
support intended outcomes.  
 

62. Support for 
additional 
opportunities for 
creatives and 
makers to use 
premises closer to 
their potential 
customer base 

The proposal to include ‘light industry’ 
in Zone B2 Local Centres is 
supported, as it provides additional 
opportunities for creatives and makers 
to use premises closer to their 
potential customer base and other 
retailers. Many small businesses 
categorised as ‘light industrial’ have 
shop fronts and undertake activities 
that do not negatively impact the local 
amenity for existing businesses or 
residents.  

Allowing creative and maker small 
businesses to occupy spaces across 

Support noted. 

120



 
 

  Issue raised Response 
 

city centres will provide diverse small 
business offerings in local main 
streets. It will also provide employment 
opportunities and improve location 
options for small businesses, with local 
centres providing good operating 
opportunities for business and 
customers due to factors such as 
higher foot traffic, public transport 
access, parking facilities and vibrant 
retail sectors.  
 

 

 

121



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Post Exhibition – Planning Proposal – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D 
Wentworth Park Road, Glebe – Sydney Local Environmental Plan Amendment 
and Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 

File No: X031277 

Summary 

At a time when the wait list for social housing in NSW is almost 60,000 people, demand has 
never been greater. Combined with a five to 10 year waiting period for social housing, and 
the extra demand that will be created by the health, social and economic impacts of Covid-
19, there is a critical need to deliver more quality social housing in the city. 

This planning proposal presents an opportunity to optimise NSW Government owned land to 
deliver new social housing on a site accessible to a range of public transport, open space, 
jobs and services. The site is known as 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park 
Road, Glebe and currently provides 19 social housing dwellings in two storey townhouses. 

The planning proposal is consistent with the Greater Sydney Region Plan, Eastern City 
District Plan and the City's Local Strategic Planning Statement, which all identify the need to 
deliver more social and affordable housing. In particular, the City’s Planning Statement 
identifies the need for an additional 14,000 affordable and social housing dwellings by 2036. 

The proposal provides for an increase to the maximum building height and floor space ratio 
(FSR) which will allow for the future redevelopment of the site delivering the following key 
benefits: 

 Development of the site for substantially more social housing; 

 A high-quality, predominately residential development, supported by small-scale 
neighbourhood uses, that will renew the site and contribute to an established 
local character; 

 Floor space for ground floor non-residential use with a social purpose; and 

 Development that responds to its context and achieves a high level of amenity to 
neighbouring properties. 

The proposal was granted Gateway determination on 31 August 2020 with Council being 
delegated the plan-making authority, subject to no outstanding objections from public 
authorities. A revised Gateway Determination was issued on 14 October 2020 to delete a 
condition which required the removal of the clause that secured 100 per cent social housing 
on the northern site. The planning proposal, draft DCP and other supporting documents 
were then publicly exhibited from 9 November to 14 December 2020.  

In response, 89 submissions and a nine-person petition were received. Of the 89 
submissions received, four were public agency submissions, one from Shelter NSW, one 
from the National Trust and 35 were form letter submissions. 

1

Item 4.



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

The majority of public objections to the proposal related to the demolition of the existing 
buildings, the proposed height and floor space ratio, the impact on and removal of the site 
from the St Phillips Heritage Conservation Area, and amount of social housing is insufficient 
to justify the proposal. These issues are discussed in detail in this report with a summary of 
and responses to all matters raised in submissions provided at Attachment A. 

The proposed height and floor space ratio are considered to be appropriate as they promote 
a three to eight storey scale which responds appropriately to the sites established context. 
Because the City's proposal delivers in excess of what NSW Government Policy requires, 
and satisfies the City's City Plan 2036 requirements, the 47 per cent minimum social housing 
required to be delivered and maintained on site is considered reasonable in this instance. 

Land and Housing Corporation also objected to the proposal to restrict the northern site for 
the purposes of social housing, increased sustainability requirements and required public 
domain works. Because Land and Housing Corporation maintain these objections Council 
does not have plan-making authority as per the Gateway determination. 

The draft DCP has been amended in relation to minimum areas for non-residential use, flood 
protection, sustainability targets and other minor clarifications, in response to suggestions 
from LAHC following design development. The amendments made are considered minor 
changes that reflect design development and do not derogate the original intention of the 
provisions. 

This report recommends approving the planning proposal as shown at Attachment B so that 
it may be forwarded to the Department of Planning Industry and Environment for making as 
a local environmental plan. It also recommends Council approve the draft DCP as amended 
at Attachment C. The site-specific DCP will come into effect at the same time as the LEP is 
published. 

  

2



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council note matters raised in response to the public exhibition of the Planning 
Proposal – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe and draft 
Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth 
Park Road, Glebe, as detailed in this report and as shown in Attachment A to the 
subject report; 

(B) Council approve the Planning Proposal – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth 
Park Road, Glebe, as shown at Attachment B to the subject report, to be made as a 
local environmental plan under S3.36 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Act 1979; 

(C) Council approve the draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 17-31 Cowper 
Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe, with amendments in response to 
submissions, as shown at Attachment C to the subject report, noting that it will come 
into effect on the date of publication of the subject local environmental plan, in 
accordance with Clause 21 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 
2000; and 

(D) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor amendments 
to Planning Proposal – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 
and draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D 
Wentworth Park Road, Glebe to correct any minor errors or omissions prior to 
finalisation. 

Attachments 

Attachment A. Summary of and Responses to Matters raised in Submissions 

Attachment B. Planning Proposal – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park 
Road, Glebe 

Attachment C. Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 17-31 Cowper Street 
and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

Attachment D. Resolution of Council and Central Sydney Planning Committee 

Attachment E. Gateway Determination  

3



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Background 

1. This report seeks Council approval of the planning proposal at Attachment B. The 
planning proposal is to amend Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (LEP) as it 
relates to 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe (the site). 

2. This report also seeks Council approval of the draft Sydney Development Control Plan 
for 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe (DCP) at 
Attachment C. The DCP includes minor amendments in response to submissions. 

3. In July 2020, the planning proposal was endorsed by Council and the Central Sydney 
Planning Committee (CSPC), as shown at Attachment D, for submission to the 
Department of Planning, Infrastructure and Environment (DPIE) with a request for 
Gateway determination, and for public exhibition in accordance with any conditions 
imposed under the Gateway determination, and to seek delegation of plan-making 
functions. 

4. The DPIE granted Gateway determination on 31 August 2020. The original Gateway 
determination requested deletion of a proposed clause requiring the northern site to be 
used for the purposes of social housing. This request was deleted 14 October 2020 
following representations from the City that this request undermined the strategic merit 
of the proposal. Gateway determination and alteration is shown at Attachment E. 

5. The planning proposal and DCP were publicly exhibited from 9 November to 14 
December 2020. In response, 89 submissions and a nine-person petition were 
received. Of the 89 submissions received, four were public agency submissions, one 
from Shelter NSW, one from the National Trust and 35 were form letter submissions. 

6. This report describes the outcomes of public exhibition, and the changes made to the 
DCP in response to submissions and further internal consideration. No changes are 
made to the planning proposal as exhibited. 

Site details and context 

7. The planning proposal relates to 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park 
Road, Glebe and is under the single ownership of the NSW Land and Housing 
Corporation (LAHC). 

8. The legal description of the land affected by this planning proposal is Lots 17 and 18 
DP 244897. 

9. 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe has frontage to 
Wentworth Park Road to the north, Cowper Street to the east and Wentworth Street to 
the south and Mitchell Lane East to the west. The site is dissected by Park Lane. 

10. The sites are irregular in shape. The north site is approximately 626 square metres 
and the south site is approximately 1,163 square metres. 

11. Existing development on site consists of 19 social housing dwellings in a two-storey 
townhouse villa style development. 

12. The land to the east of the site has undergone significant redevelopment in recent 
years through LAHC affordable housing projects and the Mezzo development fronting 
Wentworth Park Road. These redevelopments have resulted in a mix of commercial 
uses, social, affordable and market dwellings in mixed use buildings up to 10 storeys 
with ground floor commercial uses. 

4



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

13. The land to the south and west of the site is typical of Glebe’s fine-grain network of 
streets and lanes that is characterised by single storey terraces in relatively narrow 
streets with many street trees. 

14. Open space facilities in the area include Wentworth Park immediately north of the site, 
MJ Doherty Reserve immediately west of the site. 

 

Figure 1: The subject site and surrounding area 

subject site 

Mezzo 

5



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

 
Figure 2: The subject site and surrounding area (aerial) 

 

Figure 3: 17 - 31 Cowper Street (corner of Wentworth and Cowper Street) 

subject site 

6



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

 

Figure 4: 2A - 2D Wentworth Park Road (looking south) 

 

Figure 5: Development to the east of the site (looking south down Cowper Street) 

7



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Planning history 

15. In November 2019, the current Minister for Planning and Public Spaces announced a 
new approach to precinct planning. As a result, LAHC sites, some previously 
announced as State Significant, will now be considered through a local council 
planning process with a request to amend the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012. 

16. In late 2019 and early 2020, LAHC met with the City to discuss potential amendments 
to the planning controls for the site. The City has worked constructively with the 
landowner and their consultant team to explore potential built-form outcomes. The pre-
lodgement consultation resulted in a number of changes to the proposal including: 

(a) Increased setbacks along Cowper Street to ensure retention of street trees; 

(b) Deletion of warehouse style building at the south west corner of the southern site 
to enable retention of the Spotted Gum; 

(c) Reduced floor plate area, as a result of the increased setbacks, to reduce the 
overall building bulk and reduce overshadowing of adjacent dwellings; 

(d) Additional storey added to offset reduced floor plate; 

(e) Relocation of the non-residential use from the south site to the north site to 
provide a more prominent street address to Wentworth Park Road and allow co-
location with the social housing; and 

(f) Increase in number of potential social housing dwellings. 

17. On 22 May 2020, the landowner submitted a planning proposal request to the City. 
The request included a Design Report and a number of technical studies. The City has 
prepared this planning proposal following consideration of the request. 

18. The amended planning controls will enable redevelopment of 17-31 Cowper Street and 
2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe, consisting of the following key concepts: 

(a) Development of the site for substantially more social housing; 

(b) A high-quality, predominately residential development, supported by small-scale 
neighbourhood uses, that will renew the site and contribute to an established 
local character; 

(c) Floor space for ground floor non-residential use with a social purpose; and 

(d) Development that responds to its context and achieves a high level of amenity to 
neighbouring properties. 

19. In preparation of their request, LAHC consulted with City staff and commissioned a 
range of studies to support the proposed changes to the planning controls.  

20. The submitted reference scheme prepared by the landowner for 17-31 Cowper Street 
and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe includes redevelopment of the site to 
accommodate new residential apartment buildings, terrace houses and non-residential 
uses fronting Wentworth Park Road. 

8



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

21. The landowner's scheme would facilitate the delivery of two new residential buildings 
with building heights of eight storeys plus five terraces fronting Mitchell Lane East and 
MJ Doherty Reserve. 

22. This scheme provides for approximately 5,800 square metres of residential Gross 
Floor Area (GFA) and approximately 165 square metres of non-residential GFA for 
social purposes and up to 35 square metres of GFA for commercial or retail purposes. 
This building layout would achieve around 74 apartments and will not be eligible for 
additional bonus floor space awarded for a further design excellence competition. 

24. The northern smaller building will accommodate social housing in approximately 2,300 
square metres of residential floor space. The southern building will accommodate 
housing in approximately 3,500 square metres. The southern site could be used for the 
purposes of social, affordable or market housing. 

 

 

Figure 6: Indicative reference scheme - looking south down Cowper Street from Wentworth Park 

Mezzo north site 

9



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

 

 

Figure 7: Indicative reference scheme - looking east from MJ Doherty Reserve 

23. The scheme was presented to the City's Design Advisory Panel who supported higher 
environmental standards for the development, the approach to retaining trees and the 
provision of non-residential GFA for a social purpose. Items they sought to be 
addressed included minimising overshadowing to neighbouring residential properties, 
ensuring an appropriate transition in form to the surrounding conservation area and 
careful consideration of flooding issues. These issues have all been addressed in the 
City's assessment and proposed DCP. 

24. Compliance testing against the objectives of the Apartment Design Guide (ADG) 
standards suggests 80 per cent of apartments achieve natural cross ventilation 
requirements and 80 per cent (north site) and 82 per cent (south site) of apartments 
achieve solar compliance. Ultimately, the final apartment layout and mix would be 
determined at development application stage. 

25. At the meetings of 23 July 2020 and 27 July 2020, the prepared planning proposal and 
draft DCP were endorsed by the CSPC and Council for submission to the DPIE with a 
request for Gateway determination, and for public exhibition in accordance with any 
conditions imposed under the Gateway determination, and to seek delegation of plan 
making functions. 

26. The DPIE granted Gateway determination on 31 August 2020. The original Gateway 
determination required deletion of the clause requiring the northern site to be used for 
the purposes of social housing. This request was deleted 14 October 2020 following 
representations from the City that this request undermined the strategic merit of the 
proposal. The Gateway determination and alteration is shown at Attachment E. 

  

north site 

south site 

10



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

27. The Gateway determination required public exhibition for a minimum of 28 days and 
consultation with four NSW Government agencies, giving them a minimum of 21 days 
to comment. The Gateway determination set the completion date for the planning 
proposal as 31 August 2021. The DPIE also granted delegation to Council to make the 
local plan subject to their being no outstanding written objections from public 
authorities.  

Current planning controls 

28. The current planning controls applying to the site under the LEP are: 

(a) Land zoning: R1 General Residential, which permits the proposed uses 

(b) Height of Buildings: maximum of 9 metres 

(c) Floor Space Ratio (FSR): maximum of 1.25:1 

29. The site is not listed as a heritage item but is within the St Phillips Heritage 
Conservation Area and is located adjacent to heritage listed (I670) street trees on 
Cowper Street. 

Exhibited LEP controls 

30. The exhibited planning proposal seeks to amend the LEP, adding a new site-specific 
clause to: 

(a) Amend the Height of Building Map to increase the maximum building height to 
RL 36 (8 storeys) 

(b) Amend the Heritage Map to remove both sites from the St Phillips Heritage 
Conservation Area, and 

(c) Insert a site-specific local clause for additional floor space, affordable and social 
housing, BASIX and design excellence. The proposed site-specific provision will: 

(i) facilitate additional FSR if development includes: 

a. 100 per cent of residential floor area of the north site to be for the 
purposes of social housing as a minimum; and 

b. if the development exceeds BASIX commitments for energy; and 

(ii) remove the award of additional bonus building height or floor space 
through a design excellence competition. 

Exhibited DCP controls 

31. The exhibited draft DCP provides further guidance for development of the site 
consistent with the proposed amendments to the LEP. The indicative reference design 
represents a highly resolved design. The draft DCP controls will help to ensure the 
benefits of the increased maximum building height and FSR are realised and impacts 
are appropriately managed. The draft DCP addresses the following key design 
considerations to: 

(a) Improve visual privacy between apartments across Park Lane 

(b) Manage visual privacy between apartments and terraces 

11



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

(c) Provide ramp access to both lobbies 

(d) Dedicate land for footpath widening and improve pedestrian facilities on 
surrounding streets 

(e) Increase the quantum of landscape and deep soil 

(f) Manage overshadowing to the adjacent buildings by modifying the south-east 
roof of the north lot 

(g) Provide external sun shading to east and west elevations 

(h) Improve ground level interfaces by including windows to all ground level spaces 

(i) Improve solar access to living spaces of west facing apartments 

(j) Modify windows to maximise effectiveness of cross ventilation, and 

(k) Improve the design quality and detail of the terrace houses. 

Outcomes of public exhibition and public authority consultation 

32. The planning proposal, draft DCP and other supporting documents were publicly 
exhibited from 9 November 2020 to 14 December 2020. 

33. Letters were sent to owners and occupiers within approximately a 100 metre radius of 
the subject site. Four public agencies were also consulted as required by the Gateway 
determination. 

34. Notification of the public exhibition was advertised on the Sydney Your Say website. 
Hard copies of the planning proposal, draft DCP, a physical model and other 
supporting documents were also made available at the Town Hall Customer Service 
Centre. 

35. In response, 85 submissions were received from nearby residents, a local society, the 
New South Wales Legislative Assembly local member for Balmain, Shelter NSW, and 
the National Trust. A nine-person petition in objection to the proposal was also lodged. 
Four submissions were received from public authorities, including one in objection 
from LAHC. 

36. A detailed summary of and responses to matters raised in submissions is provided at 
Attachment A. LAHC's primary objection and the key public issues raised in objection 
to the proposal are also addressed below.  

Restricting built form tenure to social housing by local Councils is not a valid 
planning consideration and doesn’t reflect any policy basis.  

37. LAHC in their submission have objected to the City’s proposal to have an LEP clause 
that provides an incentive for the provision of social housing by allowing additional 
floor space on the condition that 100 per cent of the gross floor area of the northern lot 
is used for the purposes of social housing as a minimum. 

  

12



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

38. The reasons provided for this objection are that it:  

(a) is not a valid planning consideration;  

(b) doesn’t reflect any policy basis; and  

(c) represents an unacceptable operating constraint.  

39. LAHC are of the view that the Housing Act 2001 (the Housing Act) deals with LAHC’s 
ability to manage tenure and vest land and that accordingly it is the appropriate 
legislative instrument to manage tenure mix on the site. 

 A valid planning consideration  

40. Promoting the delivery and maintenance of affordable housing is an object of the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 (the Act) under Section 1.3(d). 

41. Section 3.14(1)(d) of the Act details that an LEP may make provision for or with 
respect to providing, maintaining and retaining, and regulating any matter relating to 
affordable housing. 

42. Affordable housing under the Act includes social housing. Promoting the delivery and 
maintenance of affordable housing is therefore a first principle planning consideration. 

43. The City’s proposal as structured promotes:  

(a) the delivery of social housing, by providing an FSR incentive contingent on the 
delivery of social housing, and  

(b) the maintenance of social housing by securing the northern site, at a minimum, 
for the purposes of social housing. 

44. The City’s proposal gives effect to Section 1.3(d) and 3.14(1(d) of the Act and 
promotes the social welfare of the community through, in the City’s view, a necessary 
and demonstrably appropriate planning provision that promotes the orderly use and 
development of land. 

45. The City's proposal is necessary and appropriate because LAHC have demonstrated 
that their management of public land and property under the Housing Act in recent 
times has led to a reduction in social housing dwellings in the city, primarily through 
the sale of social housing properties in Walsh Bay and the Rocks. 

46. The removal of the incentive provision would mean the City’s proposal would be a 
substantial increase in height and FSR, and removal of the site from a Heritage 
Conservation Area, without securing the social housing and strategic merit of the 
proposal.  

47. Without the incentive provision the site could be developed entirely for market 
residential accommodation now or in the future. The City’s Local Strategic Planning 
Statement and Local Housing Strategy make it clear that there is sufficient capacity 
under the City’s existing controls to meet our private market housing dwelling targets. 
A planning proposal that facilitates only private market housing therefore has no 
strategic merit when assessed relative to the City’s Local Strategic Planning Statement 
and Local Housing Strategy.  

13



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

The policy basis – delivering on dwelling targets  

48. Section 3.33 of the Act requires the planning proposal authority to provide justification 
for making an LEP including whether the proposed instrument will give effect to 
council’s local strategic planning statement.  

49. The City’s Local Strategic Planning Statement - City Plan 2036 and Local Housing 
Strategy - Housing for All, present in thorough detail the policy basis for increasing the 
supply of affordable housing in the City of Sydney. It establishes a total private 
dwelling target of 50,000 additional dwellings required in the City of Sydney by 2036, 
from a 2016 baseline.  

50. The 50,000 dwelling target includes:  

(a) 10,856 additional affordable rental housing dwellings, and  

(b) 1,975 additional social housing dwellings.  

51. As of June 2020, an additional 183 affordable rental housing dwellings have been built 
and 86 social housing dwellings lost in the City of Sydney since 2016. This leaves a 
gap of 10,673 affordable rental housing dwellings and a growing gap of 2,061 social 
housing dwellings to be built in the next 16 years.  

52. The gaps are significant for both affordable rental housing and social housing, and 
their supply challenges are different.  

53. The City uses a range of approaches to facilitate affordable rental housing supply in 
the our LGA, including through affordable rental housing schemes, site-specific and 
zone related planning incentives and through material support, contributing $24 million 
over the last 10 years. This has included grants to non-government organisations, as 
well as granting or selling land below cost to community housing providers.  

54. For social housing, since the City’s target for social housing was established in 2008, 
the proportion of social housing has decreased from almost 11.7 per cent in 2006 to 
about 8.5 per cent in 2016. This proportion will continue to decline as the number of 
homes in the city increases to over 160,000 dwellings.  

55. Although a gap of 2,061 social housing dwellings may seem small, in a climate where 
we are seeing a net reduction in social housing stock and a proportionate decrease 
overall, and an increase in demand, the City and the NSW Government should be 
significantly increasing the proportion of social housing on NSW Government renewal 
sites.  

The policy basis – giving effect to the local strategic planning statement  

56. To give effect to the planning statement, Action L3.4 and L3.5 requires the planning 
proposal authority to: 

(a) to deliver a minimum 25 per cent of floor space as affordable rental housing in 
perpetuity on all NSW Government sites, including on social housing sites, and  

(b) significantly increase the proportion of social housing on NSW Government sites 
that are being renewed.  

  

14



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

57. For the subject site this means the benchmark for giving effect to the planning 
statement is delivering significantly more than the 19 social housing dwellings on site 
and 25 per cent of floor space as affordable rental housing. Any additional social 
housing achieved can be counted towards the achievement of the 25per cent 
affordable rental housing target. 

58. 25 per cent of the residential floor space facilitated by the planning proposal equates to 
around 1,574sqm. To give effect to City Plan 2036, the planning proposal is to ensure 
the delivery and maintenance of more than 19 social housing dwellings on site and an 
additional 1,574sqm of social housing. 

59. The City’s proposed incentive provision delivers 2,691sqm of social housing floor 
space, 1,117sqm in excess of the 25 per cent target, as a minimum. This equates to 
35 affordable housing dwellings, a significant increase in the 19 social housing 
dwellings on site. Given the NSW Government policy considerations below, the 
delivery of 2,691sqm of social housing floor space as a minimum for this site is 
considered to give effect to City Plan 2036. 

The policy basis – the Premier's Priorities  

60. The Premier’s Priorities represent a commitment by the NSW Government to making a 
significant difference to enhance the quality of life of the people of NSW. They aim to 
tackle many of the issues that have been put in the too hard basket, for too long. Each 
priority has an ambitious target.  

61. The Reducing Homelessness target is to reduce street homelessness across NSW by 
50 per cent by 2025. The provision of social housing is an initiative to help achieve the 
target.  

62. Communities Plus, via the NSW Government’s Future Directions of Social Housing in 
NSW, is the policy for the delivery of new and replacement social housing in NSW. 
Communities Plus commits the NSW Government to the delivery of up to 23,000 new 
and replacement social housing dwellings, 500 affordable housing dwellings, and up to 
40,000 private dwellings on public land sites. This commitment is made via the NSW 
National Housing and Homeless Agreement. 

63. Any removal or amendment to the City’s proposed incentive provision fails to secure 
the delivery and maintenance of social housing on site, contrary to the NSW Premier’s 
Priority.  

64. In absence of a holistic LAHC strategy for the delivery of new and replacement social 
and affordable housing across the City of Sydney Local Government Area, the City 
and the NSW Government is to take every opportunity to increase the provision of 
affordable housing in order to contribute to the NSW Premier’s Priority, 2025 target 
and the Communities Plus commitment. In absence of a holistic LAHC strategy for the 
redevelopment of their sites, the City and the NSW Government don’t know whether 
there will be other opportunities to increase affordable housing by 2025 and achieve 
targets and program objectives. 

The policy basis – Communities Plus  

65. Communities Plus is NSW Land and Housing Corporation’s 10-year redevelopment 
program for the delivery of:  

(a) 23,000 new and replacement social housing dwellings, 500 affordable housing 
dwellings and 40,000 private dwellings in NSW, and  

15



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

(b) a targeted mix of 70 per cent private and affordable and 30 per cent social 
housing dwellings per site.  

66. As NSW Government Policy, and as per the NSW National Housing and Homeless 
Agreement, the delivery and maintenance of 30 per cent social housing on any Land 
and Housing Corporation site needs to be secured. Planning is the appropriate tool to 
secure the supply given the change to planning controls increases land value and 
creates the opportunity. 

67. The proportion of affordable rental housing delivered and maintained on site is to be in 
accordance with the Greater Sydney Region Plan, the Eastern City District Plan and 
the City’s planning statement.  

The policy basis - Greater Sydney Region Plan and Eastern City District Plan  

68. The Greater Sydney Region Plan and the Eastern City District Plan includes a target 
range of 5-10 per cent of new residential floor space to be delivered and maintained as 
affordable rental housing.  

69. Again, in absence of a holistic NSW Land and Housing Corporation strategy for the 
delivery of new and replacement affordable rental housing across the City of Sydney 
Local Government Area, the City and the NSW Government is to take every 
opportunity to increase the provision of affordable housing and the maximum 10 per 
cent target of new residential floorspace to be delivered and maintained as affordable 
rental housing should be applied. 

70. Any removal or reduction to the City’s proposed affordable housing requirement will fail 
to deliver and maintain affordable housing on site. 

Operational effect  

71. The City has long promoted the delivery and maintenance of affordable housing 
through affordable rental housing schemes in Ultimo and Pyrmont, Green Square and 
in the Southern Employment Lands and through site-specific planning incentives, 
including at 87 Bay Street, Glebe (private site), and the Glebe Affordable Housing 
Project (LAHC site). 

72. The use of planning incentives to deliver and maintain affordable housing is used 
across Metropolitan Sydney in other council areas, including through the Affordable 
Rental Housing SEPP, in the Hills Shire, at 1-56 Pennant Way, Castle Hill (LAHC site). 

73. The above examples demonstrate that the City’s proposed planning incentive is an 
appropriate provision that does not impose an unacceptable operating constraint on 
the landowner for the day to day management and operation of the land. 

74. For the long-term operation of the land, the City’s proposed planning incentive 
promotes the maintenance of social housing on site in accordance with Act, whilst 
allowing redevelopment or disposal under the site’s substantive mapped FSR control, 
which remains unchanged by the planning proposal. 

75. The City has attempted to resolve outstanding objections with LAHC, but LAHC's 
objections to the proposal still stand. LAHC's objections therefore represent an 
outstanding written objection from a public authority contrary to Gateway 
determination. As such Council does not have delegation to make the LEP. The 
recommendation is for Council to approve the final planning proposal for sending to 
DPIE for making. 

16



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Sustainability targets 

76. The Ecological Sustainable Development section of the draft DCP has been amended 
in consultation with LAHC following further design development of their scheme. This 
includes deletion of minimum NABERS requirements, due to the lack of commercial 
floor area in the scheme, clarification in external shading requirements and a shift to 
promote development powered by electricity instead of gas. 

77. LAHC are supportive of revised draft DCP sustainability requirements, with the 
exception of the BASIX targets. This objection extends to the proposed LEP BASIX 
targets. LAHC are of a view that BASIX targets are not considered the most 
appropriate means to drive the development’s overall sustainability outcome. 

78. The NSW Government's BASIX SEPP mandates provisions that aim to reduce 
consumption of mains-supplied potable water, reduce emissions of greenhouse gases 
and improve thermal comfort in all residential development. The BASIX SEPP sets the 
minimum standards that a development is to achieve. As such, the BASIX SEPP is 
what Council’s must rely upon to drive energy efficient outcomes. 

79. The City's has reviewed the proposed LEP requirement for development to exceed 
BASIX commitments for energy by not less than 5 points and considers it to be 
reasonable. The requirement to exceed BASIX commitments by 5 points is now 
standard practice for residential planning proposals in the city and achieving it does 
not require a gas heated solution. 

80. The City's has reviewed the proposed DCP requirement for development to exceed 
BASIX commitments in line with LAHC's objection. The proposed BASIX Energy 
targets in the DCP have been replaced by a minimum solar PV requirement as agreed 
by LAHC. This is considered to promote a positive sustainability outcome in terms of 
the amount of PV proportionate to each dwelling and maintains consistency with the 
LEP BASIX requirement, which is retained. 

81. A target to exceed BASIX Water 40 across the development is maintained. As BASIX 
Water 40 is currently the minimum standard exceeding this target by any amount is 
considered to be reasonable. The DCP also strongly encourages the use of recycled 
water beyond irrigation. It is accepted that at development application stage that 
achieving this may not be possible without ready access to areas in the locality to 
harvest recycled water. 

Footpath upgrade and widening  

82. The local Infrastructure section of the draft DCP has been amended in consultation 
with LAHC following further design development of their scheme. This includes a 
reference to ensure footpath widths meet the requirements of the NSW Government's 
Walking Space Guide. 

83. LAHC are supportive of revised draft DCP local infrastructure requirements, with the 
exception of the requirement to convert Mitchell Lane East to a pedestrian priority 
shared surface and continuation of a footpath continuation along Wentworth Park 
Road across Cowper Street. LAHC's reason for this is cost. 

84. The City believes these works are essential and reflect the level of uplift in density 
facilitated by the proposal. These upgrades will service current and future populations 
with a safe pedestrian environment to access neighbouring parks. 

17



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

85. LAHC may make the case at development application stage that the cost of these 
required works is offset against any required developer contributions. 

Demolishing the existing buildings will have an unacceptable impact on the heritage 
values of the St Phillips Heritage Conservation Area. 

86. The existing buildings were constructed in 1989. They are not individually heritage 
listed but are within the St Phillips Heritage Conservation Area. They are listed as 
having a neutral contribution to the conservation area, meaning they do not contribute 
to or detract from the significance of the conservation area. 

87. The architectural merit of the existing buildings on site is not considered to be 
significant enough to warrant their retention when weighed against the overall strategic 
merit of the proposal. NSW Heritage have not objected to the demolition of the existing 
buildings. 

88. The draft DCP requires an archival photographic recording of the existing buildings on 
site prior to their demolition. It also requires an Interpretation Strategy to be prepared 
regarding the historic development of the area. 

The proposed height and FSR will have an unacceptable impact on the heritage 
values of the St Phillips Heritage Conservation Area. 

89. The existing buildings on site are considered to be a sympathetic infill for their time. In 
1989, the built character of the area was very different to what to what is presented 
today. It was a predominantly one to two storey streetscapes with a residential terrace, 
light industrial, commercial warehouse character. 

90. The character of the area has evolved since 1989. The area is now characterised by 
one and two storey residential terraces sitting adjacent to 5-10 storey residential 
mixed-use developments, particularly at the eastern edge of the conservation area, 
along Cowper Street. It is appropriate therefore that the scale of the proposed controls 
responds to this contemporary context.  

91. The subject proposal introduces a three to eight storey scale to the subject site, which 
is considered to respond appropriately to the established context. 

92. The loss of the existing buildings and the construction of new development at a scale 
of three to eight storeys is not considered to detract from character of the conservation 
area. This is because this transition in scale already exists and therefore it will not be a 
new characteristic. 

93. Because of the detailed consideration given to the demolition of the existing buildings, 
it is considered appropriate to amend the boundary of the conservation area to excise 
the subject site. This provides certainty on the issue for future development application 
assessment. This is not considered to set a precedent, with any future proposal to 
demolish any other structure elsewhere within the conservation area being subject to 
its own assessment and assessed on its individual merits. 

  

18



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

The existing low-rise buildings and are better suited to social housing. They should 
be retained and renovated. The proposed buildings will result in loss of amenity for 
social housing tenants. 

94. The proposal facilitates the delivery of a contemporary residential apartment 
development that will need to demonstrate compliance with the amenity requirements 
of State Environmental Planning Policy 65 and the Apartment Design Guide. The 
future residential apartments therefore will have a level of residential amenity 
commensurate with any other contemporary residential apartment built in the City of 
Sydney. 

95. The provision of social housing is the responsibility of the NSW Government. This 
includes a responsibility to plan for, deliver and maintain housing appropriate to current 
and future tenants.  

96. The design of the new social dwellings will greatly improve the quality and amenity for 
future social residents. In particular, level access will be provided to every social 
dwelling, sustainability measures aim to reduce utility costs, the orientation of units and 
entrances from the street which will improve safety for residents and the wider 
community. 

97. Future residents of the site will have excellent access to a wide range of jobs within the 
area, to local and regional level retail services and facilities at Glebe Point Road village 
and Broadway Shopping Centre, to community services and facilities within the 
surrounding area, and to extensive open space and recreation facilities. 

Insufficient social housing to justify the proposal. 

98. The amount of social housing has been discussed in response to LAHC's objection to 
provide any social housing and the City's Local Strategic Planning Strategy - City Plan 
2036 and the NSW Government Policies as described in paragraphs 46 to 70. 
Consideration needs to be given to both in order for a reasonable and defensible 
policy position to be reached.  

99. Because the City's proposal delivers in excess of what NSW Government Policy 
requires, and satisfies the City's City Plan 2036 requirements, the 47 per cent 
minimum social housing required to be delivered and maintained on site is considered 
reasonable in this instance. 

100. There is nothing in the City's proposal that prevents the south site from being used for 
additional social or affordable rental housing. 

The proposal will privatise public land 

101. The City's planning controls cannot restrict the sale of land by any landowner. The 
proposal does not restrict the redevelopment of the southern site for private market 
housing. The southern site could be sold to fund and facilitate the delivery of social 
housing on the northern site or it could also be used for the purposes of social housing 
and remain in public ownership. The sale of the southern site would facilitate the 
delivery of much needed social housing on the northern site and the orderly and 
economic use of the southern site. 

102. This mixed ownership model is in line with the NSW Government’s Future Directions 
for Social Housing policy which aims to deliver a new integrated housing 
developments in partnership with the private and community housing sectors. 

19



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Objection to segregated households according to income with separate buildings for 
social housing residents and private owners. 

103. Evidence suggests that community housing providers and the NSW Government 
prefer single tenure buildings because these are easier and more cost effective to 
manage. Unlike mixed tenure buildings, single tenure buildings are generally less 
expensive to build and costs can be reduced because strata fees may not be required. 
Single tenure social housing can be managed more efficiently as providers do not 
have to consider private landowner matters.  

104. The social benefits of a mixed tenure community are achieved in this project due to the 
mix of private and social housing across the whole development site and the 
surrounding neighbourhood. In absence of a policy that requires mixed tenure 
buildings, there are no grounds to amend the proposal. 

Strategic Alignment - Eastern City District Plan 

105. The Eastern City District Plan sets the planning context for the City of Sydney local 
government area. It provides a 20-year plan to manage growth and achieve the 40-
year vision of the Greater Sydney Region Plan at a district level and is a bridge 
between regional and local planning. 

106. This planning proposal gives effect to these planning priorities and actions: 

(a) Planning Priority E1 – Planning for a city supported by infrastructure 

(b) Planning Priority E4 – Fostering healthy, creative, culturally rich and socially 
connected communities 

(c) Planning Priority E5 – Providing housing supply, choice and affordability, with 
access to jobs, services and public transport 

(d) Planning Priority E6 – Creating and renewing great places and local centres, and 
respecting the District’s heritage 

(e) Planning Priority E7 – Growing a stronger and more competitive Harbour CBD 

(f) Planning Priority E10 – Delivering integrated land use and transport planning and 
a 30-minute city 

(g) Planning Priority E17 – Increasing urban tree canopy cover and delivering green 
grid connections 

(h) Planning Priority E19 – Reducing carbon emissions and managing energy, water 
and waste efficiently 

(i) Planning Priority S20 – Adapting to the impacts of urban and natural hazards 
and climate change 

  

20



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Strategic Alignment - Sustainable Sydney 2030 

107. Sustainable Sydney 2030 is a vision for the sustainable development of the City to 
2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of the City, as 
well as 10 targets against which to measure progress. This proposal is aligned with the 
following strategic directions and objectives: 

(a) Direction 1 – A Globally Competitive and Innovative City: The planning proposal 
will support Sydney’s role as an important centre of business and investment by 
providing additional housing options for workers in a high amenity area located 
within 30 minutes of the city. 

(b) Direction 2 provides a road map for the City to become A Leading Environmental 
Performer: Redevelopment of the site, facilitated by this planning proposal and 
through the design excellence process, will deliver new building stock with 
significantly better environmental performance through incentives for higher 
BASIX performance. 

(c)  Direction 3 – Integrated Transport for a Connected City: The site is close light rail 
and high frequency buses along Parramatta Road providing access to the 
Central Station and the wider heavy rail network. 

(d) Direction 4 – A City for Walking and Cycling: The proposal will support active 
transport use in accordance with this Direction.  The proposed built form also 
provides for enhanced activation of the public domain, which will enhance safety 
and amenity for pedestrians in the surrounding area. 

(e)  Direction 5 – A Lively and Engaging City Centre: The proposal includes a ground 
floor non-residential use facing Wentworth Park which will provide greater 
activation of the surrounding area. 

(f)  Direction 6 – Vibrant Local Communities and Economies: The proposal seeks to 
renew existing social housing and deliver an integrated outcome enhancing the 
sense of inclusion for all residents. 

(g)  Direction 7 – A Cultural and Creative City: Further opportunities for cultural and 
collaborative expression will be enabled within public and communal spaces. 

(h) Direction 8 – Housing for a Diverse Population: The planning proposal promotes 
a diverse supply of housing that supports social and economic diversity. The 
proposal will provide for people of all household types, ages and abilities in 
housing they can live in through all stages of their lives. The planning proposal 
will contribute to a thriving, diverse and liveable community in the Glebe area. 

(i) Direction 9 – Sustainable Development, Renewal and Design: The development 
will provide a sustainable approach to urban density, by providing a range of 
housing types within a dense inner-city suburb. Future apartments will be of a 
high quality with good solar access and in close proximity to parks. 

Strategic Alignment - Local Strategic Planning Statement 

108. The City of Sydney’s Local Strategic Planning Statement sets out the land use 
planning context, 20 year vision and planning priorities to positively guide change 
towards the City’s vision for a green, global and connected city. 

  

21



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

109. This planning proposal gives effect to the following planning priorities of the Statement: 

(a) Infrastructure 

I3 – Supporting community wellbeing with social infrastructure 

(b) Liveability 

L1 – A creative and socially connected city 

L2 – Creating great places 

L3 – New homes for a diverse community 

(c) Sustainability 

S2 – Creating better buildings and places to reduce emissions and waste and use 
water efficiently 

S3 – Increasing resilience of people and infrastructure against natural and urban 
hazards 

(d) Governance 

G1 – Open, Accountable and collaborative planning 

Relevant Legislation 

110. Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

111. Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000. 

Critical Dates / Time Frames 

112. The Gateway determination requires the amendment to Sydney LEP 2012 be 
completed by 31 August 2021. 

113. The Gateway determination does not authorise Council to exercise plan-making 
delegation where there is an outstanding written objection from a public authority. 

114. If approved by Council and the CSPC, the City will submit the planning proposal to 
DPIE to commence the drafting and plan making process. Once completed, the 
amendment to Sydney LEP 2012 will come into effect when published on the NSW 
legislation website. 

  

22



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

115. If approved by Council, the amendment to the Sydney DCP 2012 will come into effect 
on the same day as the LEP. 

GRAHAM JAHN, AM 

Director City Planning, Development and Transport 

Tim Wise, Manager Planning Policy 

23



Attachment A 

Summary of and Responses to Matters in 

Submissions 

 

24



Planning Proposal and DCP – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, 
Glebe 

Summary of and responses to maters raised in submissions 

Summary of 
submission 

Response to submission 

Land and Housing 
Corporation 

Object to the City’s 
proposal to have an 
LEP clause that 
provides an incentive 
for the provision of 
social housing by 
allowing additional floor 
space on the condition 
that 100% of the gross 
floor area of the 
northern lot is used for 
the purposes of social 
housing. The reasons 
provided for this 
objection are that it:  

- is not a valid 
planning 
consideration  

- doesn’t reflect any 
policy basis, and  

- represents an 
unacceptable 
operating constraint.  

This objection is addressed in the body of the committee report. 

Recommended action: no change 

Land and Housing 
Corporation 

In relation to the 
requirement for 
exceedance on BASIX 
energy, LAHC is of the 
view that increased 
BASIX targets are not 
the most appropriate 
means to drive energy 
efficiency and the 
mandating of higher 
targets is inconsistent 
with the BASIX SEPP, 
which states an LEP 
cannot require higher 
than the minimum. 

 

 

The BASIX SEPP mandates provisions that aim to reduce 
consumption of mains-supplied potable water, reduce emissions 
of greenhouse gases and improve thermal comfort in all 
residential development. The BASIX SEPP sets the minimum 
standards that a development is to achieve. As such, the BASIX 
SEPP is what Council’s must rely upon to drive energy efficient 
outcomes.  

Clause 8 of the BASIX SEPP states that competing provisions of 
an environmental planning instrument, whenever made, are of 
no effect to the extent to which they aim to reduce potable water 
consumption, reduce emissions or improve the thermal 
performance of a building to which the SEPP applies.  

‘Competing provisions’ is defined by the SEPP to mean a 
provision:  

“other than a provision that encourages, or offers 
incentives for, the adoption of measures beyond those 
required by provisions” 

The City’s proposed BASIX provision is an incentive provision 
where additional floor space above the mapped 1.5:1 is 

25



Planning Proposal and DCP – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, 
Glebe 

available conditional on the development exceeding BASIX 
commitments for energy by not less than 5 points.  

The City has reviewed the documentation provided and a 5 point 
exceedance is feasible without impacting on the sustainability 
goals of the project to achieve a fully electrified scheme. As 
such, the City proposes to retain its BASIX incentive provision.  

Recommended action: no change 

Land and Housing 
Corporation 

Suggested 
amendments to the 
draft DCP in relation to 
minimum areas for 
non-residential use, 
required footpath 
upgrade and widening, 
flood protection and 
sustainability targets.  

The majority of Land and Housing Corporation’s suggested 
changes to the draft DCP have been accommodated, as 
indicated in the attached DCP. They are considered minor 
changes that reflect design development and do not impact the 
intention of the original provisions. 

Land and Housing Corporation maintain that the required 
footpath upgrade and widening works are onerous in terms of 
cost impacts. The City views these public domain works as 
essential and reasonable given the scale of the development 
and the uplift in controls considered. In regard to cost, any offset 
against developer contributions can be considered at 
development application stage. 

Recommended action: majority of changes made as 
appropriate to the DCP 

Demolishing the 
existing buildings will 
have an unacceptable 
impact on the heritage 
values of the St Phillips 
Heritage Conservation 
Area. 

 

 

 

 

The existing buildings were constructed in 1989. They are not 
individually heritage listed but are within the St Phillips Heritage 
Conservation Area. They are listed as having a neutral 
contribution to the conservation area, meaning they do not 
contribute to or detract from the significance of the conservation 
area. 

The architectural merit of the existing buildings on site is not 
considered to be significant enough to warrant their retention 
when weighed against the overall strategic merit of the proposal. 
NSW Heritage have not objected to the demolition of the 
existing buildings. 

The draft DCP requires an archival photographic recording of 
the existing buildings on site prior to their demolition. It also 
requires an Interpretation Strategy to be prepared regarding the 
historic development of the area. 

Recommended action: no change 

The proposed height 
and FSR will have an 
unacceptable impact 
on the heritage values 
of the St Phillips 
Heritage Conservation 
Area. 

The existing buildings on site are considered to be a 
sympathetic infill for their time. In 1989, the built character of the 
area was very different to what to what is presented today. It 
was a predominantly one to two storey streetscape with a 
residential terrace, light industrial, commercial warehouse 
character. 

The character of the area has evolved since 1989. The built 
character of the area is now characterised by one and two 
storey residential terraces sitting adjacent to 5-10 storey 
residential mixed-use developments, particularly at the eastern 
edge of the conservation area, along Cowper Street. It is 

26



Planning Proposal and DCP – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, 
Glebe 

appropriate therefore that the scale of the proposed controls 
responds to this contemporary context.  

The subject proposal introduces a three to eight storey scale to 
the subject site, which is considered to respond appropriately to 
the established context. 

The loss of the existing buildings and the construction of new 
development at a scale of three to eight storeys is not 
considered to detract from character of the conservation area. 
This is because this transition in scale already exists and 
therefore it will not be a new characteristic. 

Because of the detailed consideration given to the demolition of 
the existing buildings, it is considered appropriate to amend the 
boundary of the conservation area to excise the subject site. 
This provides certainty on the issue for future development 
application assessment. This is not considered to set a 
precedent, with any future proposal to demolish any other 
structure elsewhere within the conservation area being subject 
to its own assessment and assessed on its individual merits. 

Recommended action: no change 

The existing low-rise 
buildings and are 
better suited to social 
housing. They should 
be retained and 
renovated. The 
proposed buildings will 
result in loss of 
amenity for social 
housing tenants. 

The proposal facilitates the delivery of a contemporary 
residential apartment development that will need to demonstrate 
compliance with the amenity requirements of State 
Environmental Planning Policy 65 and the Apartment Design 
Guide. The future residential apartments therefore will have a 
level of residential amenity commensurate with any other 
contemporary residential apartment built in the City of Sydney. 

The provision of social housing is the responsibility of the NSW 
Government. This includes a responsibility to plan for, deliver 
and maintain housing appropriate to current and future tenants. 
The design of the new social dwellings will greatly improve the 
quality and amenity for future social residents. In particular, level 
access will be provided to every social dwelling, sustainability 
measures aim to reduce utility costs, the orientation of units and 
entrances from the street which will improve safety for residents 
and the wider community. 

Future residents of the site will have excellent access to a wide 
range of jobs within the area, to local and regional level retail 
services and facilities at Glebe Point Road village and Broadway 
Shopping Centre, to community services and facilities within the 
surrounding area, and to extensive open space and recreation 
facilities. 

Recommended action: no change 

Insufficient social 
housing to justify the 
proposal. 

The City seeks to substantially increase the amount of 
affordable housing (both social and affordable rental housing) in 
the local government area at every opportunity. This is 
especially the case for NSW Government owned sites which 
have an obligation to contribute to the NSW Premiers Priority to 
reducing homelessness across NSW by 50% by 2025 and 
comply with NSW Government Policy including the Greater 

27



Planning Proposal and DCP – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, 
Glebe 

Sydney Region Plan and Land and Housing Corporation's 
Communities Plus redevelopment program. 

There are two policy approaches that can be applied to NSW 
Government owned sites in regard to requiring affordable 
housing. The City's Local Strategic Planning Strategy - City Plan 
2036 approach and the NSW Government Policy approach. 
Consideration needs to be given to both in order for a 
reasonable and defensible policy position to be reached.  

The City Plan 2036 approach 

City Plan 2036 requires the planning proposal authority to: 

- Action L3.5 - deliver a minimum 25% of floor space as 
affordable rental housing in perpetuity on all NSW 
Government sites, including on social housing sites, and 

- Action L3.6 - significantly increase the proportion of social 
housing on NSW Government sites that are being renewed. 

For Cowper Street this means the benchmark for giving effect to 
City Plan 2036 is delivering significantly more than the 19 social 
housing dwellings on site and 25% of floor space as affordable 
rental housing. Any additional social housing achieved can be 
counted towards the achievement of the 25% affordable rental 
housing target. 

25% of the residential floor space facilitated by the planning 
proposal equates to around 1,574sqm. To give effect to City 
Plan 2036, the planning proposal is to ensure the delivery and 
maintenance of more than 19 social housing dwellings on site 
and an additional 1,574sqm of social housing. 

The City’s proposed incentive provision delivers 2,691sqm of 
social housing floor space, 1,117sqm in excess of the 25% 
target, as a minimum. This equates to 35 affordable housing 
dwellings, a significant increase in the 19 social housing 
dwellings on site. Given the built configuration of the subject 
proposal and the NSW Government policy considerations below, 
the delivery of 2,691sqm of social housing floor space as a 
minimum for this site is considered to give effect to City Plan 
2036. 

The NSW Government Policy approach 

Communities Plus is a Land and Housing Corporation 10-year 
redevelopment program for the delivery of: 

- 23,000 new and replacement social housing dwellings, 500 
affordable housing dwellings and 40,000 private dwellings in 
NSW, and 

- a targeted mix of 70% private and affordable and 30% social 
housing dwellings per site. 

As NSW Government Policy, and as per the NSW National 
Housing and Homeless Agreement, the delivery and 
maintenance of 30% social housing on any Land and Housing 
Corporation site needs to be secured. The proportion of 
affordable rental housing delivered and maintained on site is to 

28



Planning Proposal and DCP – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, 
Glebe 

be in accordance with the Greater Sydney Region Plan and 
Eastern City District Plan. 

The Greater Sydney Region Plan and the Eastern City District 
Plan includes a target range of 5-10% of new residential 
floorspace to be delivered and maintained as affordable rental 
housing. In absence of a holistic Land and Housing Corporation 
strategy for the delivery of new and replacement affordable 
housing across the City of Sydney Local Government Area, the 
City and the NSW Government must take every opportunity to 
increase the provision of affordable housing and the maximum 
10% target of new residential floorspace to be delivered and 
maintained as affordable rental housing should be applied. 

The City’s proposed incentive provision delivers a minimum of 
47% of permitted residential floor space on site as social 
housing floor space, 7% in excess of the combined NSW 
Government policy requirement. 

Because the City's proposal delivers in excess of what NSW 
Government Policy requires, and satisfies the City's City Plan 
2036 requirements, the 47% minimum social housing required to 
be delivered and maintained on site is considered be a 
reasonable and defensible policy position. 

Recommended action: no change 

The proposal will 
privatise public land. 

Promoting the delivery and maintenance of affordable housing is 
an object of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 
1979 (the Act) under Section 1.3(d). 

Affordable housing under the Act includes social housing. 
Promoting the delivery and maintenance of social housing is 
therefore a first principle planning consideration. 

The City’s proposal as structured promotes: 

- the delivery of social housing, by providing a Floor Space 
Ratio (FSR) incentive contingent on the delivery of social 
housing, and 

- the maintenance of social housing by securing the northern 
site for the purposes of social housing as a minimum. 

The proposal does not restrict the redevelopment of the 
southern site for private market housing. The southern site could 
be sold to fund and facilitate the delivery of social housing on 
the northern site. It could also be used for the purposes of social 
housing and remain in public ownership. The sale of the 
southern site would facilitate the delivery of much needed social 
housing on the northern site and the orderly and economic use 
of the southern site. 

This mixed ownership model is in line with the NSW 
Government’s Future Directions for Social Housing policy which 
aims to deliver a new integrated housing developments in 
partnership with the private and community housing sectors. 

Recommended action: no change 

29



Planning Proposal and DCP – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, 
Glebe 

Objection to segregate 
households according 
to income with 
separate buildings for 
social housing 
residents and private 
owners. 

 

Evidence suggests that community housing providers and the 
NSW Government prefer single tenure buildings because these 
are easier and more cost effective to manage. Unlike mixed 
tenure buildings, single tenure buildings are generally less 
expensive to build and costs can be reduced because strata 
fees may not be required. Single tenure social housing can be 
managed more efficiently as providers do not have to consider 
private landowner matters.  

The social benefits of a mixed tenure community are achieved in 
this project due to the mix of private and social housing across 
the whole development site and the surrounding neighbourhood. 
In absence of a policy that requires mixed tenure buildings, 
there are no grounds to amend the proposal. 

Recommended action: no change 

Overdevelopment the 
local area with 
excessive bulk and 
scale. 

 

The subject proposal introduces a three to eight storey scale to 
the subject site, which is considered to respond appropriately to 
the established context. 

Recommended action: no change 

Removing the site from 
Heritage Conservation 
Area. 

 

Because of the detailed consideration given to the demolition of 
the existing buildings, it is considered appropriate to amend the 
boundary of the conservation area to excise the subject site. 
This provides certainty on the issue for future development 
application assessment. NSW Heritage have not objected to the 
proposed change in conservation area boundary. 

Recommended action: no change 

Demolition will set a 
precedent for a change 
in scale across the 
Heritage Conservation 
Area. 

Whilst any demolition of the existing buildings on site will be the 
subject of a future development application and assessment, it 
is acknowledged that the subject planning proposal will facilitate 
their future demolition and therefore it is an important 
consideration for this planning proposal. 

The demolition of the existing buildings on site has been 
carefully considered against the overall strategic merit of the 
proposal. The architectural merit of the existing buildings is not 
considered to warrant their retention. The position of the site at 
the edge of the conservation area, where there is already a 
transition in scale, is also considered an important 
consideration. The loss of the existing buildings and the 
construction of new development at a scale of three to eight 
storeys is not considered to detract from character of the 
conservation area. This is because this transition in scale 
already exists and therefore it will not be a new characteristic.  

Because of the detailed consideration given to the demolition of 
the existing buildings, it is considered appropriate to amend the 
boundary of the conservation area to excise the subject site. 
This provides certainty on the issue for the future development 
application assessment. This is not considered to set a 
precedent, with any future proposal to demolish any structure 

30



Planning Proposal and DCP – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, 
Glebe 

elsewhere within the conservation being subject to its own 
assessment and assessed on its individual merits. 

Recommended action: no change 

The inclusion of non-
residential floor space 
will compete with, 
detract from and 
impact the viability of 
businesses along 
Glebe Point Road. 

The proposal includes the provision for two non-residential 
spaces at ground level. One on Wentworth Park Road, 
designated for a social purpose and one on Cowper Street, 
designated for commercial or retail use. The detailed use of both 
spaces will be the subject of a future development application.  

The minimum area of both spaces has been reduced in size at 
the request of the proponent following design development. It is 
not considered that the provision of non-residential floor space 
in the development will detract from or impact the viability of 
businesses along Glebe Point Road. This is by virtue of their 
limited size and their ability to service a growing population in 
their immediate vicinity. 

The provision of a small amount of non-residential uses within 
the development is considered to be consistent with the sites 
zoning objectives to enable other land uses that provide facilities 
or services to meet the day to day needs of residents. 

Recommended action: DCP amended to show reduced size 
for non-residential areas 

The warehouse design 
of the development is 
incongruous with 
Glebe's established 
character and will be 
obtrusive within the 
streetscape. 

The detailed design of the proposal will be the subject of a future 
development application in regard to architectural style, detailed 
form and materiality. Notwithstanding, the subject planning 
proposal and DCP does propose a new building envelope that 
facilitates a future modern architectural form.  

The built character of the sites immediate locality can be 
described as diverse. Immediately east of the site are two storey 
residential Victorian terraces, across MJ Doherty Reserve is the 
11 level post war modernist John Bryne Court, south of the site 
are predominantly single storey residential Victorian terraces 
and west of the site are contemporary five to ten storey 
residential mixed-use developments. The contemporary 
residential mixed-use developments incorporate a high 
proportion of brick finishes in a form that strongly defines the 
public domain. 

A contemporary eight storey form on the subject site is not be 
considered to be obtrusive in this diverse context. How the 
subject site addresses Wentworth Park is also considered an 
important consideration. Wentworth Park is framed by numerous 
original warehouse and contemporary developments, 
particularly along Harris Street, at seven stories and above. A 
continuation of this scale along Wentworth Park road is 
considered to be positive, providing a strong built edge and 
activation to the park, and amenity for future occupants. 

Recommended action: no change 

Insufficient provision of 
schools to support 

Education is provided by the NSW Government as well as 
independent schools, colleges and universities. The City West 

31



Planning Proposal and DCP – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, 
Glebe 

additional density in 
the area. 

area of the city is currently serviced by five primary schools, four 
secondary schools and two tertiary institutions.  

School Infrastructure NSW are responsible for the planning and 
delivery of government primary and secondary education 
infrastructure. Government schools within the area include 
Forrest Lodge Public, Glebe Public, Ultimo Public and Sydney 
Secondary College. The site is currently within the Glebe Public 
and Sydney Secondary College catchments, both of which are 
within 500 metres walking distance. A redevelopment of Ultimo 
Public School was completed in 2020 and is within 500 metres 
walking distance.  

As part of consultation completed for the City's Local Strategic 
Planning Statement in 2019, School Infrastructure NSW 
confirmed current and planned school capacity was projected to 
meet demand in the area to 2031. There is considered to be 
sufficient capacity therefore in the area to accommodate any 
demand created by the proposed density increase. It is noted 
Shelter NSW in their submission of support for the proposal 
highlight the sites excellent access to high-quality education 
opportunities and the benefits this affords. 

It is noted that more significant residential density increases may 
be generated by NSW Government led projects within the wider 
area including at Blackwattle Bay, Bays West and in Pyrmont. 
The City will continue to advocate for the appropriate provision 
of education infrastructure to support any significant residential 
density increases generated by these projects. 

Recommended action: no change 

The proposal impacts 
upon existing lease 
agreements with Land 
and Housing tenants. 

Issues related to lease agreements are not a planning 
consideration for the City. Issues related to lease agreements 
are a matter for the leasee and lessor. 

Recommended action: no change 

Any profit from the 
development should be 
given to a public 
trustee, not Land and 
Housing. 

The cost of any subsequent development, or indeed how those 
costs will be met by Land and Housing or their private and 
community sector partners is not a matter for planning 
consideration. Land and Housing has indicated that the sale of 
part of the site for market housing will reduce the cost of 
supplying additional social housing. 

Recommended action: no change 

The proposal will 
disrupt the community 
that currently lives 
there removing them 
from friends, services, 
community activities 
etc.  

Land and Housing have stated that a dedicated relocation team 
will work with individual tenants to negotiate relocation plans. 
Existing tenants will be offered a tenancy in the new social 
housing building should they express an interest, as part of the 
relocation planning process. 

As part of the relocation planning process for tenants, options to 
relocate to housing within their existing neighbourhood are 
discussed. Additionally, tenants will be offered a tenancy in the 
new social housing buildings should they express an interest. 

32



Planning Proposal and DCP – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, 
Glebe 

Recommended action: no change 

Department of 
Communities and 
Justice should 
renovate and tenant 
existing social housing 
in the area to increase 
social housing 
provision first, before 
redeveloping sites. 

The provision of social housing is the responsibility of the NSW 
Government. This includes a responsibility to plan for, deliver 
and maintain housing appropriate to current and future tenants. 
It is beyond this proposal for the City to require the renovation 
and optimisation of existing social housing. 

Recommended action: no change 

No more social 
housing and no more 
additional height and 
density. The proposal 
creates to much 
additional traffic which 
causes congestion, 
creates parking issues, 
noise and pollution. 

A traffic, transport and parking study prepared by ARUP was 
submitted in support of the proposal and placed on public 
exhibition. The study concluded that the traffic generated by the 
proposed development to the surrounding road network would 
have a negligible impact on road network operation. This view 
was supported by the City’s Transport Planner who identified 
broad support for the proposal in relation to potential traffic, 
transport and parking impacts.  

Traffic, transport and parking impacts will be addressed in detail 
at development application stage when final parking numbers 
and access arrangements are known. The existing DCP and 
LEP are considered sufficient to manage potential future traffic, 
noise and air pollution generated by the proposal with controls 
already in place in relation to maximum car parking rates, 
restrictions on participation in on-street parking schemes, car 
share minimums and bike parking minimums. 

Recommended action: no change 

No more social 
housing. No more is 
needed. It is already 
too much and it creates 
a noisy, dirty and 
unsafe environment 
and will reduce land 
values. 

At a time when the wait list for social housing in NSW is almost 
60,000 people, the demand has never been greater. Combined 
with a five to 10 year waiting period for social housing in the city, 
and the extra demand that will be created by the health, social 
and economic impacts of Covid-19, there is a critical need to 
deliver more social housing. This is especially the case in the 
city where additional social housing will contribute to increasing 
housing diversity and providing homes for essential workers. 

The proposal facilitates the redevelopment of the site consistent 
with crime prevention through environmental design principles 
and contemporary apartment design standards, in terms of 
acoustic privacy and waste management. Any other associated 
social impacts of the proposal are considered to be 
manageable. Any impact the property values in the area is not a 
planning consideration. 

Recommended action: no change 

You are cramming 
poor people into the 
shadows. 

The proposal minimises solar impacts to neighbouring 
properties on Cowper and Wentworth streets.  

The indicative reference scheme submitted with the planning 
proposal demonstrates built form has been appropriately located 
on the site to minimise overshadowing impacts on adjacent 
dwellings to the east of the subject site. This has been achieved 

33



Planning Proposal and DCP – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, 
Glebe 

by increasing setbacks along Cowper Street and changes to the 
building massing to reduce overshadowing on neighbouring 
properties.  

The solar analysis in the urban design report demonstrates 
there will be minimal impact on existing residential properties, 
with all but one neighbouring property continuing to receive at 
least two hours of solar access between 9am and 3pm in 
midwinter. This is considered to be an acceptable impact.  

The proposed development will create some additional 
overshadowing of the terrace houses on Cowper Street between 
9am and midday. In particular, up to seven terraces will be 
impacted by overshadowing in a 2 hour period between 10am 
and midday but only in midwinter. There is no loss of solar 
access from the development for the terrace houses after 
midday. It is noted these impacts are only during midwinter and 
the terraces still receive a good solar access throughout the day. 

The solar analysis also demonstrates there will be no 
overshadowing impact on the adjacent open space including MJ 
Doherty Reserve and Wentworth Park. 

All apartments in the reference scheme will receive good solar 
ace ss with over 80 per cent receiving at least two hours of solar 
access in midwinter, as required by the Apartment Design 
Guide. 

Recommended action: no change 

The proposed 
community room will 
remain locked and not 
used. 

The proposal and draft DCP requires the delivery of at least 165 
square metres of non-residential space for social purposes. This 
is to be provided on the Wentworth Park Road frontage. The use 
and operation of this space will be determined at development 
application stage. 

Recommended action: no change 

The use of MJ Doherty 
Reserve as green 
space is questionable. 
This proposal will 
additional demand for 
new public open 
space. The proposal 
has not demonstrated 
how that will be 
achieved. 

The subject site has a frontage to MJ Doherty Reserve and 
Wentworth Park. As such, both parks are likely to be used by 
future residents as public open space. The draft DCP seeks 
upgrades to the surrounding pedestrian infrastructure to ensure 
safe and easy access to these parks. This includes pedestrian 
priority shared surfaces to Mitchell Lane East and Park Lane, 
and a footpath continuation along Wentworth Park Road across 
Cowper Street. 

In terms of access to open space and increasing demand for 
open space, the City has successfully advocated for the 
conversation of the return of Wentworth Park to the community 
as public open space once the lease for greyhound racing 
expires in 2027, as part of the Pyrmont Peninsula Place 
Strategy. This will offer a substantial increase in public open 
space in close proximity to the site. 

Recommended action: no change 

The NSW Government 
will not guarantee the 

The City’s proposal as structured promotes the delivery of social 
housing, by providing a Floor Space Ratio incentive contingent 

34



Planning Proposal and DCP – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, 
Glebe 

number of social 
housing dwellings on 
site.  

on the delivery of social housing, and the maintenance of social 
housing on site by securing the northern site for the purposes of 
social housing as a minimum. 

Recommended action: no change 

Redevelopment 
through this process 
means no new social 
housing will be 
delivered for at least 5 
years, meaning in the 
interim a reduction in 
social housing, putting 
more people at risk to 
things like 
homelessness. 

The provision of social housing is the responsibility of the NSW 
Government. This includes a responsibility to plan for, deliver 
and maintain housing appropriate to current and future tenants 
and ensure existing tenants are appropriately relocated and 
accommodated when sites are redeveloped. 

The NSW Land and Housing Corporation have stated that a 
rebuild is proposed in order to achieve an increase in the 
number of social housing dwellings onsite and to meet the 
objectives of the NSW Government’s social housing policy. 

The City supports this aim as it assists the City in meeting its 
own social housing targets and the NSW Premiers Priority to 
reducing homelessness across NSW by 50% by 2025. 

Recommended action: no change 

The St Phillips 
Heritage Conservation 
Area is one of the most 
significant heritage 
areas in Australia. Its 
intact scale, the 
Victorian building stock 
and inter war and 
1980s social housing 
are each significant 
features of this area.  

 

The existing buildings are listed as having a neutral contribution 
to the conservation area, meaning they do not contribute to or 
detract from the significance of the conservation area. 

The architectural merit of the existing buildings on site is not 
considered to be significant enough to warrant their retention 
when weighed against the overall strategic merit of the proposal.  

NSW Heritage have not objected to the demolition of the 
existing buildings. 

Recommended action: no change 

Currently, there are 
numerous 
vacant apartments 
across Sydney. Rather 
than demolishing good 
public housing in 
Glebe, funds should be 
directed towards 
purchasing existing 
private buildings and 
repurposing them for 
affordable housing. 

The City has long promoted the delivery and maintenance of 
affordable and social housing through planning incentives both 
through affordable rental housing schemes in Ultimo and 
Pyrmont, Green Square and in the Southern Employment Lands 
and through site-specific planning incentives, including at 87 
Bay Street, Glebe, the Glebe Affordable Housing Project and at 
Harold Park.  

The City has also directly subsided affordable housing projects 
including through grants and land subsidy to value of around 
$27.5 million. 

The City seeks to substantially increase the amount of social 
and affordable rental housing in the local government area at 
every opportunity. 

This proposal presents an opportunity to increase the number of 
social housing dwellings on site in a manner consistent with City 
and NSW Government policy. 

Recommended action: no change 

35



Planning Proposal and DCP – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, 
Glebe 

Marco economic 
principles explained. 

Noted. 

Recommended action: no change 

General comment on 
living under strata 
management and 
building quality. 

Noted. 

Recommended action: no change 

An oversupply of 
apartments in one area 
will have a negative 
impact on property 
values. 

Any market housing would be required to subsidise the delivery 
of the social housing. Any impact the supply of market housing 
has on property values in the area is not a planning 
consideration. 

Recommended action: no change 

View loss, including 
loss of view to partial 
greenery and view of 
Glebe Island Bridge, 
and devaluation of 
apartment. 

The general layout of apartment A502/11 Wentworth Street (4-6 
Elger Street), Glebe is shown below. The apartment enjoys 
access to outlook and views to the north and west from the living 
room and balcony.  

Existing outlook and views to the west over Cowper Street will 
remain unaffected by the proposal.  

Outlook to the north, into Wentworth Street, will remain 
unimpacted, with street trees and adjacent buildings still visible. 
Views to the north will be impacted. The existing views to the 
north are district views of greenery, partial views of Anzac 
Bridge and views of distant tall buildings at Pyrmont (see 
example photo). These views are across the subject site. No 
meaningful change could be made to the envelope to 
accommodate the views without unreasonably reducing the 
number of social housing dwellings delivered by the project. 

The impact on the north view is considered reasonable in this 
instance considering the strategic merit of the proposal. Also, 
A502’s outlook and views to the west will not be impacted. 

36



Planning Proposal and DCP – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, 
Glebe 

 

 

Recommended action: no change 

Increasing density in 
an area that is quite a 
walk away from decent 
public transport. The 
light rail goes nowhere 
and is not helpful. 

The site is considered to be extremely well serviced by public 
transport, within 500 metres of bus routes along Glebe Point 
Road and Harris Street, within 500 metres of light rail and within 
walking distance of Central Station and a future metro station at 
Pyrmont. 

Recommended action: no change 

Only one of the mature 
trees will remain. 
Where will the animals 
and birds go? There 
will be no new public 
green space created. 

An Arboricultural Report and Tree Management Plan assessed 
the potential impacts of the development footprint on the trees 
within and adjacent to the site. The assessment made the 
following recommendations: 

- retention of all adjacent street trees and park tree 

- retention of a Spotted Gum at the south western corner of 17-
31 Cowper Street 

- relocation of seven palm trees, and  

- removal of all other trees within the site.  

37



Planning Proposal and DCP – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, 
Glebe 

The assessment also notes that building setbacks on Cowper 
Street are appropriate given the size and heritage significance of 
the trees along this frontage.  

To mitigate some loss of trees, this planning proposal provides 
for a minimum site canopy cover of 18 per cent at ground level 
with additional rooftop planting. The provision of site canopy 
exceeds the 15 per cent requirement in the DCP and supports 
the City’s Urban Forest Strategy which seeks to increase 
canopy cover across the local government area to around 23 
per cent by 2030. 

Recommended action: no change 

No new tennis courts 
for the new residents. 

The City West area of the city currently contains 3 multipurpose 
outdoor courts, 7 sports fields, 2 tennis courts, 4 indoor 
recreation centres, 1 aquatic facility and 3 indoor courts. This 
does not include facilities that are not accessible by the public, 
such as courts and fields on private property or areas such as 
university grounds. Further it does not consider courts available 
on NSW Department of Education lands. 

Public recreation facilities within walking distance of the site 
include the sports fields at Wentworth Park, indoor and outdoor 
courts at Peter Forsyth Auditorium, tennis courts at St James 
Park and recreation facilities at Ian Thorpe Aquatic Centre and 
Ultimo Community Centre. 

The site is considered to be sufficiently serviced with recreation 
facilities to accommodate the additional density. It is noted that 
more significant residential density increases may be generated 
by NSW Government led projects within the wider area including 
at Blackwattle Bay, Bays West and in Pyrmont. The City will 
continue to advocate for the appropriate provision of recreation 
facilities to support any significant residential density increases 
generated by these projects. This includes the future return of 
Wentworth Park to the community as public open space once 
the lease for greyhound racing expires in 2027. 

Recommended action: no change 

There is no benefit to 
the local community in 
this proposal. The 
unzoning has created 
an enormous value 
uplift. Where is the 
VPA to share this with 
the community. 

The proposed planning controls will enable the redevelopment 
of the site to: 

- deliver a high-quality development which provides for 
increased social housing and private housing, as well as non-
residential uses facing Wentworth Park 

- deliver local social, retail or commercial uses 

- deliver a built form which responds to the surrounding context 
including the adjacent MJ Doherty Reserve and recent 
development to the east of the site 

- protect the heritage values of the local area by retaining and 
protecting heritage street trees 

38



Planning Proposal and DCP – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, 
Glebe 

- retain the amenity of the surrounding residential uses by 
ensuring an adequate level of solar access and privacy is 
maintained 

- maintain the amenity of adjoining streets and parks by 
ensuring street trees are protected and ensuring no 
overshadowing of the adjacent parks 

- provide for enhanced passive surveillance and activation of 
the adjacent open space and public domain 

- provide for increased pedestrian priority and safety on 
surround streets, and 

- deliver a sustainable outcome through identification of 
sustainability targets.  

The intended outcome is for the uplift to facilitate the 
redevelopment of the site to provide much more and better 
social housing, consistent with the City’s Local Strategic 
Planning Policy. The public benefit of the social housing and 
improved sustainability targets are secured through the planning 
controls rather than a voluntary planning agreement. 

Recommended action: no change 

The reduction in social 
housing which will lead 
to mono-cultural 
gentrification. 

The planning proposal facilitates an increase in social housing 
on site. 

Recommended action: no change 

What constraints on 
the NSW Government 
who after accepting 
Councils support to 
increase height levels 
in exchange for social 
housing don’t sell off 
because they find it 
more valuable. 

 

The additional height and floor space can only be achieved if the 
northern site is used for social housing. If the additional height 
and floor space is awarded under a development application a 
condition of consent will secure the social housing use. 

Promoting the delivery and maintenance of affordable housing is 
an object of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 
1979 (the Act) under Section 1.3(d). 

Affordable housing under the Act includes social housing. 
Promoting the delivery and maintenance of social housing is 
therefore a first principle planning consideration. 

The City’s proposal as structured promotes: 

- the delivery of social housing, by providing a Floor Space 
Ratio (FSR) incentive contingent on the delivery of social 
housing, and 

- the maintenance of social housing by securing the northern 
site for the purposes of social housing as a minimum. 

For the long term operation of the land, the City’s proposed 
planning incentive provision promotes the maintenance of 
affordable housing on site in accordance with Act, whilst 
allowing redevelopment or disposal under the site’s substantive 
mapped FSR control, which remains unchanged by the planning 
proposal. 

Recommended action: no change 

39



Planning Proposal and DCP – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, 
Glebe 

The proposal doesn’t 
adequately address 
flooding. 

Flood Assessment and Stormwater Assessment Reports identify 
the site is affected by the 1% Annual Exceedance Probability 
(AEP) flood level ranging from 3.27 to 3.88 metres AHD across 
the both sites and the Probable Maximum Flood (PMF) level 
ranging from 4.24 to 4.38 metres AHD across the both sites. 
Under existing conditions both north and south sites experience 
overland flooding on all sides. The majority of flow is north-east 
along Mitchell Lane East and Wentworth Park Road. It is noted 
that Wentworth Park has a 1 metre higher PMF level than the 
subject site.  

The flood assessment confirms that redevelopment of the site 
must be designed to meet the following flood planning levels: 

- residential habitable rooms: 1% AEP flood level + 0.5m 
freeboard. 

- residential non-habitable rooms: 1% AEP flood level 

- below-ground car parks: the higher of 1% AEP flood level + 
0.5m freeboard and PMF flood level.  

The reference scheme submitted with this planning proposal has 
been informed by the above flood planning levels.  

To offset potential flooding impacts, mitigation measures will be 
required. This may include: 

- A pit and pipe network to collect minor storm runoff from 
surface areas; 

- overland flow paths to carry major storms through and around 
the site without causing damage to property from flooding; 
and  

- two separate stormwater treatment chambers.  

A detailed flood assessment will be required as part of 
subsequent development applications for the site. 

Recommended action: no change 

The proposal doesn’t 
adequately address 
privacy. 

The reference scheme submitted with this planning proposal 
demonstrates adequate compliance with the privacy and 
separation controls of the NSW Government’s Apartment 
Design Guide. Site-specific controls have also been included in 
the draft DCP to help guide the design for the block. The draft 
DCP controls will help to ensure the benefits of the increased 
maximum building height and FSR are realised and impacts are 
appropriately managed. The draft DCP addresses the visual 
privacy between apartments across Park Lane and manages 
visual privacy between apartments and terraces. 

Recommended action: no change 

Sydney Water 

No objection and 
provision of servicing 
requirements. 

Noted. 

Recommended action: no change 

40



Planning Proposal and DCP – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, 
Glebe 

Heritage NSW 

No objection. Heritage 
NSW considers the 
proposal to be an 
acceptable approach 
from a heritage 
perspective. 

Noted. 

Recommended action: no change 

Transport for NSW 

No objection. 
Consideration should 
be given to including 
requirements for freight 
and service vehicle 
parking facilities on-
site.  

Noted. 

Recommended action: no change 

Shelter NSW 

In general, Shelter 
NSW supports the 
development proposal 
however, Shelter NSW 
has provided some 
practical suggestions 
that we feel support or 
strengthen the 
housing-related 
priorities for existing 
and future residents of 
the Sydney LGA. 

Noted. 

Recommended action: no change 

Shelter NSW 

Shelter NSW is 
concerned with the 
accumulative impact of 
developments such as 
17-31 Cowper Street 
Glebe. Our 
apprehensions are 
based on the site-by-
site nature of these 
developments, which 
ignores the broader 
accumulative effect in 
terms of both social 
impact and the public 
housing deliverables 
outlined in the NSW 
Government’s Future 
Directions for Social 
Housing (2016) 
Strategies. 

The provision of social housing is the responsibility of the NSW 
Government. This includes a responsibility to plan for, deliver 
and maintain housing appropriate to current and future tenants 
and ensure existing tenants are appropriately relocated and 
accommodated when sites are redeveloped. 

In absence of a holistic NSW Land and Housing Corporation 
strategy for the delivery of new and replacement affordable 
housing across the City of Sydney Local Government Area, the 
City and the NSW Government must take every opportunity to 
increase the provision of social and affordable rental housing in 
line with endorsed Council and NSW Government Policy. 

Recommended action: no change 

41



Planning Proposal and DCP – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, 
Glebe 

Shelter NSW 

Shelter NSW notes 
that the tenant transfer 
processes connected 
with the current 5 
projects in the City of 
Sydney LGA  will be 
very disruptive to the 
lives of existing 
tenants, many of whom 
are vulnerable and 
may have already 
experienced a recent 
relocation from areas 
such as Millers Point, 
only to be moved on 
again. 

The provision of social housing is the responsibility of the NSW 
Government. This includes a responsibility to plan for, deliver 
and maintain housing appropriate to current and future tenants 
and ensure existing tenants are appropriately relocated and 
accommodated when sites are redeveloped. 

Land and Housing have stated that a dedicated relocation team 
will work with individual tenants to negotiate relocation plans. 

Existing tenants will be offered a tenancy in the new social 
housing building should they express an interest, as part of the 
relocation planning process. 

As part of the relocation planning process for tenants, options to 
relocate to housing within their existing neighbourhood are 
discussed. Additionally, tenants will be offered a tenancy in the 
new social housing buildings should they express an interest. 

Recommended action: no change 

Shelter NSW 

The loss of the existing 
dwellings on site has 
not been appropriately 
considered. Their loss 
represents a significant 
loss in public 
investment, where the 
existing dwellings are 
only 20 years old and 
represent a public 
investment of around 
$5,700,000. The 
proposition that there is 
a financial benefit of 35 
new public housing 
units doesn’t take into 
account the 19 
dwellings being lost, 
what is, in fact, being 
delivered is only an 
additional 16 dwellings.  

What the existing dwellings represent in terms of value and past 
public investment is not a planning consideration. The decision 
whether to redevelop or renovate lies with the landowner who in 
this instance is the NSW Government. 

The City seeks to substantially increase the amount of 
affordable housing (both social and affordable rental housing) in 
the local government area at every opportunity. The proposal 
represents an opportunity to substantially increase the amount 
of social housing on site in line with Council and NSW 
Government policy. 

Recommended action: no change 

Shelter NSW 

Shelter NSW believe 
that at a minimum the 
two studio apartments 
should become either 
2- or 3-bedroom units 
and that the overall 
project should aim to 
deliver more 2- or 3-
bedroom dwellings in 
the public housing 

The apartment mix of the proposal will be determined at 
development application stage. 

The indicative scheme submitted in support of the proposal 
details the following apartment mix: 

 Studio 1 Bed 2 Bed 3 Bed Total 

North 
site 

2 26 7 0 35 

South 
site 

0 14 20 5 39 

42



Planning Proposal and DCP – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, 
Glebe 

component of the 
proposal. Total 2 (3%) 

40 
(54%) 

27 
(36%) 

5 (7%) 
74 

(100%) 

The provision of social housing is the responsibility of the NSW 
Government. This includes a responsibility to plan for, deliver 
and maintain housing appropriate to current and future tenants. 
Land and Housing Corporation have justified the proposed 
apartment mix stating that it reflects social housing needs for the 
area. 

The waitlist demand for the City of Sydney is skewed towards 
smaller dwellings (Source: NSW Land and Housing 
Corporation): 

Bedrooms % of waitlist 

Studios 44% 

1 bed 30% 

2 bed 17% 

3 bed 4% 

4+ beds 3% 

Blank 1% 

Recommended action: no change 

 

43



Attachment B 

Planning Proposal 

17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth 

Park Road, Glebe 

 

 

44



Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street 
and 2A-2D Wentworth 
Park Road, Glebe 
Amendment to Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 

October 2020 

 

 
45



Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

2 
 

Contents 

Executive summary 3 

1. Site identification 4 

2. Existing planning controls 12 

3. Objectives and intended outcomes 16 

4. Explanation of provisions 17 

5. Justification 19 

6. Mapping 41 

7. Community consultation 42 

8. Project Timeline 43 

 

 

46



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

3 
 

Executive summary 
The City of Sydney (the City) has prepared this planning proposal to change the planning controls 
for the land at 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe (the site), in 
response to a request from the owner NSW Land and Housing Corporation, for the City to prepare 
a planning proposal for the site.  

This planning proposal explains the intent of and justification for proposed amendments to the 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (LEP) as it applies to the site. This planning proposal has 
been prepared by the City in accordance with Section 3.33 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act 1979 and the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment’s ‘A guide to 
preparing planning proposals’ and ‘A guide to preparing local environmental plans.’ 

The site is approximately 1,789 square metres in area and is bound by Wentworth Park Road, 
Cowper Street, Wentworth Street and Mitchell Lane. In this planning proposal 2A-2D Wentworth 
Park Road is referred to as the “north site” and 17-31 Cowper Street is referred to as the “south 
site”. The north and south sites are separated by Park Lane. The entire site currently provides 19 
social housing dwellings in two storey townhouse/villa style development. 

Under the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012, the site is zoned R1 General Residential, has a 
maximum building height of 9 metres and maximum floor space ratio of 1.25:1. The site’s zoning 
permits residential uses, community facilities, neighbourhood shops and childcare centres.  

The City has prepared this planning proposal following a detailed review of the proponent’s 
planning proposal request and accompanying documentation. Clarification has been sought from 
the landowner and minor changes have been made to consultant reports to address issues relating 
to urban design, including clarification of solar access to adjoining properties.  

This planning proposal seeks to amend the Sydney LEP 2012 to: 

‒ Increase the maximum building height to RL 36 (approx. 8 storeys) for both north and south 
sites; 

‒ Increase the floor space ratio to 4.3:1 on the north site and 3.1:1 on the south site; 
‒ Remove the site from the Heritage Conservation Area; 
‒ Introduce a site-specific provision to require the northern site to be used for social housing; 
‒ Introduce a site-specific provision to require BASIX energy exceedance; and 
‒ Introduce a site-specific provision to remove the capacity to award of additional building 

height or floor space and the requirement for a design excellence competitive process. The 
other design excellence requirements of cl 6.21 of the Sydney LEP 2012 will continue to 
apply. 

This planning proposal presents an opportunity to optimise NSW Government owned land to 
deliver new social housing on a site that is accessible to a range of public transport infrastructure, 
jobs and services which is consistent with the NSW Governments policy intent of a 30-minute city. 

The City has prepared a draft site-specific amendment to Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 
(the draft DCP) to help ensure the objectives and intended outcomes of this planning proposal are 
achieved. The draft DCP includes site-specific controls relating to the built form of the proposed 
development, amenity requirements and sustainability and is equivalent to a site-specific DCP (in 
the instance where subsequent DAs are local development). The City intends to publicly exhibit 
this planning proposal concurrently with the draft DCP.  

47



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

4 
 

1. Site identification 

1.1. Site identification 
The site consists of two lots described as Lot 17 DP 244897, known as 17-31 Cowper Street and 
Lot 18 DP 244897, known as 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe.  

Figure 1. Land affected by this planning proposal 

  

1.2. Site location 
The site is located in Glebe in the City of Sydney. Wentworth Park is located to the north of the site 
and a small pocket park, MJ Doherty Reserve, is located to the west. The site is within walking 
distance of services, facilities and transport including the Inner West Light Rail, high frequency bus 
services on Parramatta Road, Broadway Shopping Centre, Glebe Point Road, extensive open 
space and local schools. 

The site has four road frontages: Wentworth Park Road to the north, Cowper Street to the east and 
Wentworth Street to the south and Mitchell Lane East to the west. The site is dissected by Park 
Lane. A site location plan and aerial photo of the site are shown at Figures 2 and 3. 

Lot 18 DP 244897 

Lot 17 DP 244897 

48



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

5 
 

Figure 2. Site location 

 

Figure 3. Aerial photo of the site 

  

49



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

6 
 

1.3. Site characteristics and context 
The sites are generally rectangular in shape. The area of the north site is 625.7 square metres and 
the south site is 1,162.8 square metres, which equates to a total site area of 1,788.5 square 
metres. The site is owned by NSW Land and Housing Corporation. 

Existing development consists of 19 social housing dwellings. The northern site comprises 4 two-
storey terrace houses. The south site comprises a two-storey block of 15 one-bedroom units. All 
buildings on the site were constructed as a result of the Glebe Rehabilitation Project in the late 
1980s.  

The site is located on the north-east boundary of the St Phillips Heritage Conservation Area. The 
surrounding context consists of residential development to the east, south and west and 
Wentworth Park to the north.  

The land to the east of the site has undergone significant redevelopment in recent years through 
LAHC affordable housing projects and the Mezzo development fronting Wentworth Park Road. 
These redevelopments have resulted in a mix of commercial uses, social, affordable and market 
dwellings in mixed use buildings up to 12 storeys with ground floor commercial uses. 

The land to the south and west of the site is typical of Glebe’s fine-grain network of streets and 
lanes that is characterised by single storey terraces in relatively narrow streets with many street 
trees. 

Open space facilities in the area include Wentworth Park immediately north of the site, MJ Doherty 
Reserve immediately west of the site. Wentworth Park also connects to the Glebe Foreshore Walk. 

The site is 750 metres from the Wentworth Park Light Rail stop and 800 metres from the Glebe 
light rail stop on the Inner West Light Rail. The site is 700 metres from high frequency bus services 
on Parramatta Road that provide access to the Sydney Central Business District and the heavy rail 
network. 

Broadway Shopping Centre is within 600 metres of the site and is a large subregional shopping 
centre providing access to a range of retail and other services. Parts of the Glebe Point Road retail 
strip are also within 500-600 metres of the site, which provides smaller independent retail and food 
options.  

The site is within close proximity of Glebe Public School (600 metres) and Ultimo Public School 
(400 metres) which is currently undergoing redevelopment for a new school to be completed in 
2020. A temporary school is currently located within Wentworth Park. 

Figures 4 to 7 show existing development on the site. The surrounding area is shown in Figures 8 
and 12. 

50



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

7 
 

Figure 4. 2A - 2D Wentworth Park Road 

 

Figure 5. Rear of 2A - 2D Wentworth Park Road from Cowper 
Street 

 

51



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

8 
 

Figure 6. 17 - 31 Cowper Street (corner of Wentworth Street) 

 

Figure 7. Internal courtyard at 17-31 Cowper Street 

 

52



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

9 
 

Figure 8. View north along Mitchell Lane East 

 

Figure 9. Park Lane (separating north and south sites) 

 

 

 

53



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

10 
 

Figure 10. View south along Cowper Street 

 

Figure 11. M.J. Doherty Reserve from Wentworth Street 

 

 

54



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

11 
 

Figure 12. View to Wentworth Park from 2A-2D Wentworth Park 
Road 

 

  

55



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

12 
 

2. Existing planning controls 
The LEP contains zoning and principal development standards for the site. These are discussed 
below. The Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (LEP) and Sydney Development Control Plan 
2012 (DCP) apply to the site. 

2.1. Zoning 
The site is currently R1 General Residential under the Sydney LEP 2012, as shown in the extract 
at Figure 14. This planning proposal does not seek to change the site’s existing zoning. 

Figure 14. Extract from Sydney LEP 2012 Zoning Map 

           

 

2.2. Building height 
The Sydney LEP 2012 applies a maximum building height of 9 metres to the site. An extract of the 
relevant Height of Buildings Map from the LEP is shown in Figure 15. This planning proposal seeks 
to change the site’s existing building height. 

Subject sites 

R1 
B4 

56



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

13 
 

Figure 15. Extract from Sydney LEP 2012 Building Height Map 

           

2.3. Floor Space Ratio 
The Sydney LEP 2012 applies a maximum Floor Space Ratio (FSR) of 1.25:1 to the site. An 
extract of the relevant Floor Space Ratio Map from the LEP is shown in Figure 16. This planning 
proposal seeks to change the site’s existing FSR. 

Figure 16. Extract from Sydney LEP 2012 Floor Space Ratio 
Map 

        

57



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

14 
 

2.4. Heritage 
This site is not a heritage item but is within a Heritage Conservation Area. An extract of the 
relevant Heritage Map from the Sydney LEP 2012 is shown in Figure 17. 

Figure 17. Extract from Sydney LEP 2012 Heritage Map 

     

2.5. Planning proposal request 
In November 2019, the Minister for Planning and Public Spaces announced a new approach to 
precinct planning. As a result, NSW LAHC sites previously announced as an SSP would now be 
considered through a local planning process with a request to amend Sydney LEP 2012. 

In late 2019 and early 2020, NSW LAHC met with the City on several occasions to discuss 
potential amendments to the planning controls for the site. The City has worked extensively with 
the landowner and their consultant team to explore potential built form outcomes. The pre-
lodgement consultation resulted in a number of changes to the proposal including: 

 Increased setbacks along Cowper Street to ensure retention of street trees; 
 Deletion of warehouse style building at the south west Corner of the South Site to enable 

retention of the Spotted Gum tree; 
 Reduced floor plate area as a result of the increased setbacks reducing the overall building 

bulk and reducing overshadowing of adjacent dwellings; 
 Additional storey added to offset the loss of floor area due to the reduced floor plate; 
 Relocation of the non-residential use from the south site to the north site to provide a more 

prominent street address to Wentworth Park Road and to allow co-location with the social 
housing; and 

 Increase in number of potential social housing dwellings. 

On 22 May 2020, the landowner submitted a planning proposal request to the City of Sydney. The 
request included a Design Report and a number of technical studies. The City has prepared this 
planning proposal following consideration of the request. 

The request sought to amend the Sydney LEP 2012 to increase the maximum building height 
control from the current 9 metres to a height of RL 36 (approx. 8 storeys), introduce a maximum 

58



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

15 
 

floor space ratio of 4.3:1 (north site) and 3.1:1 (south site), remove the site from the St Phillips 
heritage conservation area and a draft site-specific provision requiring a minimum percentage of  
social or affordable housing and removing the need for a competitive design competition. 

It is noted that LAHC conducted a tender/competitive design process in partnership with the 
Government Architect NSW in relation to the site in 2019. As part of this process four competitors 
were invited to prepare design proposals for the site. The tender/design competition process was 
conducted generally in accordance with the City of Sydney’s competitive design alternatives 
process. The tender component of the process was not the determining criteria in the selection of 
the preferred design proposal. 

The proposed controls facilitate development of approximately 74 apartments, up to 235 square 
metres of non-residential floor space for social purposes and 40 square metres of commercial or 
retail space on the corner of Cowper and Wentworth Streets. 

Following lodgement, the landowner’s request was reviewed internally by the City. The City's 
Arboriculture, Sustainability, Transport and Urban Design Units, amongst others reviewed the 
proposal and suggested additional information and amendments. 

A draft DCP, to be exhibited concurrently with this planning proposal, contains more detailed site-
specific provisions.  

59



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

16 
 

3. Objectives and intended 
outcomes 
This planning proposal will enable the redevelopment of the site to: 

– Deliver a high-quality development which provides for increased social housing and private 
housing, as well as non-residential uses facing Wentworth Park; 

– Deliver local social, retail or commercial uses; 

– Deliver a built form which responds to the surrounding context including the adjacent MJ 
Doherty Reserve and recent development to the east of the site; 

– Protect the heritage values of the local area by retaining and protecting heritage street trees 
and respecting the heritage values of the St Phillips Heritage Conservation Area; 

– Retain the amenity of the surrounding residential uses by ensuring an adequate level of solar 
access and privacy is maintained; 

– Maintain the amenity of adjoining streets and parks by ensuring street trees are protected and 
ensuring no overshadowing of the adjacent parks; 

– Provide for enhanced passive surveillance and activation of the adjacent open space and 
public domain; and 

– Deliver a sustainable outcome through identification of sustainability targets. 

The intended outcome is to facilitate the redevelopment of the site to provide much more and 
better social housing, consistent with the strategic directions in the NSW Government’s Future 
Directions for Social Housing. 

 
  

60



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

17 
 

4. Explanation of provisions 
To achieve the intended outcomes this planning proposal seeks to amend Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012 as follows: 

1. Amend the Height of Building Map Sheet 008 as shown at Part 5 of this planning proposal 
to increase the maximum building height to RL 36 (approx. 8 storeys). 
 

2. Amend the Heritage Map Sheet 008 to remove the both sites from the St Phillips Heritage 
Conservation Area. 
 

3. Amend clause 1.9 Application of SEPPs to ensure State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Affordable Rental Housing) 2009 does not apply to the site which is subject to site-specific 
affordable housing outcomes. 
 

4. Insert a site-specific local clause for additional floor space, affordable and social housing, 
BASIX and design excellence. The proposed site-specific provision will facilitate: 

a. bonus FSR if 100% of the total floor area for the northern site, used for the purposes 
of residential development, is used for social housing, 

b. the bonus FSR is contingent on the development exceeding BASIX commitments 
for energy, and 

c. the removal of the capacity to award additional building height or floor space for a 
design excellence competition as additional design competition is not required. 

 

 

 

 

  

61



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

18 
 

Example clauses 
A draft of the intended amendments to the Sydney LEP 2012 is shown below. Additions are shown 
in bold italics. 
 

 
 

Clause 1.9 Application of SEPP 

(1) This Plan is subject to the provisions of any State environmental planning policy that 
prevails over this Plan as provided by section 3.28 of the Act. 

(2) The following State environmental planning policies (or provisions) do not apply to the land 
to which this Plan applies— 

State Environmental Planning Policy No 1—Development Standards 

(2A) State Environmental Planning Policy (Affordable Rental Housing) 2009 does not apply to: 

(a) land at Green Square or at Ultimo-Pyrmont, or 

(b) southern employment land, or 

(c) land at the Waterloo Metro Quarter, or 

(d) land at 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe.  

Division 5 Site Specific Provisions 

Clause 6.XX  17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

(1)  This clause applies to the following land at Glebe (subject land):  

(a) 17-31 Cowper Street (Lot 17 DP 244897), 

(b) 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road (Lot 18 DP 244897). 

(2)  Despite clause 4.4, the consent authority may grant development consent to 
development on the subject land to which this clause applies that will result in a 
building— 

(a)  with a maximum floor space ratio of 3.1:1 (Lot 17 DP 244897) and 

(b)  with a maximum floor space ratio of 4.3:1 (Lot 18 DP 244897). 

(3)  Development consent must not be granted under subclause (2) for development that 
results in less than 100% of the gross floor area of Lot 18 DP 244897, used for the 
purposes of residential accommodation, being used for the purposes of social housing. 

The affordable housing will be provided by or on behalf of a public authority or social 
housing provider, within the meaning of the State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Affordable Rental Housing) 2009. 

(4)  Development consent must only be granted under subclause (2) for development 
that exceeds the BASIX commitments for energy by not less than 5 points. 

(5)  Clause 6.21(7) does not apply to a building on land to which this clause applies. 

62



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

19 
 

5. Justification 
This section is structured as follows: 

– 5.1 – Proposed development outcome 

– 5.2 – Proposed changes to, benefits of and managing impacts of increasing building height and 
floor space ratio controls 

– 5.3 – Draft development control plan 

– 5.4 – Need for the planning proposal 

– 5.5 – Relationship to strategic planning framework 

– 5.6 – Environmental, social and economic impact 

– 5.7 – State and Commonwealth interests 

5.1. Proposed development outcome 
The City’s vision for the development of the site is based on an assessment of the landowner’s 
concept. The City has worked with the landowner to address issues and achieve improved 
outcomes consistent with the Request. 

The proposed development concept (indicative reference scheme) includes redevelopment of the 
sites to accommodate new residential buildings and non-residential uses for a social purpose 
fronting Wentworth Park Road. 

An indicative reference scheme has been prepared to support this planning proposal. The 
reference scheme demonstrates how the site could be developed under the proposed planning 
controls. The reference scheme has informed the proposed height and floor space ratio controls. 
Key elements of the proposed reference scheme are discussed in greater detail below. 

Building height 

This planning proposal seeks to introduce a maximum building height of RL 36 (approx. 8 storeys) 
on both sites. This will facilitate the delivery of new residential apartment buildings and 5 x 2 storey 
part attic terraces fronting Mitchell Lane East and MJ Doherty Reserve. 

The building height along Cowper Street creates a consistent building scale to Mezzo development 
on the eastern side of Cowper Street and avoids overshadowing of the Reserve. 

The terraces fronting Mitchell Lane East provide a more sensitive interface to the Reserve and the 
St Phillips heritage conservation area to the west and south of the site.  

The ground level of the buildings on Cowper Street provides access to the buildings and the 
ground level fronting Wentworth Park Road will be activated by a non-residential facility used for a 
social purpose.  

According to the reference scheme, the proposed building on the north site is setback 1.5 metres 
from the Cowper Street boundary and the proposed building on the south site is setback 3 metres 
from Cowper Street boundary. These setbacks ensure the solar access is maximised to the 
adjacent buildings and ensures minimal impact to the heritage listed street trees on Cowper Street.  

Floor space ratio 

This planning proposal seeks a floor space ratio (FSR) for the north site of 4.3:1 and an FSR of 
3.1:1 on the south site. Floor space incentives will be available in a site-specific local clause based 
on the provisions of 100 percent social housing being delivered on the north site. 

63



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

20 
 

The reference scheme demonstrates a design that utilises approximately 5,800 square metres of 
residential Gross Floor Area (GFA) and 235 square metres of non-residential GFA for a social 
purpose, and up to 40 square metres of GFA for commercial or retail space. The building layouts 
would achieve around 74 apartments with the following indicative dwelling mixes: 

 

North site South site 

 
‒ Studio: 2 (6%) 
‒ 1 bedroom: 26 (74%) 
‒ 2 bedroom: 7 (20%) 

 

 
‒ 1 bedroom: 14 (36%) 
‒ 2 bedroom: 20 (51%) 
‒ 3 bedroom: 5 (13%) 

 

Compliance testing against the objectives of the Apartment Design Guide (ADG) standards 
suggests 80 percent of apartments achieving natural cross ventilation requirements and 80 percent 
(north site) and 82 percent (south site) of apartments achieving solar compliance. Ultimately, the 
final apartment layout would be determined at development application stage. 

Figure 18. Indicative reference scheme from Wentworth Street 
looking east 

 

64



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

21 
 

Figure 19. Indicative reference scheme from Wentworth Park 
looking south along Cowper Street 

 

 
Housing Diversity and Affordability 

At a time when the wait list for social housing in NSW is almost 60,000 people, the demand for 
social housing has never been greater. Combined with a 5-10 year waiting period for social 
housing in this area, there is a critical need to deliver social housing on this site. 

This planning proposal presents an opportunity to optimise NSW Government owned land to 
deliver new social housing on a site that is accessible to a range of public transport infrastructure, 
jobs and services consistent with the NSW Governments policy intent of a 30-minute city. 

The Glebe Mid-Rise Project is being progressed by NSW Land and Housing Corporation (LAHC) 
to demonstrate how renewal of social housing can be delivered through the sensitive introduction 
of a mid-rise development into an established inner city urban environment, whilst providing 
contemporary housing including additional social and new market housing as part of a 
commercially viable development. The proposal will meet the significant identified demand for 
housing, including social housing, in the local area. This project is consistent with the NSW 
Government’s Future Directions for Social Housing policy. 

The proposed provision of social housing on site will provide good housing options for the area and 
the proposed provision of up to 100 percent of residential floor space dwellings on the north site as 
social housing is consistent with the Greater Sydney Commission’s target in the Eastern City 
District Plan. 

To ensure that the site meets the Greater Sydney Commission’s affordable housing target, this 
planning proposal includes a site-specific clause in the LEP requiring 100 percent of residential 
GFA on the north site to be provided as social housing.  

65



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

22 
 

5.2. Proposed changes to, benefits of and managing impacts of 
increasing building height and floor space ratio controls 
 

Solar access and overshadowing 

The planning proposal seeks to minimise solar impacts to neighbouring properties on Cowper 
Street and Wentworth Street. The proposal is supported by an Urban Design Report that provides 
a detailed analysis of the overshadowing impacts of the development. 

The indicative reference scheme demonstrates that built-form has been located to minimise 
overshadowing impacts on adjacent dwellings to the east of the subject site. This has been 
achieved by increasing setbacks along Cowper Street and changes to the building massing to 
reduce overshadowing on neighbouring properties. 

The solar analysis in the urban design report demonstrates that there will be minimal impact on 
existing residential properties, with all but 1 neighbouring property continuing to receive more than 
2 hours of solar access between 9am and 3pm in midwinter. This is considered to be an 
acceptable impact. In order to achieve two hours direct solar access to this apartment in midwinter, 
two levels of apartments would have to be removed from the corner of the proposed building on 
the north site (Figure 20). 

Figure 20. Solar access plane required to achieve 2 hours direct 
sunlight to adjoining property 

 

 

Terrace houses on Cowper Street 

The proposed development will create some additional overshadowing of the terrace houses on 
Cowper Street between 9am and midday in midwinter. Up to 7 terraces will be impacted by some 

66



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

23 
 

overshadowing between 10am and midday only in midwinter. There is no solar loss for the terraces 
houses after midday. This is considered to be acceptable as these impacts are during midwinter 
and the terraces are still receiving a good level of solar access throughout the day. 

Figure 21. Shadow diagrams for Cowper Street terraces  

 

9am        10am        11am 

 

The solar analysis also demonstrates that there will be no overshadowing impact on the adjacent 
open space including MJ Doherty Reserve and Wentworth Park. 

All apartments in the reference scheme will receive good solar access with over 80 percent 
receiving at least 2 hours of solar access in midwinter, as required by the ADG. 

Design Excellence 

Prior to any pre-lodgement meetings with the City of Sydney, the landowner initiated a design 
services Request for Tender / Competitive Design Alternatives Process in partnership with the 
NSW Government Architect. As part of this process four competitors were invited to prepare 
design proposals for the site. The design services Request for Tender / Design Alternatives 
Process was undertaken in accordance with: 

‒ NSW Government Construction Procurement Model 
‒ City of Sydney Competitive Design Alternative Model 2012 (modified) 

The Tender Evaluation Committee resolved that the Johnson Pilton Walker (JPW) scheme best 
demonstrated the ability to achieve design excellence with regard to the provisions of Clause 6.21 
of the Sydney LEP and the Alternative Competitive Design Process requirements in the City’s 
Competitive Design Policy. JPW’s scheme was subsequently awarded the winner of the design 
excellence process. The tender component of the process was not the determining criteria in the 
selection of the preferred design proposal. 

Of the four design schemes presented, the JPW scheme was determined to be the most 
convincing response to the traditional architecture, urban design and commercial objectives of the 
brief and the greatest potential to achieve design excellence. On this basis the Tender Evaluation 
Committee selected JPW as provide services and submit deliveries at each stage of the project. 

Since the evaluation committee chose that the JPW scheme, there has been ongoing engagement 
on the design with stakeholder including the JPW design team. This has further improved the 
design. 

Given that the design services Request for Tender / Competitive Design Alternatives Process has 
been undertaken and a proposal selected which can deliver design excellence, no further 
competitive design process will be required at the development application stage. Accordingly, this 
planning proposal seeks to exclude the sites from these requirements and the accompanying floor 
space or height bonus for undertaking a further competition under the Sydney LEP.  

67



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

24 
 

Heritage 

The site is not listed as a heritage item in Schedule 5 of the Sydney LEP but is within the St Phillips 
Heritage Conservation Area and is located adjacent to a heritage listed (I670) street trees on 
Cowper Street. The site is the subject of listings on the Section 170 Register for NSW Land and 
Housing Corporation. 

This planning proposal is supported by a Heritage Impact Assessment which identifies the heritage 
significance of the existing buildings as little to moderate and concludes that it would be 
appropriate for the sites to be removed from the LAHCs Heritage and Conservation Register. It 
was noted that this would require notification to the Heritage Council of NSW and would need to be 
completed prior to demolition. 

The heritage assessment also concluded that the demolition of the existing buildings will have a 
negligible impact on the significance of the Heritage Conservation Area and that the proposal to 
remove the subject site from the St Phillips Conservation Area curtilage would be an acceptable 
heritage outcome. This was on the basis that: 

‒ The existing buildings, while marginally sympathetic infill styles, are not exemplary of their 
type and can potentially confuse interpretation of the mostly Victorian architectural values of 
the conservation area. 

‒ Spatially, the site is located at the outer edges of the Conservation Area where the qualities 
and architectural values of the conservation area are not as evident or as obvious as it 
would be within the central core. 

‒ The site is located within a pocket of varied architectural styles and densities of 
development and that interpreting the existing buildings as cohesive with the values of the 
conservation area are less applicable. 

The following recommendations from the heritage assessment must be addressed at the 
development application stage:  

‒ Prior to the demolition of any structures, an archival photographic recording should be 
completed. Ideally, this archival recording would include measured drawings (if original/as 
built drawings can't be found) plus a photographic record. 

‒ LAHC should prepare an Interpretation Strategy regarding the historic development of the 
area. 

‒ Any significant heritage fabric relating to the St Phillip’s Conservation area, such as the 
stone kerb along Mitchell Lane East should be conserved. Measures must be put in place 
to protect these significant items. 

‒ The measures put in place to retain the heritage trees should be continued through the 
detailed design. 

Finally, LAHC is encouraged to prepare a comparative analysis of current and future development 
projects to understand their building stock and to determine if any sites should be retained in 
preference to others. 

European archaeological heritage 

This planning proposal is supported by a Baseline Historical Archaeological Assessment. The 
assessment found that the archaeological potential ranges from low to high across the sites.  

The assessment highlight that there is potential for historical interpretation opportunities to illustrate 
the history of the area and utilise the archaeological resource to inform our understanding of the 
occupants of the site and activities carried out there. 

Given that the site has generally moderate potential to contain archaeological remains of local 
archaeological significance that would constitute relics in the meaning of the Heritage Act 1977 and 
as such are afforded protection by the Act. Any ground disturbance works with the potential to 
disturb or destroy archaeological relics are constrained by the Act and would require an excavation 
permit to allow them to proceed. 

68



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

25 
 

On this basis there are unlikely to be archaeological constraints which would preclude the 
progressing of the planning proposal. However, prior to construction, relevant permits would be 
required under the Heritage Act 1977 for any ground disturbance works with the potential to disturb 
or destroy archaeological relics. 

Aboriginal Heritage 

This planning proposal is supported by a preliminary Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Assessment. The 
Assessment indicated that at least a portion of the northern half of the site has been subjected to 
reclamation activities when the former Blackwattle Bay was filled and then converted to a public 
park. It highlights this is likely to have capped any Aboriginal objects or sites within the tidal 
margins and rocky shores of the bay, if present. 

Based on the findings of this assessment, there is a risk that development works may impact 
Aboriginal objects and sites across the study area. These are likely to be found within natural 
alluvium and/or residual soils, at depths below approximately 1.9 metres below ground surface. As 
such, further investigation in the form of an Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Assessment Report 
(ACHAR) is required for any activities that are likely to impact the ground surface. The ACHAR 
would be carried out with formal Aboriginal community consultation and may include a staged 
program of archaeological test excavations which would be carried out in between the demolition 
and construction stages. 

Aboriginal heritage will be addressed during the development application stage. Where Aboriginal 
heritage items were identified through the ACHAR, an Aboriginal Heritage Impact Permit would be 
required prior to any impact as a result of excavation or construction works. 

Flooding and Stormwater 

Flood Assessment and Stormwater Assessment Reports identify the site is affected by the 1% 
Annual Exceedance Probability (AEP) flood level ranging from 3.27 to 3.88 metres AHD across the 
both sites (Figure 22) and the Probable Maximum Flood (PMF) level ranging from 4.24 to 4.38 
metres AHD across the both sites (Figure 23). Under existing conditions both north and south sites 
experience overland flooding on all sides. The majority of flow is north-east along Mitchell Lane 
East and Wentworth Park Road. It is noted that Wentworth Park has a 1 metre higher PMF level 
that the subject site. 

The flood assessment confirms that redevelopment of the site must be designed to meet the 
following flood planning levels: 

 Residential habitable rooms: 1% AEP flood level + 0.5m freeboard. 
 Residential non-habitable rooms: 1% AEP flood level 
 Below-ground car parks: the higher of 1% AEP flood level + 0.5m freeboard and PMF flood 

level.  

The reference scheme submitted with this planning proposal has been informed by the above flood 
planning levels. 

To offset potential flooding impacts, mitigation measures will be required. This may include:  

 A pit and pipe network to collect minor storm runoff from surface areas; 
 overland flow paths to carry major storms through and around the site without causing 

damage to property from flooding; and 
 two separate stormwater treatment chambers. 

A detailed flood assessment will be required as part of subsequent development applications for 
the site.   

69



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

26 
 

Figure 22. Existing 1% AEP peak flood depth 

    

Figure 23. Existing PMF peak flood depth 

     

 

Traffic and Transport 

A Traffic, Transport and Parking Report has been prepared to support the planning proposal. This 
report provides an assessment of the existing traffic and transport environment and the impact of 
the proposed development on the traffic and transport network.  

 

70



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

27 
 

Road network 

The traffic report included traffic modelling which assessed the impact of the proposal on the 
intersections at Cowper Street / Wentworth Street and Cowper Street / Wentworth Park Road. The 
traffic modelling concluded that applying traffic generated by the proposed development to the 
surrounding road network indicates the uplift in traffic will have a negligible impact on road network 
operation.  

Public Transport 

The site is within walking distance of Wentworth Park Light rail stop (750 metres) and Glebe Light 
Rail stop (800 metres) which provide connections to Central Station, Leichardt and Dulwich Hill.  

The site is located 450 metres from bus services that stop along Glebe Point Road. Bus stops on 
Harris Street are located approximately 650 metres from the site. These high frequency bus routes 
provide connections to the Sydney CBD, Leichardt, Coogee and Balmain. 

Central Station is the closest station to the site, via a 22-minute walk or 17-minute bus trip. Central 
Station provides access to a number of Sydney Trains services and Intercity trains to various 
destinations. 

Mode Share 

The traffic report establishes aspirational mode share targets with a view to reducing dependency 
on private vehicle dependency, with 22 percent car trips and 78 percent public transport, active 
transport trips or other trips. These targets will be supported by the site’s accessibility to public 
transport, services and facilities. A Green Travel Plan will be developed at development application 
stage to identify additional travel demand measures to the implemented. 

Pedestrian and cycling 

Pedestrian footpaths are provided on both sides of Wentworth Street, Cowper Street and 
Wentworth Park Road. There are no footpaths on Park Lane or Mitchell Lane East. A zebra 
crossing is located on Wentworth Park Road west of Cowper Street which provides a safe crossing 
point for pedestrians travelling between Wentworth Park and the site. A shared path connects 
Wentworth Park Road and Wattle Street via Wentworth Park. Glebe Point Road and Glebe Street 
are bicycle friendly streets that provide connectivity in the vicinity of the site. 

Car parking 

The existing development provides 7 off-street car parking spaces, all accessed off Park Lane. 
Wentworth Park Road, being a key distributor for the area, has limited, metered parking. The local 
streets and lanes adjacent to the site have a mixture of time-restricted parking. The Glebe resident 
parking scheme applies to all streets adjacent to the site. 

According to the reference scheme, future redevelopment of the site would result in a maximum of 
30 basement car parking spaces on the south site. This planning proposal seeks to apply the 
Category B car parking rate in the LEP to the site to determining the maximum car parking rate. 

The supporting traffic analysis suggests the number of parking spaces is not anticipated to 
degrade the performance of the road network to an unacceptable level. The exact amount of car 
parking to be provided on the site will be determined as part of the detailed design phase. 

The proposed basement vehicle access would likely necessitate the removal of about 4 on-street 
parking spaces on Wentworth Street. As the development expects to include 30 new parking 
spaces the traffic study does not expect the loss of 4 spaces to have a negative impact on parking 
supply for residents in the area. However, removal of on-street parking spaces will require Traffic 
Committee approval. There may be opportunity to provide new on-street parking in Park Lane. 

Sustainability 

A Sustainable Report establishes the recommended sustainability targets for future development 
on the site. The following minimum targets are proposed to deliver energy and carbon reductions: 

71



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

28 
 

‒ 6-star Green Star communities rating  
‒ 5-star Green Star Design and As-Built  
‒ BASIX Energy 50 for low rise and 45 for high rise 

The following minimum targets are proposed for Commercial areas:  

‒ NABERS Energy rating of 5.5 stars  
‒ NABERS Water rating of 4.5 stars 

Future redevelopment would also seek to maximise opportunities for the installation of solar 
photovoltaic systems and provide green roofs where appropriate, to provide amenity, improve 
microclimate conditions and create comfortable communal spaces. 

The sustainability targets are included in the draft DCP and would apply to future development. 
Sustainability targets and proposed measures will be further considered in the detailed design 
stage and provided as part of any future development applications for the site. 

Geotechnical 

The planning proposal includes excavation for 2 basement levels across the south site for car 
parking and site servicing. The planning proposal is accompanied by a Geotechnical Assessment. 
The site subsurface consists of different depths of fill, sands and clayey material overlying 
sandstone bedrock at approx. 5 metres depth. The study found that groundwater is shallow and 
dewatering will be required for the construction of basements. There is also potential for acid 
sulfate soils to be encountered. There is a need for further investigations and a remedial action 
plan to be addressed at the development application stage. 

5.3. Draft development control plan 
Site-specific controls have also been included in the draft DCP to help guide the design for the 
block. The reference design represents a highly resolved design. The draft DCP controls will help 
to ensure the benefits of the increased maximum building height and FSR are realised and impacts 
are appropriately managed. The draft DCP addresses the following key design considerations to: 

‒ Improve visual privacy between apartments across Park Lane; 
‒ Manage visual privacy between apartments and terraces; 
‒ Provide ramp access to both lobbies; 
‒ Dedicate land for footpath widening and improve pedestrian facilities on surrounding 

streets; 
‒ Increase the quantum of landscape and deep soil; 
‒ Manage overshadowing to the adjacent buildings by modifying the south-east roof of the 

north lot; 
‒ Provide external sun shading to east and west elevations; 
‒ Improve ground level interfaces by including windows to all ground level spaces; 
‒ Improve solar access to living spaces of west facing apartments; 
‒ Modify windows to maximise effectiveness of cross ventilation; and 
‒ Improve the design quality and detail of the terrace houses. 

5.4. Need for the planning proposal 
Q1. Is the planning proposal the result of an endorsed local strategic planning statement, 
strategic study or report? 

This planning proposal is a result of a request from the landowner to change the planning controls 
that relate to the site. It will facilitate the strategic development outcomes envisaged by the NSW 
Government’s Future Directions for Social Housing 2016. This 10-year plan seeks to drive better 
outcomes for social housing tenants. 

72



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

29 
 

The landowner has undertaken a number of studies in support of the request. The supporting 
documents are attached as the following appendices to this planning proposal: 

‒ Attachment A: Consideration of Sydney DCP – File Planning 
‒ Attachment B: Proposed DCP Controls – File Planning 
‒ Attachment C: Urban Design Study – Johnson Pilton Walker 
‒ Attachment D: Reference Design Scheme Drawings - Johnson Pilton Walker 
‒ Attachment E: Landscape Concept Plans – Turf Design Studio 
‒ Attachment F: Arboricultural report – Arterra Design 
‒ Attachment F: Tree Management Plan - Arterra Design  
‒ Attachment G: Heritage Impact Assessment – Extent 
‒ Attachment H: Historical Archaeological Assessment – Extent 
‒ Attachment I: Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Assessment – Extent  
‒ Attachment J: Traffic and Transport Assessment – ARUP 
‒ Attachment K: Ecological Sustainable Development Report – Integral Group 
‒ Attachment L: Acoustic Assessment – White Noise Acoustics 
‒ Attachment M: Utility Services Assessment – Donnelley Simpson Cleary 
‒ Attachment N: Flood Assessment Report – GRC Hydro  
‒ Attachment O: Stormwater Management Report – Van Der Meer 
‒ Attachment P: Geotechnical Report – Douglas Partners 
‒ Attachment Q: Contamination Assessment – Douglas Partners 
‒ Attachment R: Acid Sulfate Soils Management Plan – Douglas Partners 
‒ Attachment S: Waste Management Plan - Elephants Foot Recycling Solutions 
‒ Attachment T: Social Infrastructure Assessment – Elton Consulting 
‒ Attachment U: Preliminary Stakeholder and Community Engagement Report – Jody Connor 
‒ Attachment V: Survey Plan - North Site – Veris Australia 
‒ Attachment W: Survey Plan - South Site – Veris Australia 

 

Q2. Is the planning proposal the best means of achieving the objectives or intended 
outcomes, or is there a better way? 

Yes. There are no alternative processes to achieve the intent of this planning proposal. The 
controls in the Sydney LEP 2012 provide limited opportunities for redevelopment of the site. 

5.5. Relationship to strategic planning framework 
Q3. Will the planning proposal give effect to the objectives and actions of the applicable 
regional, or district plan or strategy (including any exhibited draft plans or strategies)? 

A Metropolis of Three Cities – the Greater Sydney Regional Plan  

A Metropolis for Three Cities – the Greater Sydney Regional Plan is the NSW State Government’s 
overarching strategic plan that outlines a 40-year vision and sets out a 20-year plan to manage 
growth and change for Sydney. It identifies key challenges facing Sydney including a population 
increase of 1.7 million, and a requirement for 725,000 new homes by 2036. The Plan also refers to 
a whole-of-government agenda to create 1 million new jobs in NSW by 2036.  

In responding to these and other challenges, the plan sets out four categories and 10 directions, 
with associated objectives. These are: 

1. Infrastructure and collaboration: a city supported by infrastructure, and a collaborative city; 

2. Liveability: a city for people, housing the city and a city of great places: 

3. Productivity: a well-connected city and jobs and skills for the city; and 

4. Sustainability: a city in its landscape, an efficient city and a resilient city. 

 

73



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

30 
 

Directions of particular relevance to this planning proposal include: 

– Direction 1: A city supported by infrastructure; 

– Direction 4: Housing the City; 

– Direction 5: A city of great places; 

– Direction 8: A city in its landscape; 

– Direction 6: A well-connected city; and 

– Direction 10: A resilient city. 

 

The planning proposal is consistent with several relevant directions, objectives and strategies of 
the plan. Specifically, it: 

– responds to the increasing demand for social housing options in the inner city; 

– will provide a mix of housing to support a range of households; 

– proximity to a range of public transport infrastructure, jobs and services is consistent with the 
30-minute city concept; 

– is located adjacent to highly accessible public open space for future residents; and 

– location will promote the use of active and public transport. 

 

Eastern City District Plan 

The Eastern City District Plan sets out the NSW Government’s vision, priorities and actions for the 
Eastern District, including the City of Sydney. It establishes a 20 year vision for the Eastern District 
to be a global sustainability leader, managing growth while maintaining and enhancing liveability, 
productivity and attractiveness for residents and visitors. Priorities and associated actions for 
productivity, liveability and sustainability seek to deliver this vision.   

This planning proposal is consistent with the following priorities from the Plan: 

‒ Planning Priority E1 – Planning for a city supported by infrastructure - The District Plan 
addresses the need to provide more residential dwellings to support the projected 
population increase of 325,000 by 2036. This planning proposal seeks to plan for a city 
supported by infrastructure by increasing residential capacity of the site near to jobs, 
services and amenities. Future residents will be near the Inner West Light Rail and high 
frequency buses on Parramatta Road. 
 

‒ Planning Priority E4 – Fostering healthy, creative, culturally rich and socially connected 
communities - This planning proposal will provide new social housing in an area of 
increasing demand and support a diverse community by providing a mix of housing and 
new public spaces that promote social integration and connectivity. 
 

‒ Planning Priority E5 – Providing housing supply, choice and affordability, with access to 
jobs, services and public transport - This planning proposal will provide a mix of social and 
private dwellings, in a highly accessible and well-served location. The site is within walking 
distance to public transport connections to key employment centres. 
 

‒ Planning Priority E6 – Creating and renewing great places and local centres, and 
respecting the District’s heritage - This planning proposal seeks to renew a Government-
owned site to create new social and private housing. The Planning Proposal considers the 
local character of St Phillips heritage conservation area. The proposed built form responds 
to the site’s heritage setting with built form transition to MJ Doherty reserve. 
 

74



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

31 
 

‒ Planning Priority E7 – Growing a more stronger and more competitive Harbour CBD - This 
planning proposal will provide ground floor non-residential uses fronting Wentworth Park 
Road, which could accommodate a commercial or community use that will enhance street 
activation and vibrancy. 
 

‒ Planning Priority E10 – Delivering integrated land use and transport planning and a 30-
minute city - The site is located within walking distance from the Inner West Light Rail and 
high frequency buses on Parramatta Road, enabling the 30-minute city concept by way of 
active and public transport. 
 

‒ Planning Priority E17 – Increasing urban tree canopy cover and delivering green grid 
connections – The planning proposal seeks to provide enhanced tree plantings within the 
public domain, and retention of existing street trees. 
 

‒ Planning Priority E19 – Reducing carbon emissions and managing energy, water and waste 
efficiently – This planning proposal and site-specific draft DCP includes targets to exceed 
BASIX requirements for water and energy targets and sustainability targets. 
 

‒ Planning Priority S20 – Adapting to the impacts of urban and natural hazards and climate 
change – This planning proposal gives consideration to the relevant flood planning levels 
on the site and seeks to achieve an adequate level of tree canopy cover. 

 

Q4. Will the planning proposal give effect to a council’s endorsed local strategic planning 
statement, or another endorsed local strategy or strategic plan? 

City Plan 2036: draft Local Strategic Planning Statement 

City of Sydney’s recently endorsed Local Strategic Planning Statement sets out the land use 
planning context, 20-year vision and planning priorities to positively guide change towards the 
City’s vision for a green, global and connected city. The planning statement explains how the 
planning system will manage that change to achieve the desired outcomes and guides future 
changes to controls, including those sought by proponents through planning proposals. This 
planning proposal gives effect to the following planning priorities of the Statement: 

Infrastructure 

‒ I3 – Supporting community wellbeing with social infrastructure - The site promotes social 
cohesion and wellbeing through the delivery of an integrated, mixed tenure community on 
the site. The proposal will improve community well-being and social outcomes by providing 
new social housing in an established inner-city community. 

Liveability 

‒ L1 – A creative and socially connected city - The planning proposal will support the 
objective of a socially connected community, by providing a diverse range of households on 
the site – social and private tenants. 

‒ L2 – Creating great places - The planning proposal promotes the ‘liveable and walkable 
neighbourhood’ model by providing a diversity of housing, new social housing, and varied 
communal spaces and activated streets that will knit the site into the neighbourhood. 

‒ L3 – New homes for a diverse community - The development will provide high levels of 
amenity and opportunity of social housing within Glebe. The social housing development is 
a result of the growing demand for diverse housing tenure in the inner city. 

Sustainability 

‒ S2 – Creating better buildings and places to reduce emissions and waste and use water 
efficiently - The site aims to improve the City’s energy and sustainability priorities by setting 

75



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

32 
 

sustainability targets for the site. The draft DCP contains provisions to achieve this 
objective. 

‒ S3 – Increasing resilience of people and infrastructure against natural and urban hazards - 
The proposal manages all hazards and ensures future development can adequately 
addressed in the design of future buildings. The reference scheme demonstrates that future 
development on the site can manage and mitigate all potential hazards particular flooding 
constraints. 

Governance 

‒ G1 – Open, Accountable and collaborative planning - The planning proposal has been 
informed by ongoing collaboration between NSW LAHC, DPIE, NSW Government Architect 
and the City of Sydney. Community consultation has also provided input into the reference 
scheme and proposed outcomes. The planning proposal will be subject to further 
community and stakeholder consultation to ensure open and collaborative planning for the 
site 

Local Housing Strategy: Housing for All 

The City’s local housing strategy identifies a target of 3,368 social and affordable dwellings in the 
LGA between 2022- 2016. This is based on the Council’s target of 7.5 percent of all housing to be 
provided as affordable housing an 7.5 percent of all housing to be provided as social housing. 

This planning proposal is consistent with the following priorities in the housing strategy: 

‒ H1 Facilitating more homes in the right locations – This planning proposal provides an 
opportunity for social housing within Glebe, an established community, one of the most 
well-serviced, walkable and connected suburbs in Sydney. 

‒ H2 Coordinating housing growth with the delivery of infrastructure - The planning proposal 
will deliver a diverse range of housing in an extremely accessible location well-serviced by 
existing and planned infrastructure. The site is within walking distance of a range of public 
transport infrastructure, jobs and services. 

‒ H3 Increasing diversity and choice in housing - The site offers a mix of social housing to 
meet the needs and demands of low-income households. The provision of social housing 
on the site will make a meaningful contribution to the supply of social housing and continue 
to support a diverse community. 

‒ H4 Increasing the diversity and number of homes available for lower income households - 
The planning proposal will increase the number of homes for lower income households. 
The planning proposal seeks to maximise the delivery of social housing on the site. 

‒ H5 Increasing the amount of social and supported housing - The planning proposal seeks 
to maximize the delivery of social housing on the site, consistent with Government policy. 
The planning proposal includes a site-specific provision to provide social housing on the 
site. 

‒ H6 Improving NSW Government controlled site outcomes - The planning proposal and 
reference scheme have been developed to with the overarching objective of creating a 
people-focused, integrated community with high-quality spaces that will bring people 
together. The planning proposal will include market housing and social housing. It also 
provides flexibility for a range of residential and supporting non-residential uses that will 
meet residents’ daily needs. 

‒ H7 Increasing liveability, sustainability and accessibility through high quality residential 
design - The planning proposal will deliver great streets that reflect the character of the 
neighbourhood – with street trees and an enhanced public domain. The proposal will 
deliver a high level of amenity (internal and external amenity) and includes sustainability 
targets for future development. 

76



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

33 
 

 
Sustainable Sydney 2030: Community Strategic Plan 2017–2021 

Sustainable Sydney 2030 is Council’s vision for the sustainable development of the City to 2030 
and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of the City and 10 targets against 
which to measure progress. This planning proposal is aligned with the following relevant strategic 
directions and objectives: 

– Direction 1 – A globally competitive and innovative city – The planning proposal will support 
Sydney’s role as an important centre of business and investment by providing additional 
housing options for workers in a high amenity area located within 30 minutes of the city. 

– Direction 2 provides a road map for the City to become a Leading Environmental performer – 
Redevelopment of the site, facilitated by this planning proposal, will deliver new building stock 
with significantly better environmental performance than the current development.  

– Direction 3 – Integrated transport for a connected City – The site is close light rail and high 
frequency buses along Parramatta Road providing access to the Central Station and the wider 
heavy rail network. 

– Direction 4 – A city for walking and cycling - The planning proposal will support active transport 
use in accordance with this Direction.  The proposed built form also provides for enhanced 
activation of the public domain, which will enhance safety and amenity for pedestrians in the 
surrounding area. 

– Direction 5 – A lively and engaging city centre - The planning proposal includes a ground floor 
community use facing Wentworth Park which will provide greater activation of the surrounding 
area. 

– Direction 6 – Resilient and inclusive local communities - The planning proposal seeks to renew 
existing social housing and deliver an integrated outcome enhancing the sense of inclusion for 
all residents. 

– Direction 7 – A cultural and creative city - Further opportunities for cultural and collaborative 
expression will be enabled within public and communal spaces. 

– Direction 8 – Housing for a diverse community - The planning proposal promotes a diverse 
supply of housing that supports social and economic diversity. The proposal will provide for 
people of all income levels, household types, ages and abilities in housing that they can live in 
through all stages of their lives. The planning proposal will contribute to a thriving, diverse and 
a liveable community in the Glebe area. 

– Direction 9 – Sustainable development, renewal and design - The development will provide a 
sustainable approach to urban density, by providing a range of housing types within a dense 
inner-city suburb. Future apartments will be of a high quality with good solar access and in 
close proximity to parks. 

 

Q5. Is the Planning Proposal consistent with applicable State Environmental Planning 
Policies (SEPPs)? 

This planning proposal is consistent with applicable State Environmental Planning Policies 
(SEPPs) as outlined in Table 7. SEPPs not mentioned are not applicable to the subject proposal. 

Table 1: Consistency with SEPPs 

SEPPS with which 
this planning 

SEPP 65—Design Quality of Residential Flat Development;  
SEPP (Affordable Rental Housing) 2009;  
SEPP (Building Sustainability Index: BASIX) 2004;  
SEPP (Infrastructure) 2007;  

77



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

34 
 

proposal is 
consistent 

SEPP (Vegetation in Non-Rural Areas) 2017.  
 

SEPPs that are not 
applicable to this 
planning proposal 

SEPP 19—Bushland in Urban Areas;  
SEPP 21—Caravan Parks;   
SEPP 33—Hazardous and Offensive Development;  
SEPP 36—Manufactured Home Estates;   
SEPP 47—Moore Park Showground;  
SEPP 50—Canal Estate Development;  
SEPP 55—Remediation of Land; 
SEPP 64—Advertising and Signage;  
SEPP 70—Affordable Housing (Revised Schemes);  
SEPP (Aboriginal Land) 2019; 
SEPP (Coastal Management) 2018; 
SEPP (Concurrences and Consents) 2018; 
SEPP (Educational Establishments and Child Care Facilities) 2017; 
SEPP (Exempt and Complying Development Codes) 2008;  
SEPP (Gosford City Centre) 2018; 
SEPP (Housing for Seniors or People with a Disability) 2004;  
SEPP (Koala Habitat Protection) 2019; 
SEPP (Kosciuszko National Park— Alpine Resorts) 2007;  
SEPP (Kurnell Peninsula) 1989;  
SEPP (Mining, Petroleum Production and Extractive Industries) 
2007;  
SEPP (Penrith Lakes Scheme) 1989;  
SEPP (Primary Production and Rural Development) 2019; 
SEPP (State and Regional Development) 2011;  
SEPP (State Significant Precincts) 2005;  
SEPP (Sydney Drinking Water Catchment) 2011;  
SEPP (Sydney Region Growth Centres) 2006; 
SEPP (Three Ports) 2013;  
SEPP (Urban Renewal) 2010;  
SEPP (Western Sydney Employment Area) 2009;  
SEPP (Western Sydney Parklands) 2009. 
 

REPs with which 
this planning 
proposal is 
consistent 

N/A 

REPs that are not 
applicable to this 
planning proposal 

Sydney REP 8—(Central Coast Plateau Areas);  
Sydney REP 9—Extractive Industry (No 2—1995);  
Sydney REP 16—Walsh Bay;  
Sydney REP 20—Hawkesbury- Nepean River (No 2—1997);  
Sydney REP 24—Homebush Bay Area;  
Sydney REP 26—City West;  
Sydney REP 30—St Marys;  
Sydney REP 33—Cooks Cove;  
Sydney REP (Sydney Harbour Catchment) 2005. 
 

 

State Environmental Planning Policy (Affordable Rental Housing) 2009 

This planning proposal is consistent with the aims of the SEPP and includes a provision requiring a 
minimum 10 percent affordable housing to be provided as part of future development. As this 

78



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

35 
 

planning proposal requires a minimum amount of affordable housing, the proposal seeks to list the 
site in clause 1.9(2A) of the Sydney LEP 2012 so the SEPP does not apply. 

 

State Environmental Planning Policy 65—Design Quality of Residential Flat Development; 

The planning proposal is consistent with the aims of the SEPP 65 which seeks to promote good 
design of apartments through the establishment of the Apartment Design Guide. 

The reference scheme submitted with the planning proposal has taken into consideration the key 
criteria of the SEPP and the Apartment Design Guide.  

 

Q6. Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable Ministerial Directions (s.9.1 
directions)? 

This planning proposal’s consistency with applicable section 9.1 Ministerial directions is outlined in 
Table 8. Directions which are not applicable are not included.  

Table 2: Consistency with Ministerial directions 
No. Direction Comment 

2. Environment and Heritage 

2.3 Heritage conservation Consistent. Although not a heritage item 
itself, the site is within St Phillips Heritage 
Conservation Area and it is adjacent to 
Heritage Item I670, being street trees along 
Cowper Street. This planning proposal is 
supported by a Heritage Impact 
Assessment that concludes the current 
development has little heritage significance 
and removing the site from the 
conservation area would be an acceptable 
heritage outcome. 

The proposal seeks to protect and retain 
locally listed heritage trees located on 
Cowper Street.  

2.6 Remediation of Contaminated 
Land 

Consistent. A combined preliminary and 
detailed site assessment concludes that the 
site can be rendered suitable for the 
proposed development, from a 
contamination perspective, subject to the 
remediation and /or management of the 
identified contamination. The site’s 
suitability will be demonstrated as part of a 
future detailed development application for 
the site. 

3. Housing Infrastructure and Urban Development 

3.1 Residential Zones Consistent. The planning proposal will not 
reduce the permissible residential density 
on the site. 

79



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

36 
 

No. Direction Comment 

3.4 Integrating Land Use and 
Transport 

Consistent. The site is well located with 
easy access to transport services, including 
light rail and high frequency bus routes. 

The planning proposal will enable the 
intensification of housing in a well-
connected site and will encourage use of 
public transport services. 

4. Hazard and Risk 

4.1 Acid Sulfate Soils Consistent. An Acid Sulfate Soils 
Management Plan has been prepared 
which outlines a series of acid sulfate soils 
management, treatment and disposal 
measures which would be required during 
construction. 

4.3  Flood Prone Land Inconsistent. This direction applies when a 
relevant planning authority prepares a 
planning proposal that creates, removes or 
alters a zone or a provision that affects 
flood prone land. 

A planning proposal may be inconsistent 
with this direction only if the planning 
proposal is in accordance with a floodplain 
risk management plan prepared in 
accordance with the principles and 
guidelines of the Floodplain Development 
Manual 2005. 

The planning proposal is consistent with the 
City of Sydney Interim Floodplain 
Management Policy, prepared in 
accordance with the principles and 
guidelines of the Floodplain Development 
Manual 2005. Thus, the inconsistency is of 
minor significance. 

5. Regional Planning 

5.10 Implementation of regional 
plans 

Consistent. This direction requires planning 
proposals to give effect to the vision, land 
use strategy, goals, directions and actions 
contained in Regional Plans. This planning 
proposal supports the implementation of 
the Eastern City District Plan. 

6. Local Plan Making 

6.1  Approval and referral 
requirements 

Consistent. This direction ensures that LEP 
provisions encourage the efficient and 
appropriate assessment of development. 
This planning proposal does not include 
any concurrence, consultation or referral 
provisions. Additionally, it does not identify 
any development as designated 
development.  

80



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

37 
 

No. Direction Comment 

6.3  Site-specific provisions Inconsistent. The objective of this direction 
is to discourage unnecessarily restrictive 
site specific planning controls. 

This direction applies when a relevant 
planning authority prepares a planning 
proposal that will allow a particular 
development to be carried out. 

The planning proposal is inconsistent with 
this Direction as it proposes site specific 
controls to allow a particular development 
to be carried out. 

Division 5 of the LEP contains site-specific 
provisions for various sites across the City. 
This planning proposal involves introducing 
site-specific controls into the LEP to ensure 
an appropriate tenure mix on the site 
consistent with NSW Government policy. 

In this instance, the inconsistency is of 
minor significance. 

7. Metropolitan Planning 

7.1  Implementation of A Plan for 
Growing Sydney 

Consistent. The aim of this direction is to 
give legal effect to the principles, directions 
and priorities contained in the Greater 
Sydney Region Plan – a Metropolis of 
Three Cities. This Planning Proposal 
discusses how the proposal is consistent 
with a Metropolis of Three Cities.  

5.6. Environmental, social and economic impact 
Q7. Is there any likelihood that critical habitat or threatened species, populations or 
ecological communities, or their habitats, will be adversely affected as a result of the 
Planning Proposal? 

Threatened species 
The planning proposal will not adversely affect any threatened species, populations or ecological 
communities. 
 
Trees 

A preliminary Arboricultural Report and Tree Management Plan assessed the potential impacts of 
the development footprint on the trees within and adjacent to the site. The key findings of the 
assessment include: 

 23 trees are currently within or immediately adjacent to the site; 
 14 trees are located within the site; 
 10 trees are located outside the site boundaries and are either adjoining street or park 

trees; 
 7 trees are palms trees that are in good condition and could potentially be transplanted and 

reused; 
 6 trees are rated as ‘high’ retention value and should be targeted for protection and 

retention. All of these ‘high’ value trees are located outside the site; 
 11 trees are rated with a moderate retention value; 

81



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

38 
 

 6 trees have a low retention value and should therefore not constrain the development 
outcomes. 

The assessment made the following recommendations (Figure 24): 

 Retention of all adjacent street trees and park trees 
 Retention of a Spotted Gum at the south western corner of 17-31 Cowper Street; 
 Relocation of 7 palm trees; and 
 Removal of all other trees within the Site. 

The assessment also notes that building setbacks on Cowper Street are appropriate given the size 
and heritage significance of the trees. Incursion into the Tree Protection Zone (TPZ) of the Cowper 
Street trees is less than 10 percent and branch pruning is unlikely to significantly impact the health 
or stability of these trees. 

Figure 24. Tree retention, removal and pruning 

 

 

 

To mitigate the loss of trees, this planning proposal provides for a minimum site canopy cover of 18 
percent at ground level, with additional rooftop planting.  

The provision of site canopy exceeds the 15 percent requirement in the Sydney DCP and supports 
the City’s Urban Forest Strategy which seeks to increase canopy cover across the local 

82



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

39 
 

government area to 23.25 percent by 2030. This planning proposal seeks to ensure the loss of 
trees is adequately offset and will improve landscape values and biodiversity outcomes with more 
appropriate tree plantings. 

Wind 

The Sydney DCP requires a wind effects report for buildings higher than 45 metres. The proposed 
buildings on both sites are under 45 metres in height and are not expected to significantly impact 
the environmental conditions at ground level. Balconies are generally inset within the building 
envelope, maximizing their usability and apartment amenity generally.  

Noise 

A Noise Impact Assessment has been prepared to support the planning proposal. The report 
highlights that the main noise impacts at the Site are predominantly as a result of traffic noise 
within the vicinity of the Site, with adjacent roads not defined by the Roads and Maritime Service 
as carrying more than 20,000 vehicles per day.  

The assessment recommends a number of standard construction attenuation measures including 
specific glazing thickness up to a maximum of 10.38mm for bedrooms. The assessment concludes 
that by providing the recommended constructions details the required internal noise levels will be 
achieved. Further acoustic attenuation details will be provided as part of subsequent development 
applications for the site. 

 

Q8. Are there any other likely environmental effects as a result of the Planning Proposal and how 
are they proposed to be managed? 

No, there are no other likely environmental effects as a result of the planning proposal. The 
planning proposal has adequately addressed all likely environmental impacts. 

The Planning Proposal, and supporting reference scheme, confirms that all potential environmental 
impacts can be appropriately managed and mitigated. 

 

Q9. Has the Planning Proposal adequately addressed any social and economic effects? 

This planning proposal provides an opportunity for the redevelopment of the site. As previously 
discussed, the redevelopment will allow for positive social and economic effects including 
increasing social and affordable housing in an area with an identified need for affordable housing. 

5.7. State and Commonwealth interests 

Q10. Is there adequate public infrastructure for the planning proposal? 

Yes. There is adequate public infrastructure to support the planning proposal. A Social 
Infrastructure Study and Traffic and Transport Assessment confirms there is adequate public 
infrastructure for the planning proposal. 

All utility services including electricity, telecommunications, water, sewer and stormwater are 
currently available on the site. If the site is redeveloped it is expected the developer will upgrade 
these services to support the proposed development.  

Q11. What are the views of state and Commonwealth public authorities consulted in accordance 
with the Gateway determination? 

The Gateway determination will advise the public authorities to be consulted as part of the planning 
proposal process. Any issues raised will be incorporated into this planning proposal following 
consultation in the public exhibition period. 

83



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

40 
 

 

84



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

41 
 

6. Mapping 
The planning proposal seeks to amend the following maps contained in Sydney LEP 2012: 

‒ Height of Buildings Map - Sheet HOB_008 
‒ Heritage Map – Sheet HER_008 

 

 

 

85



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

42 
 

7. Community consultation 
Public consultation will be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of the Gateway 
determination.  

It is proposed that, at a minimum, this will involve the notification of the public exhibition of the 
planning proposal on the City of Sydney website and in writing to the owners and occupiers of 
adjoining and nearby properties and relevant community groups.  

It is expected the planning proposal will be publicly exhibited for at least 28 days in accordance 
with section 5.5.2 of ‘A guide to preparing local environmental plans’.  

It is proposed that exhibition material will be made available on the City of Sydney website and at 
Town Hall House at 456 Kent Street, Sydney.  

Consultation with relevant NSW agencies and authorities and other relevant organisations will be 
undertaken in accordance with the Gateway determination. 

 

86



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

43 
 

8. Project Timeline 
The anticipated timeframe for the completion of the planning proposal is as follows: 
 

Stage Timeframe 

Gateway Determination September 2020 

Government agency consultation September 2020 

Public exhibition September/October 2020 

Consideration of submissions November/December 2020 

Post exhibition consideration of proposal February 2021 

Draft and finalise LEP March 2021 

LEP made April 2021 

Plan forwarded to Department of Planning, Industry and 
Environment for notification 

April 2021 

 
 

87



 Planning Proposal  
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

44 
 

9. Project timeline 
The anticipated timeframe for the completion of the planning proposal is as follows: 

Table 3: Proposed project timeline 

Stage Timeframe 

Commencement / Gateway Determination August 2020 

Government agency consultation August/September 2020 

Public exhibition August/September 2020 

Consideration of submissions October 2020 

Post exhibition consideration of proposal November/December 2020 

Draft and finalise LEP January 2021 

LEP made February 2021 

Plan forwarded to Department of Planning, 
Industry and Environment for notification 

February 2021 

 

 

 

 

88



   

Attachment C 

Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 

2012  

17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth 

Park Road, Glebe 

 

89



 

   

 

  

Draft Sydney 

Development 

Control Plan 

2012 
17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D 

Wentworth Park Road, Glebe 

July 2012 

   

90



Site Specific DCP | Cowper Street 3 

 

The purpose of this Development Control Plan  

The purpose of this plan is to amend Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 to insert site specific 

provisions to guide future development at 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, 

Glebe. 

Citation  

This plan may be referred to as Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012: 17-31 Cowper Street 

and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe. 

Land covered by this plan 

This plan applies to land identified as 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe, 

Lot 17 and 18 Deposited Plan 244897. 

Relationship of this plan to Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

This plan amends Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 in the manner set out below.  

Amendments to Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

This plan amends the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 by: 

1) Inserting a new section 6.3.X 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe, at 

the end of section 6.3 – ‘Specific site controls prepared as part of a Planning Proposal’, as shown 

at Appendix A. 

2) Amending St Phillips conservation area figure on page 2.6-10 of the Sydney Development Control 

Plan 2012, as shown at Appendix B. 

3) Amending Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 Building Contributions Map 008 as shown at 

Appendix C. 

4) Amending Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 Figure 2.1 as shown at Appendix D 

5) Updating figure numbers under Section 6 of the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 as 

required.  

  

91



Site Specific DCP | Cowper Street 4 

 

Appendix A 

6.3.X Development controls: 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park 

Road, Glebe 

The following objectives, future character statement and provisions apply to the site 17-31 Cowper 

Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe, as shown in Figure 6.1, where relevant site-specific 

provisions of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Sydney LEP 2012) are implemented. 

Clause 6.XX (new clause) of Sydney LEP 2012 enables development to exceed the floor space ratio 

shown on the floor space ratio map up to a prescribed amount, provided the entire site is developed 

for residential accommodation with ancillary community facilities and commercial premises at the 

ground level.  

All other relevant provisions in the DCP apply, except where they are inconsistent with these 

provisions. The provisions of this section prevail in the event of any inconsistency. 

Figure 6.1: Land Application (subject site outlined in red)  

 

Lot 18  
DP 244897 

Lot 17  
DP 244897 

92



Site Specific DCP | Cowper Street 5 

 

6.3.X.1 Desired Future Character Statement 

Objective 

The primary objective of the development controls for 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth 

Park Road, Glebe is to create development consistent with the following desired future character 

statement. 

Future Character Statement 

The future development has: 

(a) social and affordable housing occupying the northern lot 

(b) a non-residential use for social purposes on the northern lot 

(c) a rich landscape setting with substantial tree canopy cover 

(d) high levels of environmental performance including PV arrays that supply substantial energy, 

smart use of water and passive design features like external sun access and shading and natural 

cross ventilation suitable for Sydney’s climate 

(e) landscaped green roofs 

(f) building heights that transition from the heights of the conservation area to the west to the urban 

renewal land to the east 

(g) high quality apartment architecture using face brick and a series of new terraces fronting MJ 

Doherty Reserve 

6.3.X.2 Uses and flood protection 

Objectives 

(a) Provide non-residential uses fronting Wentworth Park Road and Cowper Street at ground level 

including for social, commercial, retail purposes and building lobbies and bike facilities 

(b) Provide substantial social housing fronting Wentworth Park 

Provisions 

(1) Non-residential ground floor uses are to be provided generally in accordance with Figure 6.2: 

Non-residential Ground Floor Uses and 6.3.X.2(2) and (3). 

(2) A non-residential use for social purposes with a minimum area of  165 square metres is to be 

provided with a frontage to Wentworth Park Road. 

(3) A commercial or retail space with a minimum area of 35 square metres is to be provided with a 

frontage to Cowper Street at the intersection with Wentworth Street. 

(4) Non-residential uses (for example, lobbies, bike facilities, commercial, retail, communal uses) are 

to be located on the ground level frontages shown grey and marked “C” in Figure 6.2. 

(5) Service and waste management areas should be protected from flooding by measures that may 

include flood barriers or flood resistant doors. 

  

93



Site Specific DCP | Cowper Street 6 

 

Figure 6.2: Community Facility and Non-residential Ground Floor Uses 

   

Figure 6.2 – Key 

A – indicative location of ground level non-residential use for a social purpose 

B – indicative location of ground level commercial or retail space 

C – Non-residential ground floor uses (for example, lobbies, bike facilities, commercial, retail and 

communal uses) 

94



Site Specific DCP | Cowper Street 7 

 

6.3.X.3 Local infrastructure 

Objectives 

(a) Ensure footpaths on Cowper Street meet NSW target widths 

(b) Provide footpath continuations across side streets and lanes 

(c) Convert Mitchell Lane East and Park Lane to pedestrian priority shared surfaces 

Provisions 

(1) Provide footpath widening and shared surfaces generally in accordance with Figure 6.3: 

Footpath widening and shared surfaces and 6.3.X.3(2) and (3). 

(2) The footpath on the western side of Cowper Street north of Park Lane is to be widened by 

providing a setback from the face of the kerb to ensure a clear footpath width of 2.9m (with a 

minimum of 2.3m extending for no more than 3m along the length of the street) consistent with 

the NSW Walking Space Guide, Type 2 footpath, target Level of Service C. The footpath 

widening is to include a footpath continuation across Park Lane. This land is to be dedicated to 

Council. 

(3) The footpath on the western side of Cowper Street between Park Lane and Wentworth Street is 

to be widened by 1.5 metres within the site boundary. This land is to be dedicated to Council. 

(4) Footpaths and Access Connections are to be finished in accordance with detailed public domain 

plans, RLs, cross and longitudinal sections and construction specifications to be supplied by the 

City of Sydney at development application stage. 

(5) Public domain works are to incorporate underground utilities within the street reservation as 

agreed with the City of Sydney and in a manner that facilitates retention of street trees and new 

planting.  

 

  

95



Site Specific DCP | Cowper Street 8 

 

Figure 6.3: Footpath widening and shared surfaces 

 

Figure 6.3 – Key 

A – Setback from the kerb to ensure a clear footpath width of 2.9m (with a minimum of 2.3m 

extending for no more than 3m along the length of the street) – NSW Walking Space Guide, Type 2 

footpath, target Level of Service C.  

B – 2.9-3.6m wide footpath continuation along Wentworth Park Road across Cowper Street (marked 

Pedestrian Crossing preferred) 

C – 1.5m footpath widening to Cowper Street within the site boundary, land dedicated to Council 

D – Convert Mitchell Lane East and Park Lane to pedestrian priority shared surfaces (and formal 

Shared Zone if permitted) 

Note: servicing is to be from Park Lane and a footpath crossover for vehicular access from Wentworth 

Street. The footpath is to be continuous across the vehicular access point. 

96



Site Specific DCP | Cowper Street 9 

 

6.3.X.4 Tree Canopy Cover, Landscape, Deep Soil, Vehicular Access, 

Loading and Servicing 

Objectives 

(a) Retain all surrounding street trees 

(b) Maximise tree canopy cover on site 

(c) Maximise deep soil provision on site  

(d) Minimise the impact of vehicular access and servicing on the public domain interface of the 

development 

(e) Ensure vehicular access points are not provided from Wentworth Park Road or Cowper Street 

(f) Ensure loading and servicing is provided at-grade from Park Lane 

(g) Ensure above ground services are not located in landscaped areas 

Provisions 

(1) All surrounding street trees must be retained. 

(2) The Spotted Gum tree in the south-west corner of the site must be retained. 

(3) If not re-used on site, the existing Kentia Palms must be transplanted to a nearby area of public 

domain identified by Council at the developer’s cost. 

(4) Landscape Areas must be provided in accordance with Figure 6.4: Landscape Areas. 

(5) Landscaped areas shown in Figure 6. must be provided as deep soil and be entirely occupied by 

tree canopy at 10 years from occupation certificate. No structures may encroach on the 

landscaped areas except access paths, ramps and stairs and external sun shading elements 

above the canopy of the trees at maturity. 

(6) Provide green roofs to provide tree canopy, amenity, improve microclimate conditions and create 

comfortable communal spaces. 

 

 

 

  

97



Site Specific DCP | Cowper Street 10 

 

Figure 6.4: Landscape Areas  

 

Figure 6.4 – Key 

Provide Landscape Areas: 

A – minimum area of 56sqm 

B – minimum 1.5m wide 

C – minimum 3.0m wide inclusive of a 1.5m wide footpath widening dedication to Council 

D – minimum area of 31sqm 

(7) A minimum of 8% of the total (combined) site area must be provided as deep soil as per 

6.3.X.4(5) 

(8) At least 18% of the total site area must be covered by tree canopy when trees reach maturity, 

demonstrated by a landscape plan prepared by a suitably qualified landscape architect.  

(9) Vehicular access and servicing is to be in accordance with Figure 6.5: Vehicular Access and 

servicing 

(10) One vehicular access point to the basement parking level may be provided from Wentworth 

Street. The footpath crossover must be minimised in width and not include kerb returns. 

98



Site Specific DCP | Cowper Street 11 

 

(11) Any parking provided in a basement up to the maximum number of spaces permitted in Sydney 

LEP 2012 will be deemed to be required parking for the purposes of determining Gross Floor 

Area. 

Figure 6.5: Vehicular Access and Servicing 

 

Figure 6.5 – Key 

A – Preferred location for vehicular access 

99



Site Specific DCP | Cowper Street 12 

 

B – Preferred location for servicing docks (vehicles to service from Park Lane)  

C – Frontages from which there must not be vehicular access or servicing 

6.3.X.5 Height of buildings  

Objectives 

(a) Minimise overshadowing of surrounding development 

(b) Minimise the building depth of residential flat buildings to maximise daylight and natural 

ventilation to habitable rooms 

(c) Ensure building separations and visual privacy meet Apartment Design Guide design criteria 

(d) Ensure all east and west facing rooms are provided with external sun shading 

Provisions 

(1) The height and location of development must not exceed the maximum heights above the Flood 

Planning Level (FPL) in storeys and RLs in Figure 6.6: Maximum Heights in Storeys and 

Figure 6.7: Maximum Height (RLs). For the purpose of this section any level of a building that 

has habitable areas and has a floor level above the FPL is a storey (including attics and 

mezzanines). 

(2) Above ground built elements may not extend into the white areas shown with an “A” in Figures 

6.6 or 6.7 except stairs, ramps, landscape structures, small decorative brick facade elements 

and non-trafficable external sun shading. 

Figure 6.6: Maximum Heights in Storeys 

 

Figure 6.6 – Key  

A – No built elements (see provision 2) 

100



Site Specific DCP | Cowper Street 13 

 

Black number followed by “st”– maximum height in storeys, extent shown as a grey area 

Areas noted as “+attic” may instead be 3 storey where the uppermost storey is set back at least 

3m from Mitchell Lane East 

Figure 6.7: Maximum Heights (RLs) 

 

Figure 6.7 – Key  

Dimensions: 

Maximum dimensions in metres shown as a red number 

Minimum dimensions in metres shown as a blue number 

Maximum height of development (RLs to AHD): 

A – RL0.0 (landscape structures only) 

B – RL9.5 

C – RL15.0 

D – RL31.6 

E – Height determined by protection of 2 hours sun to the living room window of apartment 

1.3.7 at 87 Bay Street on 21 June 

F1-5 – The arrangement of these setbacks in plan must ensure solar access to 87 Bay Street 

and 14-26 Cowper Street is maintained in accordance with the requirements of SEPP 65 and 

the Apartment Design Guide except as noted in this DCP 

G – RL33.6 

H – RL35.1 

101



Site Specific DCP | Cowper Street 14 

 

J – RL36.0 (note that the maximum height of habitable areas is RL31.6 

K1 – extends zone J by 1.75m to the west for a 12.9m wide zone 

K1 – extends zone J by 1.75m to the west for a 9.3m wide zone 

Figure 6.8: Illustrative east-west cross section 

 

6.3.X.6 Design Excellence 

Provisions 

A competitive design process that satisfies the requirements of Sydney LEP 2012 and Sydney DCP 

2012 has been undertaken for the site with the successful architectural practice being Johnson Pilton 

Walker (JPW). The detailed development application must be generally in accordance with the 

winning design as amended in the lodged planning proposal application. If the detailed development 

application is generally in accordance with the winning design as amended in the lodged planning 

proposal application, it will be unnecessary a competitive design process to be held in relation to the 

proposed development under Clause 6,21(6) of Sydney LEP 2012. 

The design must be further modified to respond to this DCP.  

6.3.X.7 Street trees  

Objective 

(a) Maximise retention of existing street trees 

Provisions 

(1) Existing street trees must be retained.  

  

102



Site Specific DCP | Cowper Street 15 

 

6.3.X.8 Overshadowing  

Objectives 

(a) Minimise overshadowing of adjacent development. 

Provisions 

(1) Overshadowing of apartment 1.3.07 at 87 Bay Street must ensure that it receives 2 hours of sun 

to its living room window on 21 June. 

(2) Overshadowing of apartment 1.2.10 at 87 Bay Street must be minimised consistent with the 

height envelope shown in this DCP. This may result in the apartment receiving less than 2 hours 

of sun to its living room on 21 June.  

(3) Overshadowing of neighboring single dwellings must not exceed that created by the building 

massing described in this DCP. 

6.3.X.9 Building Typologies, Visual Privacy and Pedestrian Entries 

Provisions 

(1) Social and affordable housing is to be of an equal or higher quality than any other housing 

provided as part of the overall development. Higher quality includes greater amenity of the 

dwellings with a greater proportion receiving natural cross ventilation and sun access; longer life 

construction; and, lower maintenance requirements. 

(2) Dwelling typologies, visual privacy and pedestrian entries must be in accordance with Figure 

6.9: Typologies, Visual Privacy and Pedestrian Entries. 

 

  

103



Site Specific DCP | Cowper Street 16 

 

Figure 6.9: Typologies, Visual Privacy and Pedestrian Entries 

 

Figure 6.9 – Key  

A – Terrace typology (2 storey plus attic or 3 storeys with upper level set back) 

B – Apartment building typology with decorative face brickwork 

C – Manage visual privacy across Park Lane by orienting the vision windows in the northern block to 

the east and west 

D – Manage visual and acoustic privacy between the terraces and apartments by orienting the 

terraces’ habitable rooms to the west facing the park 

E – Provide main pedestrian entries to apartment buildings from Cowper Street (provide alternative 

ramp access to both lobbies) 

F – Provide a secondary pedestrian entry from Wentworth Street 

G – Provide primary entry to the non-residential use for a social purpose from Wentworth Park Road 

including ramp access (this ramp is also to provide access to the residential lift lobby via the setback 

to Cowper Street). 

H – Provide individual entries to each terrace directly from Mitchell Lane East 

104



Site Specific DCP | Cowper Street 17 

 

6.3.X.11 Ecologically Sustainable Development 

Objectives 

(a) Minimise energy and water use and waste generation  

(b) Maximise on-site renewable energy generation, water re-use and waste recycling 

Provisions 

(1) Development must achieve the following minimum ratings:  

(a) All development 

 5-star Green Star Design and As-Built  

(b) Residential Development 

 Solar Panels on the roofs of all apartment buildings 

 exceed BASIX Water 40 

 strongly encourage the use of recycled water beyond irrigation 

(2) All development must have a combination of green roofs, 155sqm of roof-top solar PV (or no less 

than 35 kWp) and communal open space on rooftops. Other areas must be designed with high 

albedo qualities to reflect heat. 

(3) The site must be planned to minimise paved areas and maximise stormwater infiltration. All public 

access paving must be permeable except where accessibility requirements restrict it. 

(4) All development must be designed to maximise passive design approaches, including through 

provision of external sun access and shading to doors and windows except where tree canopy 

provides shading over an extended summer period, there is a projecting balcony overhang or the 

window to external wall ratio for the room behind is less than 20%. 

(5) The development must not include any gas infrastructure or systems.  

(6) All apartments must have access to external clothes drying facilities. 

(7) All parts of the development must include piping for use of recycled water in irrigation and the like. 

(8) Appropriately sized cupboards for the future provision of air conditioning units must be located on 

apartment balconies 

(9) Development must follow the guidance of the City of Sydney Guidelines for Waste Management 

in New Development. 

(10) Strongly encourage provision of ceiling fans in habitable rooms. 

 

  

105



Site Specific DCP | Cowper Street 18 

 

6.3.X.11 Heritage 

Objectives 

(a) To record and preserve the heritage values of the site 

Provisions 

(1) Prior to the demolition of any structures, an archival photographic recording must be completed. 

Ideally, this archival recording would include as built drawings or measured drawings plus a 

photographic record. 

(2) Prepare an Interpretation Strategy regarding the historic development of the area. 

(3) Any significant heritage fabric relating to the St Phillip’s Conservation area, such as the stone 

kerb along Mitchell Lane East must be conserved.  

(4) Retain the heritage trees adjacent to the site. 

(5) Where Aboriginal heritage items are identified through the Aboriginal Cultural Heritage 

Assessment Report (ACHAR), an Aboriginal Heritage Impact Permit will be required prior to any 

impact as a result of excavation or construction works. 

106



 

   

Appendix B 

 

  

107



Site Specific DCP | Cowper Street 20 

 

Appendix C 

108



 

   

 

Appendix D 

 

109



Attachment D 

Resolution of Council  

and Central Sydney Planning Committee 

 

 

110



27 July 2020

Item 8.5

Public Exhibition - Planning Proposal - 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D 
Wentworth Park Road, Glebe - Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
Amendment and Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012

It is resolved that:

(A) Council approve the Planning Proposal – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth 
Park Road, Glebe, shown at Attachment A to the subject report, for submission to the 
Department of Planning, Industry and Environment with a request for a Gateway 
Determination;

(B) Council approve the Planning Proposal – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth 
Park Road, Glebe, shown at Attachment A to the subject report for public authority 
consultation and public exhibition in accordance with any conditions imposed under 
the Gateway Determination; 

(C) Council seek authority from the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment to 
exercise the delegation of all functions of the relevant local plan making authority 
under Section 3.36 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 to make 
the local environmental plan to put into effect the Planning Proposal – 17-31 Cowper 
Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe;

(D) Council approve the draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 17-31 Cowper 
Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe shown at Attachment B to the subject 
report for public authority consultation and public exhibition together with the Planning 
Proposal;

(E) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor variations to 
Planning Proposal – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe, 
following receipt of the Gateway Determination; and 

111



(F) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor variations to 
Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D 
Wentworth Park Road, Glebe to correct any drafting errors or ensure it is consistent 
with the Planning Proposal following the Gateway Determination.

Carried unanimously.

X031277

112



23 July 2020

Item 9

Public Exhibition - Planning Proposal - 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D 
Wentworth Park Road, Glebe - Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
Amendment and Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012

Moved by the Chair (the Lord Mayor), seconded by Councillor Thalis -

It is resolved that:

(A) the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve the Planning Proposal – 17-31 
Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe, shown at Attachment A to the 
subject report, for submission to the Department of Planning, Industry and 
Environment with a request for a Gateway Determination;

(B) the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve the Planning Proposal – 17-31 
Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe, shown at Attachment A to the 
subject report for public authority consultation and public exhibition in accordance with 
any conditions imposed under the Gateway Determination; 

(C) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the recommendation to Council’s 
Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee on 20 July 2020 that Council seek 
authority from the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment to exercise the 
delegation of all functions of the relevant local plan making authority under Section 
3.36 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 to make the local 
environmental plan to put into effect the Planning Proposal – 17-31 Cowper Street and 
2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe;

(D) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the recommendation to Council’s 
Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee on 20 July 2020 that Council approve the 
draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D 
Wentworth Park Road, Glebe shown at Attachment B to the subject report for public 
authority consultation and public exhibition together with the Planning Proposal;

(E) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor variations to 
Planning Proposal – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe, 
following receipt of the Gateway Determination; and 

113



(F) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor variations to 
Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D 
Wentworth Park Road, Glebe to correct any drafting errors or ensure it is consistent 
with the Planning Proposal following the Gateway Determination.

Carried unanimously.

X031277

114



Attachment E 

Gateway Determination 

 

 

115



 

 
Gateway Determination 

 

Planning proposal (Department Ref: PP_2020_SYDNE_006_00): to amend 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 for the land at 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-
2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe.  
 
I, the Director, Eastern District (City of Sydney) at the Department of Planning, 
Industry and Environment, as delegate of the Minister for Planning and Public 
Spaces, have determined under section 3.34(2) of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act 1979 (the Act) that an amendment to the Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan (LEP) 2012 should proceed subject to the following conditions: 
 
1. Prior to community consultation the planning proposal is to be updated as 

follows: 
(a) remove the proposed clause requiring 100% of the total floor area for the 

northern site, used for the purposes of residential development, is used 
for social housing from the explanation of provisions; and  

(b) identify inconsistency with 9.1 Ministerial Direction 4.3 Flood Prone Land 
and 6.3 Site Specific Provision. 
 

2. Public exhibition is required under section 3.34(2)(c) and schedule 1 clause 4 of 
the Act as follows: 

(a) the planning proposal must be made publicly available for a minimum of 
28 days; and 

(b) the planning proposal authority must comply with the notice requirements 
for public exhibition of planning proposals and the specifications for material 
that must be made publicly available along with planning proposals as 
identified in section 6.5.2 of A guide to preparing local environmental plans 
(Department of Planning and Environment, 2018). 

 
3. Consultation is required with the following public authorities/organisations under 

section 3.34(2)(d) of the Act and/or to comply with the requirements of relevant 
section 9.1 Directions: 

 

• NSW Environment, Energy and Science; 

• Heritage NSW; 

• Transport for NSW; and 

• NSW Environment Protection Authority.  

 
Each public authority/organisation is to be provided with a copy of the planning 
proposal and any relevant supporting material and given at least 21 days to 
comment on the proposal. 

 

116



PP_2020_SYDNE_006_00 (IRF20/3864) 

4. A public hearing is not required to be held into the matter by any person or 
body under section 3.34(2)(e) of the Act. This does not discharge Council from 
any obligation it may otherwise have to conduct a public hearing (for example, 
in response to a submission or if reclassifying land). 

 
5. The planning proposal authority is authorised as the local plan-making authority 

to exercise the functions under section 3.36(2) of the Act subject to the following: 

(a) the planning proposal authority has satisfied all the conditions of the 
Gateway determination; 

(b) the planning proposal is consistent with section 9.1 Directions or the 
Secretary has agreed that any inconsistencies are justified; and  

(c) there are no outstanding written objections from public authorities. 

 

6. The time frame for completing the LEP is to be 12 months following the date of 
the Gateway determination. 

 
 

Dated    31st  day of     August 2020 
  

 
 
David McNamara 
Director, Eastern District (City of Sydney) 
Greater Sydney, Place and Infrastructure  
Department of Planning, Industry and 
Environment  
 
Delegate of the Minister for Planning and 
Public Spaces 

 

 

 

117



 
 

PP_2020_SYDNE_006_00/(IRF20/4722) 
 

Alteration of Gateway Determination  
 

Planning proposal (Department Ref: PP_2020_SYDNE_006_00)  
 

I, Director, Eastern District (City of Sydney) at the Department of Planning, Industry 
and Environment, as delegate of the Minister for Planning and Public Spaces, have 
determined under section 3.34(7) of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 
1979 to alter the Gateway determination dated 31 August 2020 for the proposed 
amendment to the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 as follows: 
 
 

1. Delete: 
 
condition 1(a) ‘remove the proposed clause requiring 100% of the total floor 
area for the northern site, used for the purposes of residential development, is 
used for social housing from the explanation of provisions.’  

 
 

 
 

Dated        14th day of           October 2020 
 

14.10.2020 
David McNamara  
Director, Eastern District (City of Sydney) 
Greater Sydney, Place and Infrastructure  
Department of Planning, Industry and 
Environment 
 
Delegate of the Minister for Planning and 
Public Spaces  
 
 

 

 

118



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Post Exhibition – Planning Proposal – 4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills – 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 Amendment and Draft Sydney 
Development Control Plan 2012 

File No: X018846 

Summary  

Surry Hills' character as a diverse mixed-use neighbourhood with a variety of building types 
and scales and its proximity to Central Sydney continues to drive demand for business and 
visitor accommodation floor space. Sydney's competitive position will continue to rely on 
sustainably and appropriately accommodating growing enterprise and tourism related 
businesses in highly accessible and strategic locations. This is especially the case in a post-
Covid-19 environment where businesses need support to adapt to changing economic 
conditions. 

This planning proposal will facilitate the delivery of strategically important employment and 
visitor accommodation floor space on the edge of Central Sydney in Surry Hills. It will 
encourage the growth of creative and knowledge intensive industries and strengthening the 
economic role of the Harbour CBD strategic centre. It encourages the suitable adaptive 
reuse and extension of heritage buildings in a way that provides strong definition to 
Wentworth Avenue, marks the eastern entry to Central Sydney whilst transitioning and 
maintaining appropriate solar access to lower scale residential properties to the sites east. 

The planning proposal for 4-22 Wentworth Avenue was endorsed by Council and the Central 
Sydney Planning Committee in December 2019 to include the southern half of the block at 
24-44 Wentworth Avenue as part of a revised planning proposal. 

For 4-22 Wentworth Avenue, the proposal sort to increase the maximum height and FSR in 
the Sydney LEP 2012 for the purpose of hotel accommodation. For 24-44 Wentworth 
Avenue, the proposal sought to increase the maximum height in the Sydney LEP 2012 for 
the purpose of commercial premises, health services facilities, educational establishments, 
hotel accommodation, entertainment premises, light industry or information and education 
facilities. 

The proposal also included an amendment to Sydney DCP 2012 with controls relating to 
built form, heritage conservation, design excellence, amenity requirements and 
sustainability. 

The proposal was granted Gateway determination on 22 June 2020. The planning proposal, 
draft DCP and other supporting documents were then publicly exhibited from 24 November 
2020 to 29 January 2021. Ten community submissions were received in response, two from 
public authorities and one from the proponent. 

  

1

Item 5.



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

The majority of community objections related to overshadowing, amenity, parking, traffic and 
noise impacts. These issues are discussed in detail in this report with a summary of and 
responses to all matters raised in submissions provided at Attachment C. 

The proponent's submission requested a broadening of the incentivised uses for 4-22 
Wentworth Avenue to match those incentivised for 24-44 Wentworth Avenue, including 
residential accommodation. This request was made in response to Covid-19 and its impact 
on the viability of a larger hotel. The City has accepted the proponent's justification and 
amended the planning proposal and draft DCP to broaden the business uses permitted at 4-
22 Wentworth Avenue, with the exception of incentivising residential accommodation. There 
is not considered to be sufficient strategic merit in incentivising residential accommodation 
for the site in line with the City's Local Strategic Planning Statement and the Eastern City 
District Plan. 

This report recommends approving the planning proposal as shown at Attachment A so that 
it may be forwarded to the Department of Planning Industry and Environment for making as 
a local environmental plan. It also recommends Council approve the draft DCP as amended 
at Attachment B. The site-specific DCP will come into effect at the same time as the LEP is 
published. 

  

2



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council note matters raised in response to the public exhibition of Planning Proposal – 
4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills and draft Development Control Plan – 4-44 
Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills, as detailed in this report and as shown in Attachment 
C to the subject report; 

(B) Council approve Planning Proposal – 4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills with 
amendments in response to submissions, as shown in Attachment A to the subject 
report, to be made as a local environmental plan under S3.36 of the Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Act 1979;  

(C) Council approve the draft Development Control Plan – 4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry 
Hills with amendments in response to submissions, as shown at Attachment B to the 
subject report, noting that it will come into effect on the date of publication of the 
subject local environmental plan, in accordance with Clause 21 of the Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000; and 

(D) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make minor amendments to 
the Planning Proposal – 4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills and draft Development 
Control Plan – 4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills to correct any minor errors or 
omissions prior to finalisation 

Attachments 

Attachment A. Planning Proposal – 4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

Attachment B. Draft Development Control Plan – 4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

Attachment C. Summary of and Responses to Matters Raised in Submissions 

Attachment D. Resolution of Council and Central Sydney Planning Committee 

Attachment E. Gateway Determination  

3



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Background 

1. This report seeks Council's approval of the amended planning proposal at Attachment 
A. The planning proposal is to amend the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
(LEP) as it relates to 4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills (the site).  

2. The report also seeks Council's approval of the amended draft Development Control 
Plan (DCP) at Attachment B for 4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills. 

3. In July 2018, the landowner submitted a planning proposal request to the City of 
Sydney for 4-22 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills. The request sought to amend the 
Sydney LEP 2012 to increase the maximum building height control from the current 18 
metres and 22 metres to a height of RL 100.57, or around 70m, and to increase the 
maximum floor space ratio to 6.3:1 for the site for the purpose of hotel or motel 
accommodation only. 

4. In August 2019, Council deferred the determination of the planning proposal to 
investigate an amended planning proposal and draft development control plan for the 
whole street block of 4-44 Wentworth Avenue.  

5. In response to an urban design analysis conducted by the City, in December 2019 
Council and the Central Sydney Planning Committee (CSPC) approved an amended 
planning proposal for 4-44 Wentworth Avenue for submission to the Department of 
Planning, Infrastructure and Environment (DPIE) with a request for Gateway 
determination, and for public exhibition. 

6. For 4-22 Wentworth Avenue, the proposal sought to increase the maximum height and 
FSR in the Sydney LEP 2012 for the purpose of hotel accommodation only. For 24-44 
Wentworth Avenue, the proposal sought to increase the maximum height in the 
Sydney LEP 2012 for the purpose of commercial premises, health services facilities, 
educational establishments, hotel accommodation, entertainment premises, light 
industry or information and education facilities. 

7. The DPIE granted Gateway determination on 22 June 2020. The Gateway 
determination is shown at Attachment E. The planning proposal and draft DCP were 
then publicly exhibited from 24 November 2020 to 29 January 2021. Ten community 
submissions were received in response, two from public authorities and one from the 
proponent. 

8. This report describes the outcomes of public exhibition, and the changes made to the 
planning proposal and DCP in response to submissions. 

Site Details and Context 

9. The site is in Surry Hills on the City fringe, just outside the boundary for Central 
Sydney. It consists of 11 lots with frontages to Wentworth Avenue to the west, 
Wemyss Lane to the east and Goulburn street to the west. The site is located within 
200m to Museum station and under 650m to Central. It also is within 100m proximity to 
Hyde Park to the north and under 100m to Harmony Park to the south.  

10. Existing development consists of heritage buildings constructed between 1915 and 
1921 most of which are local group heritage items. These buildings range up to 11 
storeys in height and used for a range of uses including hotel, offices, business, 
entertainment and retail premises. Neighbouring sites include a diverse range of 
residential and commercial uses, including the Belvedere and Meta apartments on 
Goulburn street.  

4



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Current planning controls 

11. The current planning controls applying to the site under the LEP are: 

(a) Land zoning: B4 Mixed Use Zone, which permits the proposed uses 

(b) Height of Buildings: 

22m at 4-6 Wentworth Avenue 

18m at 8-44 Wentworth Avenue 

(c) Floor Space Ratio (FSR): 

6:1 at 4-6 Wentworth Avenue 

5:1 at 8-44 Wentworth Avenue.  

12. The site is a listed local heritage item (I2271). 

Exhibited LEP controls  

13. The exhibited planning proposal sort to amend the LEP for 4-22 Wentworth Avenue to: 

(a) Insert provisions in Division 5 Site Specific Provisions to increase the maximum 
building height controls from 22m at 4-6 Wentworth Avenue to a maximum RL 92.59 
(or around 62m) and from 18m at 8-22 Wentworth Avenue to RL 50.00 (or around 
24m) if the entire site was developed for ‘hotel or motel accommodation’;  

(b) Insert provisions in Division 5 Site Specific Provisions to increase the maximum FSR 
control from 6:1 and 5:1 (5.22:1 average) to 5.7:1 across 4-22 Wentworth Avenue for 
‘hotel or motel accommodation’ only, in spite of Clause 4.4 of the LEP. The proposal 
may be eligible for up to 10% additional floor space subject to achieving design 
excellence. This represents a maximum FSR of 6.3:1;  

(c) Insert a new site-specific subclause in clause 6.21 specifying that development on 
the site demonstrating design excellence cannot obtain additional height; and  

(d) Insert a new site-specific subclause in clause 4.6 specifying that the clause does not 
allow development on the site to contravene the maximum building height 
development standard.  

14. The exhibited planning proposal sort to amend the LEP for 24-44 Wentworth Avenue 
to: 

(a) Insert provisions in Division 5 Site Specific Provisions to increase the maximum 
building height controls from 18m at 24, 26-28, 30-32, 34 and 36-38 Wentworth 
Avenue to RL 50 (between 24.5m and 28m as the site slopes down from north to 
south) and from 18m at 40 Wentworth Avenue (part of 40-44 Wentworth Avenue) to 
RL 44.26 (around 22m) if the sites are developed for commercial premises, health 
services facilities, educational establishments, hotel accommodation, entertainment 
premises, light industry or information and education facilities in spite of Clause 4.3 of 
the LEP; and 

(b) Insert a new site-specific subclause in clause 4.6 specifying that the clause does not 
allow development on the site to contravene the maximum building height 
development standard. 

5



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Exhibited DCP controls  

15. The exhibited material also included an amendment to the Sydney Development 
Control Plan 2012 to include site-specific controls to guide design of the entire block at 
4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills. The controls address built form, heritage 
conservation, site servicing, sustainability and a design excellence strategy. These 
controls will help to ensure the benefits of the increased maximum building height and 
FSR are realised and impacts are appropriately managed. 

Outcomes of public exhibition and public authority consultation 

16. The planning proposal, draft DCP and other supporting documents were publicly 
exhibited from 24 November 2020 to 29 January 2021. 

17. Letters were sent to owners and occupiers within approximately a 100 metre radius of 
the subject site. Two public agencies were also consulted as required by the Gateway 
determination. Notification of the public exhibition was advertised on the Sydney Your 
Say website.  

18. The City received a total of 13 written submissions. These included ten from residents, 
two public authority responses from Transport for NSW and Heritage Council of NSW 
and one submission from the proponent.  

19. The submissions raised issues concerning amenity as a result of the increase in 
height. There was also a submission in support of the strategic intent of the proposal. 
Further, the proponent's submission seeks to resolve a minor administrative error to 
the FSR and broaden the range of uses for 4-22 Wentworth Avenue to be consistent 
with 24-44 Wentworth Avenue.  

20. Transport for NSW expressed servicing suggestions for any future development 
application and Heritage Council supported the proposal with respect to the site's 
historical context. 

21. A detailed summary of and responses to matters raised in submissions is provided at 
Attachment C and the key public issues raised in objection to the proposal are also 
addressed below.  

Proponent submission 

22. As a result of the pandemic, the landowner, Pongrass Properties Pty Ltd, has noted a 
reduced demand in large hotel accommodation and therefore reduced viability of large 
format hotels. This impacts their proposal as the current proposal seeks to incentivise 
only hotel or motel accommodation of 4-22 Wentworth Avenue.   

23. They seek to expand the range of employment generating land uses permitted at 4-22 
Wentworth Avenue in line with those sort for 24-44 Wentworth Avenue. They have 
stated that incorporating a diversity of uses in the building will improve the viability of 
the project. The proponent has also sort to introduce residential as an incentivised use.  

  

6



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

24. The City has considered this request based on the strategic intent and land use 
outcomes of this proposal. It is considered that incentivising residential misaligns from 
the original strategic intent of this proposal and the broader visions, priorities and 
actions of the City and Greater Sydney Commission to incentivise development in the 
Harbour CBD for the purpose of employment, entertainment and business uses. The 
City's Local Strategic Planning Statement found that there is sufficient capacity to 
deliver the City's residential targets to 2036. However, to meet employment targets the 
planning statement has priorities to encourage employment and economic activity 
generating development, particularly in the Harbour CBD. The request to encourage 
residential development through additional FSR and height is not supported. 
Residential uses may be developed under the current controls. 

25. Broadening the uses at 4-22 Wentworth Avenue for business related uses is 
consistent with 24-44 Wentworth Avenue aligns with the stated intended outcomes of 
the proposal and the priorities actions of the City's Local Strategic Planning Statement 
and the Greater Sydney Commission's Eastern City District Plan. The planning 
proposal has been amended to enable the additional FSR to be awarded for a range of 
strategic business uses. 

26. The landowner has also noted a minor drafting error with the exhibited materials, 
where a  suggested a maximum FSR of 5.6:1 at 4-22 Wentworth Avenue was included 
in the planning proposal. A maximum FSR of 5.7:1 was supported by Council in 
December 2019 and as such this drafting error has been corrected. 

Overshadowing and amenity 

27. Seven submissions, including three of which are from residents living at the nearby 
Meta Apartments raised concern over the proposed height increase, creating a 
shadow and loss of sunlight to the subject apartments.   

28. Some submissions also questioned the impact of solar access on other times of the 
year. This is as the exhibited material primarily referenced solar testing for the site 
conducted on 21 June winter solstice.   

29. Extensive overshadowing analysis has been completed by the City as shown in the 
City's reports to Council in August and December 2019 and in the draft DCP. 

30. The maximum building envelope for the block has been determined by overshadowing 
requirements. The proposed building envelope will cause minor additional 
overshadowing to residential apartment buildings located to the east of the site. The 
proposal has been extensively reviewed and revised considerably to ensure the 
additional overshadowing is acceptable and complies with the design criteria of the 
Apartment Design Guide (ADG).  

31. The exhibited material references 21 June winter solstice to meet industry standards to 
determine the minimum duration of sun a residential development can receive over the 
course of the year. Testing at 21 June winter solstice ensures the worst case 
overshading scenario is tested. 

  

7



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

32. The revisions to the proposed maximum building envelope minimise overshadowing to 
neighbouring properties. Specifically, the envelope ensures that, in accordance with 
Objective 3B-2 of the ADG, neighbouring properties that do not currently receive the 
required hours of solar access do not have their solar access reduced by more than 20 
per cent. The impact of the proposed maximum building envelope on surrounding 
properties’ solar access is therefore considered to be within acceptable limits and the 
Department of Planning, Industry and Environment's standards for residential 
development. To ensure the proposal does not result in adverse overshadowing 
impacts, a provision has been included in the site-specific DCP to ensure that the 
development achieves compliance with the solar access design criteria stipulated in 
the ADG. 

33. Overshadowing will also be considered under future development applications where 
proposed buildings can be further shaped to reduce overshadowing impacts, where 
reasonable. 

Parking and traffic 

34. Seven submissions raised concern over the traffic implications of loading, delivery and 
car parking to be accessed through the adjacent, narrow Wemyss Lane.  

35. With an increase in proposed rooms for the site, the submissions argue that the traffic 
assessment is presumptive if it deems the increase in traffic minor.  

36. Additionally, they stated that the report lacks a plan to mitigate traffic impacts.   

37. A traffic, transport and parking study prepared by ARUP was submitted in support of 
the proposal and placed on public exhibition. The study concluded that the traffic 
generated by the proposed development to the surrounding road network would have 
a negligible impact on road network operation. This view was supported by the City’s 
Transport Planner who identified broad support for the proposal in relation to potential 
traffic, transport and parking impacts when considering the block as a whole. 

38. Whilst there may be need of additional bicycle parking, end of trip facilities and loading 
and servicing vehicle spaces, these can be assessed and determined in the detailed 
design and development applications.  

39. Further it is noted that the draft DCP for this proposal, has site specific controls to 
manage any associated traffic impacts, including the location of vehicle entries and 
servicing at Wemyss Lane. This includes a 'transport management plan' to be 
submitted for any hotel development, which sets out management strategies for pick 
up and drop off, bus/coach parking and pedestrian safety.  

Noise 

40. Four submissions noted a significant increase in noise due to associated rubbish 
collection, service delivery and guest parking inclusions as part of the proposal. This 
includes an impact to residents in Meta B or Meta G apartments facing Wemyss Lane 
with possibility for a reverberation of sound. It was noted that a noise assessment 
wasn't conducted as part of the proposal.  

  

8



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

41. The City notes the proposal for 4-44 Wentworth Avenue is within a dense and highly 
urbanised precinct that has several residential and mixed-use developments in its 
vicinity. The area has and will continue to evolve to be subject to associated 
acceptable noise impacts that are permissible for commercial, entertainment, and 
residential uses under a B4 Mixed Use Zone. Detailed plans to manage servicing and 
waste will be considered in the development applications. 

Heritage and local character 

42. One submission raised that an increase in height controls to historic buildings such as 
Hotel Harry's will detract from the area.  

43. The aim of the proposal at 4-44 Wentworth Avenue is to encourage development that 
revitalises the area and provides social and economic benefits. By encouraging a mix 
of active and economic generating uses and allowing architectural flexibility and the 
adaptive reuse of heritage items, the proposal will contribute to the strategic priorities 
for the Harbour CBD as an attractive place for business, enterprise and visitors.  

Planning controls and business case 

44. Two submissions raised that if current businesses can't operate within existing 
planning controls, then a problem may be in the business case. One of them also 
questioned the justification for including 24-44 Wentworth Avenue as the proposed 
changes will impact amenity, reduce appeal and value of nearby residential properties. 
It was also stated that despite the DCP objective being to activate Wentworth Avenue, 
no building use or design will activate this environment due to increased roadways in 
the city.  

45. The proposal will facilitate the delivery of strategically important employment and 
visitor accommodation floor space in Surry Hills, encouraging the growth of creative 
and knowledge intensive industries and strengthening the economic role of the 
Harbour CBD strategic centre. It encourages the suitable adaptive reuse and 
extension of heritage buildings in a way that provides strong definition and activation to 
Wentworth Avenue, marks the eastern entry to Central Sydney whilst transitioning and 
maintaining appropriate solar access to lower scale residential properties to the east. 

46. Sydney's competitiveness will continue to rely on sustainably and appropriately 
accommodating growing enterprise and tourism related businesses in highly 
accessible and strategic locations. This is especially the case in a post-Covid-19 
environment where businesses need support to adapt to changing economic 
conditions. 

Economic viability 

47. One submission was provided in support of the proposal as an opportunity to make a 
hotel more commercially viable, whilst being essential to the revitalisation of an area 
which currently has little activity. The submission also expressed the proposal is 
consistent to surrounding uses and hotels.  

Transport for NSW 

48. Transport for NSW noted recommendations to minimise constraints on Wemyss Lane. 
These included minimising vehicular conflict points, locating vehicular movements 
wholly within the subject site and providing onsite coach parking to reduce reliance on 
bays in the nearby area.  

9



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

49. The recommendations can be incorporated within a 'transport management plan', 
which is required for any hotel development on the site as per the proposed DCP 
amendment. This is sufficient in order to mitigate any adverse traffic or parking 
constraints within the area.   

Heritage NSW 

50. Heritage NSW expressed support for the proposal and affirmed the DCP provides a 
strong approach to the adaptive reuse of the site with respect to its local context and 
history.  

Post exhibition changes 

51. Following consideration of submissions by the community, landowner and public 
authorities, the City has amended the Planning Proposal to account for a minor error to 
the exhibited FSR and broaden the land uses that can be awarded additional height 
and FSR at 4-22 Wentworth Avenue.  

52. The City has amended the minor error to the approved FSR for 4-22 Wentworth 
Avenue. It will now read 5.7:1 instead of 5.6:1 in the Planning Proposal. 

53. Further the City has amended LEP and DCP clauses and objectives as part of this 
proposal to broaden the uses permitted at 4-22 Wentworth Avenue to be consistent 
with 24-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills.  

54. The clauses and objectives will now read to enable development to exceed height and 
floor space ratios on 4-22 Wentworth Avenue provided the entire site is developed for 
'commercial premises, health services facilities, educational establishments, 
entertainment premises, light industry, hotel accommodation or information and 
education facilities'. This will replace its proposed use for hotel or motel 
accommodation only.  

55. These changes are shown in detail in underline or strike through at Attachment A and 
B of this report.  

Key Implications 

Strategic Alignment - Eastern City District Plan 

56. The Eastern City District Plan sets out the NSW Government’s vision, priorities and 
actions for the Eastern District, including the City of Sydney. It establishes a 40 year 
vision for the Eastern District to be a global sustainability leader, managing growth 
while maintaining and enhancing liveability, productivity and attractiveness for 
residents and visitors. Priorities and associated actions for productivity, liveability and 
sustainability seek to deliver this vision.  

57. The Planning Proposal is consistent with the following priorities of the Plan: 

(a) Productivity Priority E7 – Growing a stronger and more competitive Harbour CBD 

(b) Productivity Priority E13 – Supporting growth of targeted industry sectors  

10



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

(c) Sustainability Priority E19 – Reducing carbon emissions and managing energy, water 
and waste efficiently 

Strategic Alignment - Sustainable Sydney 2030 

58. Sustainable Sydney 2030 is a vision for the sustainable development of the City to 
2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of the City, as 
well as 10 targets against which to measure progress. This proposal is aligned with the 
following strategic directions and objectives: 

(a) Direction 1 - A Globally Competitive and Innovative City - The planning proposal is 
consistent with the City's adopted Tourism Action Plan (2013) and Visitor 
Accommodation Action Plan (2015). This planning proposal will facilitate 
redevelopment of the site for a future mixed-use hotel, delivering needed mid-range 
visitor accommodation and supporting Sydney’s visitor economy. It will also offer 
employment opportunities.  

(b) Direction 2 provides a road map for the City to become A Leading Environmental 
Performer - Redevelopment of the site, facilitated by this Planning Proposal and 
through the design excellence process, will deliver new building stock with 
significantly better environmental performance than the current development through 
extensive sustainability provisions detailed in the Draft DCP. 

(c) Direction 3 - Integrated Transport for a Connected City - The site is close to bus 
services providing connections to Central Sydney and other areas in the Sydney 
metropolitan area. It is also close to the future South East Light Rail Line, expected to 
be completed in 2019. A new light rail stop will be located about 500 metres to the 
north of the site. This new light rail line will connect Circular Quay to Randwick and 
Kingsford. 

Strategic Alignment - Local Strategic Planning Statement 

59. The City of Sydney’s Local Strategic Planning Statement sets out the land use 
planning context, 20 year vision and planning priorities to positively guide change 
towards the City’s vision for a green, global and connected city. 

60. This planning proposal gives effect to the following planning priorities of the Statement: 

(a) Productivity 

P2 – Developing innovative and diverse business clusters in the City Fringe 

(b) Sustainability 

S2 – Creating better buildings and places to reduce emissions and waste and use 
water efficiently 

Relevant Legislation 

61. Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 

62. Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000.  

11



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Critical Dates / Time Frames 

63. The Gateway determination requires the amendment to Sydney LEP 2012 to be 
completed by 22 June 2021. 

64. If approved by Council and the CSPC, the City will submit the planning proposal to 
DPIE to commence the drafting and plan making process. Once completed, the 
amendment to Sydney LEP 2012 will come into effect when published on the NSW 
legislation website. 

65. If approved by Council the amendment to Sydney DCP 2012 will come into effect on 
the same day as the LEP. 

GRAHAM JAHN, AM 

Director City Planning, Development and Transport 

Inaara Jindani, Cadet Planner 

Tim Wise, Manager Planning Policy 

12



Attachment A 

Planning Proposal 

4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

 

13



 

 
 

Planning Proposal –  
4-44 Wentworth 
Avenue, Surry Hills 
Amendment to Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 

September 2020 

 

14



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

2 

Contents 

Executive summary 3 

1. Site identification 7 

2. Existing planning controls 20 

3. Objectives and intended outcomes 25 

4. Explanation of provisions 26 

5. Justification 27 

 

 

15



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

3 

Insertions or deletions in strikethrough or underline  

16



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

4 

Executive summary 
The City of Sydney (the City) has prepared this Planning Proposal to change the planning 

controls for the land at 4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills (the site). 

This Planning Proposal explains the intent of and justification for proposed amendments to 

the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (LEP) as it applies to the site. This Planning 

Proposal has been prepared by the City in accordance with Section 3.33 of the 

Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 and the Department of Planning and 

Environment’s ‘A guide to preparing planning proposals’ and ‘A guide to preparing local 

environmental plans.’ 

The site consists of a whole street block of 11 lots totalling approximately 2,739 square 

metres in area. The street block is bounded by Wentworth Avenue to the west, Wemyss 

Lane to the north and east, and Goulburn Street to the south. Existing development on the 

site includes a hotel, convenience store, nightclub, commercial offices, business and retail 

premises, a gym and a pub.  

Much of the site belongs to a group heritage listing under Schedule 5 of the LEP, known as 

‘former warehouse group including interiors’ (I2271). The listing includes nine warehouse 

buildings at 4-34 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills. Part of 40-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry 

Hills, is also a locally listed heritage item (I1647) known as ‘Macquarie Hotel including 

interior’. The only individual lot in the street block that is not heritage listed is number 36-38 

Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills.  

Under existing LEP controls, the site is zoned B4 Mixed Use. No. 4-6 Wentworth Avenue 

has a maximum building height of 22m and a maximum floor space ratio (FSR) of 6:1. No’s 

8-44 Wentworth Avenue have a maximum building height of 18m and a maximum FSR of 

5:1. The site’s B4 Mixed Use zone permits hotel and commercial uses on the site.  

The original intent of the Planning Proposal iwas to encourage development of hotel and 

motel accommodation at 4-22 Wentworth Avenue and a broader set of productive 

employment uses at 24-44 Wentworth Avenue. This split in strategic intent is reflective of 

how the site’s planning proposal history has evolved (see Section 2.5 and 2.66).  However, 

as a result of COVID-19 a submission from the landowner seeks to broaden the intent of 

the proposal to also permit productive employment uses at 4-22 Wentworth Avenue 

consistent with that incentivised for 24-44 Wentworth Avenue. The proposed built form 

envelope responds to heritage and neighbouring amenity by redistributing existing 

permitted floor space plus providing an incentive for design excellence with additional floor 

space. 

For 4-22 Wentworth Avenue, the amended Planning Proposal is to amend the LEP to: 

 Insert provisions in Division 5 Site Specific Provisions to increase the maximum building 
height controls from 22m at 4-6 Wentworth Avenue to a maximum RL 92.59 (or around 
62m) and from 18m at 8-22 Wentworth Avenue to RL 50.00 (or around 24m) if the 
entire site is developed for commercial premises, health services facilities, educational 
establishments, hotel or motel accommodation, entertainment premises, light industry 
and information or education facilities ‘hotel or motel accommodation’. 

17



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

5 

 Insert provisions in Division 5 Site Specific Provisions to increase the maximum FSR 
control from 6:1 and 5:1 (5.22:1 average) to 5.6:1 5.7:1 across 4-22 Wentworth Avenue 
for commercial premises, health services facilities, educational establishments, hotel or 
motel accommodation, entertainment premises, light industry and information or 
education facilities, in spite of Clause 4.4 of the LEP. The proposal may be eligible for 
up to 10% additional floor space subject to achieving design excellence. This 
represents a maximum FSR of 6.15:1 6.3:1. 

 Insert a new site-specific subclause in clause 6.21 specifying that development on the 
site demonstrating design excellence cannot obtain additional height. 

 Insert a new site-specific subclause in clause 4.6 specifying that the clause does not 
allow development on the site to contravene the maximum building height development 
standard. 

For 24-44 Wentworth Avenue, the Planning Proposal is to amend the LEP to: 

 Insert provisions in Division 5 Site Specific Provisions to increase the maximum building 
height controls from 18m at 24, 26-28, 30-32, 34 and 36-38 Wentworth Avenue to RL 
50 (between 24.5m and 28m as the site slopes down from north to south) and from 18m 
at 40 Wentworth Avenue (part of 40-44 Wentworth Avenue) to RL 44.26 (around 22m) if 
the sites are developed for commercial premises, health services facilities, educational 
establishments, hotel accommodation, entertainment premises, light industry and 
information and education facilities in spite of Clause 4.3 of the LEP. 

 Insert a new site-specific subclause in clause 4.6 specifying that the clause does not 
allow development on the site to contravene the maximum building height development 
standard. 

The Planning Proposal does not seek to change building height or FSR controls for 4-2244 

Wentworth Avenue for types of development other than hotel or motel accommodation, 

other than for uses listed above. The existing zoning for the street block will be retained. 

Development envisaged for 4-22 Wentworth Avenue under the Planning Proposal is for a 

hotel development comprising about 7,500 square metres of gross floor area dedicated to a 

mixed use hotel or motel accommodation use, with a restaurant at ground floor as well as a 

basement level featuring bicycle and motorbike parking and end of trip facilities. 

The Planning Proposal to increase the maximum building height across the street block 

allows for the existing permitted floor space to be achieved and the increase to the 

maximum floor space ratio for the northern half of the block facilitates a mixed use hotel or 

motel development accommodation to meet strategic needs. Encouraging the hotel use 

through the provision of additional height and floor space is consistent with the City’s 

‘Visitor Accommodation Action Plan’ (2015). The Plan seeks to enhance tourism 

infrastructure, including facilitating new hotels and accommodation opportunities. 

The Planning Proposal assists the City in achieving the objectives of the NSW 

Government’s Eastern City District Plan. In particular, the Planning Proposal will allow the 

provision of a new hotel development that will assist with diversifying the hotel market and 

meeting visitor demand. The proposal is consistent with Planning Priority E7 – ‘Growing a 

stronger and more competitive Harbour CBD’ and Planning Priority E13 – ‘Supporting 

growth of targeted industry sectors’ of the Eastern City District Plan, as it supports the 

Harbour CBD’s entertainment, cultural, tourist and conference assets and status as one of 

the world’s premier tourism and major events destinations through the delivery of a new 

hotel development, directly contributing to Sydney’s visitor economy which attract millions 

of domestic and international visitors each year. The Planning Proposal facilitates the 

supply of new tourist and visitor accommodation in a mixed use scheme which will result in 

additional full time employment opportunities (from 62 to 118 jobs), as well as increasing 

Sydney’s accommodation stock.  

Development envisaged for 24-44 Wentworth Avenue under the Planning Proposal aims to 

encourage development that will revitalise the area and support the city fringe precinct. The 

proposed increased building height will provide an appropriate transition in height from the 

18



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

6 

tower at the northernmost end of the site, down to the heritage listed pub at the 

southernmost end of the site, whilst encouraging a suite of strategic uses. The proposed 

controls allow for architectural flexibility and the adaptive reuse of heritage items whilst 

minimising overshadowing impacts to nearby residential properties. The increased building 

height for the southern half of the street block allows the sites at 24-44 Wentworth Avenue 

to unlock and achieve existing floor space available under current FSR controls.  

The City has prepared a draft site-specific amendment to Sydney Development Control 
Plan 2012 (the draft DCP) to help ensure the objectives and intended outcomes of this 
Planning Proposal are achieved. The draft DCP controls create site-specific controls 
relating to the built form of the proposed development, heritage conservation, design 
excellence, amenity requirements and sustainability. 

The City intends to publicly exhibit this Planning Proposal concurrently with the draft DCP. 

19



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

7 

1. Site identification 

1.1. Site identification 
The site comprises eleven separate lots as follows: 

– Lot 42 DP 6534 and Lot 43 DP 6534, known as 4-6 Wentworth Avenue 

– Lot 44 DP 6534, known as 8 Wentworth Avenue 

– Lot 45 DP 6534 and Lot 46 DP6534, known as 10-12 Wentworth Avenue 

– Lot 47 DP 6534, known as 14 Wentworth Avenue 

– Lot 48 DP 6534, Lot 49 DP 6534, Lot 50 6534 and Lot 51 DP 6534, known as 16-22 
Wentworth Avenue 

– Lot 52 DP 6534, known as 24 Wentworth Avenue 

– Lot 53 DP 6534 and Lot 54 DP 6534, known as 26-28 Wentworth Avenue 

– Lot 55 DP 6534 and Lot 56 DP6534, known as 30-32 Wentworth Avenue 

– Lot 57 DP 6534, known as 34 Wentworth Avenue 

– Lot 58 DP 6534 and Lot 59 DP 6534, known as 36-38 Wentworth Avenue and 

– Lot 1 DP 1031245, known as 40-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills. 

The lots are shown at Figure 1. 

Figure 1: Land affected by this Planning Proposal 

 

Lot 42 DP 6534 and  
Lot 43 DP 6534  

(4-6 Wentworth Ave) 

Lot 44 DP 6534  
(8 Wentworth Ave) 

Lot 45 DP 6534 and  
Lot 46 DP6534  

(10-12 Wentworth Ave) 

Lot 47 DP 6534  
(14 Wentworth Ave) 

 

Lot 48 DP 6534,  
Lot 49 DP 6534,  
Lot 50 6534 and  
Lot 51 DP 6534  

(16-22 Wentworth Ave) 

Lot 52 DP 6534  
(24 Wentworth Ave) 

Lot 53 DP 6534 and 
Lot 54 DP 6534  

(26-28 Wentworth Ave) 

Lot 55 DP 6534 and 
Lot 56 DP 6534  

(30-32 Wentworth Ave) 

Lot 57 DP 6534  
(34 Wentworth Ave) 

Lot 58 DP 6534 and 
Lot 59 DP 6534  

(36-38 Wentworth Ave) 

Lot 1 DP 1031245  
(40-44 Wentworth Ave) 

20



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

8 

1.2. Site location 
The site is located in Surry Hills in the City of Sydney. Museum station is about 200m west 

of the site, and Central station is about 650m south-west of the site. Hyde Park is less than 

100m to the north of the site with Harmony Park less than 100m to the south of the site. 

The site is located across the road from the designated Central Sydney area. The site is 

located close to the intersection between Liverpool Street and Wentworth Avenue to the 

north, with Oxford Street to the north-east, and is on the intersection between Goulburn 

Street and Wentworth Avenue to the south. 

The site has four road frontages: Wentworth Avenue to the west, Wemyss Lane to the north 

and east and Goulburn Street to the south. A site location plan and aerial photo of the site 

are shown at Figures 2 and 3. 

Figure 2: Site location 

 

21



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

9 

Figure 3: Aerial photo of the site 

 

1.3. Site characteristics and context 
The site is generally rectangular in shape. It follows the curve in Wentworth Avenue, with a 

wider and more triangular end to the southern corner, at the intersection of Wentworth 

Avenue and Goulburn Street. The site has a total area of 2,739sqm. The site’s western 

boundary fronts Wentworth Avenue and is about 136m long. The site’s northern and 

eastern boundaries face Wemyss Lane, which wraps around the street block, with a 21m 

frontage to the north and a 120m frontage to the east. The site’s southern boundary to 

Goulburn street is 34m.  

Existing development on site consists of 11 buildings constructed between 1915 and 1921, 

ranging in height from 3 storeys to 7 storeys. Most buildings in the street block belong to a 

local group heritage item under the LEP known as ‘former warehouse group including 

interiors’ (I2271).  

The southernmost site in the street block, at 40-44 Wentworth Avenue, is an individually 

listed local heritage item known as ‘Macquarie Hotel including interior’ (I1647). The curtilage 

of the heritage listing includes No’s 42-44, but does not extend to no. 40, Wentworth 

Avenue.  

The site is not located in a Heritage Conservation Area. 

– 4-6 Wentworth Avenue is a 7 storey painted brick Federation building with basement 
currently occupied by a hotel use known as ‘Hotel Stellar’, and was constructed in 1918, 
with additional storeys added to the building in 1925. The site has a gross floor area 
(GFA) of 1,791m2. 

– 8 Wentworth Avenue is a four storey brick building with basement constructed in 1917 
and is currently used in association with the neighbouring hotel. The site has a GFA of 
404m2. 

22



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

10 

– 10-12 Wentworth Avenue is a 3 storey building with basement in the inter-war 
Chicagoesque style constructed between 1919 and 1921. It comprises a mix of 
commercial uses, including a convenience store at ground floor and a private college on 
the floors above. The site has a GFA of 730m2. 

– 14 Wentworth Avenue is a 3 storey Federation warehouse style building built between 
1915 and 1917 currently used for commercial purposes. The site has a GFA of 303m2. 

– 16-22 Wentworth Avenue is a four storey rendered brick warehouse constructed in 
1916 in the inter-war Chicagoesque style. The ground floor is occupied by a nightclub 
known as ‘The Soda Factory’. Upper floors are occupied by a private college. The site 
has a GFA of 1,879m2. 

– 24 Wentworth Avenue is a 4 storey rendered brick warehouse constructed in 1915-16 in 
the Federation style, with typical decorative detailing. The entire building is occupied by 
the Gemmological Association of Australia. The site has a GFA of approximately 401m2. 

– 26-28 Wentworth Avenue is a 3 storey rendered warehouse built in 1916-17 in the inter-
war free classical style and houses commercial office space. The site has a GFA of 
approximately 1,046m2. 

– 30-32 Wentworth Avenue is a 5 storey face brick Federation warehouse built in 1919 

and is currently occupied by the Real Estate Institute of NSW. The site has a GFA of 

approximately 883m2. 

– 34 Wentworth Avenue is a 3 storey face brick late Federation warehouse built in 1915. 
The building is occupied by a motorcycle accessories retail store. The site has a GFA of 
approximately 373m2. 

– 36-38 Wentworth Avenue is a 3 storey concrete rendered building. It is not heritage 
listed. The ground floor is occupied by the motorcycle accessories retail store (which 
extends into No’s 30-32). The first and second floors are occupied by a gym. The site 
has a GFA of approximately 890m2. 

– 40-44 Wentworth Avenue is a 4 storey painted brick and sandstone building constructed 
in 1912 in the Federation free style. The building has always been occupied by a pub, 
originally called The Macquarie Hotel. The pub is currently known as Hotel Harry. The 
site has a GFA of approximately 1,147m2. 

The total gross floor area for existing development is 9,143m2. The site is fully built out with 

some parking accessed off Wemyss Lane, and no vegetation. The site slopes downwards 

from north to south with a fall of about 9m. 

Surrounding context varies in land use and form. The 24-storey ‘Memocorp’ building is 

located immediately to the north across Wemyss Lane. Buildings located to the east of the 

site across Wemyss Lane include a three storey warehouse building used as a liquor 

store/distribution centre, a two storey terrace used as a restaurant, a six storey building 

owned and used by the Philatelic Association of NSW, and a part four, part six storey 

residential flat building known as Meta apartments. The rear facades of these buildings face 

the subject site.  

A 9 storey residential flat building, Sydney Mansion, is located to the south of the street 

block, across Goulburn Street. The building is a local heritage item known as “Former 

warehouse facades ‘Mark Foys’” (I1554). The western side of Wentworth Avenue features a 

mix of commercial and residential buildings varying between four storeys and 14 storeys. A 

30 storey residential apartment building is located on the corner of Liverpool Street and 

Wentworth Avenue, opposite the Memocorp building. 

Surrounding development is mixed, including commercial office and business uses, hotel 

and tourist and visitor accommodation, food and drinks premises, pubs and clubs and 

residential. The site is located just outside the Central Sydney boundary, which runs the 

length of Wentworth Avenue. The bottom of Oxford Street is about 70m to the north of the 

site, which is known for bars and clubs, eateries, shopping, and diversity of businesses. 

23



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

11 

The site also borders Sydney’s CBD, and is positioned between the City’s villages of 

Darlinghurst and Surry Hills.  

The area features a variety of existing tourist and visitor accommodation, including hostels, 

serviced apartments and a range of hotels. The existing hotel on site at 4-6 and 8 

Wentworth Avenue is known as ‘Hotel Stellar’ and comprises 36 rooms. The street block 

contains a diversity of other commercial uses including a night club, a convenience store, 

private colleges, office premises, a retail store, a gym and a pub  

Museum train station is about 200m west of the site. Sydney’s Central train station is about 

600m to the south-west of the site. The area is well serviced by bus routes running along 

Elizabeth Street and Castlereagh Street, along Oxford Street, and through Surry Hills. 

Figures 4 to 15 show existing development on the site. The surrounding area is shown in 

Figures 16 and 17. 

Figure 4: Site viewed from intersection of Wentworth Avenue and Goulburn Street, looking north – site 
shown outlined in red 

 

24



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

12 

Figure 5: Site viewed from Liverpool Street, looking south down Wentworth Avenue 

 

25



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

13 

Figure 6: No’s 4-6 and 8 Wentworth Avenue, looking east 

 

26



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

14 

Figure 7: No’s 8, 10-12 and 14 Wentworth Avenue, looking east 

 

Figure 8: No’s 14, 16-22, and 24 Wentworth Avenue, looking east 

 

27



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

15 

Figure 9: No’s 26-28, 30-32 and 34 Wentworth Avenue, looking south-east 

 

Figure 10: No’s 34, 36-38 and part of 40-44 Wentworth Avenue, looking south-east 

 

28



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

16 

Figure 11: Part of No 36-38 and 40-44 Wentworth Avenue, looking south-east 

 

Figure 12: 40-44 Wentworth Avenue, viewed from Goulburn Street, looking north-east 

 

29



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

17 

Figure 13: Wemyss Lane, viewed from Goulburn Street, looking north 

 

30



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

18 

Figure 14: Wemyss Lane, rear of street block, looking north 

 

Figure 15: Wemyss Lane, looking south 

 

31



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

19 

Figure 16: Wentworth Avenue, looking south to Central station 

 

Figure 17: Wentworth Avenue, looking north 

 

 

32



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

20 

B2 Local Centre 

2. Existing planning controls 
The LEP contains zoning and principal development standards for the site. These are 

discussed below.  

2.1. Zoning 
Zoning is shown in the Land Zoning Maps referred to in clause 2.2 of the LEP. The site is 

zoned B4 Mixed Use, as shown in the extract at Figure 18. The objectives of the zone 

include providing a mixture of compatible land uses, integrating suitable business, office, 

residential, retail and other development in accessible locations so as to maximise public 

transport patronage and encourage walking and cycling and to ensure uses support the 

viability of centres. The zoning permits a broad range of uses including the existing uses 

and tourist and visitor accommodation. This Planning Proposal does not seek to change the 

site’s existing zoning. 

Figure 18: Extract from Sydney LEP 2012 Zoning Map 

 

 

Subject site 

B4 Mixed Use B8 Metropolitan Centre 

33



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

21 

2.2. Building height 
Maximum height controls are shown in the Height of Building Maps referred to in clause 4.3 

of the LEP. The site has a maximum building height control of 22m at 4-6 Wentworth 

Avenue and 18m at 8-44 Wentworth Avenue.  

This Planning Proposal is to amend the building height for hotel and business uses or motel 

accommodation use only through a site specific clause in the LEP. An extract of the 

relevant Height of Buildings Map from the LEP is shown in Figure 19. 

Figure 19: Extract from Sydney LEP 2012 Building Height Map 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.3. Floor Space Ratio 
Maximum floor space ratio controls are shown in the Floor Space Ratio Maps referred to in 

clause 4.4 of the LEP. The site has a maximum floor space ratio control of 6:1 at 4-6 

Wentworth Avenue, and 5:1 at 8-44 Wentworth Avenue.  

O –15m P – 18m R – 22m T2 – 27m U1 – 30m 

W1 – 40m W2 – 42m X – 45m Y – 55m AB1 – 80m 

AC – 110m 

34



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

22 

This Planning Proposal is to amend the FSR for hotel and business or motel 

accommodation uses only at 4-22 Wentworth Avenue through a site specific clause in the 

LEP. An extract of the relevant Floor Space Ratio Map from the LEP is shown in Figure 20. 

Figure 20: Extract from Sydney LEP 2012 Floor Space Ratio Map 

 

2.4. Heritage 
Most buildings in the street block belong to a local group heritage item under the LEP 

known as ‘former warehouse group including interiors’ (I2271) at 4-34 Wentworth Avenue, 

Surry Hills.  

The southernmost site in the street block, at 40-44 Wentworth Avenue, is an individually 

listed local heritage item known as ‘Macquarie Hotel including interior’ (I1647). The curtilage 

of the heritage listing includes No’s 42-44, but does not extend to no. 40, Wentworth 

Avenue.  

Three heritage listed items are located nearby including a ‘former warehouse (142-148 

Goulburn Street) including interior’ (I1455) to the east of the site, ‘former warehouse 

facades “Mark Foys”’ at 133 Goulburn Street (I1554) to the south of the site and ‘“Griffith’s 

Building” including interior’ at 46-52 Wentworth Avenue (I1648) to the south-east of the site. 

The subject site is not within a Heritage Conservation Area. An extract of the relevant 

Heritage Map from the LEP is shown in Figure 21. 

U1 – 2.5:1 Y – 4.5:1 Z – 5:1 AA1 – 6: 1 

AB1 – 7:1 AC – 8:1 AD – 9:1 AE – 10:1 

35



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

23 

Figure 21: Extract from Sydney LEP 2012 Heritage Map 

 

2.5. Planning proposal request 
In October 2013, Pongrass Properties Pty Ltd, the landowner of the subject site, 

approached the City to initiate discussions to change the planning controls on site to 

facilitate a hotel development. 

The City has worked extensively with the landowner and their consultant team to explore 

potential built form outcomes.  

In July 2018, the landowner submitted a Planning Proposal request to the City of Sydney. 

The request included a Planning Justification Report, and an Urban Design Report shown 

at Appendix A1. The City has prepared this Planning Proposal following consideration of 

the request. 

The request sought to amend the Sydney LEP 2012 to increase the maximum building 

height control from the current 18 metres and 22 metres to a height of RL 100.57, or around 

70m, and to increase the maximum floor space ratio to 6.3:1 for the site for the purpose of 

hotel or motel accommodation only.   

The City prepared this Planning Proposal following detailed review and assessment of the 

proponent’s proposed development concept. Through collaboration between the City and 

the proponent, the proposed changes to the height and FSR standards have been revised 

in response to overshadowing and heritage concerns.  

The Planning Proposal seeks to increase the maximum building height control to RL 92.59 

and to increase the maximum FSR to 5.7:1 across the site for hotel or motel 

accommodation only.  

The original intent of the Planning Proposal was to encourage development of hotel and 

motel accommodation at 4-22 Wentworth Avenue and a broader set of productive 

36



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

24 

employment uses at 24-44 Wentworth Avenue. However, as a result of COVID-19 a 

submission from the landowner seeks to broaden the intent of the proposal to also permit 

productive employment uses at 4-22 Wentworth Avenue consistent with that incentivised for 

24-44 Wentworth Avenue. It is noted that Clause 6.21 of Sydney LEP 2012 specifies that 

an additional 10 per cent height or FSR (not both) may be awarded where design 

excellence is demonstrated through a competitive design process.  

The proposed controls facilitate a 7,500sqm gross floor area mixed use hotel development 

with ancillary food and drink premises at the ground floor and end of trip facilities in the 

basement. 

An amendment to Sydney DCP 2012, to be exhibited concurrently with this Planning 

Proposal, contains more detailed site-specific planning provisions. 

The Planning Proposal and draft DCP addresses the issues arising from the assessment of 

the proponent’s Planning Proposal request. 

2.6. Resolution of Council 
In August 2019, consideration of the previous iteration of the subject planning proposal was 

deferred by Council, to enable the preparation of an amended planning proposal and draft 

development control plan to take into account the whole street block length for 4 to 44 

Wentworth Avenue.  

An urban design analysis of the street block has been conducted and the planning proposal 

amended accordingly. 

  

37



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

25 

3. Objectives and intended 
outcomes 
4-2244 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills  

The amended Planning Proposal is to incentivise the redevelopment of 4-2244 Wentworth 

Avenue, Surry Hills, for strategic land uses including commercial premises, health services 

facilities, educational establishments, hotel or motel accommodation, entertainment 

premises, light industry and information and education facilities development that: 

– contributes to and enhances Sydney’s diverse hotel accommodation market that caters 
to changing visitor demand, consistent with the City’s Visitor Accommodation Action 
Plan (2015) and the Eastern City District Plan’s tourism and industry objectives, and 

24-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills  

The Planning Proposal is to incentivise the redevelopment of 24-44 Wentworth Avenue, 
Surry Hills, for strategic land uses including commercial premises, health services facilities, 
educational establishments, hotel accommodation, entertainment premises, light industry 
and information and education facilities development that: 

– contributes to the diversity of uses in, provides a mixture of compatible land uses and 
supports the viability of centres in the City fringe area, consistent with zoning objectives 
and the Eastern City District Plan’s objectives related to strengthening the 
competitiveness of the harbour CBD, providing health and education services, and 
growing investment, business opportunities and jobs. 

Whole street block 

The Planning Proposal is to incentivise the redevelopment of 4-44 Wentworth Avenue, 
Surry Hills, for development described above that: 

– is in an area with good access to public transport, the Sydney CBD and its attractions 
and its nearby villages 

– achieves design excellence and improves the site’s amenity and contribution to the 
surrounding area 

– is sympathetic to the surrounding built form context, including height and bulk and 
scale, resulting in a building that is compatible with both the group heritage item and 
individual heritage item on site whilst limiting impacts on surrounding development 

– activates and revitalises the street block through a holistic approach 

– appropriately conserves and enhances the significance of the heritage fabric on site, 
and 

– preserves adequate solar access to existing neighbouring properties. 
  

38



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

26 

4. Explanation of provisions 
4-22 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

To achieve the intended outcomes this Planning Proposal seeks to amend Sydney Local 

Environmental Plan 2012 as follows: 

– Introduce a new clause under Division 5 Site Specific Provisions to enable additional 
height, above that shown in the Height of Buildings Map, and floor space greater than 
shown in the Floor Space Ratio Map, if the entire site is developed for commercial 
premises, health services facilities, educational establishments, hotel or motel 
accommodation, entertainment premises, light industry and information or education 
facilities uses, with ancillary uses at ground floor. 

– Enable Council to award a design excellence bonus for additional floor space only, 
excluding additional height, based on the FSR contained in this clause instead of the 
mapped FSR. 

– Amend clause 4.6(8) so that the maximum building height for the site cannot be varied 
beyond that considered in this planning proposal. 

– Amend Division 5 Site Specific Provisions to include a site-specific clause specifying 
that a building demonstrating design excellence on the site may be awarded an 
increase to the maximum floor space ratio under clause 6.21 but not an increase to the 
maximum building height beyond that considered under this Planning Proposal.  

The site-specific provisions establish the maximum height and base floor space ratio to 

achieve intended outcomes. This clause is intended to allow for additional floor space 

awarded through a competitive design process to be accommodated within the specified 

maximum height and building envelope established in the accompanying site-specific DCP. 

The amendments do not permit further increases to the development standards through 

clause 4.6 or conversion of a building using these standards to residential accommodation 

or serviced apartments. 

24-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

To achieve the intended outcomes this Planning Proposal seeks to amend Sydney Local 

Environmental Plan 2012 as follows: 

– Introduce a new clause under Division 5 Site Specific Provisions to enable additional 
height up to: 

 RL 50 at 24, 26-28, 30-32, 34 and 36-38 Wentworth Avenue and 

 RL 44.26 at 40 Wentworth Avenue (but not 42-44 Wentworth Avenue, which are 

part of the same site); 

if the sites are developed for commercial premises, health services facilities, 

educational establishments, hotel accommodation, entertainment premises, light 

industry and information and education facilities.  

– Amend clause 4.6(8) so that the maximum building height for the site cannot be varied 
beyond that considered in this planning proposal. 

The site-specific provisions establish the maximum height to achieve intended outcomes. 

This clause is intended to allow for additional maximum height to be accommodated within 

the building envelope established in the accompanying site-specific DCP. The amendments 

do not permit further increases to the building height through clause 4.6 or conversion of 

buildings using these standards to residential accommodation or serviced apartments. 
  

39



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

27 

5. Justification 
This section is structured as follows: 

– 5.1 – Description of the proposed development concept 

– 5.2 – Proposed changes to, benefits of and managing impacts of increasing building 
height and floor space ratio controls 

– 5.3 – Draft development control plan 

– 5.4 – Need for the planning proposal 

– 5.5 – Relationship to strategic planning framework 

– 5.6 – Environmental, social and economic impact 

– 5.7 – State and Commonwealth interests 

5.1. Description of the proposed development concept 
4-22 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

The City’s vision for the development of 4-22 Wentworth Avenue is based on an 

assessment of the proponent’s concept, which the City has amended to address issues and 

achieve improved outcomes. It also responds to the proponent’s submission and the 

impacts of Covid-19 on the feasibility of the original proposal. 

The Planning Proposal will facilitate a mixed use hotel development to be constructed 

above existing heritage listed buildings on site whilst enabling the structures to be retained 

and conserved. New building heights will range from 20m to around 62 metres (RL 92.59).  

The proposed development concept consists of two main elements: an 8 to 10 storey 

addition above 4-6 Wentworth Avenue, which partially extends over 8 and 10-12 Wentworth 

Avenue; and a two storey addition above 8, 10-12, 14 and 16-22 Wentworth Avenue.   

The maximum building envelope for the subject proposal has been determined by 

overshadowing requirements. Due to solar access constraints, the taller portion of the 

envelope is angular in shape, with a setback of between 2.7m and 7m immediately above 

the 7 storey building at 4-6 Wentworth Avenue. The southern wing of the envelope is well 

set back from the Wentworth Avenue boundary, transitioning out from 2m to 7m above 

number 4-6, then to 14.6m, north to south. See Figures below. The maximum height of the 

envelope, at around 62m, represents an increase to the height control at 4-6 Wentworth 

Avenue of 40m. The roof plane of the tower also slopes from north-west to south-east, 

based on the angle of the sun on 21 June (winter solstice).   

The maximum building envelope features a simple cantilevered form at upper levels, as 

shown in Figures below. The cantilevered section of the tower features a setback along 

Wentworth Avenue which begins at 1m immediately above the northernmost corner and 

increases to 10m north to south from the front elevation of the existing buildings. Achieving 

the cantilever form is subject to the future detailed design of the building responding 

appropriately to the heritage listed warehouse buildings below, and exhibiting design 

excellence. Additional FSR (up to 10%) is required to be awarded to achieve the projecting 

upper form.  

40



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

28 

Figure 22: Setbacks plan 

 

41



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

29 

Figure 23: Reduced setbacks plan – subject to design excellence 

 

42



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

30 

Figure 24: Proposed planning envelope – without design excellence (looking north-east) 

 

43



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

31 

Figure 25: Proposed maximum planning envelope – with design excellence (looking north-east) 

 

44



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

32 

Figure 26: Proposed planning envelope – without design excellence (looking north-west) 

 

Figure 27: Proposed maximum planning envelope – with design excellence (looking north-west) 

 

45



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

33 

Figure 28: Proposed maximum planning envelope – with design excellence (view east) 

 

Figure 29: Proposed maximum planning envelope – with design excellence (view north) 

 

46



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

34 

Figure 30: Proposed maximum planning envelope – with design excellence (view north-west) 

 

Figure 31: Proposed maximum planning envelope – with design excellence (view west) 

 

47



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

35 

Figure 32: Street wall heights with design excellence 

 

Clause 6.21(7) of the LEP permits developments that exhibit design excellence to be 

awarded an additional height or FSR bonus of up to 10%. The planning envelope for 4-22 

Wentworth Avenue has been carefully considered and revised to ensure acceptable solar 

access impacts to nearby residential development. Additional height beyond that in this 

planning proposal to either the tower or podium will result in adverse overshadowing 

impacts to surrounding apartment buildings. As such, a clause has been inserted to the site 

specific provisions prohibiting additional height beyond that detailed in this planning 

proposal.  

The FSR has been increased marginally across the site to a maximum of 5.7:1, to 

accommodate this expanded mixed use hotel developmentuse. The site is eligible for up to 

an additional 10% FSR, should a development proposal exhibit design excellence. This 

would take the site’s FSR to a maximum of 6.3:1.   

Ancillary uses operating as part of the hotel will be located on the ground floor of the 

development. Indicative uses include a coffee shop and restaurant. 

24-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

The City’s vision for the development of 24-44 Wentworth Avenue is based on an urban 

design analysis carried out by the City to ensure a holistic and equitable outcome for the 

street block. 

The Planning Proposal will facilitate around 1,600sqm of additional commercial 

development above 24-44 Wentworth Avenue through changes to the maximum building 

height. The sites in the southern half of the street block include heritage listed warehouse 

buildings at 24-34 Wentworth Avenue (which belong to the same group listing as no’s 4-22 

Wentworth Avenue) and a partial individual heritage listing at 40-44 Wentworth Avenue. 

48



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

36 

The increased maximum building height across the southern half of the street block will 

allow for additional commercial floor space that is largely in line with existing FSR 

permissible on site to be achieved, whilst enabling the structures to be retained and 

conserved.  

The maximum height of the envelope varies between 26.5m and 21.5m due to the slope of 

the site. This represents an increase to the height control at 24-44 Wentworth Avenue of 

between 3.5m and 8.5m. The maximum building height has been determined by 

overshadowing requirements. The rear portion the maximum building envelope for each site 

has been sculpted due to solar access constraints. The roof plane of the additions slopes 

from west to east based on the angle of the sun on 21 June (winter solstice). This results in 

a chamfered rear to 24-40 Wentworth Avenue, with 24 Wentworth Avenue being most 

affected, as shown in the figures below. 

No setback to Wentworth Avenue is proposed for sites in the southern half of the street 

block, as a setback would inhibit development above the sites as envisioned by this 

planning proposal. A zero setback also provides consistency with changes proposed to 4-

22 Wentworth Avenue, and allows flexibility in responding to heritage items within the 

southern half of the street block. 

49



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

37 

Figure 33: Site plan for 24-44 Wentworth Avenue 

 

50



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

38 

Figure 34: Maximum planning envelope – 24-44 Wentworth Avenue, view north  

 

51



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

39 

Figure 35: Maximum planning envelope for 24-44 Wentworth Avenue, view west 

 

The planning envelope for 24-44 Wentworth Avenue has been carefully considered to 

ensure acceptable solar access impacts to nearby residential development. Additional 

height beyond that in this planning proposal to additions above the southern half of the 

street block will result in adverse overshadowing impacts to surrounding apartment 

buildings. As such, a clause has been inserted to the site specific provisions prohibiting 

additional height beyond that detailed in this planning proposal. 

5.2. Proposed changes to, benefits and management of 
increasing controls 
This Planning Proposal is to provide alternate maximum building height and maximum floor 

space ratio (FSR) controls to encourage a mixed use hotel development  in an acceptable 

built form at 4-22 Wentworth Avenue, and to provide alternate maximum building height 

controls to encourage specific commercial uses in an acceptable built form at 24-44 

Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills. 

4-22 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

Mixed use hotel  

Sydney’s tourism industry makes a significant contribution to the local and state economy. 

During the 2017/18 financial year over 6 million international and domestic overnight visitors 

52



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

40 

stayed in commercial accommodation located in the City of Sydney LGA. Analysis by the 

City of Sydney in 2013 found that a sustainable supply of visitor accommodation is needed 

to support projected tourism growth. The City’s Sustainable Sydney 2030, Tourism Action 

Plan (2013) and Visitor Accommodation Action Plan (2015) aim to facilitate development of 

additional visitor accommodation. The Eastern City District Plan seeks to strengthen and 

grow a more competitive Harbour CBD through the growth of targeted industry sectors, 

including tourist and visitor accommodation.  This planning proposal will provide for an 

expanded mid-range hotel use in a highly accessible and central location, contributing to 

the City’s accommodation supply. The proposal to increase the maximum building height 

and FSR for hotel or motel accommodation, commercial premises, health services facilities, 

educational establishments, entertainment premises, light industry and information and 

education facilities hotel or motel accommodation use only will facilitate a new mixed use 

hotel development consistent with local and state strategic plans.   

Height and FSR changes 

This Planning Proposal seeks to increase height and FSR controls to facilitate a mixed use 

hotel or motel accommodationdevelopment at 4-22 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills. Table 1 

shows existing and proposed maximum building height controls across 4-22 Wentworth 

Avenue and the maximum height plane. 

Table 1: Existing and proposed maximum building height controls – 4-22 Wentworth Avenue 
 

Location (refer Figure 36) Existing control Proposed control 

Lots 42 and 43, DP6534 22m 

7 storeys 

RL 92.59 

Lot 44, DP6534 18m 

3 storeys 

RL 92.59  

Lots 45 and 46, DP6534 18m 

3 storeys 

RL 92.59  

Lot 47, DP6534 18m 

3 storeys 

RL 50.00 

 

Lots 48, 49, 50, 51, DP6534 18m 

4 storeys 

RL 50.00 

 

 
The existing maximum FSR controls are 6:1 at 4-6 Wentworth Avenue, and 5:1 at 8, 10-12, 
14 and 16-22 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills. The proposal seeks to increase this to 5.7:1 
across the site with up to 6.3:1 if design excellence is awarded.  

The current height controls across 4-22 Wentworth Avenue cannot accommodate the 

current permissible FSR. The planning proposal enables the existing permitted FSR to be 

achieved with a marginal further increase to facilitate astrategic hotel uses. Table 2 below 

details the existing GFA on site, as well as the proposed increase. 

53



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

41 

Table 2: GFA change with and without design excellence 

Site Area Control GFA Built 

GFA 

Built 

FSR 

Prop. 

FSR 

Prop. 

GFA w/o 

DE 

Prop 

GFA 

w/DE 

4-6 272.6m2 6:1 1,635.6m2 1,719m2 6:1  

w/o 

DE 

5.7:1 

 

w/DE 

6.3:1 

1,553.8m2 1,717.4m2 

8 115.1m2 5:1 575.5m2 404m2 3.5:1 656m2 725.1m2 

10-12 238m2 5:1 1,190m2 730m2 3.06:1 1,356.6m2 1,499.4m2 

14 119.3m2 5:1 596.5m2 303m2 2.53:1 680m2 751.6m2 

16-22 473.6m2 5:1 2,368m2 1,879m2 3.96:1 2,699.5m2 2,983.7m2 

Total 1,218.6m2 5.22:1 6,365.6m2 5,107m2 4.2:1 6,946m2 7,677.2m2 

The Planning Proposal request submitted by the proponent sought an FSR increase of 

6.3:1 across the site, with a maximum possible FSR of 7:1 subject to additional floor space 

being awarded through the design excellence process.  

GFA has been calculated and the FSR increase adjusted over the course of the 

assessment process. Calculations based on the proponent’s indicative scheme indicated a 

base FSR of 6:1 with a maximum possible FSR of 6.6:1 with design excellence.   

These figures have been adjusted to ensure that the relationship between the FSR and the 

proposed maximum envelope is less restrictive, consistent with advice provided by the 

Design Advisory Panel. This will allow for room for external shading, particularly given the 

subject site’s long west-facing facade, as well as improved opportunities for more nuanced 

architectural articulation and expression through the design competition. 

54



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

42 

Figure 36: Maximum building height and plane of proposed tower and podium 

 

  

55



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

43 

Design excellence and competitive design process 

This Planning Proposal to increase the maximum height limit to over 25m requires 

development of 4-22 Wentworth Avenue to be carried out through the City of Sydney’s 

competitive design process. The site-specific DCP for this planning proposal include design 

excellence strategy provisions which stipulate the competitive design process must involve 

no less than four architectural firms ranging from emerging, emerged and established, with 

demonstrated experience designing high quality heritage infill buildings. Achieving design 

excellence is incentivised through the potential for an additional 10% FSR. This will ensure 

redevelopment of the site will be undertaken via a robust competitive process, which will 

result in a high quality building and design excellence outcome. 

Heritage conservation 

The site at 4-22 Wentworth Avenue consists of five buildings that are part of a group listing 

of nine former commercial warehouse buildings from 4 to 34 Wentworth Avenue. Providing 

for the conservation of the buildings, including any internal heritage significant fabric, is a 

priority for this planning proposal and site-specific DCP.  

The five warehouse buildings are heritage listed as part of a group. They represent physical 

evidence of the local council’s early twentieth century street planning, slum clearances and 

land resumptions for improving Sydney city, as well as the growth of industry in Surry Hills 

in the early twentieth century, however are less valuable individually.   

The proposal retains the significance of the group of period buildings through conserving 

external fabric such as significant facade detailing and timber joinery and fenestration, 

providing a suitable adaptive reuse for the warehouses and enhancing interiors – 

particularly at the ground floor of 10-22 Wentworth Avenue, where original timber structures 

which have been covered up will be re-exposed.  

As part of preparations for the subject planning proposal, investigative work has been 

carried out by the proponent and their heritage consultants, including a site visit which City 

of Sydney heritage and planning staff attended. The site visit found that the buildings had a 

moderate to high degree of interior and exterior heritage significance, but that some 

buildings and elements had been significantly modified – most notably at Number 8 where 

internal structures had been entirely replaced. The ground floor facades of all the buildings 

have been considerably altered, and upper levels of the warehouses generally feature 

commercial fitouts.   

The planning proposal includes an eight to 10 storey tower addition above number 4-6, 

which partly extends south over numbers 8-12, and a two storey podium addition above the 

lower scale warehouses at 8-22 Wentworth Avenue. Upper level additions to heritage 

significant buildings in Central Sydney are not uncommon and design excellent outcomes 

can be achieved through appropriate setbacks, material choices, architectural articulation, 

design of new building elements and suitable adaptive uses. Additions above buildings with 

heritage significant fabric which demonstrate good outcomes include Legion House at 161-

163 Castlereagh Street, Sydney, 50-58 Kensington Street, Chippendale and the tri-

generation plant at Brewery Yard, Central Park.  

To achieve the allowable floor space and encourage design excellence and a new mixed 

use hotel developmentaccommodation, the buildings have been assessed for suitable 

opportunities for intervention, where fabric is of lower significance. Number 4-6, at the 

northernmost corner, has a historic pattern of additions. The building was originally built in 

1918, with another three levels added in 1925, featuring a simpler design to the original 

construction. The internal floors have also been fire separated, and any original fabric 

cannot be exposed. The proposal seeks to conserve the primary internal layouts, diving 

walls and stairs, with a 10 storey tower addition to be constructed above and supported by 

new concrete columns inserted within the existing structure. The tower is set back above 

the parapet to allow the legibility of the building and group to be retained.   

56



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

44 

Number 8 is a relatively simple warehouse building with lower significance, and is unlikely 

to have been heritage listed separately to the group. Its interiors have been heavily 

modified over time, with original floors having been replaced with concrete. The planning 

proposal presents an opportunity to undertake conservation works to the exterior, and to 

provide the building with an improved structure by replacing floor levels with new levels to 

match those at 4-6. Part of the proposed tower will be set back above number 8 by roughly 

10m.   

Number 10-12 is a largely intact building. Most changes have occurred at the ground floor, 

with new openings to the facade, and commercial fitouts to upper floors. Original timber 

beams and iron bark columns survive at the ground floor, with the structure concealed on 

upper levels. The planning proposal retains an appropriate setback to the two storey 

podium addition behind the prominent parapet, conserving the building’s external 

significance. Provisions have been included in the DCP to ensure significant internal fabric 

is retained.  

The ground floor facade of number 14 has been considerably altered, however internally, 

the building retains a number of original features. These include the load bearing external 

brick walls with blind arches, steel beams, timber joists and floors. The proposal seeks to 

retain the facade. Provisions have been included in the DCP to ensure significant internal 

fabric is retained.  

Number 16-22 features a well-preserved facade, with less intervention than neighbouring 

warehouse buildings. Internally, the building retains original timber beams, columns, and 

connecting brackets, including timber floor boards on the first floor. The proposal seeks to 

conserve the existing facade, as well as the interior floor structure.   

Provisions have been included in the DCP to ensure existing floors and floor levels are 

retained where possible, with particular regard to the lower scale warehouses at 10-22 

Wentworth Avenue. Further heritage considerations include retaining the individuality and 

distinction of each building within the group heritage item, as well as impacts on 

neighbouring heritage listed warehouses to the site, which belong to the same listing as 4-

22 Wentworth Avenue.   

Upper level setbacks immediately above the 7 storey building at 4-6 Wentworth Avenue, 

the podium setback at 8-22 Wentworth Avenue and a street wall height control consistent 

with the height of the existing building facades will allow the heritage listed buildings to 

maintain their legibility and prominence in the streetscape.   

A control allowing the podium addition setback to be reduced to zero has been inserted 

subject to the proposed building design achieving design excellence through a design 

competition. Whilst setbacks are often employed in the treatment of additions above 

heritage items, zero setbacks to heritage buildings can provide a contemporary design 

opportunity to reference the proportion, detailing and articulation of the existing fabric. A 

zero podium setback to Wentworth Avenue is appropriate where design excellence is 

achieved and acknowledges the fine grain of the streetscape and achieves a harmonious 

bulk and form relationship with the host building.   

Conservation and restoration of the buildings’ facades and significant interiors will enhance 

the significance of the group. The site-specific DCP includes extensive provisions to 

maintain and conserve the structural and architectural integrity of the heritage item and 

guide compatible new works above the buildings, and to their interiors. The DCP provisions 

clarify the intended outcomes of this planning proposal, giving direction for the detailed 

design to be resolved at subsequent stages through the design and development process.   

With these measures in place, it is considered that the changes to the development 

standards will allow for a positive development outcome for the heritage item, including its 

interiors and setting. 

57



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

45 

Built form 

4-22 Wentworth Avenue is in a prominent corner location, occupying half a street block. 

The buildings on site are visible from the intersection of Wentworth Avenue and Liverpool 

Street. The key urban design issue is the visual impact of the bulk and scale of the 

increased height, and the southern side wall presentation to surrounding streetscapes.   

The majority of the additional bulk and scale envisioned as part of this planning proposal is 

located at the northern end of the site, above 4-6 and 8 Wentworth Avenue, where a 90m, 

24-storey building is situated immediately to the north across Wemyss Lane. 

The proposed tower has a maximum height of around 62m. This has been generated 

through the creation of a solar access plane to ensure the proposal is capable of complying 

with overshadowing requirements for neighbouring residential apartments. Any building 

proposed will be required to be accommodated within the proposed building envelope.   

The proposed building envelope steps down across the sloping site and provides an 

appropriate response to the existing surrounding mid-scale buildings of three to four storeys 

to the east and south of the site. The podium addition of two storeys, with its minimum 

setback of 4.5m will maintain the legibility and prominence of the lower-scale heritage 

warehouses at 8-22 Wentworth Avenue, and ensures the buildings adjacent to the south 

are not dominated by the addition, or detracted from.   

A clause has been inserted into the design excellence strategy for 4-22 Wentworth Avenue 

which permits the setback of the podium addition to be reduced to zero, subject to 

development exhibiting design excellence. This requires the rooftop podium addition to be 

designed to be minimal, lightweight and recessive. In this regard, it is noted that the subject 

site is located on a narrow and constrained block, with a depth of approximately 20m. At 

around 30m, Wentworth Avenue is one of the CBD’s wider streets. The considerable width 

of Wentworth Avenue, paired with the shallow depth of the site generally preclude 

development above the parapet line from being completely invisible when viewed from the 

public domain.  

The proposal responds to the heights of buildings in the area which being on the edge of 

Central Sydney is a mix of very tall towers and medium rise buildings. The tallest part of the 

proposal is up to 17 storeys which is consistent with other buildings nearby including 1 

Oxford Street (24 storeys), 185 Liverpool Street (31 storeys), 2-4 Poplar Street (15 storeys), 

156-160 Goulburn Street (13 storeys), 17-25 Wentworth Avenue (15 storeys) and 27-33 

Wentworth Avenue (17 storeys). The proposal transitions from the neighbouring building at 

1 Oxford Street down to the rooftop podium addition above 8-22 Wentworth Avenue, where 

the maximum height will be around 23m or 6 storeys. The envelope steps down across the 

site and provides an appropriate response to the existing surrounding mid-scale buildings to 

the east and south of the site. 

As existing development in the surrounding area is densely developed, the subject building 

envelope has been carefully considered to ensure acceptable solar access impacts to 

nearby residential development. Additional height beyond that proposed in the City’s 

concept plan, to either the tower or podium component of the proposal, will result in 

adverse overshadowing impacts to surrounding apartment buildings. Therefore, a clause 

has been inserted to the site specific provisions prohibiting additional height beyond that 

detailed in this planning proposal.  

The Draft DCP that accompanies this planning proposal includes site-specific provisions 

relating to the building envelope, setbacks, heritage conservation and the design excellence 

process which will guide the detailed design of the proposal at later stages. 

Solar access and overshadowing 

4-22 Wentworth Avenue is located in a densely developed pocket of the city fringe, with 

several residential apartment buildings and mixed use developments in its vicinity.    

58



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

46 

The submitted shadow diagrams show that the proposed building envelope will cause minor 

additional overshadowing to two residential apartment buildings located to the east of the 

site. The proposal has been extensively reviewed and revised considerably to ensure the 

additional overshadowing complies with the criteria of the Apartment Design Guide.   

The solar access requirements of the NSW Department of Planning and Environment’s  

‘Apartment Design Guide’ (ADG) have been used as the benchmark for maintaining 

adequate levels of solar access to surrounding residential properties. Although it is less 

onerous than the current DCP controls, the ADG is considered appropriate for the site and 

the precinct given the context within a dense and highly urbanised precinct, that residential 

units in the area have generally not being built to current overshadowing requirements, the 

site is adjacent to Central Sydney, there is a need to prioritise strategically productive land 

uses in this precinct and changes in height are needed to unlock the existing permitted floor 

space. Key solar access requirements of the ADG are summarised below: 

– Objective 4A-1 requires that at least 70% of apartments in a building receive at least 2 

hours of direct sunlight between 9am and 3pm at mid-winter in the Sydney metropolitan 

area. This is counted as 1sqm of direct sunlight, measured at 1m above floor level, for 

at least 15 minutes. 

– Objective 3B-2 requires that if an adjoining property does not currently receive the 

required hours of access, the new development must ensure solar access to 

neighbouring properties is not reduced by more than 20% (in terms of length of time). 

In comparison, Clause 4.1.3.1(2) of the Sydney DCP 2012 specifies that new development 

must not create any additional overshadowing to the private open space and living rooms of 

residential development where solar access is less than two hours between 9am and 3pm 

on 21 June.  

The proposed building envelope ensures acceptable solar access to neighbouring 

properties based on the requirements of the ADG. See maximum building envelope at 

Figure 33.   

Two nearby residential apartment buildings are affected by the subject planning proposal: 

the Belvedere apartments (156-160 Goulburn Street) and the Meta apartments (148 

Goulburn Street). Solar access impacts of the proposed maximum building envelope to the 

western elevation of both buildings are shown in section 5 of Lippman Partnership’s urban 

design report, at Appendix A1. The modelling indicates that for both buildings, less than 

70% of apartments currently receive at least 2 hours of direct sunlight between 9am and 

3pm at mid-winter. Therefore, objective 3B-2 of the ADG, which requires the proposed 

development to ensure that where a neighbouring property does not currently receive the 

required hours of solar access, its solar access is not reduced by more than 20%, applies to 

the subject proposal.   

The submitted diagrams indicate five apartments at the Belvedere will lose between 1 

minute and 7 minutes of sunlight to habitable spaces at mid-winter, and that seven 

apartments at Meta will lose between 3 minutes and 9 minutes. These figures represent 

between 2% and 19% of the total duration of sunlight received. See Figure 30 and Table 3 

for Meta, and Figure 31 and Table 4 for the Belvedere.  

The remaining apartments in both buildings either receive less than 15 minutes of sun 

(classified as ‘no direct sun’ under the ADG), between 15 minutes and 2 hours and are 

unaffected by this proposal, or over 2 hours. 

59



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

47 

Figure 37: Western elevation of Meta and affected apartments 

 

Table 3: Reduction in solar access to Meta 

Apt No. Current sun Total Proposed sun Total -mins -% 

 Starts Finishes  Starts Finishes    

3C 11.12am 11.35am 23” 11.15am 11.35am 20” 3” 13% 

4A 11.26am 12.15pm 49” 11.29am 12.10pm 41” 8” 16% 

4B 11.22am 12.09pm 47” 11.28am 12.08pm 40” 7” 15% 

4C 11.12am 11.59am 47” 11.21am 11.56am 38” 9” 19% 

5A 11.26am 12.15pm 49” 11.34am 12.15pm 41” 8” 16% 

5B 11.22am 12.09pm 47” 11.29am 12.09pm 40” 7” 15% 

6B 11.26am 12.15pm 49” 11.35am 12.15pm 40” 9” 18% 

60



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

48 

Figure 38: Western elevation of the Belvedere and affected apartments 

 
Table 4: Reduction in solar access to the Belvedere 

Apt No. Current sun Total Proposed sun Total -mins -% 

 Starts Finishes  Starts Finishes    

6B 12.34pm 1.02pm 28” 12.34pm 12.57pm 23” 5” 18% 

6C 12.20pm 12.57pm 37” 12.20pm 12.50pm 30” 7” 19% 

6D 12.07pm 12.46pm 39” 12.07pm 12.40pm 33” 6” 15% 

7B 12.34pm 1.08pm 47” 12.34pm 1.07pm 33” 1” 3% 

7D 12.07pm 12.50pm 43” 12.07pm 12.49pm 42” 1” 2% 

The proposal has been extensively assessed and revised to ensure the maximum building 

envelope minimises overshadowing to neighbouring properties. Specifically, the envelope 

ensures that, in accordance with Objective 3B-2 of the ADG, neighbouring properties that 

do not currently receive the required hours of solar access do not have their solar access 

reduced by more than 20%. The impact of the proposed maximum building envelope on 

surrounding properties’ solar access is therefore considered to be within acceptable limits 

and the Department of Planning and Environment’s standards for residential development. 

Sustainability 

Target benchmarks for sustainability of the hotel development are established in the DCP. 

These include achieving certification for a 5-star Green Star for the design, and 4.5-stars 

NABERS energy accreditation after construction.  

The site-specific DCP includes provisions for the development to specify design measures 

and targets for energy, water and waste. Combined with the positive sustainability benefit 

from reusing the existing buildings 4-22 Wentworth Avenue, these are considered 

reasonable sustainability standards. 

 

61



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

49 

24-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

Commercial uses 

The street block at 4-44 Wentworth Avenue currently contains a wide variety of commercial 

uses, including a hotel, convenience store, night club, private colleges, gym and pub. Being 

located within the B4 Mixed Use zone, and immediately adjacent to the Central Sydney 

area, the site is well located in terms of public transport and proximity to the CBD. 

This planning proposal will allow for height uplift at 24-44 Wentworth Avenue that generally 

aligns with existing FSR controls to permit additional commercial development on a street 

block that is already home to a diversity of uses. The increase in height is available to 

development where commercial uses such as commercial premises, health services 

facilities, educational establishments, hotel accommodation, entertainment premises, light 

industry and information and education facilities are proposed. It is not proposed to vary the 

height standard for residential or serviced apartment development. 

The City’s Sustainable Sydney 2030 plan seeks to ensure the city economy is competitive, 

prosperous, inclusive, resilient, strong and diverse to underpin sustainable growth. The 

Eastern City District Plan seeks to create conditions for a stronger economy through 

strengthening and growing a more competitive Harbour CBD and growing investment, 

business opportunities and jobs in strategic centres. This planning proposal allows for a 

change to height controls only, thereby unlocking floor space that is not currently 

achievable under existing controls. The proposal to increase the maximum building height 

for commercial uses will provide additional commercial floor space in a highly accessible 

and central location, consistent with local and state strategic plans. 

Height changes 

This Planning Proposal seeks to increase height controls to facilitate commercial 

development at 24-44 Wentworth Avenue. Table 5 shows existing and proposed maximum 

height controls across the site. 

Table 5: Existing and proposed maximum building height controls – 24-44 Wentworth Avenue  

Location (refer Figure 39) Existing control Proposed control 

24 Wentworth Ave 

Lot 52, DP6534 

18m RL 50.00 24.54m 

26-28 Wentworth Ave 

Lots 53 and 54, DP6534 

18m RL 50.00 25.44m 

30-32 Wentworth Ave 

Lots 55 and 56, DP6534 

18m RL 50.00 26.26m 

34 Wentworth Ave 

Lot 57, DP6534 

18m RL 50.00 26.63m 

36-38 Wentworth Ave 

Lots 58 and 59, DP6534 

18m RL 50.00 27.32m 

40-44 Wentworth Ave  

(40 Wentworth Ave only) 

Lot 1, DP 1031245 

18m RL 44.26 

(no. 40 only) 

27.70m 

The existing maximum FSR controls across 24-44 Wentworth Ave are 5:1. The proposal 

does not seek to change the FSR control. 

62



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

50 

The current height controls across 24-44 Wentworth Avenue cannot accommodate the 

current permissible FSR. The planning proposal enables the existing permitted FSR to be 

achieved for commercial uses.  

Table 6 below details the existing GFA and FSR on site at 24-44 Wentworth Avenue and 

illustrates the amount of GFA that remains available to each site under existing FSR 

controls. 

Table 6: GFA for 24-44 Wentworth Avenue 

Site Area Control Max. GFA Built GFA Built FSR Available GFA 

24 120m2  

 

 

5:1 

 

 

600m2 401m2 3.35:1 199m2 

26-28 240m2 1,200m2 1,046m2 4.36:1 154m2 

30-32 240m2 1,200m2 883m2 3.68:1 317m2 

34 126m2 630m2 373m2 2.96:1 257m2 

36-38 288m2 1,440m2 890m2 3.09:1 550m2 

40-44 506m2 2,530m2 1,147m2 2.27:1 1,383m2* 

*40-44 Wentworth Avenue is an individually listed heritage item (a pub) with a decorative parapet and cupola. 

Additional development above two thirds of the lot is not possible due to the heritage significant nature of the 

building. It is noted that it is highly unlikely the full 1,383m2 of available floor space can be achieved. 

63



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

51 

Figure 39: Maximum building height for 24-44 Wentworth Avenue  

 

Design excellence 

This Planning Proposal to increase the maximum height limit to over 25m requires 

development of the individual sites at 26-44 Wentworth Avenue to be carried out through 

the City of Sydney’s competitive design process. The site-specific DCP for this planning 

proposal include design excellence strategy provisions which stipulate the competitive 

design process must involve no less than three architectural firms ranging from emerging, 

emerged and established, with demonstrated experience designing high quality heritage 

infill buildings. Achieving design excellence is incentivised through the potential for up to 

10% additional FSR. This will ensure redevelopment of the site will be undertaken via a 

robust competitive process, which will result in a high quality building and design excellence 

outcome. 

Heritage conservation 

24-44 Wentworth Avenue consists of six buildings. Four buildings, including numbers 24-34 

belong to the same group listing of nine former commercial warehouses as numbers 4-22 

Wentworth Avenue. Number 40-44 Wentworth Avenue is an individual heritage item, the 

heritage curtilage of which covers numbers 42-44. Providing for the conservation of the 

buildings, including any internal heritage significant fabric, is a priority for this planning 

proposal and site-specific DCP. 

The four warehouse buildings are heritage listed as part of a group. The proposal retains 

the significance of the group of period buildings through conserving external fabric and 

providing a suitable adaptive reuse for the warehouses.  

64



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

52 

The planning proposal includes a one storey addition to 24 Wentworth Avenue and 

additions of roughly two storeys to 26-34 and 40 Wentworth Avenue. It is noted that 36-38 

Wentworth Avenue is not heritage listed and as such demolition and redevelopment is 

possible. Additional development at 40-44 Wentworth Avenue is only permitted at the 

northern portion of the site (number 40), which is not heritage listed due to extensive 

alterations over time.  

Upper level additions to heritage significant buildings in Central Sydney are not uncommon 

and design excellent outcomes can be achieved through material choices, architectural 

articulation, design of new building elements and suitable adaptive reuses. The additions 

above 24-40 Wentworth Avenue are not required to be set back, as development potential 

above the existing buildings is already limited by overshadowing constraints (discussed 

below).  

The additions above 24-40 Wentworth Avenue transition in height, stepping down at 

number 40 to meet the lower scale heritage listed pub on the southern corner. The 

proposed height increase reflects the slope of the street, from north to south, and provides 

an appropriate response to the heritage listed pub. Detailed provisions have been included 

in the site-specific DCP to ensure that any addition above the group heritage listed 

warehouses or any addition to 40 Wentworth Avenue is minimal, lightweight and 

unobtrusive. 

To achieve the allowable floor space and encourage design excellence, and maintain and 

conserve the structural and architectural integrity of the group heritage item and the 

individual heritage item at the southern end of the block, extensive provisions have been 

included in the site-specific DCP. Conservation and restoration of the buildings’ facades 

and significant interiors will enhance the significance of the group and individual item. The 

DCP provisions clarify the intended outcomes of this planning proposal, giving direction for 

the detailed design to be resolved at subsequent stages through the design and 

development processes. 

Built form 

24-44 Wentworth Avenue occupies the southern half of the street block subject to this 

planning proposal. The buildings are visible from the intersection of Wentworth Avenue and 

Goulburn Street. The key urban design issue is the visual impact of the bulk and scale of 

the increased height and the relationship between the proposed additions and the buildings 

below. 

Additional height above the southern half of the street block has been determined largely by 

the proposed podium height at 4-22 Wentworth Avenue, overshadowing impacts to the 

Meta building to the east and the heritage listed pub at the southern end of the block. 

The proposed building envelope steps down across the sloping site and provides an 

appropriate response to the existing surrounding mid-scale buildings of three to four storeys 

to the east and south of the site. The transition down to the pub maintains the corner 

building’s legibility and prominence, ensuring any additions to the north do not dominate or 

detract from the heritage item. 

Additional height above 24-44 Wentworth Avenue is not required to feature a setback, as 

provisions have been included to ensure development above the sites is minimal, 

lightweight and recessive. In this regard, it is noted that the subject site is located on a 

narrow and constrained block, with a depth of approximately 20m. At around 30m, 

Wentworth Avenue is one of the CBD’s wider streets. The considerable width of Wentworth 

Avenue, paired with the shallow depth of the site generally preclude development above the 

parapet line from being completely invisible when viewed from the public domain. The 

narrowness of the street bloc and the objective of preserving adequate levels of solar 

access to nearby residential properties also restricts the depth to which the proposed 

additional height can be developed.  

65



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

53 

Additional height beyond that proposed in the City’s concept plan will result in adverse 

overshadowing impacts to surrounding apartment buildings. Therefore, a clause has been 

inserted to the site specific provisions prohibiting additional height beyond that detailed in 

this planning proposal. The Draft DCP that accompanies this planning proposal includes 

site-specific provisions relating to the building envelope, setbacks, heritage conservation 

and the design excellence process which will guide the detailed design of the proposal at 

later stages. 

Solar access and overshadowing 

The subject site is located in a densely developed pocket of the city fringe, with several 

residential apartment buildings and mixed use developments in its vicinity. Solar access 

requirements of the ADG are detailed above in discussion concerning 4-22 Wentworth 

Avenue. 

The residential apartment building known as Meta to the east of the site, at 148 Goulburn 

Street, currently receives limited solar access. This is demonstrated by Figure 40 below 

(where yellow is over 2 hours of sun, orange is between 15 minutes and 2 hours, and red is 

zero). 

Figure 40: Existing solar access to Meta apartment building (148 Goulburn Street) – western elevation 

 

The residential apartment building known as Sydney Mansions to the south of the site, at 

133 Goulburn Street, receives an amount of solar access generally in line with the 

requirements of the ADG. The proposed additional height results in a negligible impact to 

the Sydney Mansions building, as demonstrated by Figures 41 and 42 below (where yellow 

is over 2 hours of sun, orange is between 15 minutes and 2 hours, and red is zero). 

66



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

54 

Figure 41: Existing solar access to Sydney Mansions building (133 Goulburn Street) – northern elevation 

 

Figure 42: Solar access as a result of the proposed height increase to 24-44 Wentworth Avenue 

 

Solar testing by the City has determined the maximum extent of the building envelope that 

will preserve existing solar access levels to Meta and have a minor impact on Sydney 

Mansions. The resulting maximum proposed planning envelope is shown at Figure 43 

below. The impact of the proposal on surrounding properties’ solar access is considered to 

be acceptable.  

67



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

55 

Figure 43: Maximum building envelope, 24-44 Wentworth Ave, as determined by overshadowing 
impacts 

 

Sustainability  

Target benchmarks for sustainability of commercial office development or a hotel use at 24-

44 Wentworth Avenue are established in the DCP. These include: 

 Commercial use: executing a Commitment Agreement of 6 star NABERS Energy for 

the base building with the NSW Office of the Environment, and achieving 4 star 

NABERS water whole building rating;  

 Hotel use: achieving certification for a 5-star Green Star for the design, and 4.5-

stars NABERS energy accreditation after construction.  

The site-specific DCP includes provisions for the development to specify design measures 

and targets for energy, water and waste should the sites be redeveloped for commercial 

office space or for a hotel use. Combined with the positive sustainability benefit from 

reusing the existing buildings at 24-44 Wentworth Avenue (with the exception of 36-38 

Wentworth Avenue which is not heritage listed and as such, may be demolished), these are 

considered reasonable sustainability standards. 

5.3. Draft development control plan 
This Planning Proposal is to amend the LEP to increase the maximum building height 

control and FSR control to encourage the provision of hotel or motel accommodation at 4-

22 Wentworth Avenue, and to change the height control for commercial development at 24-

44 Wentworth Avenue.  

Site-specific controls have also been included in the draft DCP to help guide the design for 

the street block. These controls address built form, heritage conservation, site servicing, 

68



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

56 

sustainability and a design excellence strategy. These controls will help to ensure the 

benefits of the increased maximum building height and FSR are realised and impacts are 

appropriately managed. 

5.4. Need for the planning proposal 

Q1. Is the Planning Proposal the result of any strategic study or report? 

4-22 Wentworth Avenue 

When Sydney LEP 2012 was adopted, Council and the Central Sydney Planning 

Committee noted that consideration was being given to a planning proposal for the site as a 

change in height and FSR had possible merit. This Planning Proposal also delivers on the 

City’s Visitor Accommodation Action Plan (2015). The proposed increased building height 

and increased floor space ratio will encourage development of the site for a mixed use hotel 

developmentor motel use only, which is consistent with the objectives of the City’s Visitor 

Accommodation Action Plan (2015).  

The proposed increase to both the maximum building height and maximum floor space ratio 

for 4-22 Wentworth Avenue will ensure resultant development creates an effective building 

envelope for the proposed mixed use hotel developmentuse, with most additional height 

located at the northern end of the site, close to the 24 storey Memocorp building across 

Wemyss Lane. The proposal steps down considerably at the southern portion of the site, 

from around 58m to 25m, producing a building envelope that transitions and responds 

appropriately to neighbouring 3 to 5 storey warehouse buildings as well as nearby 

residential development. The building envelope has been specifically designed to ensure 

adequate solar access is maintained to residential properties.  

The proposal also allows for an appropriate setback above the existing heritage listed 

commercial warehouse on the corner, at 4-6 Wentworth Avenue. A 4.5m setback is 

required for the podium addition, which can be reduced to a zero setback where a scheme 

is considered to achieve design excellence.  

The proposal delivers improved streetscape amenity and activation at ground floor 

frontages. Proposed changes to the maximum building height and floor space ratio controls 

result in a building envelope that is sensitive to existing heritage buildings on site and 

adjacent to the site, as well as surrounding residential uses.   

The proposed land use is consistent with strategic outcomes envisioned in the Visitor and 

Accommodation Action Plan 2015 which aims to encourage and facilitate more mid-range 

hotel development across the Local Government Area, particularly in and around the 

Sydney CBD. 

24-44 Wentworth Avenue 

The proposed changes to the southern half of the street block are the result of a resolution 

of Council. An urban design investigation of the buildings at 24-44 Wentworth Avenue 

determined some additional height can be accommodated above the existing buildings 

without detrimentally affecting the significance of the heritage listed sites or causing undue 

overshadowing impacts to nearby residential properties.  

The proposed land use, being commercial development, is consistent with strategic 

outcomes envisioned in Sydney 2030 which aims to encourage a strong and diverse 

economy. 

This planning proposal, which encompasses 4-44 Wentworth Avenue, presents a holistic 

approach to an underutilised street block that is immediately adjacent to the Central Sydney 

area, close to the City of Sydney villages of Surry Hills and Darlinghurst and has great 

public transport links.  

69



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

57 

Q2. Is the Planning Proposal the best means of achieving the objectives or intended 

outcomes, or is there a better way? 

4-22 Wentworth Avenue 

The objectives for the site are to encourage the provision of a new mixed use hotelor motel 

development to support Sydney’s tourism sector, improve the diversity and increase the 

quantity of tourist and visitor accommodation in the LGA, achieve design excellence, 

improve the site’s amenity and contribution to the surrounding area, respond appropriately 

to the built form context, conserve and enhance heritage significant fabric on site, and 

ensure the development limits impacts on neighbouring properties. 

The current controls permit a building height to 22m and a FSR of 6:1 at 4-6 Wentworth 

Avenue, and up to 18m and 5:1 at 8, 10-12, 14, and 16-22 Wentworth Avenue.  

As the site is located on the fringe of the CBD, is close to public transport and features an 

existing, operating hotel, it is appropriate to facilitate an expanded hotel development on 

this site. Changing the height control to redistribute the permitted floor space plus 

marginally increasing the FSR control for a mixed use hotel scheme hotel or motel 

accommodation use will result in better aligned development standards that can facilitate a 

use that is in high demand, contributing to the local and state economy.   

Varying the existing maximum building height control or maximum FSR control through a 

development application is not an appropriate way to achieve the objectives. Under Clause 

4.6 of the LEP, development consent may be granted for development which exceeds the 

height and/or FSR as set out in the relevant maps. However, the height and FSR of the 

proposed scheme are substantially greater than the existing controls. Approval of a 

development application that substantially exceeds the height control would set an 

undesirable precedent, undermine the LEP height and FSR controls and prevent broader 

strategic considerations of allowing additional height at the site.   

24-44 Wentworth Avenue 

The objectives for the site are to encourage the provision of additional commercial floor 

space for commercial premises, health services facilities, educational establishments, hotel 

accommodation, entertainment premises, light industry and information and education 

facilities. 

The current controls permit a building height to 18m and a FSR of 5:1 at 24-44 Wentworth 

Avenue. As detailed above, the site is proximate to the CBD with good public transport 

links. Varying the existing maximum building height control for commercial uses only 

unlocks the existing floor space permissible across the sites, with the exception of the 

heritage listed pub at 40-44 Wentworth Avenue. 

An incentive for specific uses is the best means of supporting strategic outcomes, zone 

objectives and ensuring development manages the environmental conditions of the area. 

5.5. Relationship to strategic planning framework 

Q3. Is the Planning Proposal consistent with the objectives and actions of the 

applicable regional or sub-regional strategy (including the Sydney Metropolitan 

Strategy and the exhibited draft strategies)? 

A Metropolis of Three Cities – the Greater Sydney Regional Plan 

A Metropolis for Three Cities – the Greater Sydney Regional Plan is the NSW State 

Government’s overarching strategic plan that outlines a 40-year vision and sets out a 20-

year plan to manage growth and change for Sydney. It identifies key challenges facing 

Sydney including a population increase of 1.7 million, and a requirement for 725,000 new 

70



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

58 

homes by 2036. The Plan also refers to a whole-of-government agenda to create 1 million 

new jobs in NSW by 2036.  

In responding to these and other challenges, the plan sets out four categories and 10 

directions, with associated objectives. These are: 

1. Infrastructure and collaboration: a city supported by infrastructure, and a collaborative 

city; 

2. Liveability: a city for people, housing the city and a city of great places: 

3. Productivity: a well-connected city and jobs and skills for the city; and 

4. Sustainability: a city in its landscape, an efficient city and a resilient city. 

Strategies of particular relevance to this Planning Proposal include: 

– 13.1 – identify, conserve and enhance environmental heritage; 

– 22.1 – provide access to jobs, goods and services in centres; 

– 24.2 – consider encouraging the development of a range of well-designed and located 

tourism and visitation facilities and developing industry skills critical to growing the 

visitor economy; and 

– 33.1 – support initiatives that contribute to the aspirational objective of achieving net-

zero emissions by 2050. 

The Planning Proposal is consistent with several relevant directions, objectives and 

strategies of the plan. Specifically it will: 

– Revitalise a site with heritage-listed buildings; 

– Promote urban renewal of a site which is well situated close to public transport; and 

– Provide supply of new tourist and visitor accommodation which will result in additional 

employment opportunities (from 62 to 118 jobs), as well as increasing Sydney’s 

accommodation stock. 

Eastern City District Plan 

The Eastern City District Plan sets out the NSW Government’s vision, priorities and actions 

for the Eastern District, including the City of Sydney. It establishes a 20 year vision for the 

Eastern District to be a global sustainability leader, managing growth while maintaining and 

enhancing liveability, productivity and attractiveness for residents and visitors. Priorities and 

associated actions for productivity, liveability and sustainability seek to deliver this vision.   

This Planning Proposal is consistent with the following priorities from the Plan: 

– Productivity Priority E7: Growing a stronger and more competitive Harbour CBD and 

Productivity Priority E13: Supporting growth of targeted industry sectors – The site is 

within the Harbour CBD, one of the Sydney Region's three metropolitan centres and on 

the boundary of Central Sydney. The District Plan recognises the importance of tourism 

in the Harbour CBD. This Planning Proposal will support and contribute to the visitor 

economy by facilitating the redevelopment of the northern half of the site for a mixed 

use hotel developmentuse in the under-supplied mid-range market. Its location on the 

CBD fringe and in walking distance of the City of Sydney villages of Darlinghurst and 

Surry Hills will support to the use of public transport. The retention and conservation of 

the heritage listed commercial warehouse buildings adds to the visitor experience of the 

hotel and Surry Hills. This Planning Proposal will also contribute to and grow Sydney’s 

economy by incentivising commercial development.at the southern half of the street 

block 

– Sustainability Priority E19: Reducing carbon emissions and managing energy, water 

and waste efficiently – This Planning Proposal and site-specific draft DCP will ensure 

sustainability benchmarks for hotel or motel accommodation use are achieved. 

71



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

59 

Q4. Is the Planning Proposal consistent with a council’s local strategy or other local 

strategic plan? 

Sustainable Sydney 2030 is Council’s vision for the sustainable development of the City to 

2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of the City and 10 

targets against which to measure progress. This Planning Proposal is aligned with the 

following relevant strategic directions and objectives: 

– Direction 1 – A globally competitive and innovative city – The planning proposal is 

consistent with the City's adopted Tourism Action Plan (2013) and Visitor 

Accommodation Action Plan (2015). This planning proposal will facilitate redevelopment 

of 4-22 Wentworth Avenue for a future mixed use hotel, delivering needed mid-range 

visitor accommodation and supporting Sydney’s tourism economy. It will also offer 

employment opportunities. This investment in the site will contribute to making Sydney 

attractive to global visitors and investors. The planning proposal also encourages the 

redevelopment 24-44 Wentworth Avenue for commercial purposes, which is consistent 

with local and state policy directions, as well as zone objectives. 

– Direction 2 provides a road map for the City to become a Leading Environmental 

performer – Redevelopment of the site, facilitated by this Planning Proposal and 

through the design excellence process, will deliver new building stock with significantly 

better environmental performance than the current development through extensive 

sustainability provisions detailed in the attached DCP. 

– Direction 3 – Integrated transport for a connected City – The site is close to bus 

services providing connections to Central Sydney and other areas in the Sydney 

metropolitan area. It is also close to the future South East Light Rail Line, expected to 

be completed in 2019. A new light rail stop will be located about 500 metres to the north 

of the site. This new light rail line will connect Circular Quay to Randwick and Kingsford. 

Q5. Is the Planning Proposal consistent with applicable State Environmental 

Planning Policies (SEPPs)? 

The Planning Proposal is consistent with applicable State Environmental Planning Policies 

(SEPPs) as outlined in Table 7. SEPPs not mentioned are not applicable to the subject 
proposal. 

Table 7: Consistency with SEPPs 

SEPP Comment 

SEPP No 55 – Remediation of 

Land 

Consistent. There is no proposed change to the 

zoning. This Planning Proposal does not contradict or 

hinder application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Exempt and Complying 

Development Codes) 2008 

Consistent. This Planning Proposal does not contradict 

or hinder application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Miscellaneous Consent 

Provisions) 2007 

Consistent. This Planning Proposal does not contradict 

or hinder application of this SEPP. 

No Regional Environmental Plans (REPs) for the Sydney and Greater Metropolitan regions, 

which are deemed SEPPs, apply to the subject Planning Proposal. 

Q6. Is the Planning Proposal consistent with applicable section 117 Ministerial 

directions? 

The Planning Proposal’s consistency with applicable section 117 Ministerial directions is 

outlined in Table 8. Directions which are not applicable are not included. 

72



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

60 

Table 8: Consistency with Ministerial directions 

No. Direction Comment 

1. Employment and Resources 

1.1 Business and Industrial zones Consistent. The subject site is zoned B4 

Mixed Use under the LEP. The zone 

permits commercial, retail and residential 

uses with development consent. This 

planning proposal does not propose to 

change the site’s existing zoning. The 

planning proposal is consistent with the 

objectives and requirements of this 

direction as the proposed development 

concept will increase the provision of an 

expanded commercial use, enhance the 

vitality of the area and provide an increased 

amount of employment opportunities in the 

community. The new development is 

centrally located and will maximise use of 

sustainable transport measures.  

2. Environment and Heritage 

2.3 Heritage conservation Consistent. This planning proposal provides 

for the conservation and re-use of the 

heritage listed warehouse buildings on site.  

3. Housing Infrastructure and Urban Development 

3.4 Integrating land use and 

transport 

Consistent. The objective of this direction is 

to ensure building forms, land use 

locations, development designs, 

subdivision and street layouts improve 

access to housing, jobs and services by 

reducing the dependence on cars. The 

subject site is centrally located, and the 

proposed mixed use hotel development will 

encourage the use of public transport 

including the existing bus and train services 

by visitors and workers. This planning 

proposal is consistent with the aims, 

objectives and principle of Improving 

Transport Choice – Guidelines for planning 

and development (DUAP 2001), and The 

Right Place for Business and Services – 

Planning Policy (DUAP 2001). 

4. Hazard and Risk 

4.1  Acid sulphate soils Consistent. This planning proposal does 

not contradict or hinder application of acid 

sulphate soils provisions in the Sydney LEP 

2012. 

5. Regional Planning 

5.10 Implementation of regional 

plans 

Consistent. This direction requires planning 

proposals to give effect to the vision, land 

use strategy, goals, directions and actions 

contained in Regional Plans. This planning 

73



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

61 

No. Direction Comment 

proposal supports the implementation of 

the Eastern City District Plan as discussed 

in section 5.6 of this Planning Proposal. 

6. Local Plan Making 

6.1  Approval and referral 

requirements 

Consistent. This direction ensures that LEP 

provisions encourage the efficient and 

appropriate assessment of development. 

This planning proposal does not include 

any concurrence, consultation or referral 

provisions. Additionally, it does not identify 

any development as designated 

development.  

6.3  Site-specific provisions Inconsistent. Justification provided as 

below.  

 

Division 5 of the LEP contains site-specific 

provisions for various sites across the City. 

This planning proposal involves introducing 

site-specific controls into the LEP to ensure 

that increases to the height and FSR 

controls for 4-22 Wentworth Avenue are 

permissible for hotel or motel 

accommodation and commercial uses only, 

and increases to the height control for 24-

44 Wentworth Avenue are permissible for 

commercial uses only. 

 

The site-specific provisions will specify that 

additional floor space but not height can be 

achieved through design excellence under 

clause 6.21 of the LEP for 4-22 Wentworth 

Avenue. Controls will also be prepared to 

ensure no additional height can be pursued 

through a Clause 4.6 variation under the 

LEP for the whole street block (4-44 

Wentworth Avenue). These site-specific 

provisions ensure the proposed 

development does not result in adverse 

amenity impacts to surrounding properties. 

 

To ensure unnecessarily restrictive site-

specific controls, the maximum building 

height has been amended to reflect its 

equivalent Reduced Levels. Additionally, 

geographic coordinates to determine the 

height plane have been transferred to the 

Site Specific DCP to make the height 

control less prescriptive. 

7. Metropolitan Planning 

74



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

62 

No. Direction Comment 

7.1  Implementation of A Plan for 

Growing Sydney 

Consistent. The aim of this direction is to 

give legal effect to the principles, directions 

and priorities contained in A Planning for 

Growing Sydney, which has been replaced 

by the Greater Sydney Region Plan – a 

Metropolis of Three Cities. Section 5.5 of 

this Planning Proposal discusses how the 

proposal is consistent with a Metropolis of 

Three Cities.  

5.6. Environmental, social and economic impact 

Q7. Is there any likelihood that critical habitat or threatened species, populations or 

ecological communities, or their habitats, will be adversely affected as a result of the 

Planning Proposal? 

The subject site is located in an urbanised area and does not contain any known critical 

habitat or threatened species, populations, ecological communities or habitats.   

As part of any future redevelopment of the site resulting from this Planning Proposal, the 

City will consider environmental impacts that may be generated by the development. 

Q8. Are there any other likely environmental effects as a result of the Planning 

Proposal and how are they proposed to be managed? 

This Planning Proposal is to amend the maximum building height control and maximum 

floor space ratio control applicable to the site under the LEP to incentivise the development 

of a mixed use hotel developmentor motel accommodation only, in a manner that ensures 

the heritage item on site is appropriately retained and conserved, and mitigates other 

impacts.  

Further proposed provisions in the site-specific DCP establish sufficient measures to 

ensure the new building envelope will provide for appropriate heritage, urban design and 

public domain outcomes when the detailed design is resolved at subsequent design 

excellence competition and development application stages.  

The proposed scheme has been developed in collaboration with the proponent, with any 

environmental effects resulting from the proposal having been identified and resolved 

during assessment. Design principles to ensure environmental effects such as 

overshadowing are appropriately managed have been incorporated into the draft DCP. 

Environmental impacts are discussed in section 5.4 of this Planning Proposal.  

Q9. Has the Planning Proposal adequately addressed any social and economic 

effects? 

This planning proposal provides an opportunity to redevelop the site for commercial 

purposes including visitor accommodation to support Sydney’s tourism industry, which 

makes a significant contribution to the local and state economy. During the 2017/18 

financial year, 6.09 million international and domestic overnight visitors stayed in 

commercial accommodation located in the City of Sydney LGA. The Australian 

government’s tourism strategy set ambitious national targets to double visitor spending by 

2020 to $140 billion. 

2013 analysis by the City of Sydney found that a sustainable supply of visitor 

accommodation is needed to support projected tourism growth. It calculated a need for 

5,759 additional rooms between 2013 and 2021, plus a further 5,499 rooms between 2022 

and 2030, particularly in the 3 star range. 

75



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

63 

City of Sydney’s Sustainable Sydney 2030 and 2013 Tourism Action Plan established 

objectives to encourage and facilitate additional visitor accommodation development within 

the council area. Approaches such as this planning proposal deliver on this objective.  

This planning proposal is likely to have positive economic effects by encouraging the 

revitalisation of the block and supporting key industry sectors including commercial, 

education, health, tourism and cultural uses. 

Redevelopment of the site also offers social benefits of greater public access and 

enjoyment of the local heritage items at 4-34 Wentworth Avenue and 40-44 Wentworth 

Avenue and revitalised uses. In terms of economic benefits, it will contribute to the 

diversification of Sydney’s hotel stock, increased commercial floor space close to Central 

Sydney and provide additional employment opportunities.  

5.7. State and Commonwealth interests 

Q10. Is there adequate public infrastructure for the planning proposal? 

The site is located in an area that is well serviced by public transport. Frequent major bus 

and train services are located within walking distance of the site. These public transport 

services provide access to various destinations in the Sydney metropolitan area, including 

the CBD, the eastern and inner western suburbs, and beyond.  

The traffic assessment prepared by ARUP Pty Ltd found there are no traffic or transport 

issues that would prevent the proposed scheme for 4-22 Wentworth Avenue from being 

approved.  

The Planning Proposal for 4-22 Wentworth Avenue will increase the amount of 

development floor space permitted under the existing floor space ratio control by around 

0.48:1 for hotel or motel accommodation, commercial premises, health services facilities, 

educational establishments, entertainment premises, light industry and information and 

education facilities only, or about 0.56:1 should the development achieve design 

excellence. The site is centrally and suitably located, and the increase in worker and visitor 

population generated as a result of the proposal is not anticipated to result in excessive or 

undue density impacts. 

The draft DCP proposes site-specific controls to appropriately manage traffic impacts 

including location of vehicle entries and servicing. 

All utility services including electricity, telecommunications, water, sewer and stormwater 

are currently available on the site. If the site is redeveloped it is expected the developer will 

upgrade these services to support the proposed development.  

Q11. What are the views of state and Commonwealth public authorities consulted in 

accordance with the Gateway determination? 

The Gateway Determination will advise the public authorities to be consulted as part of the 

Planning Proposal process. Any issues raised will be incorporated into this Planning 

Proposal following consultation in the public exhibition period. 

  

76



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

64 

6. Mapping 
The planning proposal does not seek to amend any maps contained in Sydney LEP 2012. 

Instead, additional building height and an increased floor space ratio are proposed to be 

allowed through insertion of a new clause in Sydney LEP 2012, as discussed earlier in this 

report. 

  

77



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

65 

7. Community consultation 
Public consultation will be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of the Gateway 

Determination.  

It is proposed that, at a minimum, this will involve the notification of the public exhibition of 

the Planning Proposal on the City of Sydney website, relevant local newspaper(s) 

circulating widely and in writing to the owners and occupiers of adjoining and nearby 

properties and relevant community groups.  

It is expected the Planning Proposal will be publicly exhibited for at least 28 days in 

accordance with section 5.5.2 of ‘A guide to preparing local environmental plans’.  

It is proposed that exhibition material will be made available on the City of Sydney website 

and at Town Hall House at 456 Kent Street, Sydney.  

Consultation with relevant NSW agencies and authorities and other relevant organisations 

will be undertaken in accordance with the Gateway Determination. 

  

78



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

66 

8. Project timeline 
The anticipated timeframe for the completion of the planning proposal is as follows: 

Table 9: Proposed project timeline 

Stage Timeframe 

Commencement / Gateway Determination June 2020 

Government agency consultation October 2020 

Public exhibition October 2020 

Consideration of submissions November/December 2020 

Post exhibition consideration of proposal January 2021 

Draft and finalise LEP February 2021 

LEP made March 2021 

Plan forwarded to Department of Planning, 

Industry and Environment for notification 

March 2021 

  

79



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

67 

Appendix A1: Proponent’s urban design report 
  

80



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

68 

Appendix A2: Proponent’s indicative plans 
  

81



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

69 

Appendix A3: Proponent’s heritage impact statement 

82



Planning Proposal –  4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

70 

 
 

 

 

 

 

83



Attachment B 

Draft Development Control Plan 

4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

 

84



 

 
 

Draft Sydney 
Development 
Control Plan 2012  
4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

September 2020 

 

85



 

86



Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

2 

Insertions or deletions in strikethrough or underline 
 

The purpose of this Development Control Plan  

The purpose of this plan is to amend Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 to insert site 

specific provisions to guide future development at 4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills. 

Citation   

This plan may be referred to as Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012: 4-44 

Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills. 

Land covered by this plan 

This plan applies to land identified as 4-38 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills, Lots 42-59 

Deposited Plan 6534, and 40-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills, Lot 1, Deposited Plan 

20131245. 

Relationship of this plan to Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

This plan amends Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 in the manner set out below.  

Amendments to Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

This plan amends the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 by: 

• Inserting a new section 6.3.X 4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills, at the end of section 
6.3 – ‘Specific site controls prepared as part of a Planning Proposal’, as shown at 
Appendix A. 

• Updating figure numbers under Section 6 of the Sydney Development Control Plan 
2012 as required.  

  

87



Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

3 

Appendix A 

6.3.X Development controls: 4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

The following objectives and provisions apply to the site 4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry 

Hills, as shown in Figure 6.1, where relevant site-specific provisions of the Sydney Local 

Environmental Plan 2012 (Sydney LEP 2012) are implemented. 

For 4-22 Wentworth Avenue, Clause 6.XX (new clause) of Sydney LEP 2012 enables 

development to exceed the height and floor space ratio shown in the height in metres and 

floor space ratio maps up to a prescribed amount, provided the entire site is developed for 

commercial uses (including health services facilities, educational establishments, hotel or 

motel accommodation, entertainment premises, light industry or information and education 

facilities with ancillary commercial premises at the ground level.  

For 24-44 Wentworth Avenue, Clause 6.XX (new clause) of Sydney LEP 2012 enables 

development to exceed the height shown in the height in metres map up to a prescribed 

amount, provided the sites are developed for commercial uses (including health services 

facilities, educational establishments, hotel accommodation, entertainment premises, light 

industry and information and education facilities). 

All other relevant provisions in the DCP apply, except where they are inconsistent with 

these provisions. The provisions of this section prevail in the event of any inconsistency. 

Objectives 

(a) Facilitate the provision of new tourist and visitor accommodation in an appropriate 
location. 

(b) Facilitate the provision of commercial development in a central, easily accessible 
location that is close to Sydney’s CBD and a variety of public transport links. 

(c) Define the maximum building envelope to deliver a high quality built form that is of 
appropriate bulk and scale for its location whilst minimising amenity impacts to 
surrounding properties. 

(d) Conserve the group heritage item of former warehouses at 4-34 Wentworth Avenue, 
and the individual heritage item known as the former Macquarie Hotel at 40-44 
Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills. 

(e) Ensure that the quality of design and setbacks are appropriate to and respect the 

architectural integrity and heritage character of the group heritage item in its setting; 

(f) Ensure new development and additions are compatible with the heritage items and 
positively contribute to the site and surrounding streetscape. 

(g) Activate Wentworth Avenue through appropriate uses and design. 

(h) Establish benchmarks to achieve ecologically sustainable development. 

(i) Establish a design excellence strategy for a competitive design process in accordance 
with Sydney LEP 2012 and the City of Sydney Competitive Design Policy. 

Provisions – 4-44 Wentworth Avenue 

The following provisions apply to 4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills, as shown in Figure 

6.XX below. 

88



Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

4 

 

Figure 6.xxx: Boundary of 4-44 Wentworth Avenue as shown in red dotted line – boundary of 

site-specific controls for 4-22 shown in blue, boundary of site specific controls for 24-44 

Wentworth Avenue shown in green. 

6.3.X.1 Overshadowing of neighbouring residential properties during mid-winter 

(1) Proposed development must minimise overshadowing of neighbouring residential 
properties during mid-winter, including, where a nearby residential property does not 
currently receive a minimum of 2 hours of solar access, the proposed development 
must ensure existing solar access to neighbouring residential properties is not reduced 
by more than 20% in time. 

(2) Proposed development must not increase the number of neighbouring residential 
properties that receive no direct sun (less than 15 minutes). 

6.3.X.2 Heritage conservation 

(1) Development of the site must maintain the structural and architectural integrity of the 

group heritage item at 4-34 Wentworth Avenue and the individual heritage item at 40-44 

Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills. 

(2) New uses and new works to the group heritage item shall retain the industrial character 

of the buildings. New uses and works to all heritage items shall maximise retention and 

exposure of significant building fabric and spaces, internally and externally. 

(3) Development of the site shall include conservation works to the heritage items, such as 

the repair and making good of any damage to existing original fabric, reinstatement of 

original features including original timber windows, laneway basement windows, 

finishes, removal of air conditioning units from the facades, removal and replacement of 

later aluminium windows with timber windows and removal of all existing façade 

mounted plumbing and services. Exposed brick finish of the facade of no. 14 Wentworth 

Avenue (which is currently painted) shall be reinstated. 

(4) For heritage items, investigate and adopt alternative solutions to the Building Code of 

Australia performance requirements, with the aim of retaining and exposing the existing 

timber beams and columns and other historic features. 

89



Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

5 

(5) Locate building services for new uses, such as loading, plant rooms, fire egress and 

lifts, within modern fabric, new spaces or fabric of lower significance where possible, to 

minimise impacts on the significant fabric of the buildings. 

(6) The podium addition at 4-22 Wentworth Avenue and any addition above 24-44 

Wentworth Avenue shall be designed to present as a discrete, light-weight addition with 

an articulated southern side wall, to minimise the visual bulk of additions and 

presentation of a blank side wall to the public domain to sites to the south. 

(7) A heritage interpretation strategy shall be prepared and implemented for this site as part 

of any development. 

(8) Development must maintain the individuality and distinction of each building, internally 

and externally, within the group of this heritage item, including retention of significant 

floors and floor levels, interpretation of significant spaces, separate existing entries to 

the buildings and the party walls of the buildings. Single openings may be created within 

the party wall for flow of space provided they are set away from street frontages and are 

not highly visible from the streets.  

(9) Development must not detract from the group’s distinctive streetscape presentation. 

(10) Development must be architecturally designed to respond to the individual buildings 

within the group heritage item and the separately listed heritage item at 40-44 

Wentworth Avenue.   

(11) Vertical additions above the group heritage item must respond to and reflect the 

varying heights of buildings. 

(12) Alterations to building facades should be limited to maintenance, reinstating original 

features or removing non-significant features.  

(13) Any existing openings to the basement on the laneway shall be retained and where 

possible, not be amalgamated or extended.  

(14) Later non-original awnings may be removed or replaced with a sympathetic awning 

characteristic of the period of the building. 

(15) Significant internal and external architectural features of the original buildings should 

be retained, including, but not limited to, original/significant facade detailing, timber 

framed windows, timber joinery and internal timber structure.  

(16) Any existing exposed brickwork and stonework must not be rendered or painted.  

(17) The opening of the original loading dock of 10-12 Wentworth Avenue at the rear lane 

must be retained.  

(18) Existing floor levels within each building must be maintained. 

(19) New internal walls, floors and ceilings shall not be built across existing windows. 

6.3.X.3 Sustainability 

Hotel use 

(1) Any hotel development is to be designed to achieve 5 star or higher Green Star Design 

& As Built certification, exceeding the minimum mandatory energy and water credits, or 

equivalent certification. 

(2) The owner of the hotel development must execute a Commitment Agreement of 4.5 

stars National Australian Built Environment Rating System (NABERS) Energy for the 

whole hotel building with the NSW Office of Environment. 

(3) The hotel development is to achieve 4 star NABERS water whole building rating, as 

evidenced by hydraulic engineer’s report at detailed design stage. 

 

90



Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

6 

Commercial office use 

(4) Any development for the purposes of commercial office use must execute a 

Commitment Agreement of 6 stars National Australian Built Environment Rating System 

(NABERS) Energy for the base building with the NSW Office of Environment. 

(5) The commercial office development is to achieve 4 star NABERS water whole building 

rating, as evidenced by hydraulic engineer’s report at detailed design stage. 

6.3.X.4 Public domain and site servicing 

(1) Existing street trees are to be retained/maintained. 

(2) Building services and vehicular access are to be consolidated and are to be located on 

Wemyss Lane.  

(3) For any hotel development, a transport management plan incorporating hotel operations 

and servicing shall be submitted with the development application, setting out 

management strategies to provide for: 

(a) Pick up and drop off on Wemyss Lane; 

(b) Details of bus/coach parking including location and use; and  

(c) Pedestrian safety. 

6.3.X.5 Awnings 

(1) Awnings may be permitted to Wentworth Avenue but only where they considered to be 

appropriate for and sympathetic to the heritage significant facades of the buildings. 

Provisions – 4-24 Wentworth Avenue 

The following provisions apply to 4-24 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills, as shown in Figure 

6.XX below. 

 

Figure 6.xxx: Boundary of site specific controls for 4-22 Wentworth Avenue shown in blue. 

91



Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

7 

6.3.X.6 Built form – 4-22 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

(1) Development is not to exceed the maximum planning envelope described by ‘Figure 
6.xxx: 4-22 Wentworth Avenue – Maximum planning envelope plan’ and ‘Figure 6.xxx: 
4-22 Wentworth Avenue – Maximum planning envelope – axonometric view’. 

The envelope is the maximum permissible extent of the built form and the final building 

design must be appropriately massed within the envelope. 

Refer to Table 1 for a series of geographic coordinates to enable additional height up to 

a plane in the Sydney LEP 2012 if the site is developed for commercial uses (including 

health services facilities, educational establishments, hotel or motel accommodation, 

entertainment premises, light industry or information and education facilities.  

 

Location  Geographic 

coordinate 

Proposed control (Sydney LEP) 

4-6 Wentworth Avenue 

Lots 42 and 43, DP6534 

X=334635.65 

Y=6249982.84 

RL 92.59 (or around 62m) 

8 Wentworth Avenue 

Lot 44, DP6534 

X=334631.96 

Y=6249967.04 

 

RL 50 (or around 24m) 

10-12 Wentworth Avenue 

Lots 45 and 46, DP6534 

X=334630.53 

Y=6249960.91 

RL 50 (or around 24m) 

14 Wentworth Avenue 

Lot 47, DP6534 

X=334617.50 

Y=6249954.32 

RL 50 (or around 24m) 

16-22 Wentworth Avenue 

Lots 48, 49, 50, 51, DP6534 

X=334601.99 

Y=6249928.24 

RL 50 (or around 24m) 

Table 1: 4-22 Wentworth Avenue – Geographic coordinates and height controls 

(2) Despite 6.3.X.1 (1) above, development may only be permitted within the cantilevered 
portion of the tower form and within the reduced setback to the rooftop podium addition 
(both shown in darker blue) as per ‘Figure 6.xxx: 4-22 Wentworth Avenue – Maximum 
planning envelope plan’, ‘Figure 6.xxx: 4-22 Wentworth Avenue – Maximum planning 
envelope – axonometric view’, provided: 

(3) A competitive design process has been carried out for the whole site and the 
development is considered to achieve design excellence in accordance with Clause 
6.21 of Sydney LEP 2012; and 

(4) The consent authority is satisfied that the podium addition has been designed: 

(a) To ensure three dimensional features of host buildings or adjacent buildings can be 

retained (e.g. cornicing, turrets, side return walls); 

(b) To ensure a finely articulated junction with the existing form; 

(c) To a high standard, using high quality materials; 

(d) To reference the proportioning and detailing of the host building (without copying or 

reproducing those details); 

(e) To ensure its proportioning achieves a harmonious bulk and form relationship with 

the host building; 

92



Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

8 

(f) To ensure its architectural detail clearly reads as a contemporary structure; 

(g) To be clearly articulated from the host building through a horizontal separation or 

similar architectural device; 

(h) To acknowledge the fine grain of the streetscape; 

(i) To ensure its structure does not diminish the quality of interior spaces within the 

host building; and 

(j) Without the predominant use of glazing. 

93



Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

9 

Figure 6.xxx: 4-22 Wentworth Avenue – Maximum planning envelope plan 

Note: design excellence shown in darker blue 

94



Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

10 

 

Figure 6xxx: 4-22 Wentworth Avenue: Maximum planning envelope – axonometric view 

Note: design excellence shown in darker blue 

 

95



Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

11 

 

Figure 6.xxx: 4-22 Wentworth Avenue – Maximum street wall heights  

6.3.X.7 Design excellence strategy – 4-22 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

(1) The competitive design process is to be undertaken in accordance with clause 6.21 of 
Sydney LEP 2012 and is to apply to the entire site. The competitive design process is to 
comprise an invited competitive design alternatives process involving no less than four 
architectural firms ranging from emerging, emerged and established architectural firms, 
with demonstrated experience designing high quality heritage infill buildings.  

(2) The selection panel is to comprise a total of four (4) members. The proponent is to 
nominate two (2) panel members and the City of Sydney is to nominate two (2) panel 
members. 

(3) A building demonstrating design excellence is eligible for an amount of additional floor 
space in accordance with the design excellence provisions of Sydney LEP 2012. No 
additional height is to be awarded as a result of the competitive design process. 

(4) Any additional floor space that may be awarded in relation to any competitive 
process(es) as per clause 6.21(7) of Sydney LEP 2012 is to be accommodated within 
the proposed planning envelope as shown in ‘Figure 6.xxx: 4-22 Wentworth Avenue – 
Maximum planning envelope plan’, ‘Figure 6.xxx: 4-22 Wentworth Avenue – Maximum 
planning envelope – axonometric view 1’ and ‘Figure 6.xxx: 4-22 Wentworth Avenue – 
Maximum planning envelope – axonometric view 2’ and ‘Figure 6.xxx: 4-22 Wentworth 
Avenue – Maximum planning envelope section’.   

96



Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

12 

 

Provisions – 24-44 Wentworth Avenue 

The following provisions apply to 24-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills, as shown in Figure 

6.XX below. 

 

Figure 6.xxx: Boundary of site specific controls for 24-44 Wentworth Avenue shown in green. 

6.3.X.8 Built form – 24-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

(1) Development is not to exceed the maximum planning envelope described by ‘Figure 
6.xxx: 24-44 Wentworth Avenue – Maximum planning envelope plan’, ‘Figure 6.xxx: 24-
44 Wentworth Avenue – Maximum planning envelope – axonometric view 1’ and ‘Figure 
6.xxx: 24-44 Wentworth Avenue – Maximum planning envelope – axonometric view 2.’  

The envelope is the maximum permissible extent of the built form and the final building 

design must be appropriately massed within the envelope.  

(2) Despite 6.3.X.1 (1) above, development may exceed the permissible FSR by up to 10% 
provided: 

(3) A competitive design process has been carried out for the whole site and the 
development is considered to achieve design excellence in accordance with Clause 
6.21 of Sydney LEP 2012; and 

(4) The consent authority is satisfied that the addition has been designed: 

(a) To ensure three dimensional features of host buildings or adjacent buildings can be 

retained (e.g. cornicing, turrets, side return walls); 

(b) To ensure a finely articulated junction with the existing form; 

(c) To a high standard, using high quality materials; 

(d) To reference the proportioning and detailing of the host building (without copying or 

reproducing those details); 

(e) To ensure its proportioning achieves a harmonious bulk and form relationship with 

the host building; 

(f) To ensure its architectural detail clearly reads as a contemporary structure; 

97



Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

13 

(g) To be clearly articulated from the host building through a horizontal separation or 

similar architectural device; 

(h) To acknowledge the fine grain of the streetscape; 

(i) To ensure its structure does not diminish the quality of interior spaces within the 

host building; and 

(j) Without the predominant use of glazing. 

 

Figure 6.xxx: 24-44 Wentworth Avenue – Maximum planning envelope plan 

98



Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

14 

 

Figure 6xxx: 24-44 Wentworth Avenue: Maximum planning envelope – axonometric view 1 

99



Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

15 

 

Figure 6xxx: 24-44 Wentworth Avenue: Maximum planning envelope – axonometric view 2 

 

Figure 6.xxx: 24-44 Wentworth Avenue – Maximum street wall heights  

100



Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

16 

6.3.X.9 Design excellence strategy – 26-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills 

Note: this provision does not apply to 24 Wentworth Avenue, as the increase in building 

height is below 25m. 

(1) The competitive design process is to be undertaken in accordance with clause 6.21 of 
Sydney LEP 2012 and is to apply to the entire site. The competitive design process is to 
comprise an invited competitive design alternatives process involving no less than three 
architectural firms ranging from emerging, emerged and established architectural firms, 
with demonstrated experience designing high quality heritage infill buildings.  

(2) The selection panel is to comprise a total of four (4) members. The proponent is to 
nominate two (2) panel members and the City of Sydney is to nominate two (2) panel 
members. 

(3) A building demonstrating design excellence is eligible for an amount of additional floor 
space in accordance with the design excellence provisions of Sydney LEP 2012. No 
additional height is to be awarded as a result of the competitive design process. 

(4) Any additional floor space that may be awarded in relation to any competitive 
process(es) as per clause 6.21(7) of Sydney LEP 2012 is to be accommodated within 
the proposed planning envelope as shown in ‘Figure 6.xxx: 4-22 Wentworth Avenue – 
Maximum planning envelope plan’, ‘Figure 6.xxx: 4-22 Wentworth Avenue – Maximum 
planning envelope – axonometric view 1’ and ‘Figure 6.xxx: 4-22 Wentworth Avenue – 
Maximum planning envelope – axonometric view 2.’   

 

  

  

101



Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

17 

 

 

 

102



Attachment C 

Summary of Matters Raised in Submissions 

 

103



Planning Proposal: 4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills  March 2021 

Summary of matters raised in submissions 4-44 Wentworth 
Avenue, Surry Hills 

Submission  Issue Response 

Pongrass 

The 

Landowner 

Exhibited materials suggest a maximum 

FSR of 5.6:1 at 4-22 Wentworth Avenue. 

However, a maximum FSR of 5.7:1 was 

supported by Council in December 2019.  

An amendment has been made to 

the planning proposal to reflect a 

maximum FSR of 5.7:1 at 4-22 

Wentworth Avenue. With design 

excellence of 10% a maximum of 

6.3:1 could be approved.  

Seeks to expand the range of employment 

generating land uses incentivised at 4-22 

Wentworth Avenue. This would entail, 

permitting residential development in the 

current B4 Mixed Use Zone through the 

proposed site-specific clause to limit 

residential development to a maximum 25% 

of the gross floor area of the development to 

satisfy solar access requirements of the 

Apartment Design Guide.  

 

 

  

The permissibility of residential 

uses misaligns from the strategic 

intent of this proposal and the 

broader visions, priorities and 

actions of the City and Greater 

Sydney Commission to incentivise 

development in the harbour CBD 

for the purpose of employment and 

business uses. As such, the City 

will not amend controls for the site 

to incentivise residential 

development.  

An anticipated reduced yield in hotel or 
motel accommodation as a result of the 
pandemic has decreased viability of the 
hotel and motel accommodation component 
at 4-22 Wentworth Avenue.  
 
The proponent seeks an amendment in the 
LEP and DCP to permit a broader range of 
employment generating land uses at 4-22 
Wentworth Avenue beyond ‘hotel or motel 
accommodation’ only.  
 
This amendment would be consistent to the 
exhibited land uses proposed at 24-44 
Wentworth Avenue to include ‘commercial 
premises, health services facilities, 
educational establishments, entertainment 
premises, light industry, hotel or motel 
accommodation and information and 
education facilities’  

 

 

 

 

Consideration of this request has 

been conducted based on strategic 

intent and land use objectives of 

the exhibited proposal. 

The City will continue to encourage 

hotel or motel accommodation use 

at 4-22 Wentworth Avenue and 

commercial use at 24-44 

Wentworth Avenue.  

However, an amendment to the 

LEP and DCP controls has been 

made to broaden the permitted 

employment uses at 4-22 

Wentworth Avenue to maintain 

viability of the development.  

The amended permitted uses of 

commercial premises, health 

services facilities, educational 

establishments, entertainment 

premises, light industry, hotel or 

motel accommodation and 

information and education facilities 

will align with the proposed 

permitted uses at 24-44 Wentworth 

104



Planning Proposal: 4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills  March 2021 

Submission  Issue Response 

Avenue. The uses are consistent 

with the strategic direction of the 

LSPS. 

Community Overshadowing and amenity 

 Shadow created by proposed height 
increase will create shadow and loss of 
sunlight across Meta B Apartments.  

 Solar analysis doesn’t reflect on other 
times of the year beyond mid-winter. 

 Impact to solar access received by 
adjoining residential development 

 No regards for the detriment inflicted on 

nearby residents, through a reduction in 

amenity 

 

 

Extensive overshadowing analysis 

has been completed by the City as 

evidenced in the City's reports to 

Council in August and December 

2019 and in the draft DCP. 

The maximum building envelope for 

the block has been determined by 

overshadowing requirements. The 

proposed building envelope will 

cause minor additional 

overshadowing to residential 

apartment buildings located to the 

east of the site. The proposal has 

been extensively reviewed and 

revised considerably to ensure the 

additional overshadowing is 

acceptable and complies with the 

design criteria of the Apartment 

Design Guide (ADG).  

The exhibited material references 

21 June winter solstice to meet 

industry standards to determine the 

minimum duration of sun a 

residential development can receive 

over the course of the year. Testing 

at 21 June winter solstice ensures 

the worst case overshading 

scenario is tested. 

Parking and traffic  

 Wemyss Lane is narrow and will 
have an impact on vehicle access 

 Hotel increase and subsequent traffic 
doesn’t substantiate as minor 

 P6 area on Wemyss Lane is not 
exclusive to Hotel Stella but other 
commercial vehicles such as 
Australia Post.  

 Questions whether planned entrance 
exit on Wemyss allows for vehicles 
6.4 metres in height without 
manoeuvrability impact on traffic  

 Traffic assessment is presumptive 
and doesn’t have a plan of mitigation 
for existing users.  

 

 

A traffic, transport and parking 

study prepared by ARUP was 

submitted in support of the proposal 

and placed on public exhibition. 

The study concluded that the traffic 

generated by the proposed 

development to the surrounding 

road network would have a 

negligible impact on road network 

operation. This view was supported 

by the City’s Transport Planner who 

identified broad support for the 

proposal in relation to potential 

traffic, transport and parking 

impacts when considering the block 

as a whole. 

The draft DCP for this proposal, has 

site specific controls to manage any 

associated traffic impacts, including 

105



Planning Proposal: 4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills  March 2021 

Submission  Issue Response 

the location of vehicle entries and 

servicing at Wemyss Lane. This 

includes a 'transport management 

plan' to be submitted for any hotel 

development, which sets out 

management strategies for pick up 

and drop off, bus/coach parking 

and pedestrian safety. 

Noise 

 Noises associated with traffic, 
rubbish, delivery and parking will add 
to the reverberation associated with 
the narrowness of Wemyss lane, 
already heard from the existing 
apartment buildings.  

 No assessment conducted to 
evaluate noise impact to residents 
from within inside the building 

 Meta building has spent over 5 years 
improving the building, this proposal 
will impact the value and enjoyment 
of living there 

 

The City notes the proposal for 4-44 

Wentworth Avenue is within a 

dense and highly urbanised 

precinct that has several residential 

and mixed-use developments in its 

vicinity. The area has and will 

continue to evolve to be subject to 

associated acceptable noise 

impacts that are permissible for 

commercial, entertainment, and 

residential uses under a B4 Mixed 

Use Zone. The management of 

noise, traffic and servicing will be 

assessed under a DA with the 

potential to condition measures that 

will manage impacts. 

 

Alfresco Dining 

 Alfresco dining and lifting liquor laws 
can make the area more attractive 
and viable 

The NSW Government made 

changes to the Liquor Act in 

December 2020 as part of the 

reforms following the removal of the 

lockout laws. The changes also 

included temporary measures to 

support additional outdoor dining 

and other footpath activities which 

the City is facilitating. 

Heritage 

 Historic buildings and heritage are 

being destroyed 

The aim of the proposal at 4-44 

Wentworth Avenue is to encourage 

development that revitalises the 

area and provides social and 

economic benefits. By encouraging 

a mix of active and economic 

generating uses and allowing 

architectural flexibility and the 

adaptive reuse of heritage items, 

the proposal will contribute to the 

strategic priorities for the Harbour 

CBD as an attractive place for 

business, enterprise and visitors. 

106



Planning Proposal: 4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills  March 2021 

Submission  Issue Response 

Strategic intent 

 Planning Proposal is driven by 

business interests 

 Existing buildings have been 

developed with adherence to 

planning controls 

 An alternate business case should 

be considered 

Sydney's competitiveness will 

continue to rely on sustainably and 

appropriately accommodating 

growing enterprise and visitor 

related businesses in highly 

accessible and strategic locations. 

This is especially the case in a 

post-Covid-19 environment where 

businesses need support to adapt 

to changing economic conditions 

Community Commercial viability  

 Allowed height in this block will make 
a hotel commercially viable – is 
essential to revitalisation of the area 
which currently has little activity 

 Consistent with surrounding uses 
such as the nearby Wyndham and 
Travelodge and upcoming Ace and 
NH Collection Hotels 
 

Noted 

Heritage 

NSW 

 The proposed DCP controls are a 
strong approach in respecting history 
and context of the site 

Noted 

Transport 

for NSW 

 Access arrangements and site-
specific DCP inclusions regarding 
vehicular access and parking have 
been suggested 

The site-specific DCP and traffic 

assessment adequately address 

these requirements at the planning 

proposal stage and can be refined 

at the time of a development 

application. 

 

 

107



Attachment D 

Resolution of Council and  

the Central Sydney Planning Committee 

 

 

108



9 December 2019

Item 9.3

Public Exhibition – Planning Proposal – 4-22 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills - 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 
2012 Amendment

It is resolved that:

(A) Council approve Planning Proposal – 4-22 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills, shown at 
Attachments C1-C4 to the subject report, for submission to the Department of 
Planning, Industry and Environment with a request for a Gateway Determination; 

(B) Council approve the Planning Proposal – 4-22 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills, shown 
at Attachments C1-C4 for public authority consultation and public exhibition in 
accordance with any conditions imposed under the Gateway Determination; 

(C) Council seek authority from the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment to 
exercise the delegation of all functions under the relevant local plan making authority 
of all the functions under Section 3.36 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Act 1979 to make the local environmental plan to put into effect Planning Proposal – 4- 
22 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills; 

(D) Council approve Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 4-22 Wentworth 
Avenue, Surry Hills shown at Attachment D to the subject report for public authority 
consultation and public exhibition together with the Planning Proposal; 

(E) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor variations to 
Planning Proposal – 4-22 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills, following receipt of the 
Gateway Determination; 

(F) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor variations to 
Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 4-22 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills, 
to correct any drafting errors or to ensure it is consistent with the Planning Proposal 
following the Gateway Determination; and 

109



(G) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to amend the planning proposal 
at Attachments C1-C4 of the subject report to incorporate the following changes: 

(i) amend the objectives and intended outcomes to refer to supporting strategic 
employment and enterprises uses in the District Plan’s Harbour CBD strategic 
centre; 

(ii) amend the ‘Explanation of Provisions’ to: 

(a) incorporate a maximum building height control of RL50 across 24, 26- 28, 
30-32, 34 and 36-38 Wentworth Avenue 

(b) incorporate a maximum building height control of RL44.26 at 40 Wentworth 
Avenue 

(c) require that the maximum height for 24-44 Wentworth Avenue under the 
clause may only be achieved if the development is for commercial 
premises, health services facilities, educational establishments, hotel 
accommodation, entertainment premises, light industry or information and 
education facilities; and 

(iii) amend other sections to incorporate the proposed controls for 24-44 Wentworth 
Avenue including their justification in accordance with the subject report.

Carried unanimously. 

X018846

110



 

 

5 December 2019 

Item 7 

Public Exhibition - Planning Proposal - 4-22 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills - 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 
2012 Amendment 

Moved by the Chair (the Lord Mayor), seconded by Councillor Thalis -  

It is resolved that: 

(A) the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve Planning Proposal – 4-22 Wentworth 
Avenue, Surry Hills, shown at Attachments C1-C4 to the subject report, for submission 
to the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment with a request for a Gateway 
Determination; 

(B) the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve the Planning Proposal – 4-22 
Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills, shown at Attachments C1-C4 for public authority 
consultation and public exhibition in accordance with any conditions imposed under 
the Gateway Determination; 

(C) the Central Sydney Planning Committee  note the recommendation to Council’s 
Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee on 2 December 2019 that Council seek 
authority from the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment to exercise the 
delegation of all functions under the relevant local plan making authority of all the 
functions under Section 3.36 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 
to make the local environmental plan to put into effect Planning Proposal – 4-22 
Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills; 

(D) the Central Sydney Planning Committee  note the recommendation to Council’s 
Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee on 2 December 2019 that Council 
approve Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 4-22 Wentworth Avenue, 
Surry Hills shown at Attachment D to the subject report for public authority consultation 
and public exhibition together with the Planning Proposal; 

111



 

 

(E) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor variations to 
Planning Proposal – 4-22 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills, following receipt of the 
Gateway Determination;  

(F) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor variations to 
Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 4-22 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills, 
to correct any drafting errors or to ensure it is consistent with the Planning Proposal 
following the Gateway Determination; and 

(G) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to amend the planning proposal 
at Attachments C1-C4 of the committee report to incorporate the following changes: 

(i) amend the objectives and intended outcomes to refer to supporting strategic 
employment and enterprises uses in the District Plan’s Harbour CBD strategic 
centre; 

(ii) amend the ‘Explanation of Provisions’ to: 

(a) incorporate a maximum building height control of 50 RL across 24, 26-28, 
30-32, 34 and 36-38 Wentworth Avenue; 

(b) incorporate a maximum building height control of RL 44.26m at 40 
Wentworth Avenue; 

(c) require that the maximum height for 24-44 Wentworth Avenue under the 
clause may only be achieved if the development is for commercial 
premises, health services facilities, educational establishments, hotel 
accommodation, entertainment premises, light industry or information and 
education facilities; and 

(iii) amend other sections to incorporate the proposed controls for 24-44 Wentworth 
Avenue including their justification in accordance with the subject report. 

Carried unanimously. 

X018846 

112



Attachment E 

Gateway Determination 

 

 

113



 

 
Gateway Determination 

 

Planning proposal (Department Ref: PP_2020_SYDNE_001_00): to amend 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 to introduce a site-specific clause to  
increase the maximum building height and floor space ratio for 4-22 Wentworth 
Avenue, Surry Hills, and maximum building height for 24-44 Wentworth Avenue, 
Surry Hills.  
 
I, the Director, Eastern Harbour City at the Department of Planning, Industry and 
Environment, as delegate of the Minister for Planning and Public Spaces, have 
determined under section 3.34(2) of the Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Act 1979 (the Act) that an amendment to the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 
(LEP) 2012 should proceed subject to the following conditions: 
 
1. Prior to community consultation the planning proposal is to be revised as 

follows: 

(a) Provide justification on the consistency with section 9.1 Direction 6.3 Site-
Specific Provisions; 

(b) Provide a heritage impact statement and traffic assessment for the site at 
24-44 Wentworth Avenue; 

(c) Transfer the proposed series of coordinates as the maximum building 
height control for the site at 4-22 Wentworth Avenue into the Site Specific 
DCP and amend the proposed maximum building height control to refer to 
its equivalent Reduced Levels (RL);  

(d) Update the project timeline to reflect the anticipated time frames for the 
plan-making process. 

2. The revised planning proposal is to be provided to the Department for review 
and approval prior to public exhibition. 

3. Public exhibition is required under section 3.34(2)(c) and schedule 1 clause 4 of 
the Act as follows: 

(a) the planning proposal must be made publicly available for a minimum of 
28 days; and 

(b) the planning proposal authority must comply with the notice 
requirements for public exhibition of planning proposals and the 
specifications for material that must be made publicly available along 
with planning proposals as identified in section 6.5.2 of A guide to 
preparing local environmental plans (Department of Planning, Industry 
and Environment, 2018). 

 

4. Consultation is required with the following public authorities/organisations under 
section 3.34(2)(d) of the Act and/or to comply with the requirements of relevant 
section 9.1 Directions: 

114



PP_2020_SYDNE_001_00 (IRF19/697) 

• Heritage Council of NSW; and 

• Transport for NSW. 

Each public authority/organisation is to be provided with a copy of the planning 
proposal and any relevant supporting material and given at least 21 days to 
comment on the proposal. 

 
5. A public hearing is not required to be held into the matter by any person or 

body under section 3.34(2)(e) of the Act. This does not discharge Council from 
any obligation it may otherwise have to conduct a public hearing (for example, 
in response to a submission or if reclassifying land). 

 

6. The time frame for completing the LEP is to be 12 months following the date of 
the Gateway determination. 

 
 
 
 

Dated  22nd day of June 2020. 
  

 

 
 
David McNamara 
Director, Eastern Harbour City 
Greater Sydney, Place and Infrastructure 
Department of Planning, Industry and 
Environment  
 
Delegate of the Minister for Planning and Public 
Spaces 

 

 

 

 

 

115



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Post Exhibition - Planning Proposal - 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters - Sydney 
Local Environmental Plan 2012 Amendment and Draft Sydney Development 
Control Plan 2012 

File No: X019338 

Summary 

This report asks Council to approve a planning proposal and draft development control plan 
(draft DCP) that was recently exhibited for 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters. This will amend 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 to increase the maximum building height from 18 
metres to 30 metres and introduce site-specific clauses covering sustainability, urban design 
and signage. It also amends Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 to include more 
detailed planning controls to guide the development of the site. 

The purpose is to enable the development of a three-storey industrial warehouse building 
proposed by Goodman. The proposed development will facilitate artisan manufacturing and 
light industrial uses on the first floor and a warehouse and distribution hub on the second 
and third floors. It also features an extensive 2000 kWp rooftop solar photovoltaic system 
that will be about four times bigger than the current largest installation in the local area. 

The site is in the City's IN1 - General Industrial zone. The proposed development contributes 
to the City and Greater Sydney Commissions' shared strategic planning objectives for 
productivity, including increasing enterprise activity in an accessible location and managing 
industrial land for city-serving industries and urban services. The site's immediate urban 
context has been changed significantly by construction of the St Peters Interchange, 
enabling consideration of an increase in the height limit to an innovative industrial and 
logistics development.    

A planning proposal and draft DCP for the site were endorsed for public exhibition by 
Council and the Central Sydney Planning Committee in July 2020. Following receipt of 
Gateway determination by the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment 
(Department) in September 2020, the planning proposal and draft DCP were publicly 
exhibited from 23 November 2020 to 15 January 2021. 

The Department conditioned the Gateway determination with a requirement to make minor 
variations to the planning proposal before public exhibition to remove ambiguity and 
strengthen the intent of proposed clauses and clarify inconsistencies with ministerial 
directions. The planning proposal was updated to comply with these conditions and the 
variations are explained in this report.  

The landowner, Goodman, and three public authorities made submissions during the 
exhibition period. There were no other submissions.  

Goodman raised concerns over the proposed controls on building identification signage, 
minimum green roof coverage area and the language contained in the design excellence 
strategy. In response, the City has amended parts of the draft DCP. 

  

1

Item 6.



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Transport for NSW, the Environment Protection Authority, Heritage NSW and Sydney Water 
raised a number of issues that can be addressed during detailed development assessment 
and are not impediments to the planning proposal proceeding. Changes to acknowledge 
Alexandra Canal's state heritage listing and to require an air quality impact assessment at 
DA stage were made to the planning proposal in response to these submissions. No 
changes were made to the draft DCP as a result of public authority submissions. 

This report recommends Council approve the planning proposal to be made as a local 
environmental plan and the draft DCP to come into effect when it is made.  

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council note matters raised in response to the public exhibition of the Planning 
Proposal – 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters, as detailed in this report and as shown in 
Attachment E to the subject report; 

(B) Council consider changes made to the planning proposal are in direct response to 
submissions raised and do not require re-exhibition; 

(C) Council approve the Planning Proposal – 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters, as shown at 
Attachment A to the subject report, to be made as a local environmental plan under 
section 3.36 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979; 

(D) Council approve the draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 1-3 Burrows 
Road, St Peters, as shown at Attachment B to the subject report, noting that it will 
come into effect on the date of publication of the subject local environmental plan, in 
accordance with Clause 21 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 
2000; and 

(E) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor amendments 
to Planning Proposal – 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters, as shown at Attachment A to the 
subject report, and to the draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 1-3 Burrows 
Road, St Peters, as shown at Attachment B to the subject report, to correct any minor 
errors or omissions prior to finalisation. 

Attachments 

Attachment A. Planning Proposal – 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

Attachment B. Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 1-3 Burrows Road St 
Peters 

Attachment C. Resolution of Council and Central Sydney Planning Committee 

Attachment D. Gateway Determination, Letter to Council and Approval to Exhibit  

Attachment E. Summary of Matters Raised in Submissions  

2



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Background 

Goodman intend to deliver a three storey industrial warehouse building in St Peters 

 Goodman first approached the City of Sydney in 2019 to discuss a potential change to 
planning controls to enable a three storey industrial building on their site at 1-3 
Burrows Road, St Peters. The site is currently used as an industrial warehouse facility. 
Goodman say it is ageing, no longer meets client needs, and does not make efficient 
use of the land. 

 In March 2020 Goodman lodged a planning proposal request. The proposal 
development is a three storey facility, requiring an amendment to Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012 (Sydney LEP 2012) to increase the maximum building height 
from 18 metres to 30 metres. 

 The concept for the development is for ground level light industrial uses and two levels 
of warehousing and distribution uses. It features two ramps and internal hardstand 
areas, enabling direct access for trucks to all three levels. It also features a six level 
ancillary office and amenities. 

The proposal has strategic merit 

 The Greater Sydney Commission's Greater Sydney Region Plan and Eastern City 
District Plan and the City's Local Strategic Planning Statement include directions to 
protect and enhance industrial and urban services land in strategically important areas. 

 The site is located in the City's IN1 - General Industrial zone, one of the limited 
industrial zones remaining in the inner City. The area is strategically important for the 
land uses that locate there and the industries it supports. It is also strategically 
important for its location close to central Sydney and its proximity to Westconnex and 
the future Sydney Gateway, enabling direct access to Sydney Airport, Port Botany and 
to western Sydney. 

 The proposed development is for light manufacturing and warehousing of goods, 
which are uses that will capitalise on the strategic importance of the area. 

 The proposed increase in the maximum building height will enable intensification of the 
site to capitalise on its location and proximity to infrastructure. This will support the 
continued use of the site for industrial uses and also contributes to a more efficient use 
of scarce industrial land. 

The proposal was endorsed for public exhibition and received Gateway determination 

 The City assessed the planning proposal request and prepared a planning proposal to 
amend Sydney LEP 2012 as well as a draft development control plan to amend 
Sydney DCP 2012 (draft DCP). The planning proposal and draft DCP are shown at 
Attachments A and B respectively. The planning proposal is to increase the maximum 
building height from 18 metres to 30 metres and introduce site-specific clauses 
covering sustainability, urban design and signage. The draft DCP includes more 
detailed planning controls to guide the development of the site. 

 The proposed planning controls were reported to Council and the Central Sydney 
Planning Committee (CSPC) in July 2020 and endorsed for public exhibition. The 
Council and the CSPC resolutions are shown at Attachment C.  

  

3



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

 The Department of Planning, Industry and Environment (Department) issued a 
Gateway determination in September 2020 to enable public exhibition. The Gateway 
determination is shown at Attachment D. The Gateway determination included 
requirements to make minor variations to planning proposal before public exhibition to 
remove ambiguity and strengthen the intent of proposed clauses and clarify 
inconsistencies with ministerial directions. The planning proposal was updated to 
comply with these conditions prior to public exhibition. The conditions required: 

(a) making the drafting instructions specific and measurable to ensure they will be 
accurately interpreted by Parliamentary Counsel and applied consistently by a 
consent authority; and 

(b) providing further justification for the inconsistency with Ministerial Direction 4.1 
Acid Sulphate Soils and 6.3 Site-Specific Provisions. 

 The Gateway required consultation with three NSW public authorities, being Heritage 
NSW, the NSW Environment Protection Authority (EPA) and Transport for NSW 
(TfNSW). It also authorised Council as the local plan-making authority for the planning 
proposal, provided the conditions to revise the planning proposal are fulfilled and there 
are no outstanding objections from public authorities. 

 The planning proposal was publicly exhibited from 23 November 2020 to 15 January 
2021.  

No significant changes have been made to the planning proposal 

 The planning proposal and draft DCP are substantively the same as Council and 
CSPC approved for public exhibition in July 2020, with the exception of minor changes 
made to:  

(a) the planning proposal in response to the Gateway determination described 
above;  

(b) the planning proposal, in response to a submission from Heritage NSW, to clarify 
that Alexandra Canal is a state heritage item as well as being a local heritage 
item; and 

(c) the draft DCP, in response to a submission by Goodman, to remove the 
minimum roof coverage area requirement for a green roof. 

Public Exhibition 

The proposal was publicly exhibited from 23 November 2020 to 15 January 2021 

 The planning proposal and draft DCP were exhibited with Goodman's planning 
proposal request and supporting documentation on the City's website from 23 
November 2020 to 15 January 2021. Public notice letters were sent to neighbouring 
businesses and residents, as well as the landowners of those properties. The City sent 
letters inviting submissions from Transport for NSW, the EPA and Heritage NSW, and 
Goodman.  

 Transport for NSW, the EPA, Heritage NSW and Sydney Water made submissions as 
public authorities, and Goodman made a submission as the landowner. Minor changes 
were made to the planning proposal and DCP as a result. The submissions and 
related changes are discussed below. 

4



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

The landowner objected to the proposed signage restrictions 

 In their submission Goodman generally supported the planning proposal, however they 
objected to the proposed site-specific clauses in Sydney LEP 2012 and Sydney DCP 
2012 limiting any business or building identification signage to the Burrows Road and 
Canal Road frontages. Goodman suggest signage should be permitted to face the St 
Peters Interchange, subject to impact assessment by the relevant consent authority. 
They requested the clauses be removed or amended to provide additional signage 
flexibility. 

 Goodman emphasise the role of building signage in tenancy identification, 
placemaking, wayfinding and activating the city skyline. They say iconic building 
signage facing roadways on Sydney Harbour Bridge and Anzac Bridge enliven 
journeys and add to travel experiences, and that signage on the proposed 
development will provide welcome interest and activation to the St Peters Interchange. 

 Goodman point to recent developments in central Sydney which have prominent top of 
building signage and argue warehouse buildings in industrial areas should not be 
treated differently. They understand concerns with distracting drivers and offer support 
for a prohibition on advertising signage on the site facing the St Peters Interchange.  

The City has maintained the proposed planning controls for signage 

 The size and scale of the proposed building, and its highly visible location, have been 
key considerations in assessment of the planning proposal and Goodman's 
submission. The site is within the same block as St Peters Interchange and will be 
adjacent to the recently approved Sydney Gateway motorway connecting Sydney 
Airport to central Sydney. The site is also highly visible from new recreational open 
space planned to be delivered within the St Peters Interchange block, particularly the 
recreational hill on Canal Road. 

 Building or business identification signage on Canal Road and Burrows Road, which 
approach the site, can genuinely contribute to wayfinding and business identification. 
In contrast, signage on the Interchange frontage will only be visible to primarily long-
distance drivers bypassing the site and recreational users of the open space. As such, 
business or building identification signage will generally only contribute to broader 
brand building, awareness raising and advertising. 

 Building or business identification signage on the development will significantly add to 
its visual impact to St Peters Interchange, which given the proposed size, scale and 
bulk will already be considerable. While the visual impact of the development is 
justified with reference to its strategic importance in intensifying industrial uses on high 
value land and a well located site, the additional visual impact of signage cannot be 
justified when any benefit is limited to broader brand building, awareness raising and 
advertising of tenants or the building owner. However, the impacts of signage on the 
Burrows Road and Canal Road frontages can be balanced against their usefulness in 
wayfinding and business identification, so it is appropriate for signage to be 
permissible in these locations. 

 The site can contribute to placemaking, building identification, interest for drivers and 
activating the skyline without building or business identification signage on the 
Interchange frontage. These worthwhile outcomes can all be achieved through 
architecture, design and public art. 

5



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

The landowner objected to the proposed minimum green roof coverage requirement 

 In their submission Goodman objected to the site-specific DCP requirement for 15 per 
cent of the roof area to be a green roof. They said the clause should apply only to the 
roof of the proposed ancillary office space or be removed.  

 Goodman say the warehouse component will not be able to support green roof 
infrastructure, due to structural loading issues. They say a green roof is achievable in 
the ancillary office component, and the submitted planning proposal request includes a 
green roof to the office area with an area of 700 square metres, comprising 3 per cent 
of the combined office and warehouse roof area. 

The City has retained the green roof requirement but removed the minimum 
proportion 

 The detailed design considerations of roof structural capacity, and trade-offs between 
competing roof uses (such as solar panels, water harvesting, sky lights and communal 
open space) are more appropriate to be considered through a competitive design 
process and development assessment. 

 While a larger green roof may be supported by the development, to allow full 
consideration of all factors the DCP provision has been amended to remove the 15 per 
cent coverage requirement. The provision still requires a green roof be provided to the 
greatest extent possible. 

The landowner raised concerns about the design excellence strategy wording  

 A design excellence strategy is included in the draft DCP as the development is likely 
to require a competitive design process in accordance with both the capital investment 
value and height triggers in Clause 6.21 of Sydney LEP. 

 Goodman raised concerns about the language of the design excellence strategy, 
suggesting it may override Clause 6.21 of the LEP by requiring a competitive design 
process if the triggers are not met or if the consent authority waives the requirement in 
accordance with Clause 6.21 (6). 

The DCP now clarifies the design excellence strategy only applies when required 

 The design excellence strategy is in the DCP to guide a competitive design process 
only if one is required by the LEP. The wording in the introductory part of the design 
excellence strategy has been amended to clarify this. 

The EPA raised air pollution concerns from nearby tunnel ventilation stacks 

 The EPA's submission refers to their comments and recommendations made during 
assessment of the Westconnex New M5 Project (SSI 6788) in March 2016. 

 The comment summarises the impact of PM2.5 pollutant concentration at elevated 
receptors. The results indicated a potential increase near the St Peters ventilation 
outlets at 30 metres. With no building at the time being near 30 metres tall in the 
vicinity, it was not predicted to result in adverse air quality impacts. 

 With the maximum height limit proposed to increase from 18 metres to 30 metres, the 
EPA recommended that an air impact assessment at elevated receptors be 
undertaken. This will determine whether additional treatments are required in the 
future development to protect against pollutant exposure from the ventilation outlets. 

6



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

 In response, Goodman has committed to undertaking an air quality impact assessment 
at development application stage. In February 2021 the EPA accepted the landowner's 
commitments to a detailed air impact assessment at development application stage 
and have no outstanding objection to the planning proposal proceeding. 

 To ensure an air impact assessment is undertaken at DA stage, a site-specific LEP 
clause has been added to this effect. This is required because the landowner may 
change in future, nullifying commitments made by Goodman. 

Heritage NSW raised DA-related considerations 

 Heritage NSW made a submission to the planning proposal. They identified the 
presence of state and local heritage items nearby and have re-iterated their support for 
the City's recommendation that a full Heritage Impact Assessment should be provided 
at development application stage.  

Heritage NSW identified Alexandra Canal as a state heritage item 

 In their submission Heritage NSW advised the planning proposal correctly identified 
Alexandra Canal as a local heritage item but did not also identify it as a state heritage 
item. 

 The City has amended this omission within the planning proposal. Nevertheless clause 
5.10 of the LEP enables the consent authority to require a heritage impact statement 
for development in the vicinity of a heritage item. The City has forwarded to the 
landowner Heritage NSW's recommendation the statement of significance in the 
Alexandra Canal's state heritage listing be considered in a Heritage Impact 
Assessment at the time of a development application. 

Transport for NSW raised DA-related considerations 

 In their submission Transport for NSW noted a detailed Construction Traffic 
Management Plan will be required following the approval of any development 
assessment. 

 Transport for NSW also noted the use of the Planning Circular 'How to Characterise 
Development' may assist in reviewing whether the office component of the proposed 
development is ancillary in nature. 

Transport for NSW recommended flooding and stormwater considers Sydney 
Gateway 

 Transport for NSW referred to the recently approved Sydney Gateway motorway 
project and recommended that a flood model considering the changed stormwater 
context be prepared if there is new drainage infrastructure proposed connecting into 
the existing drainage network with a net increase in discharge. 

 In response to Transport for NSW's submission Goodman has confirmed there would 
be no net increase in discharge to the stormwater network from the existing 
development on the site as the current development consists of nearly entirely 
impervious surfaces across the site. The flooding and stormwater assessment 
undertaken for the Sydney Gateway project will have considered this as the existing 
context.  

 Transport for NSW have reviewed this advice and confirm they have no outstanding 
objections to the planning proposal proceeding.  

7



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Transport for NSW identified an error in the planning proposal request's trip 
generation rates 

 Transport for NSW have assessed Goodman's traffic report and in their submission 
suggested that higher trip generation rates should have been used for the ancillary 
office component. They have raised concern that higher than forecast private vehicle 
trips will require upgrades to nearby roads and intersections, and that if the site were 
to subdivide and be developed separately, the cumulative effects would be difficult to 
assess during individual development applications. 

 The site is not currently proposed to be subdivided and developed separately. 
Although this is a possibility the ancillary office component of a future unknown 
development pattern is not captured by this planning proposal. Transport for NSW 
have only raised concern with the rate used for office floor space, and in line with the 
IN1 General Industrial land use zoning any office use must be ancillary and 
subordinate to industrial uses. 

 A future development application will include a more final and detailed breakdown of 
proposed land uses by floor area. The development application will be referred to 
Transport for NSW under clause 104 'Traffic-generating development' of State 
Environmental Planning Policy (Infrastructure) 2007, where appropriate trip generation 
rates can be agreed upon, and the resulting need for any road or intersection 
upgrades assessed. 

Sydney Water identified additional water servicing needs 

 Sydney Water made a submission highlighting that the site currently uses a private 
pump to sewer arrangement which is not condoned by the authority. The submission 
makes clear any future development on the site will require an application to Sydney 
Water to confirm potable water and wastewater connection points. 

 This information is not relevant to the planning proposal but will be referred to the 
landowner for consideration at development and building stage. 

Key Implications 

Strategic Alignment - Planning 

 The Greater Sydney Commission's Greater Sydney Region Plan and Eastern City 
District Plan are used to shape strategic planning and infrastructure in metropolitan 
Sydney and align planning from the broadest regional area down to the local area. The 
City's Local Strategic Planning Statement sets the land use planning strategy for the 
city which is required to align with the Region and District Plans. The City's planning 
controls are then required to give effect to the strategic plans. 

 The Region Plan, District Plan and Local Strategic Planning Statement adopt planning 
priorities of similar themes, being infrastructure, liveability, productivity, sustainability 
and governance. How this proposal gives effect to these priorities is discussed in detail 
in the planning proposal and summarised below: 

(a) Productivity - The proposal retains industrial uses in a well located and high 
value site in the City's IN1 - General Industrial zone. Facilitating the 
intensification of industrial uses and enabling 370 jobs on the site gives effect to 
productivity strategic planning objectives, particularly:  

8



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

(i) 'P3 Protecting industrial and urban services in the Southern Enterprise 
Area' in the Local Strategic Planning Statement, and 

(ii) 'Planning Priority E1: Growing investment, business opportunities and jobs 
in strategic centres' and 'Planning Priority E12: Retaining and managing 
industrial and urban services land' in the District Plan. 

(b) Infrastructure - The subject site is well located to maximise freight and logistics 
services and integrates with Westconnex, Sydney Gateway, Sydney Airport, Port 
Botany, the Cooks Rivers Intermodal Terminal and Sydney CBD. Intensification 
of development on the site contributes to infrastructure strategic planning 
objectives particularly: 

(i) 'I2 Align development and growth with support infrastructure' in the Local 
Strategic Planning Statement, and 

(ii) 'Planning Priority E10: Delivering integrated land use and transport 
planning and a 30-minute city' in the Eastern City District Plan. 

(c) Sustainability - The proposed development includes high sustainability 
performance features, which are supported by planning controls requiring a 
minimum 2000 kWp photovoltaic system, green roofs and walls, on-site capture 
and storage of water and energy, and achieving a 5 Star Green Star rating. This 
gives effect to sustainability strategic planning objectives, particularly: 

(i) 'S2 Creating better buildings and places to reduce emissions and waste 
and use water efficiently' in the Local Strategic Planning Statement, and 

(ii) 'Planning Priority E19: Reducing carbon emissions and managing energy, 
water and waste efficiently' in the District Plan. 

Strategic Alignment - Sustainable Sydney 2030 

 Sustainable Sydney 2030 is a vision for the sustainable development of the City to 
2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of the City, as 
well as 10 targets against which to measure progress. The proposed planning controls 
are aligned with the following strategic directions and objectives: 

(a) Direction 1 - A Globally Competitive and Innovative City - The Proposal supports 
one of the first multi-level industrial facilities in Australia which responds to a 
global trend to construct high density warehouses. This development will 
contribute to the productivity of the city. 

(b) Direction 2 provides a road map for the City to become A Leading Environmental 
Performer - The Planning Proposal will deliver ecological sustainable 
development on the site, through 5-star Green Star rating on the warehouse and 
5.5-star NABERS Energy Commitment Agreement on the ancillary office 
component. Water sensitive urban design features and a photovoltaic system will 
also be achieved on the site. 

(c) Direction 3 - Integrated Transport for a Connected City - Future development on 
the subject site is well located to capitalise on its proximity to existing and future 
transport and freight infrastructure including Sydney Airport, Port Botany, St 
Peters Interchange as well as Mascot, St Peters and Sydenham Stations and 
local bus stops. It also includes provision for pedestrian and cycle way access. 

9



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

(d) Direction 9 - Sustainable Development, Renewal and Design - The Planning 
Proposal will support future development that is more ecologically sustainable 
through achieving sustainability benchmarks and design features. 

Relevant Legislation 

 Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 

 Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000 

Critical Dates / Time Frames 

 The Gateway determination requires the planning proposal be made by 16 September 
2021. 

GRAHAM JAHN, AM 

Director City Planning, Development and Transport 

Inaara Jindani, Cadet Planner 

Jarrod Booth, Planner 

10



Attachment A 

Planning Proposal – 1-3 Burrows Road, St 
Peters – Sydney Local Environmental Plan 

2012 Amendment – Post Exhibition

11



 

12



   

1-3 Burrows 
Road, St Peters 

 
 

Planning Proposal 
July 2020  
 13



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

2 

Contents 
1. Background 5 

2. Existing Planning Controls 12 

3. Objectives and Intended 
Outcomes 18 

4. Explanation of Provisions 19 

5. Justification 21 

6. Mapping 37 

7. Community consultation 39 

8. Project timeline 40 

 

 

This planning proposal has been amended. New text is shown in underline and deleted text is 
shown in strikethrough.

14



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

3 

Executive Summary 
The City of Sydney (the City) has prepared this Planning Proposal for 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 
(the site), in response to a request from Goodman to increase the height control for the site. 

This Planning Proposal explains the intent of and justification for the proposed amendments to 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Sydney LEP). The Planning Proposal has been prepared 
in accordance with section 3.33 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 and the 
guidelines published by the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment (DPIE), being “A 
Guide to Preparing Local Environmental Plans” and “A Guide to Preparing Planning Proposals”. 

The site is approximately 34,714 square metres and is on the corner of Burrows Road and Canal 
Road. It is closely located to the St Peters Interchange (WestConnex) which incorporates major 
flyovers (under construction) and the future Sydney Gateway that connects Sydney Airport to the 
interchange. It is also in proximity to train stations and bus stops with access to local centres.  

The site is owned by Tallina Pty Ltd and managed by Goodman, and is known as the Burrows 
Industrial Estate. Existing development consists of three single storey industrial warehouses and a 
smaller administration building to the rear. It offers tenants large format warehousing space 
accommodating direct truck access.  

The site is zoned IN1 – General Industrial under the Sydney LEP and has a maximum building 
height control of 18 metres and maximum floor space ratio (FSR) of 1.5:1. The site is in proximity 
to a number of local heritage items including Alexandra Canal. The site is eligible for up to 10 per 
cent additional building height under clause 6.21 of the Sydney LEP 2012, subject to 
demonstrating design excellence. 

The City prepared this Planning Proposal following a detailed review of the proponent’s planning 
proposal request. The City has worked with the proponent to incorporate various changes to 
address issues relating to bulk and scale, landscaped setbacks, design, sustainability targets and 
urban greening initiatives.  

This Planning Proposal aims to retain and maximise the efficiency of urban services land and 
respond to global trends in multi-level warehousing with a built form that responds to the site 
context and enables sustainable design targets and initiatives. 

This Planning Proposal is to amend the maximum building height under the Sydney LEP 2012 to 
30 metres to facilitate a three-storey industrial warehouse with a six-storey ancillary office 
component. The height increase will enable development that can achieve the FSR already 
permissible under Sydney LEP. 

The Planning Proposal is to also amend Part 6, Division 5 of the Sydney LEP 2012 to insert a site-
specific clause to satisfy matters of consideration prior to development consent including that the 
resulting development: 

• is of high aesthetic quality and responds to the site’s high visibility from the public domain; 
• establishes appropriate landscape setbacks; 
• has no signage visible from public open space, and; 
• demonstrates best practice ecologically sustainable development. 

The proposal is for a warehouse and distribution centre with a capital investment value of over $50 
million, as such a site-specific clause responds to the possibility future development would be 
designated State Significant Development (SSD) under State Environmental Planning Policy (State 
and Regional Development) 2011. If it is designated SSD, a development control plan is given 
limited or no consideration, so a site-specific LEP clause is intended to ensure key matters are 
given due consideration.  

The proposed multi-level warehouse with a centralised hardstand driveway will be accessed via a 
one-way circular ramp system, at either end of the facility. Its use will include a combination of light 

15



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

4 

industrial and manufacturing businesses and warehouse and distribution users with prominent 
brand recognition. Office working spaces and staff amenities for tenants of the facility are also 
included in the development.  

The design facilitates innovation standards for the future development of the freight industry by 
including access and egress for autonomous vehicles. It also incorporates a 5 Star Green Star 
commitment, a 5.5 Star NABERS Commitment Agreement for ancillary office space, a photovoltaic 
system, water sensitive urban design and urban greening.  

The Planning Proposal responds to strategic objectives of the Greater Sydney Commission and 
the City of Sydney. It aligns with increasing productivity, liveability and sustainability through 
infrastructure outcomes. This includes addressing planning priorities relating to safeguarding 
existing industrial land from competing pressures and allowing for a mix of economic uses. The 
Planning Proposal enables economic growth which supports Central Sydney, the Eastern 
Economic Corridor and international trade gateways.  

The proposed development integrates transport and land-use with its accessibility to active and 
public transport and access for trucks to the new WestConnex. It responds to a global trend to be 
one of the first multi-level industrial facilities in Australia. The Planning Proposal also integrates 
sustainable development, renewal and design through the inclusion of sustainability benchmarks 
and initiatives.  

The City has prepared a draft site-specific development control plan (draft DCP) to amend Sydney 
Development Control Plan 2012. The draft DCP is to ensure the objectives and intended outcomes 
of the Planning Proposal are achieved. The draft DCP sets site-specific controls relating to built 
form, design excellence, sustainability and visual impact. 

The draft DCP is intended to be was publicly exhibited alongside the Planning Proposal. 

 

  

16



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

5 

1. Background 
1.1. The Site  
1.1.1. Site identification 
The Planning Proposal relates to the site at 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters. The site, identified in 
blue at Figure 1, is located on the southern boundary of the City of Sydney local government area 
(LGA), on the corner of Burrows Road and Canal Road. The legal description of the land is Lot 11 
of Deposited Plan 606737 and Lot 1 of Deposited Plan 1227450. 

The site is owned by Tallina Pty Ltd and is managed by Goodman. It is known as the Burrows 
Industrial Estate. It offers tenants large format warehousing space with roller doors, parking and 
internal circulation accommodating direct truck access. Current tenants include Staging Rentals & 
Construction, Jets Transport Express and Apex Air-conditioning. 

 
Figure 1 Site Identification 
  

17



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

6 

1.1.2. Site location and context 
The site is in the City of Sydney Local Government Area (Sydney LGA) and borders the Inner West 
Council LGA to the west and south. Alexandra Canal, a tributary of Cooks River, is located 
approximately 85 metres to the south-east of the site. The site in its context is shown at Figure 2. 

 

 
Figure 2 Site Context 
The site is surrounded by existing industrial and commercial development on the north-east, south-
east and south-west and is strategically located within close proximity to Sydney Airport and Port 
Botany. The Cooks River Intermodal Terminal, a container storage yard, is located about 100 
metres north-west of the site.  

It is a visually prominent site with large volumes of traffic travel along Canal Road, it can be seen 
from the new interchange and the bridges that cross Alexandra Canal.   

1.1.3. Road network and traffic  
The site is located at the junction of Burrows Road and Canal Road. Canal Road is a local road 
with four lanes of traffic (two in each direction) and a posted speed limit of 60 km/h. Canal Road 
connects the site to Mascot in the east, and the Princes Highway in the west, providing 
connections to St Peters and Sydenham. Canal Road is a primary route for heavy vehicles and is 
noisy and inhospitable as a result.  

Burrows Road is a local road with two lanes of traffic (one in each direction) and a posted speed 
limit of 50 km/h near the site. Burrows Road connects the site directly to Sydney Park and 
Alexandria and is used to access businesses and industrial units fronting Alexandra Canal.  

Existing traffic flow surveys were conducted on Burrows Road and Canal Road on Thursday 17 
May 2018. The surveys were conducted in both the AM and PM peak periods. Results from the 
survey found that Burrows Road currently carries approximately 540 trips per hour for both AM and 
PM peak periods within the vicinity of the site.  

Crash data made available from Transport for NSW’s (TfNSW) Centre for Road Safety Website 
suggests that four accidents occurred at the T-intersection of Campbell Road and Burrows Road 
between 2014 and 2018. This intersection is proposed to be upgraded to a four-way intersection 

18



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

7 

with left-in/left-out access to Burrows Road as part of the New M5 motorway project. This is 
expected to improve road safety within the site area. 

1.1.4. Future context 
The site is strategically located and linked to Sydney’s main trade gateway. The following two 
major infrastructure projects are proposed or currently under construction directly adjacent to the 
subject site: 

• Sydney Gateway Road Project (proposed) – which seeks to build a new, direct road connection 
between the Sydney motorway network at the St Peters interchange, to Sydney Airport and 
Port Botany  

• The St Peters Interchange, a part of WestConnex New M5 project – currently under 
construction. The project will provide connectivity to the New M5, the M4 corridor and local 
connectivity to surrounding suburbs such as Alexandria and Mascot.  

These projects will provide substantial additional capacity in and out of the Sydney Airport and Port 
Botany precinct, allowing airport and port traffic to avoid local arterial roads when accessing the 
broader Sydney motorway network.  

Changes to the surrounding landscape as a result of these projects is discussed below. 

WestConnex St Peters Interchange 

The WestConnex St Peters Interchange which is currently under construction constitutes a 
dramatic change in the urban context directly adjacent to the site. The interchange is comprised of 
multiple new roads and bridge structures at varying heights, with some being underground, and 
others up to 22 metres in height above ground. The proposal will respond to these significant new 
structures directly adjacent to the north-east and north-west facing boundaries. 

As part of these works a new flyover structure linking St Peters Interchange and Mascot is being 
built, which will bridge over the Alexandra Canal and Burrows Road. This new structure runs 
alongside the north-east site boundary. The new interchange will feature extensive new planting 
and trees within a number of new publicly accessible open spaces. One of these new open spaces 
features a 24 metre high viewing mound which is located adjacent to the west of the site fronting 
Canal Road. 

Proposed Sydney Gateway Road Project 

The proposed Sydney Gateway Road Project is a new high capacity road link that will connect the 
new St Peters Interchange to the Sydney Airport domestic and international terminals and Port 
Botany. As part of these works a new bridge will be constructed over Canal Road, linking with the 
new St Peters Interchange road structures running alongside the North-West facing site boundary. 

The Environmental Impact Statement/preliminary draft Major Development Plan has been 
prepared and a Response to Submissions report has recently been released. If the project is 
granted approval, construction is proposed to commence in mid-2020 and would take about 3.5 
years to complete. 

Other planned developments 

Other developments proposed within the immediate vicinity of the site include the construction of 
two 7-storey buildings for self-storage units at 1-3 Ricketty Street, Mascot. The proposed buildings 
are both 27.5 metres high and front Alexandra Canal. The development application for this site was 
approved by Bayside Council in May 2018. 

Figure 3 shows the relationship between the site, the two motorway projects and the bridge. 

19



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

8 

 
Figure 3 Future Context 

1.1.5. Public and active transport  
The site is currently well serviced by existing public transport services.  

Bus services operate within close proximity of the site. Two bus stops on Canal Road are within a 
400 metres radius of the site. These two stops are serviced by the 418 bus route, which operates 
from Kingsford to Burwood via Mascot, Sydenham and Dulwich Hill.  

There are additional bus stops within an 800 metre radius of the site which provides further access 
to the CBD, Kogarah and Sydney Airport.  

The site is located between Sydenham and Mascot train stations, with Sydenham Station located 
approximately two kilometres to the west, and Mascot Station one kilometre to the south-east of 
the site. Sufficient pedestrian facilities are available, allowing for an approximate 10 and 20 minute 
walking time to the stations. 

Active transport links are also available to the site in the form of pedestrian footpaths and cycling 
routes. Footpath access is currently provided on both sides of Burrows Road and Canal Road. 
Intersections on both of these roads provide several pedestrian crossings, allowing for a good level 
of access to the site.  

Access to the site via cycling facilities is currently limited. However, the New M5 project will 
introduce off-road shared cycleways on both Canal Road and the St Peters Interchange. These will 
link to existing cycleways established near Mascot Station and Sydney Park, and will create 
greater opportunities for cycle access the site.  

Figure 4 shows public transport stops relevant to the site. 

Burrows Road Bridge 

St Peters Interchange 

The site 

Sydney Park 

Sydney Gateway 
Inner West 
Council 

Bayside 
Council 

20



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

9 

 
Figure 4 Public transport context 
 

  
St Peters Station 

Bus stop 

21



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

10 

1.1.6. Site characteristics and existing development  
The site is roughly rectangular in shape and has a site area of 34,714 square metres and a 
perimeter of approximately 830 metres. It has a 280 metre frontage to Burrows Road and a 145 
metre frontage to Canal Road. The site is mostly flat, rising by approximately 2 metres in the 
northern portion of the site. 

The site currently consists of old low rise industrial units which are consistent with the surrounding 
area that is largely industrial in nature. These industrial units are comprised of four large format 
steel framed warehouse/distribution buildings. 

The site relies on two entrances to Burrows Road, and has no vehicle or pedestrian access via 
Canal Road. The St Peters Interchange immediately abuts the site, and there are no secondary 
roads or laneways servicing the rear.  

An internal driveway separates the two largest warehouse structures halfway along the site’s 
length, and the rear of the site has a surface carpark and circulation space. The development 
presents a long, singular street wall frontage to Burrows Road, unbroken except for the middle 
driveway. 

 
Figure 5 Aerial photo of site (Nearmap 1 June 2020) 
 

22



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

11 

 
Figure 6 Existing built form from Canal Road (Google Street View 2019) 
 

 
Figure 7 Existing built form from Burrows Road (Google Street View 2019) 
 

 
  

23



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

12 

2. Existing Planning Controls 
The Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Sydney LEP 2012) and Sydney Development Control 
Plan 2012 (DCP) contain zoning and development standards for the site. These are discussed 
below. 

2.1. Zoning 
Zoning is shown in Land Zoning Maps referred to in clause 2.2 of the Sydney LEP 2012. 

The site is zoned IN1 – General Industrial. The objectives of this zone are to provide a wide range 
of industrial and warehouse land uses, encourage employment opportunities, minimise any 
adverse effect of industry on other land uses, support and protect industrial land for industrial uses, 
and ensure uses support the viability of nearby centres. 

No change is proposed to the zoning of the site. 

 
Figure 8 Zoning (Sydney LEP 2012) 
 

24



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

13 

2.2. Building Height 
Maximum building height is shown in the Height of Buildings Map referred to in clause 4.3 of the 
Sydney LEP 2012. 

The site has a maximum building height control of 18 metres across the building site generally 
allowing for two industrial stories. It is currently eligible for up to 10 per cent additional building 
height or FSR (not both) under clause 6.21 of the Sydney LEP 2012, subject to demonstrating 
design excellence. 

The Planning Proposal is to amend the relevant Building Height Map to increase the maximum 
building height to 30 metres to allow for three industrial storeys.  

 
Figure 9 Height of Buildings (Sydney LEP 2012) 
  

25



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

14 

2.3. Floor Space Ratio 
Maximum floor space ratio (FSR) controls are shown in the Floor Space Ratio Maps referred to in 
clause 4.4 of the Sydney LEP 2012. 

The site has a maximum floor space ratio of 1:5:1. 

The Planning Proposal does not seek to amend the FSR map in the Sydney LEP 2012. 

 
Figure 10 Floor Space Ratio (Sydney LEP 2012) 
  

26



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

15 

2.4. Heritage 
The site is in proximity to a number of local heritage items in the Sydney LEP 2012, including: 

• Alexandra Canal (Between Cooks River and Huntley Street) Including Interior - Heritage Item l3 
– listed for its high historic, aesthetic and technical/research significance, as a rare example of 
19th Century navigational canal construction in Australia. 

• A group of terraces at 2-34 Campbell Road, Alexandria - Heritage Item I12 – Two storey 
Victoria Regency style terrace houses, listed for their historical significance representing early 
housing associated with the nearby brick making and potting works.  

• Rudders Bond Store, a warehouse at 53-57 Campbell Road, St Peters - Heritage Item I1405 – 
demolished as part of St Peters Interchange construction works. 

The site is not within or nearby a heritage conservation area. 

Alexandra Canal is also listed in the NSW State Heritage Register as a state heritage item (SHR 
01621). 

 

 
Figure 11 Heritage (Sydney LEP 2012) 
A search of the NSW State Heritage Register did not identify any further heritage items on the site 
or on any adjacent land. 

27



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

16 

2.5. Planning Proposal Request 
Goodman lodged a planning proposal request in March 2020 with the requested supporting 
studies: 

• Planning proposal justification report 
• Architecture Concept Plans 
• Urban Design Report 
• Ecologically Sustainable Development Strategy 
• Traffic Assessment 
• Preliminary Travel Plan 
• Design Excellence Strategy 
• Landscape Plan 
• Public Art Strategy 
• Flood Assessment 
• Arborist Report 
• Geotechnical report 
• Phase I and Phase II Environmental Site Assessment 
• Utilities Review 

The planning proposal request is to increase the height control on the site from 18 metres to 30 
metres to facilitate a single three-story warehouse. Goodman’s objectives for the change to the 
planning controls are to: 

• Enable a functional and adaptable industrial redevelopment of the existing warehouse 
facility 

• Retain industrial and urban services land and support industrial expansion in an appropriate 
location 

• Facilitate the intensification of industrial land use in response to increasing land values 
• Enable the site to achieve the permissible FSR of 1.5:1, thereby ensuring enhanced land 

use efficiency  
• Provide a flexible design to provide for a combination of customer types comprising of e-

commerce, ancillary office spaces, a cafe and gym in addition to storage units 
• Become an integral part of the supply chain and the last mile delivery 
• Build upon strong e-commerce drivers close to Sydney Airport, Port Botany, Cooks River 

Intermodal Terminal and the CBD 
• Contribute to increased employment generation in an accessible location 
• Incorporate innovative design principles consistent with global industrial / warehouse trends 
• Provide a highly sustainable design incorporating latest technology such as solar 

photovoltaics (PV), water harvesting, vehicle management, energy management and smart 
metering. 

The planning proposal request also sought exclusion from the application of Sydney LEP 2012 
clause 6.21 – Design Excellence, as it is currently applied, given the proposed built form will trigger 
the requirement for a competitive design process.  

The planning proposal request proposed an alternate approach whereby five concept design 
options were given for the redevelopment of the site. This entailed an independent peer review 
process. 

The request for exemption from the requirement for a competitive design process, in accordance 
with the “City of Sydney Competitive Design Policy”, is not supported. The site is visually prominent 
and a competitive design process will ensure the resulting development achieves both a high 
quality aesthetic outcome as well as being efficient and fit for its industrial purpose. 
Notwithstanding this, the Sydney LEP allows that a proponent may seek a waiver from the 
requirement to undertake a competitive design process in the development assessment process.  

28



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

17 

The draft DCP includes a design excellence strategy. This requires a competitive design 
alternatives process undertaken under clause 6.21 of Sydney LEP 2012 to involve a minimum of 
three invited competitors including at least one emerging architectural firm.   

 
 

29



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

18 

3. Objectives and Intended 
Outcomes 
This Planning Proposal will facilitate the redevelopment of 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters. The 
objective and intended outcome of the Planning Proposal is to: 

• ensure the ongoing use of the site for industrial purposes, thereby protecting vital industrial 
and urban services zoned land from incursion of higher value land uses such as 
commercial and residential development 

• facilitate the more intense use of industrial land in a high value, strategic location close to 
Sydney CBD, Sydney Airport, Port Botany and the Cooks River Intermodal Terminal 

• enable the site to achieve the permissible FSR of 1.5:1, thereby ensuring enhanced land 
use efficiency  

• facilitate a high quality, flexible design to provide for a range of land uses appropriate to the 
IN1 – General Industrial zone 

• build on the existing commercial drivers in the location, particularly those associated with 
Sydney Airport, Port Botany, Cooks River Intermodal Terminal and Central Sydney 

• contribute to increased economic activity and employment generation in an accessible 
location 

• facilitate a high quality design, appropriate to the visual prominence of the site, and 
• improve sustainability outcomes through energy ratings, solar photovoltaics, water sensitive 

urban design and urban greening initiatives. 
  

30



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

19 

4. Explanation of Provisions 
4.1. Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
4.1.1. Building height Map 
The Planning Proposal seeks to amend the Height of Buildings Map 005 in Sydney LEP 2012, in 
accordance with the proposed Height of Buildings Map shown at Part 6 of The Planning Proposal 
and described in Table 1. 

Location Existing Control Proposed 
Control 

With design excellence 

1-3 Burrows Road, St 
Peters 

18 metres 
 

30 metres 
 

33 metres 
 

Table 1 Existing and proposed height controls 
 

4.1.2 Drafting instructions 
To deliver the objectives and intended outcomes of the Planning Proposal, a new clause is 
proposed in Part 6, Division 5 of the Sydney LEP as provided at Table 2 below.  

Drafting instructions 

 

Clause 6.XX  1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

(1) This clause applies to 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters, being Lot 11, DP 606737, Lot 1 
DP 1227450. 

(2) The objective of this clause is to satisfy matters of consideration prior to development 
consent ensure the resulting development: 

a. provides setbacks to facilitate tree planting; 
b. limits signage to adjacent road frontages to minimise the visual impact of the 

site from public open space within St Peters Interchange; and 
c. demonstrates ecologically sustainable development principles. 

(3) Clause 6.21(7)(b) does not apply to development on the subject land. 
(4) Development consent must not be granted unless the consent authority is satisfied the 

resulting development: 
(a) is of high aesthetic quality and responds to the site’s high visibility from the public 

domain; 
(b) establishes unencumbered minimum 6 metre appropriate landscaped setbacks to 

road frontages; 
(c) provides business or building identification has no signage visible from public open 

space only on those parts of the building fronting Burrows Road, St Peters and 
Canal Road, St Peters; 

(d) demonstrates best practice ecologically sustainable development. includes features 
for the on-site capture and efficient use of water and energy; and 

(e) will not result in persons being unduly affected by emissions from the St Peters M8 
road tunnel ventilation facility. 

31



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

20 

Drafting instructions 

 

Table 2 Drafting instructions 

4.2. Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 
The City has prepared a draft site-specific development control plan (draft DCP) to amend Sydney 
Development Control Plan 2012. The draft DCP is to ensure the objectives and intended outcomes 
of the Planning Proposal are achieved. The draft DCP includes specific controls relating to built 
form, design and materiality, landscape setbacks, sustainability, signage, communal open space 
and design excellence. 

The draft DCP will be publicly exhibited with the Planning Proposal, should Gateway determination 
facilitate the public exhibition.    

32



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

21 

5. Justification 
The Planning Proposal and associated draft DCP is informed by the City’s assessment of the 
proposed built form controls in the planning proposal request and supporting studies provided by 
the landowner. The Planning Proposal proposes sometimes different planning controls than those 
in the planning proposal request. This is done to address issues and achieve better outcomes. The 
attached studies have not been changed or updated and are as provided by the proponent. 

5.1. Development outcomes 
The Planning Proposal facilitates the redevelopment of the site for:  

• three levels of warehousing with centralised hardstands and driveways, accessed via one-way 
circular ramp systems at either end of the facility 

• a six-storey A-grade commercial office on the north-eastern end of the building providing 
flexible working spaces along with all required staff amenities for tenants of the building 

• amenities for staff including a café on the top floor of the office benefiting from the north-east 
aspect and extensive inner city and district views  

• underground parking 
• access off Burrows Road with a separate single entry and exit driveway proposed for both cars 

and trucks, and 
• truck access at the north-eastern corner of the site with right in / out and left in / out required for 

efficient access to the facility. Circulation through the facility for all truck movements would be 
via a one-way system designed to provide unrestricted and efficient access at all times. The 
dual sided loading configuration maintains an unencumbered central access driveway 
throughout the building. The centralised nature of the hardstands also provides weather cover 
and forms an acoustic buffer for surrounding developments.  

The planning proposal is supported by the attached Urban Design Report, which was provided by 
the applicant in support of their planning proposal request. The report contains a conceptual built 
form to illustrate future development outcomes based on the proposed building height and 
identified urban design features and impacts of the proposal. The urban design vision and 
objectives for the proposal were framed consistent with key guidelines and policies.  

The Urban Design Report tests a number of building envelope scenarios based on the potential 
29.5 metre building height and floor space ratio of 1.5:1 and includes a review of all the design 
options and the urban design principles that underpin the proposal.  

The proposed development outcomes are discussed below. 

5.1.1. Building height and mass 
This planning proposal seeks to change the maximum building height allowance from 18 metres to 
30 metres under the Sydney LEP. This will facilitate the redevelopment of the site into a multi-
storey industrial and warehousing building.  

An overview of the potential impacts of the proposed height increase is outlined in the sections 
below with further information provided in the proponent’s urban design analysis.  

The new St Peters Interchange borders the site on two sides and contributes to a dramatic change 
in the urban context. Some of the new road structures are up to 22 metres high. The new 
development will respond to these significant new structures, which justifies an increased height as 
the current 18 metre height limit is based on the existing context which features significantly lower 
heights for nearby structures. 

33



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

22 

The analysis demonstrated that the mass of the proposal is consistent with the under construction 
and future surrounding context, with elements of the proposed mass having similar height 
relationships to proposed new road structures, in particular the proposed flyovers over both Canal 
Road and Burrows Road as these new structures are / will be directly adjacent to the proposal.  

The mass of the main three storey element of the building on Canal Road is broken down as more 
than 50 percent of the main building envelope is set back from the street edge. The spiral ramp is a 
full storey lower in this location and is analogous to the curvature of the viewing mound in form and 
its height relationship. 

The height of the proposal is in keeping with the height of St Peters Interchange and provides an 
adequately scaled elevation along the length of Burrows Road which acts as a buffer between the 
public realm and this new significant infrastructure. 

Retention of viable street trees, along with the provision of new street trees helps to maintain the 
continuity of the tree lined street edge along Burrows Road and provide screening and softening to 
the building elevation. 

The bulk and length of the building is broken down through articulation of its distinct parts, which 
reflects the function in a particular location. This is achieved through the material changes and 
setbacks along the length of the facade. Vertically the building has a clear base, middle and top, 
with individual floor levels identifiable through the location of the horizontal bands of windows. 

Overshadowing  

The building’s orientation and the site’s position means overshadowing impacts are minimised as 
shadows will be cast towards roads rather than upon adjacent sites. Also, there are no sensitive 
uses within close proximity of the site given the industrial zoning. 

Burrows Road is one street back from the canal and therefore an increase in height would not 
cause overshadowing or negative visual impacts on the canal.  

Visual impact 

A visual assessment was undertaken as part of the proponent’s Urban Design Report. Six key 
viewpoints were analysed. Key views are shown at figure 12-15 

The analysis found that: 

• The mass of the building will be distinctive and articulated from its viewpoints considering its 
visual prominence, however, will be mitigated by foreground elements such as buildings 
adjacent to the canal, and its relative scale to the St Peters Interchange and its flyovers, 
Sydney Gateway, and the adjacent viewing mound.  

• Tree lining and vegetation along the edges will reduce the perceived scale of the building whilst 
acting as screening along the corner of Canal Road and Burrows Road. 

• The main entrance of the building at Burrows Road is assisted by a high-quality façade design 
with setbacks and a porte-cochere to add civic scale and increase visual amenity of the 
building. 

Importantly, the view of the Sydney CBD from the Canal Road bridge will not be obscured. 

The Urban Design Report contains a key view analysis, demonstrating the proposed height 
increase would not negatively impact viewpoints towards the site or along the canal towards the 
city. 

 

34



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

23 

 
Figure 12 Proposed built form visible from Burrows Road 
 

 
Figure 13 View from Viewing Mound within St Peters Interchange 

35



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

24 

 
Figure 14 View from future Sydney Gateway bridge over Canal Road 

 
Figure 15 View from St Peters Interchange and Burrows Road Bridge 

5.1.2. Facade and setbacks 
A minimum six metre wide landscape setback has been provided in the draft DCP along both the 
Canal and Burrows Road frontages. The proposed amendment to the Sydney LEP also refers to 
the need for appropriate landscape setbacks. A deeper setback on the corner of Canal and 
Burrows Road allows for more extensive landscaping and provides deep soiled area for tree 

36



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

25 

planting and vegetation to soften the building elevation and improve the sight lines for vehicles 
navigating the corner.  

 
Figure 16 Architectural drawing showing proposed setbacks 
The Canal and Burrows Road facades are articulated for visual interest and to break up the 
appearance of height, bulk and scale. Articulation is enhanced by the setbacks which minimise\ the 
feeling of enclosure at street level. 

5.1.3. Landscaping, deep soil and canopy cover 
The proponent’s landscape plan in support of the Planning Proposal shows extensive landscape 
areas proposed throughout the site to provide deep soil and increase amenity from the public 
domain and for the building’s occupants.  

The landscape plan and the arborist report propose that the current 59 trees will increase to 108 
trees net with no Council trees to be removed as part of the proposal. This includes retaining 42 
trees, the removal of 18 existing trees, and planting an additional 67.  Opportunities for additional 
planting are provided in the setbacks and across the site. In addition, a green roof is also proposed 
on the ancillary office space. The proposed landscape plan meets the requirement in Section 5.8 of 
the Sydney DCP that 15 per cent of a site be provided for deep soil. Section 3 of the Sydney DCP 
requires at least 15 per cent canopy coverage of a site within 10 years from the completion of 
development. Details of plantings are to be provided with future development applications. Given 
the few trees currently onsite the development will result in a significant increase in canopy 
coverage. 

5.1.4. Land-use 
The proposed uses on the site will continue to meet the objectives of IN1 - General Industrial of the 
Sydney LEP 2012. The three-storey warehouse will consist a mix of industrial and warehouse 
uses. Light industrial and manufacturing businesses with prominent brand recognition would 
occupy the ground floor. Warehouse and distribution users that are top-tier retailers would be 
accommodated on levels one and two of the proposal. The proposed development also 
incorporates ancillary office space and amenities for tenants of the facility.  

5.1.5. Design excellence 
Future development will be subject to clause 6.21 of the Sydney LEP 2012, which requires a 
competitive design process for buildings over 25 metres or capital investment value of $100 million. 

37



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

26 

The Planning Proposal includes a site-specific clause in the Sydney LEP that clause 6.21(7)(b) 
does not apply to the site. This will limit the bonus applicable for a building demonstrating design 
excellence to additional 10% height and not floor space. This is due to the additional height 
involved being more contextually appropriate than additional floor space. 

The draft DCP includes a design excellence strategy that requires a competitive design 
alternatives process be undertaken under clause 6.21 of Sydney LEP 2012 to involve a minimum 
of three invited competitors including at least one emerging architectural firm. The design 
excellence strategy also confirms that any bonus is delivered in height and not floor space. 

5.1.6. Ecologically Sustainable Development 
An Ecologically Sustainable Development (ESD) context analysis and strategy provided by the 
proponent shows the proposal would be capable of including best practice initiatives and meeting 
the requirements of current planning controls and the intent of wider policies. 

This Planning Proposal includes a site-specific clause in the Sydney LEP that development on the 
site is to demonstrate best practice ecologically sustainable development (ESD). The draft DCP 
provides additional clarification on meeting this requirement, including that the warehouse will be 
designed to achieve a 5 Star Green Star rating and any ancillary office space have a 5.5 star 
NABERS Energy Commitment Agreement. This is consistent with Section 3.6 of the Sydney DCP.  

5.1.7. Vehicle access 
Truck access is proposed from Burrows Road at the north-eastern end of the site. Access to the 
underground car parking area is proposed mid-way along the Burrows Road frontage. Vehicle 
access to the at-level visitor parking is proposed on the north-eastern end of the property. 
Emergency/ fire access is proposed from Canal Road and will not allow for any normal operational 
egress from this point.  

The maximum length vehicle accessing the site is a B-double of 26 metres in length. All vehicles 
will be able to enter and exit the site in a forward direction. 

 

 
Figure 17 Access and circulation 

Fire Brigade access only 

Undercroft parking access 

Pedestrian access 

Visitor parking 
access 

Truck access 

38



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

27 

5.1.8. Parking  
Parking is to be provided in accordance with the Sydney LEP maximum parking rates for office 
premises, industrial and warehouse uses. It is estimated about 300 parking spaces will be provided 
in conjunction with the development, predominantly underground. 

Bicycle parking, end of trip facilities and car share parking is to be provided in line with 
requirements in Sydney DCP. 

5.1.9. Pedestrian access 
A pedestrian-only access will be provided off Burrows Road into the lobby area. This entrance will 
be separate from driveways, and designed in accordance with the provisions in Sydney DCP.  

5.1.10. Signage 
This Planning Proposal includes a site-specific clause in the Sydney LEP that any signage must 
not be visible from public open space. This is to prevent signage being visible from new recreation 
areas within St Peters Interchange such as the viewing mound or from any part of Sydney Park. 

Sydney DCP has existing requirements regarding the positioning, illumination and content of 
building identification signage and business identification signage. Notably signage must only 
relate to a significant tenant of the building. 

5.1.11. Public art 
A Public Art Strategy for the proposal has been prepared to meet the requirements of the Sydney 
DCP 2012 and Interim Guidelines - Public Art in Private Developments. The Strategy provides an 
analysis of the site’s locality and public art opportunities. Research was undertaken into the site 
and local themes, history and features of the area which was used to inform initial artwork concept 
formulation, and selection and development of a preferred artwork. 

A revised public art strategy will be required upon lodgement of a development application, taking 
into account changes to the built form as a result of any design competition. 

 

5.2. Other considerations 
The proposed changes to Sydney LEP and DCP 2012 will result in improved built form, 
sustainability and economic outcomes compared to development possible under the existing 
controls. 

5.2.1. Site-specific clause 
The site-specific clause proposed in section 4 of this Planning Proposal amends Sydney LEP 2012 
and responds to the possibility future development would be designated State Significant 
Development (SSD) under State Environmental Planning Policy (State and Regional Development) 
2011. This is as the development is a warehouse or distribution centre with a capital investment 
value of over $50 million and may be designated a SSD. If so, the development control plan is 
given limited or no weight in the assessment. The site-specific clause is intended to ensure matters 
otherwise dealt with in the draft DCP are given appropriate consideration.  

5.2.2.  Retention of industrial land 
Industrial and urban services land in the City of Sydney is extremely constrained and subject to 
competition with higher order uses. The Planning Proposal will ensure the continued retention of 
this land for industrial uses. 

39



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

28 

Located close to WestConnex, Sydney Gateway (and hence Sydney Airport), the Cooks River 
Intermodal Terminal and Sydney CBD as an industrial warehouse facility it is extremely well 
located. The facility has strong potential to service online retail, traditional retail, logistics and 
deliveries, an important function vital to the continuing economic viability of Sydney.  

5.2.3. Traffic 
The traffic impact assessment undertaken by the proponent highlights that Burrows Road and 
Canal Road will see reduced use as a result of the opening of WestConnex and Sydney Gateway. 
Therefore, any additional traffic generation as a result of this Planning Proposal will be 
accommodated by the increased capacity of these roads. 

5.2.4.  Access to public and active transport 
The site is located 1.2 kilometre or 15-minute walk from Mascot Station, a 1.8 kilometre or 23-
minute walk from St Peters Station and a 1.9 kilometre or 24-minute walk from Sydenham Station. 
It is also serviced by bus stops on Canal Road to those nearby stations and additional bus stops 
further from the site that operate towards the CBD. 

Additionally, shared cycling paths will be introduced on Canal Road and the St Peters Interchange. 
This will allow direct cycle access to the site from regional routes. To facilitate this, the site will also 
include bicycle parking and end of trip facilities.  

A Preliminary Travel Plan provided by the proponent reviewed strategic plans relevant to the area 
as well as an assessment of existing infrastructure associated with car sharing and green 
transport. The travel plan intended to develop site-specific measures to promote and maximise the 
use of sustainable travel modes, including walking, cycling, public transport and car sharing. In this 
regard, this plan sets out objectives and strategies to improve sustainability. 

5.2.5. Economic impact 
With the existing industrial use of the site being retained, only expanded and densified, the social 
and economic benefits of this proposal will enhance the value of the site. It will foster economic 
activity and employment, with the development projected to provide floor space to support 370 jobs 
and expand the potential of the freight and logistics network due to its locational benefits.  

5.2.6. Efficient use of land in a strategic location 
There is an increasing trend globally to construct high density warehouses. The increase in height 
will enable Sydney to be at the forefront of the freight and logistics sector as well as maximising the 
use of space and emerging technologies in the field.  

The multi-storey industrial and warehouse building provides high density industrial land use that 
responds to the demand for and recent reduction of IN1 zoned land in South Sydney, and 
increasing land values. Through this it will enable a larger number of smaller tenancies with 
flexibility of catering for future automation and larger customers.  

5.2.7. Land contamination 
Contamination assessments undertaken have deemed the site to be continuing as suitable for 
commercial/industrial land under SEPP 55 – Remediation of Land. This is provided there is 
implementation of control and management mechanisms including adherence to a Construction-
phase Site Management plan and Long-Term Site Management Plan. This is as fill materials on 
the site have been identified to be contaminated with lead, benzo(a)pyrene, long chain-length total 
recoverable hydrocarbons (TRH) and asbestos. During the development application stage, further 
assessment will be needed and a Remedial Action Plan will need to be submitted.  

5.2.8. Flooding 
The subject site is located in the Alexandra Canal catchment. The Alexandra Canal Flood Study 
identifies 1% Annual Exceedance Probability (AEP) peak flood level of RL 2.3m AHD. The 

40



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

29 

proposed built form has floor levels designed with reference to this established flood level. The 
office floor level is RL 3.8m AHD, ground floor at RL 5.5m AHD and the undercroft parking area at 
RL 2.3m AHD. The parking level is classified as undercroft, not a basement, and will not employ 
the use of flood gates. 

The potential flooding impacts on the built form proposed at development assessment stage will be 
subject to a more thorough review, with reference to site-specific flood studies. For the purposes of 
this Planning Proposal, the floor heights are sufficient to enable the building envelope within the 
proposed maximum height limit. 

 

5.3. Need for the Planning Proposal. 
Q1. Is the Planning Proposal the result of any strategic study or report? 
No, this Planning Proposal is the result of a request from the landowner to change the height 
control that applies to the site.  

Q2. Is the Planning Proposal the best means of achieving the objectives or intended 
outcomes, or is there a better way? 
The objectives of densifying the site and enabling multiple levels of industrial warehouse space can 
only be achieved by increasing the height control on the site. 

The objectives of setting site-specific and site appropriate sustainability objectives in the planning 
controls can only be achieved through the Planning Proposal process and a site-specific clause in 
Division 5 of Sydney LEP 2012. 

A Planning Proposal is required to amend Sydney LEP 2012 to achieve these outcomes. 

5.4. Relationship to the strategic planning framework 
Q3. Is the Planning Proposal consistent with the objectives and actions of the applicable 
regional or sub-regional strategy (including any exhibited draft plans or strategies)? 
Greater Sydney Region Plan 

A Metropolis of Three Cities – The Greater Sydney Region Plan is the Greater Sydney 
Commission’s strategic plan for Greater Sydney. It is a 20-year plan with a 40-year vision, seeking 
to transform Greater Sydney into a metropolis of three distinct but connected cities: the Eastern 
Harbour City, the Central River City and the Western Parkland City. 

The overarching aspirations of this strategy are:  

• Liveability  
• Productivity 
• Sustainability 
• Infrastructure and collaboration 

The proposal is applicable to five directions outlined in the liveability, productivity and sustainability 
framework. These include facilitating a city supported by infrastructure, have a well-connected city, 
create jobs and skills for the city, have a city in its landscape and an efficient city.  

The Planning Proposal primarily addresses Objective 23: Industrial and urban services land is 
planned, retained and managed, which will be actioned by safeguarding existing industrial land 
from competing pressures and allowing for a mix of economic outcomes to support the city and its 
population. The Proposal will also contribute in supporting the creation of 817,000 jobs by 2056.  

41



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

30 

 

Eastern City District Plan 

The Eastern City District Plan sets out the Greater Sydney Commission’s vision for the Eastern 
City District, of which the City of Sydney is a part. 

As such the Eastern City District Plan goes into depth in listing out planning priorities and actions 
which are applicable to objectives and aspirations of A Metropolis of Three Cities. The Planning 
Proposal aligns with priorities and actions under the productivity and sustainability framework.  

Planning Priority E10: Delivering integrated land use and transport planning and a 30-minute city.  

The proposed development responds to transport and land-use integration by being situated in 
proximity to local bus stops and train stations to nearby suburbs. It also has pedestrian access and 
will be serviced with improved cycling links on Canal Road.  

Planning Priority E11: Growing investment, business opportunities and jobs in strategic centres. 

The Planning Proposal will facilitate approximately 370 jobs by enabling a range of top-tier 
businesses to contribute to the broader freight and logistics network. This will be done through the 
action of retaining industrial land for employment and its role in supporting the Harbour CBD, trade 
gateways and other strategic centres.  

Planning Priority E12: Retaining and managing industrial and urban services land.  

The industrial and employment services land is highly constrained within the Eastern City District 
due to emphasis on residential and retail development. The proposal will service a district economy 
that is noted to have significant tracts of industrial land with prospects of job generation. 
Additionally, the proposal facilitates the contemporary adaptation of industrial and warehouse 
buildings through increased floor to ceiling heights. 

Planning Priority E19 – Reducing carbon emissions and managing energy, water and waste 
efficiently.  

The Proposal will improve sustainability outcomes through achieving ambitious sustainability 
benchmarks including energy ratings, solar photovoltaics, water sensitive urban design features 
and urban greening initiatives. 

Q4. Is the Planning Proposal consistent with council’s local strategy or other local strategic 
plan? 
Sustainable Sydney 2030 

Sustainable Sydney 2030 is the visions for sustainable development of the City of Sydney to 2030 
and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of the City. The plan outlines the 
City’s vision for a green, global and connected city and sets targets, objectives and actions to 
achieve this vision. The Planning Proposal is aligned with the following relevant strategic directions 
and objectives: 

Direction 1 – A globally competitive and innovative city – The Proposal supports one of the first 
multi-level industrial facilities in Australia which responds to a global trend to construct high density 
warehouses. This site will contribute in being more attractive location to prospective tenants.  

Direction 2 – A leading environmental performer – The Planning Proposal will deliver ecological 
sustainable development on the site, through 5-star Green Star rating on the warehouse and 6-star 
NABERS Energy Commitment Agreement on the ancillary office component. Water sensitive urban 
design features and a photovoltaic system will also be achieved on the site. 

Direction 3 – Integrated transport for a connected City – Future development on the subject site is 
well located to capitalise on its proximity to existing and future transport infrastructure including 
nearby Mascot, St Peters and Sydenham Stations, as well local bus stops. It also includes 
provision for pedestrian and cycle way access.  

42



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

31 

Direction 9 – Sustainable development, renewal and design – The Planning Proposal will support 
future development that is more ecologically sustainable through ambitious sustainability 
benchmarks discussed in Section 5.1. 

 

City Plan 2036 - Local Strategic Planning Statement 

City of Sydney’s recently endorsed Local Strategic Planning Statement sets out the land use 
planning context, 20-year vision and planning priorities to positively guide change towards the 
City’s vision for a green, global and connected city. The planning statement explains how the 
planning system will manage that change to achieve the desired outcomes and guides future 
changes to controls, including those sought by proponents through Planning Proposals.  

The Planning Proposal gives effect to the following planning priorities of the planning statement: 

Infrastructure  

I2 Align development and growth with support infrastructure - The subject site is well located to 
maximise freight and logistics services and integrates with WestConnex, Sydney Gateway (and 
hence Sydney Airport), the Cooks River Intermodal Terminal and the Sydney CBD.  

Sustainability  

S2 Creating better buildings and places to reduce emissions and waste and use water efficiently - 
The Planning Proposal will support future development that is more ecologically sustainable 
development on the site through achieving sustainability benchmarks. These include a 5-star 
Green Star rating for the multi-level warehouse and 6-star NABERS Energy Commitment 
Agreement for the ancillary office component. Water sensitive urban design features and a 
photovoltaic system will also be achieved on the site. The development of the site will also allow for 
additional tree canopy. 

Productivity  

P3 Protecting industrial and urban services in the Southern Enterprise Area and evolving 
businesses in the Green Square-Mascot Strategic Centre - The Planning Proposal enables 
economic growth which supports Central Sydney, the Eastern Economic Corridor and international 
trade gateways. It contributes towards creating 370 jobs in the industrial and urban services 
industry by retaining and maximising the use of Industrial land.  

 

Q5. Is the Planning Proposal consistent with the applicable State Environmental Planning 
Policies? 
The Planning Proposal is consistent with all applicable State Environmental Planning Policies 
(SEPPs), as summarised in Table 3. SEPPs not mentioned are not applicable to the subject 
proposal. 

State Environmental Planning Policy Comment 

SEPP (State and Regional Development) 
2011 

The proposed development is a warehouse 
or distribution centre with a capital 
investment value of over $50 million, which 
is designated as state significant 
development under this SEPP. This 
planning proposal does not hinder the 
application of this SEPP. 

SEPP (Infrastructure) 2007 Meets the objectives of this SEPP. 

Table 3 Consistency with SEPPs 

43



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

32 

No Regional Environmental Plans (REPs) for the Sydney and Greater Metropolitan regions, which 
are deemed SEPPs, apply to the subject Planning Proposal. 

Q6. Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable Section 9.1 Ministerial Directions? 
The Planning Proposal is consistent with all Ministerial Directions issued under section 9.1 of the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979, as summarised in Table 4. 

Ministerial Direction Comment 

1. Employment and Resources 

1.1 Business and Industrial Zones Consistent. The Planning Proposal encourages 
employment growth and protects industrial 
land. 

1.2 Rural Zones Not applicable 

1.3 Mining, Petroleum Production and 
Extractive Industries 

Not applicable 

1.4 Oyster Aquaculture Not applicable 

1.5 Rural Lands Not applicable 

2. Environment and Heritage 
2.1 Environment Protection Zones Not applicable 

2.2 Coastal Management The site is not identified as being in a coastal 
vulnerability area, coastal wetland or littoral 
rainforest. The Planning Proposal is consistent 
with this direction. 

2.3 Heritage Conservation Consistent. The Planning Proposal will not 
impact any nearby state or local heritage items. 

2.4 Recreation Vehicle Areas Not applicable 

2.6 Remediation of Contaminated Land Consistent. The Planning Proposal accounts 
for contamination impacts and will undergo 
further assessment at the development 
application stage. No expansion of land uses 
are being proposed. 

3. Housing, Infrastructure and Urban Development 
3.1 Residential Zones Not applicable 

3.2 Caravan Parks and Manufactured Home 
Estates 

Not applicable 

3.3 Home Occupations Not applicable 

3.4 Integrating Land Use and Transport Consistent. The site is in close to public 
transport and provides the efficient movement 
of freight. 

44



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

33 

Ministerial Direction Comment 

3.5 Development Near Regulated Airports and 
Defence Airfields 

Not applicable 

3.6 Shooting Ranges Not applicable 

4. Hazard and Risk 

4.1 Acid Sulfate Soils Consistent Inconsistent. The Planning Proposal 
will enable an intensification of land uses on 
land identified as having a probability of 
containing acid sulfate soils. The site is 
mapped as Class 3 Acid Sulfate Soils in the 
City of Sydney sheet map, which means acid 
sulfate soils are likely to be found 1 metre 
below the natural ground surface. 

However, the proponent has provided a study 
in support of the Planning Proposal which 
identifies how development on the site can 
avoid adverse environmental impacts from acid 
sulfate soils.  

The site is deemed suitable under the 
proponent’s Geotechnical Report pending that 
during the development application stage an 
Acid Sulfate Soil management plan has been 
prepared under 7.14 Acid Sulfate Soils of the 
Sydney LEP 2012. 

4.2 Mine Subsidence and Unstable Land Not applicable 

4.3 Flood Prone Land Not applicable 

4.4 Planning for Bushfire Protection Not applicable 

5. Regional Planning 

5.10 Implementation of Regional Plans Consistent. The Planning Proposal gives effect 
to objectives in the Greater Sydney Region 
Plan. 

5.11 Development of Aboriginal Land Council 
land 

Not applicable 

6. Local Plan Making 

6.1 Approval and Referral Requirements Consistent. The Planning Proposal does not 
include any concurrence, consultation or 
referral provisions nor does it identify any 
development as designated development. 

6.2 Reserving Land for Public Purposes Consistent. The Planning Proposal will not 
affect any land reserved for public purposes. 

45



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

34 

Ministerial Direction Comment 

6.3 Site Specific Provisions Consistent. Inconsistent. The Planning 
Proposal includes site-specific provisions which 
contain development standards and 
requirements in addition to those already 
contained in Sydney LEP 2012. 

While these site-specific provisions are 
necessary to ameliorate the additional 
development impacts associated with the 
additional height above the current height 
controls, they are of minor significance and not 
unnecessarily restrictive. The site-specific 
provisions do not prevent a wide variety of 
development outcomes on the site. 

7. Metropolitan Planning 

7.1 Implementation of A Plan for Growing 
Sydney 

Consistent. The Planning Proposal gives effect 
to objectives in the Greater Sydney Region 
Plan, which replaces the Plan for Growing 
Sydney. 

Table 4 Consistency with Ministerial Directions 

5.5. Environmental, social and economic impact 
Q7. Is there any likelihood that critical habitat or threatened species, populations or 
ecological communities, or their habitats, will be adversely affected as a result of the 
proposal? 
The Planning Proposal is unlikely to adversely affect any critical habitat or threatened species, 
populations or ecological communities or their habitats. The subject site contains native tree 
species which in majority will be retained.  

Q8. Are there any other likely environmental effects as a result of the Planning Proposal and 
how are they proposed to be managed? 
The subject site is located in a previously disturbed industrial area and therefore will have minimal 
environmental impacts associated with construction and operation. Preliminary specialist 
assessments have been undertaken to assess the impact of the proposal on traffic, flooding, 
contamination and visual amenity. Additionally, assessments have been undertaken to find 
pathways to achieve positive impacts on the local environment.  

The draft Greener Places (Government Architect, 2017) and the Environmental Action 2016-2021 
Strategy and Action Plan (City of Sydney, 2017) are particularly relevant to the proposal’s 
sustainability and green infrastructure targets. The proposal aims to produce a development in line 
with the sustainability goals set out in the Environmental Action 2016-2021 Strategy and Action 
Plan (City of Sydney, 2017). Additionally, the proposal aligns with the plan’s aim to increase green 
space through the retention and implementation of green infrastructure on-site in compliance with 
the draft Greener Places policy. The enhanced land use efficiency proposed through the 
consolidation of industrial uses over a smaller area leads to reduction in urban sprawl.   

Possible impacts of the proposed development facilitated by the Planning Proposal, and mitigation 
measures are discussed in Section 5 of this Planning Proposal. 

46



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

35 

Q9. Has the Planning Proposal adequately addressed any social and economic effects? 
The economic impacts of the proposed development are discussed in Section 5 of this Planning 
Proposal.  

The Planning Proposal is unlikely to result in any adverse social impacts.  

5.6. State and Commonwealth Interests 
Q10. Is there adequate public infrastructure for the Planning Proposal? 
The site is already well serviced by the full range of public utilities including electricity, 
telecommunications, water, sewer and stormwater. It is expected that these services would be 
upgraded where required by the developer. 

The Planning Proposal is served by the WestConnex freeing up road capacity on Burrows Road 
and Canal Road. It also serves as a gateway for logistics access to the site. The site is in proximity 
to local bus stops and Sydenham, Mascot and St Peters stations. Pedestrian footpaths are also 
located on both sides of Burrows Road and Canal Road with intersections that have several 
pedestrian crossings enabling easy access to the site. The site will also be served by regional 
cycling infrastructure as part of WestConnex and the Alexandra Canal cycleway. The new 
interchange will have a new publicly accessible open space featuring a 24-metre-high viewing 
mound which is located adjacent to the west of the site. 
The detailed development application will be subject to the statutory development contributions, 
which will contribute to the provision of other community facilities, the demand for which will be 
generated by the development. 

Q11. What are the views of state and Commonwealth public authorities consulted in 
accordance with the Gateway determination? 
The Gateway determination will advise the public authorities to be consulted as part of public 
exhibition. Any issues raised will be incorporated into the Planning Proposal following public 
exhibition. 

 

Environment Protection Authority 
The EPA made a submission highlighting a potential increased risk of exposure from PM2.5 air 
pollution from the nearby M8 ventilation stack. The EPA made clear environmental impact 
assessment of the ventilation stack did not include analysis of buildings 30 metres or taller in the 
vicinity. 
The proponent has worked with an air quality specialist to understand the risk, and in lieu of 
engaging additional testing for this planning proposal have committed to undertaking a full study at 
development application stage and to implement any pertinent findings from that study. 

The EPA have reviewed this commitment and have confirmed they have no outstanding objection 
to the planning proposal being made. 

To ensure an air impact assessment is undertaken where required, this planning proposal has 
been amended to include site-specific LEP controls. 

Heritage NSW 
Heritage NSW highlighted that Alexandra Canal is a state heritage listed item. This planning 
proposal has been amended to include this clarification. 

Heritage NSW also confirmed the need for a heritage impact assessment to be undertaken at 
development application stage. 

47



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

36 

Transport for NSW 
Transport for NSW made a submission to highlight an error in traffic generation rates used in the 
proponent’s traffic and transport study, and to draw attention to the stormwater impacts caused by 
the recently approved Sydney Gateway project. 

The proponent’s stormwater and flooding specialist has confirmed there is no additional 
stormwater impact caused by the proposed development, because existing development on the 
site is almost entirely impermeable surfaces. With no additional impact, stormwater and flooding 
modelling for the Sydney Gateway project will still be valid after any redevelopment of the site. 

According to TfNSW, the proponent’s traffic and transport study included lower trip generation 
rates for the ancillary office floorspace component than the latest guide available from TfNSW. 
Because the incorrect rates relate only to the ancillary office space, which is a subordinate use and 
subject to change in quantum after this planning proposal is made, it is appropriate to allow this 
correction be made in the detailed traffic assessment accompanying any future development 
application. 

Transport for NSW have confirmed they have no outstanding objection to this planning proposal 
being made. 

48



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

37 

6. Mapping 
The Planning Proposal seeks to amend the Height of Buildings Map 005 in Sydney LEP 2012. The 
proposed map is shown in Figure 18. 

49



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

38 

 
Figure 18 Proposed amendment to Height of Buildings Map 005 in Sydney LEP 2012 

50



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

39 

7. Community consultation 
The Planning Proposal is to be was exhibited in accordance with the gateway determination once 
issues issued by the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment on 16 September 2020. 

It is anticipated the gateway determination will require public exhibition for a period of not less than 
28 days in accordance with of The Planning Proposal was exhibited from 23 November 2020 to 15 
January 2021 in accordance with the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 and 
section 4.5 of A Guide to preparing Local Environmental Plans. 

Notification of the public exhibition will be was via the City of Sydney website. 

Exhibition material will be was made available on the City of Sydney website. Town Hall House 
was closed to the public during the exhibition period due to COVID-19, so exhibition materials were 
not made available in person as planned. and at Town Hall House at 456 Kent Street, Sydney. 

Consultation with relevant NSW agencies, authorities and other relevant organisations will be were 
undertaken in accordance with the Gateway determination. 

Submissions were received from public authorities, as detailed above 

No submissions were received from the community. 

The proponent made a submission highlighting concerns with the signage provisions in the LEP 
drafting instructions and draft DCP, the green roof provisions in the draft DCP, and the design 
excellence strategy in the draft DCP. 

The proponent requested restrictions on signage fronting the St Peters Interchange and public 
open space in the proposed site-specific LEP and DCP clauses be removed. This request was 
justified with reference to wayfinding, placemaking, activating the city skyline, and business and 
building identification. 

As the building’s entrances and street frontages will be on Burrows Road and Canal Road, it is 
appropriate for purposes of wayfinding, identification and placemaking that any building or 
business identification signage be directed at these streets. The building’s rear faces the St Peters 
Interchange and public open space within it. Signage on the rear side of the building will not 
contribute to wayfinding, placemaking or identification, it will only serve as advertising to the large 
numbers of drivers on St Peters Interchange and people using the public open space. Broader 
brand-building advertising is not the purpose of building and business identification signage as 
described in the DCP. 

The draft DCP has been amended to respond to the proponent’s other concerns. 

51



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

40 

8. Project timeline 
The anticipated timeline for completion of the Planning Proposal is as follows: 

Stage Timeframe 

Gateway determination September 2020 

Public exhibition and government agency 
consultation 

October 2020 23 November 2020 to 15 
January 2021 

Consideration of submissions November 2020 January and February 2021 

Post exhibition consideration of proposal February 2021 March 2021 

Drafting of LEP provisions March April and May 2021 

Finalisation of LEP and DCP and forwarding to 
Department of Planning, Industry and 
Environment for notification 

April June and July 2021 

  

52



1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

41 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

53



Attachment B 

Draft Development Control Plan – 1-3 
Burrows Road, St Peters – Post Exhibition

54



 

55



Draft DCP – 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 
 

Draft DCP 
The purpose of the Development Control Plan 
The purpose of this Development Control Plan (DCP) is to amend Sydney Development Control 
Plan 2012, which was adopted by Council on 14 May 2012 and came into effect on 14 December 
2012.  

The provisions guide future development of land known as 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters when 
development is subject to Clause 6.XX – 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters of Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012 (Sydney LEP 2012). 

This DCP amendment does not apply to development on land to which Clause 6.XX does not 
apply. 

This DCP amendment is to be read in conjunction with draft Planning Proposal: 1-3 Burrows Road, 
St Peters. 

This is a post-exhibition document. Changes are illustrated with additions in underline and 
deletions in strikethrough. 

Citation 
This amendment may be referred to as Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 1-3 Burrows 
Road, St Peters amendment.  

Land covered by this plan 
This plan applies to the land identified as 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters – which is Lot 11 DP 
606737, Lot 1 DP 1227450. 

Relationship of this plan to Sydney Development Control Plan 
2012 
This plan amends the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 in the manner set out in Schedule 1 
below. 

Amendment to Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 
Section 6.X.X 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 
The following objectives and provisions apply to 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters, as shown in Figure 
6.1 Specific sites map. 

This section is to be read in conjunction with other relevant sections of this DCP, in particular 
Section 3 – General Provisions and Section 5.8 Southern Employment Lands. Where there is 
conflict, this section applies to the extent of any inconsistency. 

56



Draft DCP – 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 
 
Objectives 
 

(a) Ensure development results in high quality design and materiality appropriate to the high 
visibility of the site from the public domain and the St Peters Interchange. 

(b) Ensure development provides adequate setbacks to Canal Road and Burrows Road to 
soften the built form and provide opportunity for deep soil and increased canopy cover. 

(c) Ensure development results in an active frontage to Burrows Road to activate the street. 

(d) Ensure development achieves a high standard of sustainability. 

Provisions 
6.X.X.1 Built form, landscape setbacks and access 
(1) Development is not to exceed the maximum number of storeys and height in metres shown in  

Figure 6.X: Height in Storeys and Table 6.X: Height in Storeys and Metres. 
 

Figure 6.X: Height in Storeys 
 

 
Figure 6.X – Key 

57



Draft DCP – 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 
 

Black number followed by “st” – maximum permitted number of storeys for industrial uses 
(other uses given in Table 6.X) 

Blue number followed by “m” – minimum horizontal dimension of area with no built form 
(this area is shown light grey) 

 

Table 6.X: Height in Storeys and Metres 

Height in storeys 
shown in Figure 6.X 

Maximum height in 
storeys for 
industrial uses 

Maximum height in 
storeys for ancillary 
office uses 

Maximum height in 
metres for buildings 

0st 0 0 0 

3st 3 (excluding 
mezzanines) 

6 30 (33 including 
additional height 
awarded for design 
excellence) 

 
(1) The building is to be entirely within the envelope shown at Figure 6.X: Height in Storeys 

and Table 6.X: Height in Storeys and Metres. 
(2) Development must provide minimum 6m wide landscape setbacks in accordance with 

Figure 6.XX: Landscape Setback. Landscape setbacks are to accommodate substantial 
planting including densely planted large trees. Landscape setbacks are not to be overhung 
by building elements or include any above ground services. They may include pedestrian 
paths and vehicle driveways. 

(3) Landscape setbacks are not required to be dedicated to Council. 

Figure 6.XX: Landscape Setback 

58



Draft DCP – 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 
 

 
Figure 6.XX – Key 

A – 6m landscape setback (shown light green) 

(4) Pedestrian access points must be provided that are direct, clear, accessible (step free) and 
safe (provided with natural surveillance from streets). 

(5) Pedestrian access points must be provided that are direct, clear, accessible (step free) and 
safe (provided with natural surveillance from streets). 

6.X.X.2 Design and materiality  
(1) Development is to be of high aesthetic quality in relation to its materials and architectural 

composition and details, and is not to show exposed services.  
(2) Services, structure, soffits, vehicle circulation, parking, loading areas and the like are not to 

be visible from outside the site except where they have been purposefully designed as part 
of a high quality coherent composition. 

(3) Vehicle ramps visible from Canal Road or Burrows Road are to include suitable shielding. 
(4) Development is to have ground floors designed to maximise views from internal office 

spaces to the street and be visually interesting. 

6.X.X.3 Communal open space 
(1) Any communal open space must be easily accessible to workers and tenants of all parts of 

the building. 
(2) Any communal open space must be protected from pollution impacts from St Peters 

Interchange and internal vehicle ramps. 

59



Draft DCP – 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 
 
6.X.X.4 Sustainability 

(1) Buildings should be designed to meet 5 Star Green Star rating. 
(2) Any ancillary office space, provided separately to warehouse, must enter into a 5.5 Star 

NABERS Energy Commitment Agreement. 
(3) On-site stormwater detention and treatment are to be delivered in the form of water tanks 

and water sensitive urban design bio swales at ground level. 
(4) At least 15% of the roof area should contain a green roof A green roof must be provided, as 

described in Section 9 - Green roofs and walls, to the greatest possible extent of roof 
coverage. 

(5) Green walls, as described in Section 9, are encouraged to be delivered on both the 
Burrows Road and WestConnex St Peters Interchange frontages. 

(6) A photovoltaic system must be delivered on the roof of the building to achieve a minimum 
of 2000 kWp. 

(7) Any ancillary office component is to include suitable window shading. 

6.X.X.5 Signage 
(1) All signage must only be located on the Canal Road and Burrows Road frontages, and not 

be visible from the St Peters Interchange or Sydney Park. 

6.X.X.6 Design Excellence Strategy 
(1) The following Where a competitive design process is required by clause 6.21 of Sydney 

LEP 2012 must it is to be completed carried out in accordance with the following before the 
lodgement of a detailed development application for the site: 

a. A competitive design alternatives process is to be undertaken in accordance with 
clause 6.21 of Sydney LEP 2012 for the entire site identified in Figure 6.1 Specific 
sites map. 

b. The competitive design alternatives process is to involve a minimum of three (3) 
invited competitors including at least one emerging architectural firm.  

c. The Selection Panel is to comprise a total of four (4) selection panel members. The 
proponent is to nominate two (2) selection panel members and the City of Sydney is 
to nominate two (2) selection panel members. 

d. Any additional building height that results from a competitive design process is to be 
accommodated in accordance with Table 6.X Height in Storeys and Metres.  

e. No additional floor space under clause 6.21(7)(b) is to be awarded as a result of the 
competitive design process. 

 

60



Attachment C 

Resolution of Council and Central Sydney 
Planning Committee – 1-3 Burrows Road, St 

Peters – Post Exhibition

61



27 July 2020

Item 8.4

Public Exhibition - Planning Proposal - 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters - Sydney 
Local Environmental Plan 2012 Amendment and Draft Sydney Development 
Control Plan 2012

It is resolved that:

(A) Council approve Planning Proposal - 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters, shown at 
Attachment A to the subject report, to be submitted to the Minister for Planning and 
Public Spaces with a request for Gateway Determination;

(B) Council approve Planning Proposal - 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters, shown at 
Attachment A to the subject report for public authority consultation and public 
exhibition in accordance with any conditions imposed under the Gateway 
Determination;

(C) Council seek authority from the Minister for Planning and Public Spaces to exercise 
the delegation of the functions under section 3.36 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act 1979 to make the local environmental plan and to put into effect 
Planning Proposal - 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters;

(D) Council approve the draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 - 1-3 Burrows 
Road, shown at Attachment B to the subject report for public authority consultation and 
public exhibition concurrent with the Planning Proposal;

(E) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor variations to 
Planning Proposal - 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters, following receipt of the Gateway 
Determination; and

62



(F) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor variations to 
Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 - 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters to correct 
any drafting errors or ensure it is consistent with the Planning Proposal following the 
Gateway Determination.

Carried unanimously.

X019338

63



23 July 2020

Item 8

Public Exhibition - Planning Proposal - 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters - Sydney 
Local Environmental Plan 2012 Amendment and Draft Sydney Development 
Control Plan 2012

Moved by the Chair (the Lord Mayor), seconded by Councillor Thalis -

It is resolved that:

(A) the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve Planning Proposal - 1-3 Burrows 
Road, St Peters, shown at Attachment A to the subject report, to be submitted to the 
Minister for Planning and Public Spaces with a request for Gateway Determination;

(B) the Central Sydney Planning Committee approve Planning Proposal - 1-3 Burrows 
Road, St Peters, shown at Attachment A to the subject report for public authority 
consultation and public exhibition in accordance with any conditions imposed under 
the Gateway Determination;

(C) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the recommendation to Council’s 
Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee on 20 July 2020 that Council seek 
authority from the Minister for Planning and Public Spaces to exercise the delegation 
of the functions under section 3.36 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 
1979 to make the local environmental plan and to put into effect Planning Proposal - 1-
3 Burrows Road, St Peters;

(D) the Central Sydney Planning Committee note the recommendation to Council’s 
Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee on 20 July 2020 that Council approve the 
draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 - 1-3 Burrows Road, shown at 
Attachment B to the subject report for public authority consultation and public 
exhibition concurrent with the Planning Proposal;

(E) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor variations to 
Planning Proposal - 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters, following receipt of the Gateway 
Determination, and;

64



(F) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor variations to 
Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 - 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters to correct 
any drafting errors or ensure it is consistent with the Planning Proposal following the 
Gateway Determination.

Carried unanimously.

X019338

65



Attachment D 

Gateway Determination – 1-3 Burrows 
Road, St Peters – Post Exhibition

66



 

4 Parramatta Square, 12 Darcy Street, Parramatta NSW 2150 | Locked Bag 5022 Parramatta NSW 2124 | planning.nsw.gov.au 

 
 

 
 

IRF20/3882 

 
 
 
Ms Monica Barone  
Chief Executive Officer 
City of Sydney Council 
GPO Box 1591 
SYDNEY NSW 2001 
 
 
 
Dear Ms Barone  
 
Planning proposal PP_2020_SYDNE_005_00 to amend Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012 for 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters. 

I am writing in response to Council’s request for a Gateway determination under 
section 3.34(1) of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 (the Act) to 
amend Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 to increase the maximum building 
height from 18 metres to 30 metres and introduce a site-specific clause for 1-3 
Burrows Road, St Peters. 
 
As delegate of the Minister for Planning and Public Spaces, I have now determined 
that the planning proposal should proceed subject to the conditions, enclosed is the 
Gateway determination. 
 
I have also agreed, as delegate of the Secretary, the planning proposal’s 
inconsistency with section 9.1 Ministerial Direction 4.1 Acid Sulfate Soils and 6.3 
Site-Specific Provisions are justified in accordance with the terms of the Direction. 
No further approval is required in relation to these Direction/s.  
 
It is noted that Council has requested to be authorised as the local plan-making 
authority. I have considered the nature of Council’s planning proposal and have 
conditioned the Gateway for Council to be authorised as the local plan-making 
authority, provided that the revised planning proposal is submitted to the Department 
for review and approval prior to public exhibition. 
 
Amending the local environmental plan (LEP) is to be finalised within 12 months of 
the date of the Gateway determination. Council should aim to commence the 
exhibition of the planning proposal as soon as possible. Council’s request to draft 
and finalise the LEP should be made directly to Parliamentary Counsel’s Office six 
weeks prior to the projected publication date. A copy of the request should be 
forwarded to the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment. 
 
The State government is committed to reducing the time taken to complete LEPs by 
tailoring the steps in the process to the complexity of the proposal, and by providing 
clear and publicly available justification for each plan at an early stage. In order to 

67



4 Parramatta Square, 12 Darcy Street, Parramatta NSW 2150 | Locked Bag 5022 Parramatta NSW 2124 | planning.nsw.gov.au 

 

meet these commitments, the Minister may take action under section 3.32(2)(d) of 
the Act if the time frames outlined in this determination are not met. 
Should you have any enquiries about this matter, I have arranged for Mr Luke 
Thorburn, Planning Officer, to assist you Mr Thorburn can be contacted on (02) 8275 
1283. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 

 
   16/9/2020 

David McNamara 
Director, Eastern District (City of Sydney) 
Greater Sydney, Place and Infrastructure 
Department of Planning, Industry and Environment 
 
 
 
 
 
 

68



 

 
Gateway Determination 

 

Planning proposal (Department Ref: PP_2020_SYDNE_007_00): to amend the 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 to increase the maximum building height 
from 18 metres to 30 metres and introduce site specific provisions for 1-3 Burrows 
Road, St Peters. 
 
I, the Director, Eastern District (City of Sydney) at the Department of Planning, 
Industry and Environment, as delegate of the Minister for Planning and Public 
Spaces, have determined under section 3.34(2) of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act 1979 (the Act) that an amendment to the Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan (LEP) 2012 should proceed subject to the following conditions: 
 
1. Prior to community consultation the planning proposal is to be revised as 

follows: 

(a) amend the site-specific provisions to specify measurable standards if 
possible, remove the ambiguity of the proposed clauses and ensure the 
clauses can be clearly interpreted and assessed by the consent authority; 
and 

(b) address and justify inconsistency with section 9.1 Ministerial Direction 4.1 
Acid Sulfate Soils and 6.3 Site-Specific Provisions. 
 

2. The revised planning proposal is to be provided to the Department for review 
and approval prior to public exhibition. 
 

3. Public exhibition is required under section 3.34(2)(c) and schedule 1 clause 4 of 
the Act as follows: 

(c) the planning proposal must be made publicly available for a minimum of 
28 days; and 

(d) the planning proposal authority must comply with the notice requirements 
for public exhibition of planning proposals and the specifications for material 
that must be made publicly available along with planning proposals as 
identified in section 6.5.2 of A guide to preparing local environmental plans 
(Department of Planning and Environment, 2018). 

 
4. Consultation is required with the following public authorities/organisations under 

section 3.34(2)(d) of the Act and/or to comply with the requirements of relevant 
section 9.1 Directions: 

• NSW Environmental Protection Authority; 

• Transport for NSW; and 

• Heritage NSW. 
 

69



PP_2020_SYDNE_007_00 (IRF20/3882) 

5. A public hearing is not required to be held into the matter by any person or 
body under section 3.34(2)(e) of the Act. This does not discharge Council from 
any obligation it may otherwise have to conduct a public hearing (for example, 
in response to a submission or if reclassifying land). 

 

6. The planning proposal authority is authorised as the local plan-making authority 
to exercise the functions under section 3.36(2) of the Act subject to the following: 

(a) the planning proposal authority has satisfied all the conditions of the 
Gateway determination; 

(b) the planning proposal is consistent with section 9.1 Directions or the 
Secretary has agreed that any inconsistencies are justified; and  

(c) there are no outstanding written objections from public authorities. 

 

7. The time frame for completing the LEP is to be 12 months following the date of 
the Gateway determination. 

 
 

Dated  16th day of        September 2020. 
  

 

 
 
David McNamara 
Director, Eastern District (City of Sydney) 
Greater Sydney, Place and Infrastructure 
Department of Planning, Industry and 
Environment  
 
Delegate of the Minister for Planning and 
Public Spaces 

 

 

 

70



Attachment E 

Summary of Matters Raised in Submissions 
– 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters – Post 

Exhibition

71



 

72



 

Summary of submissions – Planning Proposal: 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 18 February 2021 
X019338 

Summary of submissions – 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 

Submission  Issue Response 

Goodman 
(the 
proponent) 

Restrictions on business and building 
identification signage. 
Objects to restrictions proposed on business 
and building identification signage for the 
site’s St Peters Interchange frontage. 
Argues signage contributes to wayfinding, 
business identification, placemaking and 
activating the city skyline. 

Signage will add to the visual 
impact of the building.  

The site’s only approach will be 
facing Burrows Road and Canal 
Road, so the visual impact of 
signage can be balanced against 
the benefit to wayfinding and 
business identification. 

The St Peters Interchange will be 
used by recreational users of public 
open space, and long distance 
drivers bypassing the site. Any 
signage on this frontage will only 
add to the visual impact of the 
building in the service of 
advertising, without any positive 
contribution to wayfinding and 
business identification. 

Placemaking and building 
identification can be achieved 
without signage through 
architecture, design features and 
public art. 

As such, the LEP and DCP 
provisions restricting business and 
building identification to the 
Burrows Road and Canal Road 
frontages have been maintained. 

Green roof requirements 
Objects to the minimum requirement for 
green roofs to have a minimum 15 per cent 
coverage of the entire roof area. 

Argues the warehouse roof component will 
not have the structural integrity necessary to 
support a green roof. 

Proposes a green roof for the ancillary office 
component. 

It is more appropriate for design 
considerations of green roof 
coverage to be considered by the 
consent authority at development 
assessment stage. At this stage 
there will be more information 
available about materials and 
structural support, and trade-offs 
with competing roof uses can be 
more fully assessed with reference 
to a detailed development 
application. 

The minimum coverage 
requirement has been removed in 
the draft DCP, and replaced with a 
general requirement for a green 

73



 

Summary of submissions – Planning Proposal: 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 18 February 2021 
X019338 

Submission  Issue Response 
roof to be installed without 
reference to size. 

Design excellence strategy 
Raises concerns about the language in the 
design excellence strategy contained in the 
draft DCP. The strategy includes language 
about undergoing a competitive design 
process, while section 6.21 of Sydney LEP 
2012 does not always require a competitive 
design process be undertaken. For example, 
if the capital investment value or height 
triggers are not met, or if the consent 
authority agrees to waive the requirement. 

Requests the design excellence strategy be 
amended to make clear a competitive design 
process is not required if it is not required by 
the LEP. 

The design excellence strategy is 
included in the draft DCP to guide 
any future competitive design 
process required by Clause 6.21 of 
the LEP. 

No DCP provision can override the 
LEP. If a competitive design 
process is not required or waived 
by the consent authority, the design 
excellence strategy has no capacity 
to require one. 

The wording of the design 
excellence strategy has been 
amended to clarify this. 

NSW 
Environment 
Protection 
Authority 

Air pollution impacts from M8 tunnel 
ventilation outlets 
Notes the Westconnex New M5 Project (now 
known as the M8) did not include 
assessment of air pollution impacts from 
ventilation outlets to buildings of 30 metres 
or taller in the vicinity. 

Recommend an air impact assessment be 
undertaken to ensure users of the building 
are not exposed to pollution, especially 
PM2.5 particles, from the ventilation outlets. 

Confirmed they have no outstanding 
objection to the planning proposal. 

The proponent has committed to 
undertaking an air impact 
assessment at development 
application stage. 

The site-specific LEP has been 
amended to include a clause 
requiring consideration of human 
health impacts from the M8 
ventilation facility. This will ensure if 
a development application causes 
concerns about exposure an air 
impact assessment will be 
undertaken and mitigation 
measures put in place. 

 

Transport 
for NSW 

New drainage infrastructure 
Recommends that a new flood model be 
prepared to consider the recently approved 
Sydney Gateway project. 

Proponent has confirmed the 
stormwater context for the site is 
unchanged, as the site is currently 
mostly impervious surfaces. 

Traffic impact assessment 
Suggests higher trip generation rates for the 
ancillary office space should have been 
used in the traffic and transport study. 

The trip generation rates of the 
predominant industrial uses are 
correct. 

A future development application 
will include a more final and 
detailed breakdown of land uses by 
floor area, and the consent 
authority can work with the 
proponent at that time to establish 
appropriate trip generation rates. 

74



 

Summary of submissions – Planning Proposal: 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 18 February 2021 
X019338 

Submission  Issue Response 
A future DA is very likely to require 
referral to TfNSW under clause 104 
of SEPP (Infrastructure) 2007 for 
traffic-generating developments, 
where trip generation rates can be 
agreed upon and any implication 
assessed. 

Sizes of vehicles accessing the site 
Recommend a traffic impact assessment 
undertaken at development application 
stage include consideration for the size of 
vehicles using the site, including 
demonstrating sufficient manoeuvrability for 
all heavy vehicles anticipated to use the site. 

A consideration for development 
application stage. Has been 
provided to the proponent for 
consideration in preparation of a 
development application. 

Construction traffic management plan 
Note a detailed construction traffic 
management plan will be required following 
approval of a development application. 

The City will require a construction 
traffic management plan as part of 
the conditions of consent for any 
future development application. 

Ancillary use 
Advise the City to consider the Planning 
Circular on ‘How to characterise 
development’ in development assessment to 
determine whether the proposed office 
component is ancillary or otherwise. 

The City is aware that any office 
space as part of future development 
will need to be ancillary and 
subordinate to industrial uses, in 
line with the IN1 General Industrial 
zoning of the site. The City has 
advised Goodman a future 
development application will need 
to justify any office space and 
demonstrate that it is ancillary to 
the industrial uses. 

The City will use the Planning 
Circular to assist in classifying the 
office component. 

Heritage 
NSW 

Heritage impact assessment 
Notes the City’s heritage specialists have 
recommended a heritage impact 
assessment will be required as part of any 
future development application, and 
supports the recommendation. 

A heritage impact assessment can 
be required under existing LEP 
clauses at development application 
stage. The statement will assess 
the impact of development on 
nearby Alexandra Canal, including 
key views from Ricketty Street 
Bridge. 

Alexandra Canal is a state heritage item 
Highlights the planning proposal did not 
identify Alexandra Canal as a state heritage 
item. 

The statement of significance for 
Alexandra Canal in its state 
heritage listing, including key views 
from Ricketty Street Bridge, were 
part of the assessment of this 
planning proposal request. Renders 
were requested from the proponent 

75



 

Summary of submissions – Planning Proposal: 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters 18 February 2021 
X019338 

Submission  Issue Response 
to illustrate views of the proposed 
built form from Ricketty Street 
Bridge to aid in this assessment. 

The planning proposal did identify 
Alexandra Canal as a local heritage 
item, but omitted reference to its 
state heritage listing. This has been 
corrected in the post-exhibition 
version. 

Nearby local heritage items 
Notes the subject site is nearby two listings 
for local heritage items, being the Terrace 
Group at Campbell Road and the recently 
demolished Rudders Bond Store. Suggests 
Council should be satisfied that heritage 
assessment of impacts to these local 
heritage items is undertaken prior to 
finalising the planning proposal. 

The City has undertaken a heritage 
assessment as part of assessment 
of the planning proposal, including 
consideration of impacts to 
Alexandra Canal and the Campbell 
Road terrace group. This 
assessment has also noted the 
demolition of the Rudders Bond 
Store as part of construction of the 
St Peters Interchange.  

Sydney 
Water 

Additional servicing needs 
Notes the current development on the site is 
not serviced by a gravity fed waste water 
system, instead relying on a pump to sewer 
arrangement which is not condoned by the 
authority. 

Requires any future development on the site 
to apply to Sydney Water to confirm potable 
water supply, wastewater servicing and 
trade wastewater discharging arrangements. 

This information is not relevant for 
the planning proposal. It will be 
provided to the proponent for their 
development plans. 

 

76



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

Gateway Determination – Planning Proposal – 600-660 Elizabeth Street, 
Redfern - Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 Amendment and Draft Design 
Guide 

File No: X011236 

Summary 

The City is committed to increasing the diversity and number of affordable homes in our area 
for lower incomes households. The high cost of housing is an important economic and social 
issue in Sydney, particularly within the city where housing prices are among the highest in 
Australia. The decline in housing affordability, and the inability of everyday people to access 
housing that is affordable, will be exacerbated by Covid-19 and will have an increasingly 
detrimental impact on socio-economic diversity, which underpins the city’s rich social fabric. 

In June 2020, Council and the Central Sydney Planning Committee (CSPC) approved a 
planning proposal for 600-660 Elizabeth Street, Redfern for submission to the Department of 
Planning, Industry and Environment (DPIE) with a request for a Gateway determination. The 
planning proposal responds to a request from NSW Land and Housing Corporation (LAHC) 
to change the planning controls to facilitate development for social, affordable and market 
housing. 

The planning proposal provided for an increase to the maximum building height and floor 
space ratio permitted on the site subject to at least 30 per cent and 10 per cent of total 
residential floor area being used for the purposes of social housing and affordable rental 
housing respectively. 

A Gateway determination was issued by the DPIE on 16 February 2021 and secures a 
minimum amount of social and affordable housing, endorses the City's Design Guide for the 
site and requires the retention of a community facility on site that can accommodate the 
Police Citizens Youth Club (PCYC).  

The Gateway includes a condition that the City's social and affordable housing requirement 
be replaced with a requirement that at least 30 per cent of total residential floor area be used 
for a mix of social housing and affordable housing. The Gateway condition guarantees a 
minimum 30 per cent of social or affordable rental housing on site however it is 10 per cent 
lower than that determined appropriate by the City. It also does not specify the mix of social 
and affordable within the 30 per cent. The Gateway allows for the 30 per cent minimum 
requirement to be renegotiated with LAHC post exhibition and prior to finalisation of the 
planning proposal.  

This report recommends the Council and the CSPC note the Gateway determination, that 
authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make amendments to the planning 
proposal and draft Design Guide in line with the Gateway conditions and approve the 
planning proposal and draft Design Guide for public authority consultation and public 
exhibition in accordance with the conditions imposed under the Gateway. 

In proceeding to public exhibition Council and CSPC note that the City is waiving their right 
to have the Gateway condition reviewed by the Independent Planning Commission. 

1

Item 7.



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

The City will continue to advocate for social and affordable rental housing to be maximised 
on the site in accordance with Eastern City District Plan, Local Strategic Planning Statement 
and NSW Government commitments and policies like Communities Plus. The results of the 
public exhibition will be reported back to Council and CSPC for their consideration, with a 
recommendation from the City, later in 2021. 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council note the Gateway determination from the Department of Planning, Industry 
and Environment at Attachment A to the subject report; 

(B) Council approve Planning Proposal – 600-660 Elizabeth Street, Redfern and the draft 
Design Guide – 600-660 Elizabeth Street, Redfern for public authority consultation and 
public exhibition in accordance with the conditions imposed by the Gateway 
determination;  

(C) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to vary the Planning Proposal – 
600-660 Elizabeth Street, Redfern and the draft Design Guide – 600-660 Elizabeth 
Street, Redfern, to be consistent with the Gateway determination; and 

(D) Council note that in proceeding to public exhibition the City is waiving their right to 
have the Gateway conditions reviewed by the Independent Planning Commission. 

Attachments 

Attachment A. Gateway Determination 

Attachment B. Department of Planning, Industry and Environment Gateway 
Determination Report 

Attachment C. 22 June 2020 Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee Report - 
Public Exhibition – Planning Proposal – 600-660 Elizabeth Street, 
Redfern 

  

2



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

Background 

1. On 10 March 2020, NSW Land and Housing Corporation (LAHC) submitted a planning 
proposal request to the City of Sydney to change the planning controls for 600-660 
Elizabeth Street, Redfern to facilitate development for social, affordable and market 
housing. 

2. In June 2020, Council and the CSPC approved a planning proposal for 600-660 
Elizabeth Street, Redfern for submission to DPIE with a request for a Gateway 
determination. The June 2020 Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee report is 
provided at Attachment C. 

3. The planning proposal provided for an increase to the maximum building height and 
floor space ratio permitted on site subject to at least 30 per cent and 10 per cent of 
total residential floor area being used for the purposes of social housing and affordable 
rental housing respectively. 

The Department issued a Gateway determination with conditions including the 
reduction of social and affordable housing  

4. A Gateway determination was issued by the DPIE on 16 February 2021 with a 
condition that the City's social and affordable housing requirement be replaced with a 
requirement that at least 30 per cent of total residential floor area be used for a mix of 
social housing and affordable housing. The Gateway determination and Gateway 
determination report are provided at attachments A and B respectively. 

5. The Gateway condition guarantees a minimum 30 per cent of social/affordable rental 
housing on site however it is 10 per cent lower than that determined appropriate by the 
City. It also does not specify the mix of social and affordable within the 30 per cent. 

6. The Gateway allows for the 30 per cent minimum requirement to be renegotiated with 
LAHC post exhibition and prior to finalisation of the planning proposal. It also requires 
the mix of social and affordable to be determined before the planning proposal is 
finalised.  

7. The Gateway determination endorses the City's Design Guide for the site and requires 
the retention of a community facility on site that can accommodate the PCYC. This is 
positive as it endorses the City's design approach for the site and guarantees the 
provision of a significant community facility on site, which was not part of LAHC's 
original indicative scheme. 

The City recommends updating the proposal and exhibiting consistent with the 
Gateway conditions 

8. This report recommends Council approve the Planning Proposal for public exhibition in 
accordance with the conditions imposed by the Gateway determination.  

9. The Gateway determination allows for the 30 per cent minimum requirement to be 
renegotiated with LAHC post exhibition and prior to finalisation of the planning 
proposal. 

  

3



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

10. The City will continue to work with LAHC for a higher proportion of social and 
affordable rental housing in accordance with Eastern City District Plan, Local Strategic 
Planning Statement and NSW Government commitments and policies like 
Communities Plus. The public exhibition also provides an opportunity to build evidence 
for more social and affordable housing. 

11. Any proposal to increase the affordable and social housing will be reported to Council 
and Central Sydney Planning Committee after public exhibition. 

Requesting a Gateway review is an alternative option  

12. The NSW Government's 'A guide to preparing local environmental plans’ and the 
Planning Circular ‘Independent reviews of plan-making decisions’ enables councils to 
seek a review of a Gateway condition.  

13. This review is conducted by the Independent Planning Commission, who review the 
planning proposal, giving consideration to the council or proponent’s submission and 
the reasons given for the original determination in DPIE's report. The Commission then 
determines whether or not the original Gateway determination should be altered and 
whether the planning proposal should proceed to public consultation. 

14. The City has issued an intent to review the Gateway determination to DPIE which was 
required to be lodged 14 days from the date of the Gateway determination. The City 
has done so to protect the Council's ability to review the Gateway if it so choses. If it is 
deemed that the City should proceed with a Gateway review, the City will have until 
the 12 April 2021 to formally request a Gateway review. 

The City will consult with public authorities  

15. The Gateway determination requires the following public authorities and organisations 
to be consulted with during the public exhibition: 

 NSW Environment, Energy and Science;  

 Heritage NSW;  

 Transport for NSW;  

 NSW Environment Protection Authority;  

 Sydney Water; and  

 Ausgrid.  

16. The City will also directly notify and consult with LAHC and the NSW Aboriginal 
Housing Office. 

17. Consultation on the proposal has been ongoing with LAHC as the proponent for the 
site. LAHC have accepted the City's Design Guide and have been reworking their 
indicative scheme to ensure consistency. The City will continue to work with LAHC to 
refine the indicative scheme and supporting material in order to address conditions of 
the Gateway determination and ensure the updated indicative scheme is exhibited with 
the planning proposal for public comment. 

  

4



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

18. The City will continue to advocate for social and affordable rental housing to be 
maximised on the site in accordance with Eastern City District Plan, Local Strategic 
Planning Statement and NSW Government commitments and policies like 
Communities Plus. The results of the public exhibition will be reported back to Council 
and CSPC for their consideration, with a recommendation from the City, later in 2021. 

The City will undertake public consultation with the community 

19. The Gateway determination requires the proposal to be publicly exhibited for a 
minimum of 28 days. It is proposed to publicly exhibit the planning proposal and draft 
Design Guide concurrently on the City's Sydney Your Say website and in writing to the 
landowners and stakeholders in the vicinity of the site.  

20. The City will directly notify and consult with community organisations and resident 
groups including community housing providers, PCYC, Shelter NSW, REDwatch, 
UNSW City Futures Research Centre, Inner Sydney Voice, Counterpoint, Waterloo 
Redevelopment Group, Waterloo Public Housing Action Group, NSW Aboriginal Land 
Council and Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land Council. 

21. Consultation on the proposal has been ongoing with PCYC to ensure the proposal can 
accommodates their needs, within reason, whilst maintaining LAHC's desired yield and 
the proposal's design quality.  

GRAHAM JAHN, AM 

Director City Planning, Development and Transport 

Tim Wise, Manager Planning Policy 

5



Attachment A 

Gateway Determination 

6



Gateway Determination 

Planning proposal (Department Ref: PP_2020_SYDNE_004_00): to amend 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 to un-defer the land at 600-660 Elizabeth 
Street from South Sydney Local Environmental Plan 1998, insert development 
standards and introduce site specific provisions. 

I, the Deputy Secretary, Greater Sydney, Place and Infrastructure at the Department 
of Planning, Industry and Environment, as delegate of the Minister for Planning and 
Public Spaces, have determined under section 3.34(2) of the Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Act 1979 (the Act) that an amendment to the Sydney 
Local Environmental Plan (LEP) 2012 should proceed subject to the following 
conditions: 

1. Prior to community consultation the planning proposal is to be updated as
follows:

(a) provide a shadow analysis to assess the impact of shadows casted by the
revised scheme. The shadow analysis should be undertaken at hourly
intervals during the winter solstice;

(b) revise the overshadowing clause to specify the day range to which it
applies;

(c) address SEPP 65 and the Apartment Design Guide against the revised

scheme;

(d) revise the requirement for the development to achieve the minimum
BASIX Energy 40 target in the draft Design Guide to be only required if
the additional floor space is elected to be used;

(e) remove the requirement for all new development to install solar panels in
the draft Design Guide;

(f) remove the note in the explanation of provisions section which instructs
that the clause regarding consideration of the Design Guide will only be
required if the development is not assessed as local development;

(g) revise the proposed clause relating to the Design Guide from being
adopted by City of Sydney Council to being endorsed by the Planning
Secretary;

(h) remove the provision which allows a bonus FSR of 1:1 if arrangements
are made by the landowner to provide community facilities elsewhere in
the locality. The proposed distribution of FSR and associated mapping is
to be updated accordingly;

(i) remove from the planning proposal the provision which requires the
development to include at least 30% of total floor area used for the
purposes of social housing and 10% of total floor area used for affordable
housing. Instead introduce a provision which requires at least 30% of total

7



PP_2020_SYDNE_004_00 (IRF20/3461) 

floor area to be used for the purposes of a mix of social housing and 
affordable housing; 

(j) identify and address inconsistency with 9.1 Ministerial Direction 4.1 Acid 
Sulfate Soils, 4.3 Flood Prone land, 6.3 Site Specific Provision; and 

(k) provide an explanation and justification for the site to be identified as 
Class 5 in the Acid Sulfate Soils Map.  

2. The revised planning proposal is to be provided to the Department of Planning, 

Industry and Environment for review and approval prior to public exhibition. 

3. Prior to finalisation the planning proposal is to be updated as follows: 

(a) demonstrate the proposed scheme is capable of achieving the BASIX 
commitments identified in the Site Specific Provision and draft Design 
Guide; and 

(b) specify the minimum percentage of the total floor area to be used for 
social housing and affordable housing, not being less than 30% of the 
total floor area.  

4. Public exhibition is required under section 3.34(2)(c) and schedule 1 clause 4 of 
the Act as follows: 

(a) the planning proposal must be made publicly available for a minimum of 
28 days; and 

(b) the planning proposal authority must comply with the notice requirements 
for public exhibition of planning proposals and the specifications for material 
that must be made publicly available along with planning proposals as 
identified in section 6.5.2 of A guide to preparing local environmental plans 
(Department of Planning and Environment, 2018). 

5. Consultation is required with the following public authorities/organisations under 
section 3.34(2)(d) of the Act and/or to comply with the requirements of relevant 
section 9.1 Directions: 

• NSW Environment, Energy and Science;  

• Heritage NSW; 

• Transport for NSW; 

• NSW Environment Protection Authority;  

• Sydney Water; and 

• Ausgrid. 

 
Each public authority/organisation is to be provided with a copy of the planning 
proposal and any relevant supporting material and given at least 21 days to 
comment on the proposal. 

6. A public hearing is not required to be held into the matter by any person or 
body under section 3.34(2)(e) of the Act. This does not discharge Council from 
any obligation it may otherwise have to conduct a public hearing (for example, 
in response to a submission or if reclassifying land). 

 

8



PP_2020_SYDNE_004_00 (IRF20/3461) 

7. The time frame for completing the LEP is to be 12 months following the date of 
the Gateway determination. 

 
 
        Dated day of 2021 
  

 
 
 
Brett Whitworth 
Deputy Secretary 
Greater Sydney, Place and Infrastructure 
Department of Planning, Industry and 
Environment  
 
Delegate of the Minister for Planning and 
Public Spaces 

 

 

9



Attachment B 

Department of Planning, Industry and 

Environment  

Gateway Determination 

 

 

10



 
 
 

 1 / 33 

Greater Sydney Place and Infrastructure IRF20/3461 

Gateway determination report 
 
 

LGA City of Sydney 

PPA  City of Sydney 

NAME 600-660 Elizabeth Street, Redfern (351 homes, 30 jobs) 

NUMBER PP_2020_SYDNE_004_00 

LEP TO BE AMENDED   Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 

ADDRESS 600-660 Elizabeth Street, Redfern 

DESCRIPTION Lot 1 DP 1249145 

RECEIVED 16 July 2020 

FILE NO. IRF20/3461 

POLITICAL 
DONATIONS 

There are no donations or gifts to disclose and a political 
donation disclosure is not required 

LOBBYIST CODE OF 
CONDUCT 

There have been no meetings or communications with 
registered lobbyists with respect to this proposal  

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Description of planning proposal 

The planning proposal seeks to amend Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
(Sydney LEP 2012) for the site at 600-660 Elizabeth Street, Redfern as follows 
(Attachment A):  

• amend the Land Application Map to un-defer the site from South Sydney LEP 
1998 and include it in Sydney LEP 2012. 

• amend the Land Zoning Map to introduce the R1 General Residential zone. 

• amend the Floor Space Ratio Map to introduce a floor space ratio (FSR) of 
1.5:1. 

• amend the Height of Building Map to increase the maximum building height to 
various heights ranging from RL 50.3 (approx. 4 storeys) to RL 87.5 (approx. 
16 storeys). 

• amend the Land Use and Transport Integration Map to introduce the Category 
B maximum car parking rate. 

• amend the Public Transport Accessibility Level Map to introduce Category F 
to the site. 

• amend the Acid Sulfate Soils Map to introduce Class 5 to the site. 

• introduce new Active Street Frontages Map to apply active street frontage 
controls to the Elizabeth St boundary of the site. 

• amend clause 1.9 Application of SEPPs to ensure State Environmental 
Planning Policy (Affordable Rental Housing) 2009 does not apply to the site. 

11

file:///C:/Users/meloa/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/FP1W8PX2/545032


 2 / 33 

• insert a site-specific local clause for community facilities, affordable and social 
housing, BASIX, and overshadowing. The proposed site-specific provision will 
facilitate: 

o a bonus FSR is available if land for community facilities is provide in 
the development or if arrangements are made by the land owner to 
provide community facilities elsewhere in the locality. 

o a bonus FSR is available if the development exceeds BASIX 
commitments for water and energy. 

o any development must include at least 10% of total floor area, used for 
the purposes of residential development, being used for the purposes 
of affordable housing. 

o any development must include at least 30% of total floor area, used for 
the purposes of residential development, being used for the purposes 
as social housing premises. 

▪ in this clause, social housing premises has the same meaning 
as in the Residential Tenancies Act 2010. 

o any development on the site must not overshadow Redfern Park and 
Oval between 9.00-15.00. 

o the consent authority must not consent to development of the site 
unless it is satisfied the redevelopment has taken into consideration 
any guidelines adopted by the City of Sydney (Note – clause only 
required if Department does not confirm that the development will be 
assessed as local development).  

Details of the proposed amendment is further discussed and assessed in Section 2 
of this report.  

1.2 Site description 

The site consists of a single lot described as Lot 1 DP 1249145, known as 600-660 
Elizabeth Street, Redfern, rectangular in shape and has a total area of 10,850m2 

(Figure 1). The site is entirely owned by NSW Land and Housing Corporation. 

Existing development on the site consists of the South Sydney Police Citizens’ Youth 
Club (PCYC) located on the corner of Phillip and Elizabeth Streets. The PCYC 
buildings on-site comprise of three single story 1950s brick buildings with a 
Colourbond roof (Figure 2). The PCYC also has an outdoor basketball court and 
children’s playground (Figure 3).  

The northern portion of the site previously comprised of 18 social housing dwellings. 
However, the dwellings were demolished in 2013 and that portion of the site has 
remained vacant since that time. The majority of the site contains 67 planted native 
and exotic tree species. The site forms part of the Redfern Housing Estate. 

 

 

12



 3 / 33 

 

Figure 1: Site map (site outlined in red) 

 

Figure 2 and 3: Photograph of PCYC building and basketball court (source: Planning Proposal) 

 

1.3 Existing planning controls 

The South Sydney Local Environmental Plan 1998 and South Sydney Development 
Control Plan 1997 (DCP) apply to the site. The site is a deferred matter under the 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012.  

Land Use Zone 

The site is currently zoned No. 2(b) Residential (Medium Density) and No. 5 Special 
Uses (Activity Centre) under the South Sydney LEP 1998, as shown Figure 4. 

13



 4 / 33 

 

Figure 4: Land Use Zone Map 

Building Height 

The South Sydney DCP 1998 applies a maximum building height of 6 metres for 
land zoned No. 2(b) Residential as shown in Figure 5. The DCP does not specify a 
maximum building height for the portion of the site zoned No.5 Special Uses.  

 
Figure 5: South Sydney DCP Maximum Building Height  

 

14



 5 / 33 

Floor Space ratio  

The South Sydney DCP applies a maximum Floor Space Ratio (FSR) of 1.5:1 to 
land zoned No. 2(b) Residential as shown in Figure 6. There is no maximum FSR 
for the portion of the site zoned No.5 Special Uses – Activity Centre. 

 

Figure 6: South Sydney DCP Floor Space Ratio  

Heritage  

There are no Heritage listed items on the site, however the adjoining land which is 
subject to the Sydney LEP 2012, includes the adjacent local heritage listed Redfern 
Park. To the south, the site adjoins the Waterloo Heritage Conservation Area and 
Redfern Heritage Conservation Area. The Heritage Map from the Sydney LEP 2012 
is shown in Figure 7.  

 

Figure 7: Sydney LEP 2012 Heritage Map  

 

15



 6 / 33 

1.4 Surrounding area 

The site forms part of the Redfern Housing Estate. Surrounding context consists of 
residential development to the north, east and south and the State Heritage listed 
Redfern Park to the west. Adjoining the Park is the Redfern Oval which provides 
training facilities for the South Sydney Rugby League Club. 

To the east is Walker Street which contains low medium scale housing comprising 1-
2 storey townhouses and 4 storey apartment buildings constructed in 2013.  

To the north is Kettle Street which contains a cul-de-sac and residential buildings 
range from 3-9 storeys. Kettle Street provides pedestrian connection between 
Redfern Estate and Redfern park. The street closure creates a small pocket park at 
the signalised pedestrian crossing on Elizabeth Street.  

To south is Philip Street which is the northern boundary of the Waterloo 
Conservation Area and contains low rise terrace housing and fine grain shopfronts 
on Elizabeth Street.  

The following open space facilities and public transport are within the locality of the 
site (Figure 8): 

• Waterloo Oval and Park 450m  

• Future Waterloo Metro 850m 

• Prince Alfred Park 770m  

• Redfern Station 900m 

 

Figure 8: Locality Map  

16



 7 / 33 

2. PROPOSAL  

2.1 Objectives or intended outcomes 

The objectives of the planning proposal are to: 

• introduce new planning controls for the site under the Sydney LEP 2012; 

• facilitate development of the site for new social and affordable housing;  

• to deliver a high-quality, predominately residential development, supported 
with a range of small-scale neighbourhood uses, that will renew the site and 
contribute to local character; 

• provide floor space for the continued operation of the Police Citizens’ Youth 
Club either within the development or elsewhere in the locality; 

• to facilitate development that responds to its context and achieves a high level 
of amenity to neighbouring properties; and  

• to ensure no overshadowing to Redfern Park.  

The intended outcome is to facilitate the redevelopment of the site to provide 
additional and better social housing, consistent with the strategic directions in the 
NSW Government’s Future Directions for Social Housing.  

2.2 Explanation of provisions 

The planning proposal seeks to amend Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
(Sydney LEP 2012) for the site at 600-660 Elizabeth Street, Redfern as follows:  

• amend the Land Application Map to un-defer the site in the South Sydney 
LEP 1998 and include it in Sydney LEP 2012. 

• amend the Land Zoning Map to introduce the R1 General Residential zone. 

• amend the Floor Space Ratio Map to introduce a floor space ratio (FSR) of 
1.5:1. 

• amend the Height of Building Map to increase the maximum building height to 
various heights ranging from RL 50.3 (approx. 4 storeys) to RL 87.5 (approx. 
16 storeys). 

• amend the Land Use and Transport Integration Map to introduce the Category 
B maximum car parking rate. 

• amend the Public Transport Accessibility Level Map to introduce Category F 
to the site. 

• amend the Acid Sulfate Soils Map to introduce Class 5 to the site. 

• introduce new Active Street Frontages Map to apply active street frontage 
controls to the Elizabeth St boundary of the site. 

• amend clause 1.9 Application of SEPPs to ensure State Environmental 
Planning Policy (Affordable Rental Housing) 2009 does not apply to the site. 

• insert a site-specific local clause for community facilities, affordable and social 
housing, BASIX, and overshadowing. The proposed site-specific provision will 
facilitate: 

o a bonus FSR of 0.75:1 is available if land for community facilities is 
provide in the development or; 

17



 8 / 33 

o a bonus FSR of 1:1 is available if arrangements are made by the 
landowner to provide community facilities elsewhere in the locality; and 

o a bonus FSR of 0.25:1 is available if the development exceeds BASIX 
commitments for water and energy by at least 5 points. 

o any development must include at least 10% of total floor area, used for 
the purposes of residential development, being used for the purposes 
of affordable housing. 

o any development must include at least 30% of total floor area, used for 
the purposes of residential development, being used for the purposes 
as social housing premises. 

▪ in this clause, social housing premises has the same meaning 
as in the Residential Tenancies Act 2010. 

o any development on the site must not overshadow Redfern Park and 
Oval between 9.00-15.00. 

o the consent authority must not consent to development of the site 
unless it is satisfied the redevelopment has taken into consideration 
any guidelines adopted by the City of Sydney (Note – clause only 
required if Department does not confirm that the development will be 
assessed as local development).  

The planning proposal includes draft example clauses to clarify the intended 
amendments to Sydney LEP 2012. It is noted that final drafting of the clauses is 
subject to legal drafting by Parliamentary Counsel.  

Overshadowing  

The Department notes overshadowing requirements generally relate to a certain day 
or day range, however it was not specified in the proposed provision. Council 
subsequently advised that the intent of the clause is for no additional overshadowing 
of Redfern Park from 9am-3pm all year round. The Department recommends a 
condition to Gateway to update the planning proposal to specify when the 
overshadowing requirement applies.  

Affordable and Social Housing  

There are a range of different affordable and social housing targets / ambitions in 
different state and local government policies. 

The Greater Sydney Commission’s target in the Eastern City District Plan is 5 to 
10% of new residential floor space to be affordable housing. Land and Housing 
Corporation seeks to achieve a 70:30 ratio of private to social housing on its sites, as 
outlined in the Government’s ‘Future Directions for Social Housing in NSW’ plan. 

Council’s Local Strategic Planning Statement identifies that Government 
development sites should:  

• deliver a minimum 25% of floor space as affordable rental housing ion 
perpetuity on all NSW Government sites, including on social housing sites; 
and  

• significantly increase the proportion of social housing on NSW Government 
sites that are being renewed.  

This is further clarified by Council’s local housing strategy which identifies a target of 
3,368 social and affordable dwellings in the LGA between 2016-2022. This is based 

18



 9 / 33 

on the Council’s target of 7.5% of all housing to be provided as affordable housing 
and 7.5% of all housing to be provided as social housing. 

The Department notes the importance of increasing social and affordable housing in 
areas with an identified need for affordable housing. However, the proposed 
provision to deliver a minimum 30% social housing on site and 10% of dwellings as 
affordable housing is inconsistent with the target for Land and Housing Corporation 
sites to achieve a 70:30 ratio of private to social housing outlined in the ‘Future 
Directions for Social Housing in NSW’ plan.  

At present, the Elizabeth Street site contains no social housing. Any development for 
social housing is an increase to the base amount of social housing already in the 
LGA. 

To contribute towards achieving Council’s 7.5% target for social and affordable 
housing, and the Greater Sydney Commission’s target in the Eastern City District 
Plan, the Department recommends the proposed provision be amended to require at 
least 30% of total floor area to be used as social and affordable housing as a 
condition of Gateway. This recommended rate is consistent with the 30% LAHC 
target and significantly above both the District plan (5-10% affordable, subject to 
feasibility) and Council targets (25% affordable rental housing). 

To ensure there is a genuine mix of both social housing and affordable housing as 
part of the future development, the Department recommends that the planning 
proposal be updated prior to finalisation to specify the minimum percentage of social, 
and affordable housing, not being less than 30% of the total floor area. This is to 
provide certainty on both the quantum and the split of social and affordable housing 
that will be delivered on site prior to the LEP being finalised.    

Community Facilities  

The proposed provisions contain two options for additional FSR relating to the 
delivery of community facilities either on site or off site.  

The Department considers the proposed provision for additional community facilities 
floor space being located elsewhere in the locality is not appropriate. Whilst the 
Department acknowledges the intent of this provision, a clause can only be drafted if 
the additional floor space ratio is linked to the provision of community facilities as 
part of the development. Therefore, the Department recommends this provision be 
removed from the planning proposal and the proposed floor space ratio and 
associated mapping be updated accordingly.  

The Department understands from its discussions with Council and LAHC there is a 
preference and commitment for PCYC to remain on site therefore the proposed 
provision which allows additional FSR if land for community facilities is provided in 
the development will be retained. The details of the dedication arrangement will be 
undertaken separately to the planning proposal. This may include dedication of part 
of the site to Council to facilitate development and occupation by PCYC.   

Draft Design Guide 

A draft Design Guide has been prepared to support the planning proposal 
(Attachment Q). It applies to the site and addresses the following key design 
considerations:  

• Infrastructure and servicing;  

• Stormwater management;  

19



 10 / 33 

• Street trees;  

• Active frontages;  

• Building height;  

• Street frontage heights and setbacks;  

• Building design and bulk;  

• Parking and vehicular access;  

• Public art, and  

• Design excellence provisions.  

The Department notes there is a similar provision under Clause 6.45 2(d) of Sydney 
LEP 2012 which refers to any guidelines made by the Planning Secretary relating to 
design and amenity of the Waterloo Metro Quarter. It is understood this planning 
proposal seeks to reference a guideline adopted by City of Sydney Council.  

To ensure consistency and equity it is recommended that this clause instead refer to 
a guideline made or endorsed by the Planning Secretary. This provides an additional 
layer of oversight to the process of developing and endorsing the guideline, also 
reducing the likelihood of the guideline being continuously updated and changed.  

The Department recommends this provision be amended as a condition of Gateway. 
Further, it is recommended to remove the note which stipulates this clause is only 
required if the development is not a local development. It is not appropriate for a LEP 
provision to be conditional on the basis of whom the consent authority is for the 
development application.  

The endorsement of the draft Design Guide by the Planning Secretary will be 
undertaken as a separate process to the Gateway. In such circumstances and the 
Design Guide will still be required to be considered as part of any assessment and 
used to guide the future development outcome. 

2.3 Proposed development outcome 

The original planning proposal submitted by LAHC sought to facilitate 351 residential 
apartments, approximately 3,500m2 of community facilities and ground floor non-
residential uses (mix of community, commercial and retail) fronting Elizabeth Street. 
The planning proposal submitted by Council provides a revised scheme of two 
development options, one option with the PCYC forming part of the development and 
an alternative building layout in the event that community facilities are secured off-
site. 

Building height  

This planning proposal seeks to introduce the following maximum building heights: 

• RL 50.3 (approx. 4 storeys) on the southern section or Elizabeth Street, Phillip 
Street and the southern section of Walker Street; 

• RL 53.4 (approx. 5 storeys) on the northern section of Elizabeth Street; 

• RL 65.8 (approx. 9 storeys) on Kettle Street; 

• RL 87.5 (approx. 16 storeys) on the corner of Kettle Street and Walker Street; 
and 

• RL 62.7 (approx. 8 storeys) on Walker Street and in the middle of the site. 

20



 11 / 33 

The proposed building height along Elizabeth Street avoids overshadowing of 
Redfern Park and Oval from 9am-3pm all year round.  

The proposed building heights along Walker street are scaled to suit the residential 
streets and to minimise solar and visual impacts on the terraces east of Walker 
Street.  

Four storey buildings with setbacks provide a sensitive interface with the Waterloo 
Conservation Area to the south of the site.  

The planning proposal provides reference scheme for two development options, one 
option with the PCYC forming part of the development and the other without (Figure 
9 to Figure 13).  

  

Figure 9: Revised reference scheme with PCYC (looking north) 

 

Figure 10: Revised reference scheme without PCYC (looking north) 

 

 

21



 12 / 33 

 

Figure 11: Revised reference scheme with PCYC (looking south) 

 

Figure 12: Revised reference scheme without PCYC (looking south) 

22



 13 / 33 

 

Figure 13: Maximum Heights in Storeys with community facility (left) and without community facilities 
(right) within the site (draft Design Guide) 

Floor Space Ratio  

This planning proposal seeks a floor space ratio (FSR) for the site of 1.5:1, to be 
included on the Floor Space Ratio Map in the LEP. Floor space incentives will be 
available in a site-specific local clause based on whether community facilities are 
provided as part of the development or if other arrangements are made. 

If land for community facilities is provided in the development, an additional FSR of 
0.75:1 is available for the development. If arrangements are made by the landowner 
for a similar amount of land for community facilities elsewhere in the locality, an 
additional FSR of 1:1 is available for the development. 

Regardless of the presence of community facilities, the development can achieve an 
additional FSR of 0.25:1, if the development exceeds BASIX commitments for water 
and energy. 

Future development is also eligible for up to 10% bonus floor space, if a competitive 
design process is undertaken and design excellence is demonstrated. For a 
development including community facilities, the total FSR that can be achieved, 
including design excellence is 2.75:1. For a development without community 
facilities, the total FSR that can be achieved, including design excellence is 3.025:1. 

2.4 Mapping  
The planning proposal will seek to amend the following maps of Sydney LEP 2012.  

• Land Application Map – Sheet LAP_001 

• Land Zoning Map - Sheet LZN_017 

23



 14 / 33 

• Floor Space Ratio Map - Sheet FSR_017 

• Height of Buildings Map - Sheet HOB_017 

• Land Use and Transport Integration Map - Sheet LUT_017 

• Public Transport Accessibility Level Map – Sheet TAL_017 

• Active Street Frontages Map - Sheet AFS_017 

• Acid Sulfate Soils Map – Sheet ASS_017. 

The maps are shown in Part 6 of the planning proposal and in Attachment E.  The 
Department considers the mapping to be adequate for public exhibition.  

3. NEED FOR THE PLANNING PROPOSAL   
 

In November 2019, the Minister for Planning and Public Spaces announced a new 
approach to precinct planning. As a result, NSW Land and Housing Corporation sites 
previously announced as potential state significant precincts would now be 
considered through a local council plan making process with a request to amend 
Sydney LEP 2012.   

The planning proposal was initiated by Land and Housing Corporation to change the 
planning controls that relate to the site. A planning proposal is needed to un-defer 
the site from South Sydney LEP 1998 and introduce standard instrument LEP 
controls to facilitate the redevelopment of the site.  

The redevelopment of the site presents opportunities to be the pilot for NSW Land 
and Housing Corporation’s Communities Plus initiative to deliver a build to rent 
development scheme.  

The build to rent scheme allows the Government to deliver new and integrated 
social, affordable and private rental housing by collaborating with the private and not 
for profit sectors under a long term lease. It is understood any final decision on the 
inclusion of build to rent will be made by LAHC subject to investigations and market 
soundings with the private and not for profit sectors. 

4. STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 

4.1 Eastern City District Plan   

The Eastern City District Plan establishes a 20 year vision for the Eastern District 
which is guided by associated planning priorities and actions for productivity, 
liveability and sustainability. The planning proposal is considered consistent with the 
planning priorities from the Plan, outlined in the table below. 

Table 1: Consistency with Eastern District Plan 

Planning priority Comment 

Planning Priority E1: Planning for a city 
supported by infrastructure  

 

The District Plan addresses the need to 
provide more residential dwellings to support 
the projected population increase of 325,000 
by 2036. This planning proposal seeks to plan 
for a city supported by infrastructure by 
increasing residential capacity of the site near 
to jobs, services and amenities. Future 
residents will be near to jobs, as the site is 
located 3km from the CBD. The future 
Waterloo Metro will also support the new 
communities living within the proposed 

24



 15 / 33 

development, by providing efficient 
connectivity across Sydney. 

Planning Priority E3 – Providing services and 
social infrastructure to meet people’s changing 
needs  

Planning Priority E4 – Fostering healthy, 
creative, culturally rich and socially connected 
communities  

The planning proposal seeks to facilitate 
redevelopment of the site to provide new 
social and affordable housing in an area of 
increasing demand and support a diverse 
community by providing a mix of housing and 
new public spaces that promote social 
integration and connectivity.  

Planning Priority E5 – Providing housing 
supply, choice and affordability, with access to 
jobs, services and public transport  

 

The planning proposal seeks to facilitate 
redevelopment of the site under a build to rent 
scheme. It will provide a mix of social, 
affordable and private dwellings, in a highly 
accessible and well-served location. The build 
to rent scheme allows the Government to 
deliver new and integrated social, affordable 
and private housing by collaborating with the 
private and not for profit sectors. 

The site is within walking distance to public 
transport connections to key employment 
centres.  

 

Planning Priority E6 – Creating and renewing 
great places and local centres, and respecting 
the District’s heritage  

 

The planning proposal seeks to facilitate 
redevelopment of the site to renew a 
predominately vacant Government-owned site 
to create new social, affordable and private 
housing. The Planning Proposal considers the 
adjacent heritage conservation area and State 
Heritage item, Redfern Park. The proposed 
built form responds to the site’s heritage 
setting with lower scale buildings, landscaped 
setbacks and site-specific provisions  

Planning Priority E10 – Delivering integrated 
land use and transport planning and a 30-
minute city  

 

The site is located within walking distance from 
the future Waterloo Metro Station and the bus 
services along Elizabeth Street, enabling the 
30-minute city concept by way of active and 
public transport.  

Sustainability Priority E19 – Reducing carbon 
emissions and managing energy, water and 
waste efficiently  

The planning proposal includes targets to 
exceed BASIX requirements for water and 
energy targets, and sustainability targets.  

 

4.2 Local 
Local Strategic Planning Statement  

City of Sydney’s Local Strategic Planning Statement (LSPS) was assured by the 
Greater Sydney Commission in March 2020. The LSPS sets out the land use 
planning context and 20-year vision to positively guide change towards the City’s 
vision for a green, global and connected city. The planning priorities and actions in 
the LSPS are provided to achieve the vision.  

The planning proposal is consistent with the following planning priorities of the LSPS: 

• I1 – Movement for walkable neighbourhoods and a connected city  

25



 16 / 33 

• I3 – Supporting community wellbeing with social infrastructure 

• L1 – A creative and socially connected city 

• L2 – Creating great places 

• L3 – New homes for a diverse community 

• S2 – Creating better buildings and places to reduce emissions and waste and 
use water efficiently 

• S3 – Increasing resilience of people and infrastructure against natural and 
urban hazards  

• G1 – Open, Accountable and collaborative planning  

The planning proposal will improve community well-being and social outcomes by 
providing new social and affordable housing in an established inner-city community. 
Furthermore, the proposed development will provide high levels of amenity and 
opportunity of social housing within Redfern.  

4.3 Section 9.1 Ministerial Directions 

The consistency with the relevant 9.1 Ministerial Directions is assessed in the table 
below.  

Table 2: Consistency with 9.1 Directions  

Ministerial Direction Consistency Comment  

2.3 Heritage Conservation  Yes  The objective of this direction is to conserve 
items, areas, objects and places of 
environmental heritage significance and 
indigenous heritage significance. 

The site is not identified as a heritage item but 
is located adjacent to a Heritage item and three 
Heritage Conservation Areas.  

The planning proposal is accompanied by an 
Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Assessment and 
Historical Archaeological Assessment by Extent 
Heritage. The studies find that whilst no 
Aboriginal sites, objects, sandstone rock 
outcrops or culturally modified trees were 
identified within the study area during the 
preliminary assessment, an area of moderate 
archaeological potential has been identified 
across the entire study area. Further 
archaeological investigation of the study area 
can be undertaken at DA stage.  

The Department considers the proposal 
consistent with this Direction.  

2.6 Remediation of 
Contaminated Land 

Yes  The objective of this direction is to reduce the 
risk of harm to human health and the 
environment by ensuring that contamination 
and remediation are considered by planning 
proposal authorities. 

The planning proposal authority must consider 
whether the land is contaminated and if the land 
is contaminated, the planning proposal authority 
is satisfied that the land is suitable in its 

26



 17 / 33 

contaminated state (or will be suitable, after 
remediation)  

If the land requires remediation to be made 
suitable for any purpose for which land in that 
zone is permitted to be used, the planning 
proposal authority is satisfied that the land will 
be remediated before the land is used for that 
purpose. 

The planning proposal is accompanied by a 
Stage 2 Contamination Assessment which 
concludes that the site can be made suitable for 
the proposed development, subject to 
development of a remediation strategy and 
associated environmental management 
measures. The site’s suitability will be 
demonstrated as part of a future detailed 
development application for the site.  

3.1 Residential Zones  Yes This direction applies when a relevant planning 
authority prepares a planning proposal that will 
affect land within: 

a) an existing or proposed residential zone 
(including the alteration of any existing 
residential zone boundary), 

b) any other zone in which significant 
residential development is permitted or 
proposed to be permitted. 

The planning proposal is considered consistent 
with this direction as it will not reduce the 
permissible residential density on the site.  

3.4 Integrating Land Use and 
Transport 

Yes  This direction applies when a relevant planning 
authority prepares a planning proposal that will 
create, alter or remove a zone or a provision 
relating to urban land, including land zoned for 
residential, business, industrial, village or tourist 
purposes. 

The site is well located with easy access to 
transport services, including Redfern train 
station within 900 metres of the site, Waterloo 
Metro within 850 metres and access to multiple 
bus routes. 

The planning proposal is consistent with this 
Direction as it will enable the intensification of 
housing in a well-connected site and will 
encourage use of public transport services. 

3.5 Development near Licensed 
Aerodromes 

Yes  This direction applies when a relevant planning 
authority prepares a planning proposal that will 
create, alter or remove a zone or a provision 
relating to land near a regulated airport which 
includes a defence airfield.  

For the purposes of this direction, Sydney 
Kingsford Smith Airport (1- PMBD) is the closest 
licenser aerodrome to the subject site. The site 
is not within the Australian Noise Exposure 
Forecast (ANEF) contours of between 20 and 

27



 18 / 33 

25. The proposed building heights are under the 
Obstacle Limitation Surface (OLS).  

The planning proposal is consistent with this 
Direction.  

4.1 Acid Sulfate Soils No  This direction applies when a relevant planning 
authority prepares a planning proposal that will 
apply to land having a probability of containing 
acid sulfate soils as shown on the Acid Sulfate 
Soils Planning Maps.  

The relevant planning authority must consider 
the Acid Sulfate Soils Planning Guidelines 
adopted by 

The Director-General of the Department of 
Planning when preparing a planning proposal 
that applies to any land identified on the Acid 
Sulfate Soils Planning Maps as having a 
probability of acid sulfate soils being present. 

A relevant planning authority must not prepare 
a planning proposal that proposes an 
intensification of land uses on land identified as 
having a probability of containing acid sulfate 
soils on the Acid Sulfate Soils Planning Maps 
unless the relevant planning authority has 
considered an acid sulfate soils study assessing 
the appropriateness of the change of land use 
given the presence of acid sulfate soils. 

The planning proposal is supported by a Stage 
2 Contamination Report which found within the 
site, two areas identified in containing Actual 
Acid Sulfate Soils (AASS) and 17 areas were 
identified as Potential Acid Sulfate Soils 
(PASS). The reported results indicate that an 
Acid Sulfate Soil Management Plan will be 
required for the management of AASS and 
PASS during future excavation works in this 
area. 

For the purpose for exhibition, the Department 
recommends that the planning proposal be 
updated to prior to community consultation. This 
should include justifying the proposed 
amendment to identify the site as class 5 on the 
Acid Sulfate Soil Map, address the consistency 
with this Direction and provide consideration on 
the appropriateness of the intensification of the 
land use given the presence of acid sulfate 
soils.  

4.3 Flood Prone Land  No  This direction applies when a relevant planning 
authority prepares a planning proposal that 
creates, removes or alters a zone or a provision 
that affects flood prone land.  

In accordance with the Direction, a planning 
proposal must not contain provisions that apply 
to the flood planning areas which permit a 
significant increase in the development of that 
land.  

28



 19 / 33 

A planning proposal may be inconsistent with 
this direction only if the planning proposal is in 
accordance with a floodplain risk management 
plan prepared in accordance with the principles 
and guidelines of the Floodplain Development 
Manual 2005.  

The planning proposal’s inconsistency with the 
Direction is justified as it is consistent with the 
City of Sydney Interim Floodplain Management 
Policy, prepared in accordance with the 
principles and guidelines of the Floodplain 
Development Manual 2005.  

For the purpose of exhibition, it is 
recommended that the planning proposal be 
updated to identify its inconsistency.  

6.3 Site Specific Provision  No  The objective of this direction is to discourage 
unnecessarily restrictive site specific planning 
controls. 

This direction applies when a relevant planning 
authority prepares a planning proposal that will 
allow a particular development to be carried out. 

The planning proposal is inconsistent with this 
Direction as it proposes site specific controls to 
allow a particular development to be carried out.  

The Department notes that Division 5 of the 
LEP contains site-specific provisions for various 
sites across the City. The planning proposal 
introduces site-specific controls into the LEP to 
ensure an appropriate dwelling mix and 
community facilities on the site.  

The Department considers this inconsistency to 
be of minor significance. However, for the 
purpose of exhibition the planning proposal 
should be updated prior to community 
consultation to identify this inconsistency. The 
Department recommends this to be a condition 
of Gateway.  

 

4.4 State environmental planning policies (SEPPs) 

The consistency with the relevant SEPPs is assessed in the table below.  

Table 3: Consistency with relevant SEPPs 

State Environmental Planning 
Policy  

 Consistency Comments  

SEPP (Site and Regional 
Development) 2011  

Yes  The aim of this SEPP is to identify 
development that is State Significant 
Development.  

Currently under the SRD SEPP, 
development on land identified as a NSW 
Land and Housing Corporation Site on the 
State Significant Development Sites Map 
and has capital investment value of more 
than 30 million is considered State 
Significant Development.  

29



 20 / 33 

The Department exhibited an Explanation of 
Intended Effect for a proposed new Housing 
Diversity State Environmental Planning 
Policy (Housing Diversity SEPP) which 
proposes to amend the SRD SEPP so that 
projects will become SSD if: 

• they are carried out by or on behalf of 
LAHC; and 

• they have a capital investment value of 
more than $100 million (increased from 
$30 million). 

If this amendment is made, the future 
development facilitated by this planning 
proposal may be considered SSD.  

SEPP 65—Design Quality of 
Residential Flat Development; 

Yes  The Department understands the original 
concept design submitted by LAHC took into 
consideration the Apartment Design Guide 
(ADG). However, an updated assessment 
against the was not provided for the revised 
scheme which this planning proposal relates 
to.  

The Department recommends that planning 
proposal be updated to address SEPP 65 
and the ADG against the revised scheme 
prior to exhibition. 

SEPP (Affordable Rental 
Housing) 2009; 

Yes The planning proposal is consistent with the 
aims of the SEPP. The planning proposal 
includes a provision requiring affordable 
housing to be provided as part of future 
development. As this planning proposal 
requires a minimum amount of affordable 
housing, the proposal seeks to list the site in 
clause 1.9(2A) of the Sydney LEP 2012 so 
the SEPP does not apply. 

SEPP (Building Sustainability 
Index: BASIX) 2004 

Yes The planning proposal seeks to introduce a 
site-specific provision to award additional 
floor space if a development exceeds the 
BASIX targets. The proposed incentive 
provisions are consistent with the SEPP.  

However, the mandatory provisions in the 
draft Design guide for BASIX Energy 40 
exceed the BASIX targets for some (but not 
all) developments, and therefore are 
inconsistent with clauses 7 and 9 of the 
BASIX SEPP.  

Further, the requirement to install solar 
panels in the draft design guide on all new 
development is inconsistent with BASIX. 
BASIX does not mandate specific design 
elements but allows the developer to choose 
the design elements to meet the BASIX 
target. The Department recommends as a 
condition of Gateway that the Design Guide 
be updated to remove the mandatory nature 
of the BASIX energy target requirement and 
the requirement to install solar panels.  The 

30



 21 / 33 

endorsement of the draft Design Guide by 
the Planning Secretary will be undertaken as 
a separate process to the Gateway. It is 
expected that the finalisation of the Design 
Guide will occur currently with the finalisation 
of the planning proposal.  

SEPP (Infrastructure) 2007 Yes The proposal is close to and well serviced by 
rail and bus. The building is in an 
established area well serviced by 
infrastructure and no additional services are 
required. 

SEPP (Vegetation in Non-Rural 
Areas) 2017 

Yes The aims of this Policy are to protect the 
biodiversity values of trees and other 
vegetation in non-rural areas of the State, 
and to preserve the amenity of non-rural 
areas of the State through the preservation 
of trees and other vegetation.  

The planning proposal is supported by Flora 
and Fauna assessment Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment. Mitigation measures to reduce 
and/or prevent loss of vegetation will be 
considered at the detailed design stage and 
addressed as part of any future development 
applications on the site.  

The Department recommends as a condition 
of Gateway that NSW Environment, Energy 
and Science are consulted during public 
exhibition. 

 

5. SITE-SPECIFIC ASSESSMENT 

5.1 Social 
The planning proposal facilitates redevelopment of the site to deliver positive social 
impacts including increasing social and affordable housing in an area with an 
identified need for affordable housing. The delivery of both social and affordable 
housing will contribute to Council’s Local Housing Strategy and the Eastern City 
District Plan’s target for social and affordable housing. Social and affordable housing 
is identified as ‘housing for very low income households, low income households or 
moderate income households’.  

The planning proposal also includes a site-specific clause to provide land for the 
continued operation of a community facility onsite. This would allow for the Police 
Citizens Youth Club (PCYC) to maintain its presence in the area and continue to 
serve the local community. This represents a significant public benefit. 

5.2 Environmental 

The planning proposal is accompanied by several studies based on the original 
scheme lodged by LAHC. It is considered the conclusions are still relevant to 
Council’s revised scheme as there is no change to the proposed density.   

Threatened Species  

The site is likely to provide foraging habitat for the Grey-Headed Flying-Fox. This 
species is listed as vulnerable under the Biodiversity Conservation Act 2016 (BC Act) 
and Environmental Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999 (EPBC Act). 

31



 22 / 33 

Future development would potentially impact on the 0.24 ha of planted native 
vegetation which may provide foraging habitat for the species.  

The site contains a threatened flora species, the Magenta Lilly Pilly which was 
identified on the southern boundary along the foot path. This species is listed as 
vulnerable under the Biodiversity Conservation Act 2016 and Environmental 
Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999.  

The planning proposal is accompanied by a Flora and Fauna assessment by Eco 
Logical Australia (Attachment F) which concludes that a test of significance is not 
required for the Magenta Lilly Pilly as it is a planted street tree and does not form 
part of a naturally occurring population. However, a test of significance consistent 
with the BC Act would be required for the foraging habitat for the Grey-Headed 
Flying-Fox. The study recommends that this be undertaken at the time of 
Development Application (DA) submission.  

The Department recommends as a condition of Gateway that Environment, Energy 
and Science are consulted during public exhibition.  

Trees 

The planning proposal is accompanied by an Arboricultural Impact Assessment by 
report Eco Logical Australia (Attachment G) which assesses the potential impacts of 
the development footprint on the tree protection zones of trees in the subject site. 
The report concludes the following: 

• The site contains a total of 67 trees which have been ranked from high, 
medium, low and no impact; 

o 48 trees are classified as high impact with four trees considered for 
high retention value. The trees would be subject to major 
encroachment within the Tree Protection Zone (TPZ). These trees are 
unable to be sustainably retained without substantial modification of the 
proposed building footprint.  

o 6 trees would be subject to medium impact of the TPZ. Three of those 
trees are considered to be of high retention value. 

o 3 trees would be subject to low impact within the TPZ. The anticipated 
low impact of the proposed development will have negligible impacts to 
the tree’s health, vigour or stability. All three trees are considered to be 
of medium retention value.  

o 10 trees would not be affected by the proposed development. Of these, 
four trees are considered to be of high retention value.  

In summary out of the 67 trees on site, 11 trees were identified as high retention 
value. Recommendations from the Study include measures around tree pruning, 
removal, tree protection fencing, hold points during construction and replacement 
planting. All high retention value trees are considered worthy of preservation and 
consideration should be given to their retention. The detailed placement and site 
design should consider TPZs of these trees during DA stage.  

In addition to mitigate any potential loss of trees, the draft Design Guide provides for 
a minimum 15% tree canopy cover and a minimum of 1650 square metres of deep 
soil is to be provided on the site. This is more than required by the ADG and will 

32



 23 / 33 

ensure any loss of trees is adequately offset and will improve landscape values and 
biodiversity outcomes with more appropriate tree plantings. 

The Department recommends as a condition of Gateway that NSW Environment, 
Energy and Science are consulted during public exhibition.  

Heritage 

The site is not identified as a heritage item but is located adjacent to a Heritage item 
and three Heritage Conservation Areas (HCA) (Figure 14). The planning proposal is 
supported by a Preliminary Built Heritage Assessment by Extent Heritage 
(Attachment H).  

The Waterloo HCA is a largely residential area and includes sections of Phillip Street 
which forms the southern edge of the subject site. The area has significance as early 
residential subdivisions of the Mount Lachlan Estate, which developed incrementally 
from the 1850s through to the early twentieth century. 

The Redfern Estate HCA to the west contains residential fabric and Redfern Park. 
The area is historically significant as an early Victorian structured subdivision 
covering the entire grant to William Redfern. 

The Baptist Street HCA is two streets to the east of the site, thereby it would have to 
be considered to a lesser extent in terms of any proposals to the subject site 

Redfern Park is listed as a Heritage Item which contains rainforest plants such as the 
Araucaria sp., Brachychiton sp. and the exotic species such as Washingtonian sp. 
Phoenix sp. and Catalpa which reflect the approach to horticulture. The park was 
planned in late 1880s a key development phase of Redfern. It is a significant 
element of establishment of Redfern Township.  

The assessment finds that redevelopment of the site will not generate any 
unacceptable impacts to surrounding heritage items and will not result in visual 
dominance over, or detract from, the context or setting of these items.  

The Department recommends as a condition of Gateway that Heritage NSW is 
consulted during public exhibtion.  

 

Figure 14: Sydney LEP 2012 Heritage Map  

33



 24 / 33 

Aboriginal Cultural Heritage and Archaeology  

The planning proposal is accompanied by an Aboriginal Cultural Heritage 
Assessment (Attachment I) and Historical Archaeological Assessment (Attachment 
J) by Extent Heritage. The studies find that whilst no Aboriginal sites, objects, 
sandstone rock outcrops or culturally modified trees were identified within the study 
area during the preliminary assessment, an area of moderate archaeological 
potential has been identified across the entire study area. The site may also have 
Aboriginal cultural value relating to its use as an occupation and resource gathering 
site in the past; and due to other contemporary activities in the last two hundred 
years. 

The rezoning of the site itself will not result in impacts to any known or potential 
Aboriginal archaeological sites however the development as a result of this planning 
proposal has the potential to impact upon any as yet unidentified Aboriginal 
archaeological sites.  

The studies recommend further archaeological investigation of the study area would 
be required to define the nature, extent and significance of the historical 
archaeological resource, and to mitigate the potential impacts that may result from 
the development. Such investigation should be undertaken prior to any DA 
submissions for the site.  

The Department recommends as a condition of Gateway that Heritage NSW is 
consulted during public exhibtion.  

Flood  

Stormwater Strategy Report by Aecom (Attachment K) confirms the southern 
portion of the site is affected during the 100-year Average Recurrence Interval (ARI), 
and the entire site is affected by the Probable Maximum Flood (PMF). Under existing 
conditions there is significant ponding on Phillip Street, with a depth of 0.9 metres for 
the 100-year ARI (Figure 1) and up to 2.8 metres for the PMF (Figure 16). 

The study concludes to offset the potential flood impacts, mitigation measures will 
likely comprise a combination of on-site detention, compensatory floodplain storage 
and conveyance works that minimise or counteract the impact of obstructions placed 
within the existing flow paths across the site.  

Buildings within the site will need to be designed to account for the internal flood 
risks during rare floods such as the 100 year ARI in the streets surrounding the site. 
Proposed entry levels and minimum habitable flood levels will need to be raised to 
ensure that the risk of floodwater breeches from significant storm events at the 
building entrances is manageable. 

The redevelopment of the site must be designed to meet the following flood planning 
levels: 

• Flood Planning Level (FPL) will be 100-year ARI flood level + 0.5 m freeboard 
for entrances to habitable areas (FPL equates to RL 32.7 metres on the site); 

• 100-year ARI flood level to above ground carparks; 

• Where the depth of flow is less than 0.25 metres, the FPL may be reduced to 
twice the flow depth, or at least 0.3 metres, above the 100-year ARI flood 
level; and 

• FPL will be PMF for below ground garages and carparks. 

34



 25 / 33 

The PMF for the site is higher than the 100-year ARI, and therefore, the basement 
entry and lobbies (where accessed from a basement) will need to be designed to be 
above the PMF level.  

The planning proposal identifies that a detailed flood assessment will be required as 
part of the DA submission for the site. The Department considers the flooding 
constraints can be addressed at DA stage.  

Figure 15: Existing case 100-year ARI peak flood depth 

35



 26 / 33 

 

Figure 16: Existing case PMF peak flood depth  

Wind 

The planning proposal is accompanied by Wind Assessment by Windtech 
(Attachment L). The results of the study indicate that wind conditions for most 
trafficable outdoor locations within and around the development will be suitable for 
their intended use. However, the south-east corner of the development will 
experience strong winds which will exceed the relevant criteria for comfort and or 
safety. The study recommends including densely foliating evergreen trees capable of 
growing to a height of 4-6m along Elizabeth and Phillip street. 

With the inclusion of these treatments applied at DA stage in the final design, it is 
expected that wind conditions for all outdoor trafficable areas within and around the 
development will be suitable for their intended uses.  

Contamination  

The planning proposal is supported by a Stage 1 Environmental Site Assessment 
and Geotechnical Desktop Study and a Stage 2 Contamination Report (Attachment 
M and Attachment N). The Stage 1 Study identifies the general environmental 
condition and risks from current and past land uses which may have resulted in 
contamination at the site. Key findings from the Stage 1 study found: 

• An SAS for the site (Golder, 2005) concluded that the site was not suitable for 
medium density residential land use and a Remediation Action Plan (RAP) 
was required to address contamination identified by PB (2004).  

36



 27 / 33 

• Potential sources of contamination identified which may impact the condition 
of soil and groundwater within the site and its surrounds include the following: 

o Commercial and industrial properties in the immediate surrounding 
areas, including: car servicing and mechanical repairs, manufacturers 
and a laundry – Waterloo Coin Laundry. 

o Use of fill material of unknown origin: potentially containing or impacted 
by contaminants. 

o Historical use of asbestos containing materials (ACM) within buildings 
and structures erected since the 1920s. 

o Historical use of lead based paints on the interior and exterior of 
historical and current buildings. 

o Concentrations of lead and PAHs in soil identified as part of the ERM 
(2001) investigation.  

o Known concentrations of lead, B(a)P, sum of PAHs, toluene, TPH C10-
C36 in soil, heavy metals and up-gradient B(a)P and sum of PAHs in 
groundwater and potential acid sulfate soils as noted in the SAS 
(Golder, 2005) and as identified by PB (2004). 

The Stage 2 detailed contamination study was undertaken to provide information on 
soil and groundwater contamination conditions within the site. The results indicate 
that the site is underlain by shallow fill material and a naturally occurring peat layer, 
which contain concentrations of Total Recoverable Hydrocarbons (TRH) and B(a)P 
greater than the assessment criteria for the proposed high density residential, retail 
and commercial land uses. 

In addition, Asbestos Containing Material (ACM) was detected in shallow fill in the 
south-west corner of the Site, and the presence of actual or potential acid sulfate 
soils was identified across most of the Site. In order to make the site suitable for the 
proposed future land use, development of a remediation strategy and associated 
environmental management measures such as a Remediation Action Plan, 
Construction Environmental Management Plan and Asbestos Management Plan. 
This is expected to be undertaken at DA stage.    

The Department recommends as a condition of Gateway that NSW Environment 
Protection Authority is to be consulted during public exhibition. 

Acid Sulphate 

As part of the Stage 2 Contamination report, samples were analysed for Suspension 
Peroxide Oxidation Combined Acidity and Sulfur (SPOCAS) to evaluate the potential 
for or actual acid sulfate soils. Within the site, two areas were identified in containing 
Actual Acid Sulfate Soils (AASS) and 17 areas were identified as Potential Acid 
Sulfate Soils (PASS). The reported results indicate that an Acid Sulfate Soil 
Management Plan will be required for the management of AASS and PASS during 
future excavation works in this area. 

The planning proposal seeks to identify the site as Class 5 in the Acid Sulfate Soils 
Map. In accordance with Environmental Planning Instruments, Acid sulfate soils are 
to be classified into 5 different classes based on the likelihood of the acid sulfate 
soils being present in particular areas and at certain depths. Areas classified as 
Class 5 are located within 500 metres on adjacent class 1,2,3 or 4 land. The 
Department recommends that as a condition of Gateway that Council provide 
justification for the site to be identified as Class 5 in the Acid Sulfate Soils Map. In 
addition, the planning proposal should be updated prior to community consultation to 

37



 28 / 33 

address the consistency with 9.1 Direction 4.1 Acid Sulfate Soils and provide 
consideration on the appropriateness of the intensification of the land use given the 
presence of acid sulfate soils.  

Overshadowing 

The planning proposal states that the development will not result in any additional 
overshadowing to Redfern Park and Oval and will minimise solar impacts to 
neighbouring properties on Walker Street and Philip Streets. 

Redfern Park 

The planning proposal states that the revised preferred scheme demonstrates that 
development on the site can be designed to achieve this outcome. To ensure that 
any development does not overshadow Redfern Park and Oval between 9am and 
3pm all year round, the planning proposal includes a site-specific provision in the 
Sydney LEP 2012 to prevent overshadowing of these important spaces. 

Walker Street 

To the east of the site, on Walker Street, there are 21 attached dwellings and two 
apartment buildings facing Walker Street. The buildings were constructed in 2013 
and are owned by NSW LAHC. 

The Sydney DCP 2012 provides guidance for solar access to single dwellings 
including maintaining 2 hours of solar access to surrounding dwellings and not 
creating any additional overshadowing to habitable rooms, where the dwelling does 
not currently achieve 2 hours.  

Due to the existing building design, currently 5 of the 21 dwellings on Walker Street 
do not meet the minimum solar requirements to their front windows. However, all 
dwellings receive more than 2 hours of solar access to their rear private open space. 
In most dwellings, the kitchen and dining room is located adjacent to the rear private 
open space. The dwellings have excellent amenity to their rear backyards. 

Phillip Street 

Properties located to the south of Phillip Street form part of the Waterloo 
Conservation Area. The majority of dwellings on Phillip Street do not meet the 
minimum solar access requirements. The revised preferred scheme provides a 
setback on this interface to minimise overshadowing to properties on the southern 
side of Phillip Street.  

The Department notes that the shadow analysis undertaken as part of the Design 
Report which accompanies the planning proposal was based off the original concept 
design lodged by LAHC which has been subsequently revised. The Department 
recommends that as a condition of Gateway that the planning proposal be updated 
prior to community consultation to provide a shadow analysis to assess the impact of 
shadows casted by the revised scheme. The shadow analysis should be undertaken 
at hourly intervals during winter solstice.  

 
5.3 Economic 

The planning proposal seeks to facilitate the delivery of additional social, affordable 
and market housing in the Redfern locality. It is expected this will provide positive 
economic effects as future residents will be close to jobs, as the site is located 3km 
from the CBD.  

 

38



 29 / 33 

 

5.4 Infrastructure  

Traffic and Transport  

A Traffic Impact Assessment has been prepared by Jacobs (Attachment O) to 
support the planning proposal. The report provides an assessment of the existing 
traffic and transport environment and the impact of the proposed development on the 
traffic and transport network. Conclusions from the report indicate the following:  

• The proposed development will likely generate an additional 45 car trips per 
hour which includes trips for all purposes, and not just work trips. 

• The proposed development would generate additional demand of about 18 
bus passengers and about 20 train passengers. Bus stops are currently 
provided on Elizabeth Street and Phillip Street. 

• Bus and train services accessible from the development are already operating 
close to or at capacity. The future Waterloo Station is expected to improve 
public transport capacity and therefore the projected additional public 
transport trips generated by the development would be readily 
accommodated. 

• Access to the development via Walker Street would have the least impact on 
the road network. 

• Key intersections surrounding the site would continue to operate at an 
acceptable level. 

• Phillip Street currently carries in the order of 700 vehicles per hour and 
exceeds the environmental capacity for a collector road.  

• Walker Street has relatively low traffic volumes in the order of 120 vehicles 
per hour in the peak periods. The addition of 45 vehicles although 
concentrated near the site it would not exceed the 200 vehicles per hour 
environmental goal. 

• Kettle Street functions as an access street west of Walker Street with fewer 
than 10 vehicles per hour. East of Walker Street, Kettle Street also has low 
traffic volumes in the order of 100 vehicles per hour. The forecast additional 
traffic of around 45 vehicles per hour from this site once split between Kettle 
and Philip Street would have no perceptible impact on either Kettle Street or 
Walker Street north of Kettle Street. 

The Department understand the traffic modelling was undertaken based off the 
original concept design lodged by LAHC. The traffic generation is unlikely to change 
as result of the revised scheme. The revised scheme will provide an equivalent 
amount of GFA and achieve a similar number of apartments to the original scheme 
prepared by LAHC. The Department recommends consultation with Transport for 
NSW during public exhibition of the planning proposal.  

Car Parking 

The planning proposal seeks to apply the Category B car parking rate in Sydney LEP 
2012 Map to the site which determines the maximum car parking rate.  

Parking provision for most modes is consistent with Category B rates defined in 
Sydney LEP 2012 and should be as follows: 

39



 30 / 33 

• 200 parking spaces (maximum) for residents, 10 of which are accessible 
parking spaces; 

• 327 bicycle parking spaces (minimum) for resident’s and 33 for their visitors; 

• 8 parking spaces (minimum) for service vehicles; and 

• 17 parking spaces (minimum) for motorcycles.  

The supporting traffic analysis suggests the number of parking spaces is not 
anticipated to degrade the performance of the road network to an unacceptable 
level. The exact amount of car parking to be provided on the site will be determined 
as part of the detailed design phase. 

The revised reference scheme proposes access to basement parking from Phillip 
Street as it will have the least impact on the local road network and is the least flood 
affected area of the site. Access is to be restricted from Elizabeth Street. 

Servicing  

The planning proposal is supported by a Utilities and Infrastructure Serving Report 
by Aecom (Attachment P). The report concludes that the site has minimal utility 
infrastructure as majority of it is vacant land. Local amplifications to potable water, 
wastewater, electrical and gas delivery systems will be required for future 
development. Upgrades to the local zone substation may also be required subject to 
confirmation by Ausgrid. 

It is expected that these services would be upgraded by the developer and 
appropriate investigations into utilities infrastructure upgrades will be provided at the 
DA stage. The Department recommends consultation with Sydney Water and 
Ausgrid during public exhibition.  

6. CONSULTATION 

6.1 Community 
Council has proposed a public exhibition period of 28 days. The Department 
considers this to be appropriate. 

Council, as the planning proposal authority, will be responsible for public 
consultation. In accordance with section 6.5.2 of ‘A guide to preparing local 
environmental plans’ notification in writing to all affected and adjoining landowners is 
required.  

6.2 Agencies 

The planning proposal does not specify any agencies that are to be notified of the 
proposal. The Department recommends notification and consultation with the 
following agencies: 

• NSW Environment, Energy and Science; 

• Heritage NSW; 

• Transport for NSW; 

• NSW Environment Protection Authority; 

• Sydney Water; and 

• Ausgrid. 

 

40



 31 / 33 

7. TIME FRAME  
 

The planning proposal provides a project timeframe with the completion date 
anticipated for February 2021. The Department considers a timeframe of 12 months 
to be appropriate. This does not preclude the planning proposal from being finalised 
sooner. 

8. LOCAL PLAN-MAKING AUTHORITY 

Council has requested to be the local plan making authority for this planning 
proposal. The Department recommends that Council should not be the local plan-
making authority for this planning proposal due to the nature and complexity of the 
proposal.  

Given the draft Design Guide is recommended to be endorsed or made by the 
Planning Secretary, the Department considers it appropriate that the Planning 
Secretary or delegate also make arrangements for the drafting of any required local 
environmental plan to give effect to the final proposals of the planning proposal 
authority.  

It is noted that under Section 3.36 of the EP&A Act, the Department is required to 
consult with Council regarding the drafting of the instrument.  

9. CONCLUSION 

The Department recommends that the planning proposal proceed, subject to 
recommended conditions, for the following reasons: 

• it is generally consistent with the Eastern City District Plan and the relevant 
section 9.1 Ministerial Directions and State Environmental Planning Policies; 

• consistent with City of Sydney’s Local Strategic Planning Statement;  

• it will deliver positive social effects including increasing social and affordable 
housing in an area with an identified need for affordable housing; and 

• it will support redevelopment of the site as the pilot for Communities Plus build-to-
rent consistent with the NSW Government’s Future Directions for Social Housing 
policy. 

10. RECOMMENDATION  

It is recommended that the delegate of the Secretary:  

1. agree that any inconsistencies with section 9.1 Directions 4.1 Acid Sulfate Soils, 
4.3 Flood Prone Land and 6.3 Site Specific Provision are justified. 

It is recommended that the delegate of the Minister determine that the planning 
proposal should proceed subject to the following conditions: 

1. Prior to community consultation the planning proposal is to be updated as 
follows: 

(a) Provide a shadow analysis to assess the impact of shadows casted by 
the revised scheme. The shadow analysis should be undertaken at 
hourly intervals during the winter solstice; 

(b) Revise the overshadowing clause to specify the day range to which it 
applies;   

41



 32 / 33 

(c) Address SEPP 65 and the Apartment Design Guide against the revised 
scheme;  

(d) Revise the requirement for the development to achieve the minimum 
BASIX Energy 40 target in the draft Design Guide to be only required if 
the additional floor space is elected to be used;  

(e) Remove the requirement for all new development to install solar panels 
in the draft Design Guide;  

(f) Remove the note in the explanation of provisions section which 
instructs that the clause regarding consideration of the Design Guide 
will only be required if the development is not assessed as local 
development;  

(g) Revise the proposed clause relating to the Design Guide from being 
adopted by City of Sydney Council to being endorsed by the Planning 
Secretary;  

(h) Remove the provision which allows a bonus FSR of 1:1 if 
arrangements are made by the landowner to provide community 
facilities elsewhere in the locality. The proposed distribution of FSR and 
associated mapping is to be updated accordingly; 

(i) Remove from the planning proposal the provision which requires the 
development to include at least 30% of total floor area used for the 
purposes of social housing and 10% of total floor area used for 
affordable housing. Instead introduce a provision which requires at 
least 30% of total floor area to be used for the purposes of a mix of 
social housing and affordable housing; 

(j) Identify and address inconsistency with 9.1 Ministerial Direction 4.1 
Acid Sulfate Soils, 4.3 Flood Prone land, 6.3 Site Specific Provision; 
and 

(k) Provide an explanation and justification for the site to be identified as 
Class 5 in the Acid Sulfate Soils Map.  

2. The revised planning proposal is to be provided to the Department for review 
and approval prior to public exhibition. 

3. Prior to finalisation, the planning proposal is to be updated as follows: 

(a) demonstrate the proposed scheme is capable of achieving the BASIX 
commitments identified in the Site Specific Provision and draft Design 
Guide; and 

(b) specify the minimum percentage of total floor area to be used for social 
housing and affordable housing, not being less than 30% of the total 
floor area.  

4. The planning proposal should be made available for community consultation for 
a minimum of 28 days.  

5. Consultation is required with the following public authorities: 

• NSW Environment, Energy and Science; 

• Heritage NSW; 

• Transport for NSW; 

42



 33 / 33 

• NSW Environment Protection Authority; 

• Sydney Water; and 

• Ausgrid.  

6. The time frame for completing the LEP is to be 12 months from the date of the 
Gateway determination.  

7. Given the nature of the planning proposal, Council should not be authorised to 
be the local plan-making authority to make this plan. 

 
 
 

 05/02/2021 
 
Adrian Melo 
Manager, Eastern District (City of Sydney)  
Greater Sydney, Place and Infrastructure  
  
 

05/02/2021 

   
David McNamara  
Director, Eastern District (City of Sydney)  
Greater Sydney, Place and Infrastructure  
 
 

 
 
08/02/21 
Malcolm McDonald  
Executive Director, Eastern Harbour City 
Greater Sydney, Place and Infrastructure  
 
 
 
 
Brett Whitworth 
Deputy Secretary  
Greater Sydney, Place and Infrastructure  
 

 
 

Assessment officer: Mary Su 
Senior Planner, Eastern District (City of Sydney) 

Phone: 9373 2803 

43



Attachment C 

22 June 2020 Transport, Heritage and 

Planning Committee Report – Public 

Exhibition – Planning Proposal – 600-660 

Elizabeth Street, Redfern 

 

 

44



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 June 2020 
 

 

Public Exhibition Planning Proposal – 600-660 Elizabeth Street, Redfern – 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 Amendment and Draft Design Guide 

File No: X011236 

Summary 

At a time when the wait list for social housing in NSW is almost 60,000 people, the demand 
for social housing has never been greater. Combined with a five to 10 year waiting period for 
social housing in our area, and the extra demand that will be created by the health, social 
and economic impacts of Covid-19, there is a critical need to deliver social and affordable 
housing. 

The Planning Proposal presents an opportunity to optimise NSW Government owned land to 
deliver new social and affordable housing on a site that is predominately vacant and 
extremely accessible to a range of public transport infrastructure, jobs and services. 

The Planning Proposal is consistent with the Greater Sydney Region Plan, Eastern City 
District Plan and the City's Local Strategic Planning Statement, which all identify the need to 
deliver more social and affordable housing options. In particular, the City’s Planning 
Statement identifies the need for an additional 14,000 affordable and social housing 
dwellings by 2036. 

The site known as 600-660 Elizabeth Street, Redfern forms part of the Redfern Social 
Housing Estate. Existing development on site consists of the South Sydney Police Citizens’ 
Youth Club located on the corner of Phillip and Elizabeth Streets. 

The site was previously identified as a potential State Significant Precinct. In November 
2019, the Minister for Planning and Public Spaces announced a new approach to precinct 
planning. As a result, NSW Land and Housing Corporation sites previously announced as 
potential state significant would now be considered through a local council plan making 
process with a request to amend Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (LEP). 

This planning proposal provides for an increase to the maximum building height and floor 
space ratio which will allow for the future redevelopment of the site delivering the following 
key benefits: 

 Development of the site for new social, affordable and market housing 

 A high-quality, predominately residential development, supported with a range of 
small-scale neighbourhood uses, that will renew the site and contribute to local 
character 

 Floor space for the continued operation of the Police Citizens’ Youth Club so long as it 
remains on the site 

 Development that responds to its context and achieves a high level of amenity to 
neighbouring properties, and 

 No overshadowing to Redfern Park. 

45



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 June 2020 
 

 

The future detailed development application for the site is identified as State Significant 
(State and Regional SEPP 2011) and as such Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 (the 
DCP) would not apply. To address this the City, has prepared a draft Design Guide to help 
ensure the objectives and intended outcomes of this planning proposal are achieved without 
the need for a Stage 1 DA.  

The draft Design Guide creates site-specific provisions relating to the built form of the 
proposed development, design excellence, amenity requirements and sustainability. It will be 
considered by the Department of Planning, Infrastructure and Environment at the time of 
Gateway determination whether a clause incorporating reference to the Design Guide will 
form part of the planning proposal as occurred for the Waterloo Metro site.  

However, if the future DA application(s) are delegated to the City to assess and determine, 
the recommendation seeks endorsement for a draft DCP consistent with the draft Design 
Guide to be exhibited in the alternative. The Guide/DCP has sufficient detail that a Stage 1 
application would not be required, so that following LEP amendments, only a detailed 
application(s) would be required after a competitive design process. 

This report recommends approval of the planning proposal for submission to the Department 
of Planning, Industry and Environment seeking a gateway determination for public 
exhibition. It also recommends that a draft Design Guide is endorsed for exhibition as a 
Design Guide or, if subsequent DA(s) are delegated to the City, as a draft DCP. 

  

46



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 June 2020 
 

 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council approve the Planning Proposal – 600-660 Elizabeth Street, Redfern, shown at 
Attachment A to the subject report, for submission to the Department of Planning, 
Industry and Environment with a request for a Gateway Determination; 

(B) Council approve the Planning Proposal – 600-660 Elizabeth Street, Redfern, shown at 
Attachment A to the subject report for public authority consultation and public 
exhibition in accordance with any conditions imposed under the Gateway 
Determination; 

(C) Council seek authority from the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment to 
exercise the delegation of all functions under the relevant local plan making authority 
of all functions under Section 3.36 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 
1979 to make the local environmental plan to put into effect the Planning Proposal – 
600-660 Elizabeth Street, Redfern; 

(D) Council approve the draft Design Guide – 600-660 Elizabeth Street, Redfern shown at 
Attachment B to the subject report for public authority consultation and public 
exhibition together with the Planning Proposal; 

(E) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to translate the draft Design 
Guide – 600-660 Elizabeth Street, Redfern shown at Attachment B to the subject 
report to a draft Development Control Plan and approve for public authority 
consultation and public exhibition together with the Planning Proposal (should future 
development application(s) for the site be delegated to the City); and 

(F) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor variations to 
Planning Proposal – 600-660 Elizabeth Street, Redfern and the draft Design Guide (or 
site-specific Development Control Plan) – 600-660 Elizabeth Street, Redfern, to 
correct any drafting errors or to ensure it is consistent with the Planning Proposal 
following the Gateway Determination.  

Attachments 

Attachment A. Planning Proposal - 600-660 Elizabeth Street, Redfern 

Attachment B. Draft Design Guide - 600-660 Elizabeth Street, Redfern 

  

47



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 June 2020 
 

 

Background 

1. At a time when the wait list for social housing in NSW is almost 60,000 people, the 
demand for social housing has never been greater. Combined with a 5 to 10 year 
waiting period for social housing in the area, and the extra demand that will be created 
by the health, social and economic impacts of Covid-19, there is a critical need to 
deliver social and affordable housing on this site. 

2. The Planning Proposal presents an opportunity to optimise NSW Government owned 
land to deliver new social and affordable housing on a site that is predominately 
vacant, extremely accessible to a range of public transport infrastructure, jobs and 
services. 

3. 600-660 Elizabeth Street, will be the first government-backed mixed tenure Build-to-
Rent residential development in Australia, which allows the NSW Government to retain 
ownership of the land and leverage the private and not-for-profit sectors to help deliver 
new housing. 

4. The Planning Proposal is consistent with the Greater Sydney Region Plan, Eastern 
City District Plan and the City's Local Strategic Planning Statement, which all identify 
the need to deliver more social and affordable housing options. In particular, the City’s 
Planning Statement identifies the need for an additional 14,000 affordable and social 
housing dwellings by 2036.  

5. The site known as 600-660 Elizabeth Street, Redfern and is located in the Redfern 
Housing Estate. 

6. In 2011, the Redfern Waterloo Authority (under the previous Government) proposed 
redevelopment of this same block in Elizabeth Street at an FSR of 3:1 under the 
Redfern Waterloo Draft Built Environment Plan 2 (BEP2) for a future State Significant 
Development. The City at that time recommended that a rail station be investigated 
near George and Raglan Streets in Waterloo to service any major renewal of the 
Redfern Waterloo Estate. It also recommended a new park at Waterloo associated 
with a new rail station (now called Metro). 

7. In September 2017, the former Minister for Planning announced the site as a potential 
State Significant Precinct (SSP). The then Minister for Planning also invited the City to 
assist the Department Planning, Industry and Environment in the assessment of the 
site. The City’s participation in the SSP involved being part of a Precinct Review Panel 
(PRP) to review and provide advice at key project milestones.  

8. In mid-October 2019, Land and Housing Corporation undertook non-statutory public 
consultation presenting a scheme of 5 to 19 storeys in height, at an FSR of 
approximately 3.7:1, accommodating around 500 units.  

9. In late October 2019, a Precinct Review Panel (PRP) consisting of representatives 
from the DPIE, GANSW, TfNSW and the CoS, raised a number of issues which the 
proponent has sought to address in the Planning Proposal and reference scheme, 
these included: 

(a) There should be no overshadowing of Redfern Park 

(b) Acknowledgment that public open space does not need to be accommodated on 
site 

48



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 June 2020 
 

 

(c) Greater certainty should be provided on the delivery of social and affordable 
housing on the site 

(d) The proposed future location for the PCYC should be allowed for as part of the 
proposal (unless secured on an agreed alternative site), and 

(e) The PRP also raised some concerns with environmental amenity, sustainability 
minimums, contamination, car parking and tree canopy. 

10. In November 2019, the current Minister for Planning and Public Spaces announced a 
new approach to precinct planning. As a result, NSW Land and Housing Corporation 
(LAHC) sites previously announced as SSPs would now be considered through a local 
council planning process with a request to amend Sydney LEP 2012. 

11. In December 2019, LAHC met with the City to discuss potential amendments to the 
planning controls for the site. The City provided formal pre-lodgement advice. The City 
has worked extensively with the landowner and their consultant team to explore 
potential built form outcomes. 

12. On 10 March 2020, the landowner submitted a planning proposal request to the City of 
Sydney. The request included a Planning Justification Report, a Design Report and a 
number of technical studies. The City has prepared this Planning Proposal following 
consideration of the request. 

13. The amended planning controls will enable redevelopment of 600-660 Elizabeth 
Street, Redfern, consisting of the following key concepts: 

(a) Facilitate development of the site for new social, affordable and market housing 

(b) Deliver a range of small-scale neighbourhood uses, that will renew the site and 
contribute to local character 

(c) Provide floor space for the continued operation of the Police Citizens’ Youth Club 
(PCYC)  

(d) Facilitate development that responds to its context and achieves a high level of 
amenity to neighbouring properties, and 

(e) Ensure no overshadowing to Redfern Park. 

14. In preparation of their request, NSW LAHC consulted with City staff and commissioned 
a range of studies to support the proposed changes to the planning controls. These 
studies are attached as appendices to the planning proposal at Attachment A to this 
report. 

Site details 

15. The planning proposal relates to 600-660 Elizabeth Street, Redfern and is under single 
ownership of LAHC.  

16. The legal description of the land affected by this planning proposal is Lot 1 DP 
1249145. 

17. 600-660 Elizabeth Street also has frontage to Kettle Street to the north, Walker Street 
to the east and Phillip Street to the south. 

49



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 June 2020 
 

 

18. The site is generally rectangular in shape and has a total area of 10,850 square 
metres. The site’s western and eastern boundaries fronting Elizabeth Street and 
Walker Street are about 146 metres long. The site’s northern and southern boundaries 
fronting Kettle Street and Phillip Street have are about 70 metres long. 

19. Existing development on site consists of the South Sydney PCYC located on the 
corner of Phillip and Elizabeth Streets. The PCYC buildings on site comprise of three 
single storied 1950s brick buildings. The PCYC also has an outdoor basketball court 
and children’s playground. 

20. The northern portion of the site was previously occupied by 18 social housing 
dwellings. However, the dwellings were demolished in 2013 and that portion of the site 
has remained vacant since that time. The majority of the site contains 67 native and 
exotic tree species. 

 

Figure 1: Aerial photo of subject site and surrounding area 

Existing planning controls 

21. The site is currently subject to old planning controls in the South Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 1998 and South Sydney Development Control Plan 1997. The 
planning controls applying to the site are: 

 Land zone: No. 2(b) Residential (Medium Density) and No. 5 Special Uses 
(Activity Centre) 

 Height of Buildings: Maximum of 6 metres for land zoned No. 2(b) Residential 

 Floor Space Ratio (FSR): Maximum of 1.5:1 to land zoned No. 2(b) Residential 

50



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 June 2020 
 

 

22. The South Sydney DCP 1997 does not specify a maximum building height or FSR for 
the portion of the site zoned No.5 Special Uses. 

23. This site is not a heritage item and is not within a Heritage Conservation Area. The site 
is surrounded by a number of heritage items and heritage conservation areas. Redfern 
Park to the west of the site is a State Heritage Item. To the south, the site adjoins the 
Waterloo Conservation Area. 

Adjoining development 

24. The site forms part of the Redfern Social Housing Estate. Surrounding context consists 
of residential development to the north, east and south and the State Heritage listed 
Redfern Park to the west. Adjoining the Park is the Redfern Oval which provides 
training facilities for the South Sydney Rugby League club. 

25. Walker Street located east of the site contains low-medium scale housing comprising 
1-2 storey townhouses and 4-storey apartment buildings constructed in 2013. Walker 
Street contains a street closure and small pocket park at the intersection with Philip 
Street. 

26. Kettle Street, to the north of the site, contains a cul-de-sac and street closure at its 
intersection with Elizabeth Street. Kettle Street is an important pedestrian connection 
between Redfern Estate and Redfern Park with high pedestrian flows. The street 
closure creates a small pocket park at the signalised pedestrian crossing on Elizabeth 
Street. Kettle Street contains residential buildings range from 3-9 storeys.  

27. Philip Street, to the south of the site, represents the northern boundary of the Waterloo 
Conversation Area and contains low rise terrace housing and fine grain shopfronts on 
Elizabeth Street. 

Submitted Scheme for planning proposal request 

28. The submitted reference scheme prepared by the landowner for 600-660 Elizabeth 
Street includes redevelopment of the site to accommodate new residential buildings 
with retail and community uses fronting Elizabeth Street and new open spaces on 
Kettle Street and Phillip Street. 

29. The landowner's scheme would facilitate the delivery of new residential buildings with 
building heights ranging from 5-6 storeys on Walker Street, 5-7 storeys on Elizabeth 
Street and a taller building on the corner of Kettle and Walker Streets up to 14 storeys.  

30. This scheme provides for 31,222 square metres of residential Gross Floor Area (GFA) 
and 1,602 square metres of non-residential GFA. This building layout would achieve 
351 apartments and includes bonus floorspace awarded for design excellence. 

51



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 June 2020 
 

 

 

Figure 2: Submitted reference scheme for planning proposal request (looking north) 

 

Figure 3: Submitted reference scheme for planning proposal request (looking south) 

  

52



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 June 2020 
 

 

Revised scheme 

31. The City has prepared a revised reference scheme to guide development of the site. 
The revised scheme has been informed by advice from the City's Design Advisory 
Panel (DAP). The revised scheme seeks to improve the amenity and flexibility of the 
envelopes by: 

(a) Integrating the PCYC into the development proposal to acknowledge its 
important role in serving the community in the surrounding area. Unlike the 
submission, the revised scheme allows for the PCYC to be retained on site 
(unless and until a more suitable site is secured and agreed such as Waterloo). 

(b) Reconfiguring the building layout to achieve better amenity for both buildings and 
open spaces on the site. Without greater building separation the landowner's  
scheme may not be able to achieve the desired dwelling yield without 
compromising residential amenity objectives. 

(c) Ensuring that ground floors are elevated to address significant flooding issues on 
the site. Non-residential uses should be located on the ground floors to act as 
buffers in a flood event.      

(d) Ensuring minimal impacts to neighbouring properties by lower building heights in 
the southern portion of the site and increasing them to 9 and 16 storeys in the 
northern portion of the site. 

(e) Providing 4 storey buildings in the southern portion of the site so that different 
housing typologies including terraces and maisonettes (2 storey apartments) can 
be explored at the design stage. 

(f) Ensuring building heights on Elizabeth Street do not impact sunlight to Redfern 
Park and Oval. 

(g) Creating larger setbacks on all street frontages to allow for deep soil planting and 
a greater setback to aid retention of street trees, particularly existing significant 
trees on Walker Street. 

(h) Ensure that the design excellence competition processes for the site could 
include well-articulated urban design requirements within the brief that 
encourages diversity in design. A single competitive design alternatives process 
should be held with 3 competing consortium where each consortium is 
comprised of at least 3 practices, including at least one emerging practice. 

32. The revised scheme allocates 3,500 square metres of land area on the corner of 
Elizabeth Street and Kettle Street for community facilities. It is recommended that 
demolition of the existing PCYC on the site is not to commence until after a new PCYC 
has been built or arrangements have been made for equivalent community facilities 
elsewhere in the locality. This scheme also provides an alternative housing envelopes  
in the event that the community facilities are secured on another agreed site. 

33. The revised scheme will provide for ground floor development fronting Elizabeth Street 
to be a mix of community, communal, commercial and retail uses. 

34. Publicly secured and accessible through-site links are to be provided from Elizabeth 
Street to Walker Street and Kettle Street to Phillip Street. 

53



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 June 2020 
 

 

35. Redevelopment using the revised scheme would facilitate the delivery of new 
residential buildings with building heights ranging from 2-4 storeys on Elizabeth Street, 
4 storeys on Phillip Street, 4-8 storeys on Walker Street and a taller building on the 
corner of Kettle and Walker Streets up to 9 and 16 storeys.  

36. The revised scheme will provide the equivalent amount of GFA and achieve a similar 
number of apartments to the landowner's submitted scheme and as such the 
amendments to LEP would be consistent. 

 

Figure 4: Revised scheme with PCYC (looking north) 

 

Figure 5: Revised scheme if PCYC is secured off-site and replaced with housing (looking north) 

54



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 June 2020 
 

 

 

 

Figure 6: Revised scheme with PCYC facing the park (looking south) 

 

Figure 7: Revised scheme if PCYC is secured off-site and replaced with housing (looking south) 

  

55



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 June 2020 
 

 

Planning proposal - amendments to the Sydney LEP 2012 

37. The planning proposal at Attachment A proposes to amend the Sydney LEP 2012 to 
accommodate the revised scheme (recommended): 

(a) Amend the Land Application Map to include the subject site 

(b) Amend the Land Zoning Map to introduce the R1 General Residential zone 
across the site 

(c) Amend the FSR Map to change the existing floor space ratio of 1.5:1 

(d) Amend the Height of Building Map to increase the maximum building height to 
various heights ranging from RL 50.3 (approx. 4 storeys) to RL 87.5 (approx. 16 
storeys) 

(e) Amend the Land Use and Transport Integration Map to introduce the Category B 
maximum car parking rate 

(f) Amend the Public Transport Accessibility Level Map to introduce Category F 
public transport accessibility 

(g) Amend the Acid Sulfate Soils Map to reflect Class 5 

(h) Introduce new Active Street Frontages Map to apply active street frontage 
controls to the Elizabeth Street boundary of the site 

(i) Amend clause 1.9 Application of SEPPs to ensure State Environmental Planning 
Policy (Affordable Rental Housing) 2009 does not apply to the site, and 

(j) Insert a site-specific local clause for community facilities, affordable housing, 
BASIX, overshadowing. The proposed site-specific provision will facilitate: 

(i) A bonus FSR is available if land for community facilities is provided for in 
the development, or, if arrangements are made by the land owner to 
provide community facilities elsewhere in the locality 

(ii) A bonus FSR is available if the development exceeds BASIX commitments 
for water and energy, and 

(iii) Any development must include at least 10% of total floor area, used for the 
purposes of residential development, being used for the purposes of 
affordable housing. 

(iv) Any development on the site must not overshadow Redfern Park and Oval 
between 9.00-15.00. 

(v) The consent authority must not consent to development of the site unless it 
is satisfied the redevelopment has taken into consideration any guidelines 
adopted by the City of Sydney. 

  

56



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 June 2020 
 

 

Building heights 

38. This planning proposal seeks to introduce the following maximum building heights: 

(a) RL 50.3 (approx. 4 storeys) on the southern section or Elizabeth Street, Phillip 
Street and the southern section of Walker Street 

(b) RL 53.4 (approx. 5 storeys) on the northern section of Elizabeth Street 

(c) RL 65.8 (approx. 9 storeys) on Kettle Street 

(d) RL 87.5 (approx. 16 storeys) on the corner of Kettle Street and Walker Street, 
and 

(e) RL 62.7 (approx. 8 storeys) on Walker Street and in the middle of the site. 

39. The building height along Elizabeth Street creates a consistent building scale to 
Elizabeth Street and avoids overshadowing of Redfern Park and Oval. 

40. The building heights along Walker Street are at a scale that suits the residential street 
and seek to minimise solar and visual impacts on the terraces east of Walker Street. 

41. Four storey buildings with setbacks provide a sensitive interface with the Waterloo 
Conservation Area to the south of the site. 

42. Kettle Street currently provides an important desire line through the Redfern Estate. 
Taller towers on Kettle Street and on the corner of Kettle Street and Walker Street 
reflect the larger apartment buildings adjacent to the site. 

43. The ground level of the buildings on Elizabeth and Kettle Streets will be activated by 
shops, communal and community facilities, open spaces and residential entries. Retail 
uses would create active corners on the site. 

Floor space ratio 

44. This planning proposal seeks an FSR for the site of 1.5:1, to be included on the FSR 
Map in the LEP. Floor space incentives will be available in a site-specific local clause 
based on whether community facilities are provided as part of the development or if 
other arrangements are made. 

45. If land for community facilities is provide in the development, an additional FSR of 
0.75:1 is available for the development. This FSR is contingent on 3,500 square 
metres of contiguous land area being used for community facilities (both indoor and 
outdoor spaces).  

46. If arrangements are agreed and secured elsewhere in the locality, an additional FSR of 
1:1 is available for the development. A slightly higher FSR is applicable for a 
development without community facilities as more residential floor space can be 
achieved. 

47. Regardless of the presence of community facilities, the development can achieve and 
additional FSR of 0.25:1, if the development exceeds BASIX commitments for water 
and energy. 

  

57



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 June 2020 
 

 

48. Future development is also eligible for up to 10% bonus floor space, if a competitive 
design process is undertaken and design excellence is demonstrated. For a 
development including community facilities, the total FSR that can be achieved, 
including design excellence is 2.75:1. For a development with community facilities 
secured and built at an agreed location in the locality, the total FSR that can be 
achieved, including design excellence is 3.025:1 

Housing Diversity and Affordability 

49. This Planning Proposal is supported by a Housing Diversity and Affordability Report. 
The report finds that the population in the area is highly diverse indicating the site 
requires a diversity of housing types to meet a broad range of housing needs, 
including housing suited to families, couple and single person households as well as 
housing suited to older people. 

50. On 6 July 2018, the NSW Government announced the site as the pilot for 
Communities Plus build-to-rent. This means that all of the apartments will be for rent 
not sale. The project provides an opportunity for the private sector or the not-for-profit 
sector to fund, design, develop and manage the buildings as rental under a long-term 
lease. This is consistent with the NSW Government’s Future Directions for Social 
Housing policy. 

51. The NSW Government’s Future Directions policy mandates that large redevelopments 
target a 70:30 ratio of private (including affordable) to social housing to enable more 
integrated communities. The proposed provision of up to 30% social housing on the 
site will provide good housing options for the area and the proposed provision for at 
least 10% of dwellings as affordable housing assists to meet the LGA overall target of 
7.5%. 

52. To ensure that the site meets the Greater Sydney Commission’s affordable housing 

target, this planning proposal includes a site-specific clause in the LEP requiring at 

least 10% of residential GFA to be provided as affordable housing. 

Police Citizens Youth Club (community component) 

53. This Planning Proposal includes a site-specific clause to provide land for the continued 
operation of a community facility on-site. This would allow for the PCYC to maintain its 
long-term presence in the area.  

54. Given the long association of the PCYC with the area, NSW LAHC has committed to 
assisting the PCYC to find alternative accommodation either on-site or in the 
surrounding locality. LAHC is also willing to assist, up to the extent of applicable 
developer contributions on the site, if the City of Sydney recognises an equivalent 
works-in-kind offset. 

55. To provide certainty for the PCYC and ensure the redevelopment of the site minimises 
any impact on the operation of the PCYC, this planning proposal structures incentive 
floor space based on the community floor space being included in the development or 
alternate arrangements made in the surrounding locality.  

56. The draft Design Guide (or DCP) provides development scenarios for a substantial 
community facility as part of and at the same time as the redevelopment of the site, or 
an alternative if a community facility is facilitated as part of another development in the 
locality. 

58



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 June 2020 
 

 

57. The functional brief for the community facility must be agreed by the City in 
consultation with the PCYC. 

        

Figure 8: With community facility at '1A'          Figure 9: Without community facility 

Site-specific Design Guide (or DCP) 

58. A draft Design Guide is at Attachment B to this report and provides further guidance 
for development of the site consistent with the proposed amendments to the LEP. The 
draft Design Guide provisions include: 

(a) Infrastructure and servicing 

(b) Stormwater management 

(c) Street trees 

(d) Active frontages 

(e) Building height 

(f) Street frontage heights and setbacks 

(g) Building design and bulk 

(h) Parking and vehicular access 

59



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 June 2020 
 

 

(i) Public art, and 

(j) Design excellence provisions. 

59. The planning proposal recommends a reference to the Design Guide be included in 
Sydney LEP 2012. The draft Design Guide ensures that relevant development controls 
can be applied to any future development application without the need for a Stage 1 or 
concept DA. If future development application(s) are delegated to the City, it is 
recommended that the Design Guide be converted into a Development Control Plan. 

Key Implications 

Strategic merit 

60. The planning proposal demonstrates strategic merit. It will make a meaningful 
contribution to the supply of social and affordable housing and continue to support a 
diverse community. The site is in an accessible location, and the buildings are of 
appropriate design with good environmental performance. The site-specific merits of 
the proposal are discussed below, followed by consistency with the Eastern City 
District Plan and the City's Sustainable Sydney 2030 strategy. 

Consideration of environmental impacts 

61. The planning proposal is informed by a number of detailed studies prepared on behalf 
of the landowner. The studies are included as appendices to the planning proposal at 
Attachment A and will be publicly exhibited as supporting documentation and updated 
as required to support the revised scheme. The key relevant findings of the studies are 
discussed below. 

Solar access and overshadowing 

62. A key objective of this planning proposal is to not result in any additional 
overshadowing to Redfern Park and Oval. The revised scheme demonstrates that 
development on the site can be designed to achieve this outcome. To ensure that any 
development does not overshadow Redfern Park between 9am and 3pm, this planning 
proposal will include this site in clause 6.19 Overshadowing of certain public places in 
the Sydney LEP 2012. 

63. To the east of the site, on Walker Street, there are 21 attached dwellings and two 
apartment buildings facing the Walker Street. Due to the existing building design, 
currently 5 of the 21 dwellings on Walker Street do not meet the minimum solar 
requirements to their front windows. However, all dwellings receive more than 2 hours 
of solar access to their rear private open space. In most dwellings, the kitchen and 
dining room is located adjacent to the rear private open space. The dwellings have 
excellent amenity to their rear backyards.  

64. The focus of the revised scheme and draft Design Guide is to ensure the rear private 
open space and rear living spaces continue to achieve good solar access throughout 
the year. The draft Design Guide requires that at least 70% of the western face of a 
plane formed on the alignment of the western boundary of Walker Street receives 2 
hours of sunlight on 21 June between 9am and 3pm (Figure 9). 

  

60



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 June 2020 
 

 

65. Properties located to the south of Phillip Street form part of the Waterloo Conservation 
Area. The majority of dwellings on Phillip Street do not meet the minimum solar access 
requirements in the Sydney DCP 2012. As these properties will not change, 
redevelopment of the site should not result in any additional overshadowing to 
properties that do not meet the minimum 2 hours of solar access. The revised scheme 
provides a 4 storey built edge at this interface to minimise overshadowing to properties 
on the southern side of Phillip Street. 

Flooding and Stormwater 

66. A Stormwater Strategy Report confirms the southern portion of the site is affected 
during the 100-year Average Recurrence Interval (ARI), and the entire site is affected 
by the Probable Maximum Flood (PMF). Under existing conditions there is significant 
ponding on Phillip Street, with a depth of 0.9 metres for the 100-year ARI and up to 2.8 
metres for the PMF. 

67. The stormwater assessment confirms that redevelopment of the site must be designed 
to meet the following flood planning levels: 

(a) Flood Planning Level (FPL) will be 100-year ARI flood level + 0.5 m freeboard for 
entrances to habitable areas (FPL equates to RL 32.7 metres on the site) 

(b) 100-year ARI flood level to above ground carparks 

(c) Where the depth of flow is less than 0.25 metres, the FPL may be reduced to 
twice the flow depth, or at least 0.3 metres, above the 100-year ARI flood level, 
and 

(d) FPL will be PMF for below ground garages and carparks. 

68. The draft Design Guide seeks to minimise the negative streetscape and access 
impacts of the high FPL. Figure 10 shows commercial uses at ground floor facing 
Elizabeth Street with flood resistant construction for part below the FPL (shown with a 
blue outline) 

 

Figure 10: East-west section 

69. To offset potential flooding impacts, mitigation measures will be required. This may 
include a combination of on-site detention, compensatory floodplain storage and 
conveyance works that minimise or counteract the impact of obstructions placed within 
the existing flow paths across the site. 

61



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 June 2020 
 

 

70. The stormwater assessment identifies the need for drainage improvements along 
Elizabeth Street, Kettle Street and Walker Street to compensate for the loss of the 
overland flow paths across the site. Street frontage setbacks will be required. A 
detailed flood assessment will be required as part of subsequent development 
applications for the site.   

Trees, landscape and deep soil 

71. An Arboricultural Impact Assessment report assesses the potential impacts of the 
development footprint on the tree protection zones of trees in the study area. 

72. Of a total 67 trees on the site and within the adjacent streets, 11 trees were identified 
as high retention value. Most of the high retention trees are street trees, identified as 
having high retention value due to their landscape quality. These trees are located on 
Walker Street and would be impacted as a result of basement access to the site. 

73. To mitigate any potential loss of trees, the planning proposal provides for a minimum 
15% tree canopy cover on the site. This improves on that required by the Apartment 
Design Guide (ADG) and will ensure any loss of trees is adequately offset and will 
improve landscape values and biodiversity outcomes with more appropriate tree 
plantings. 

74. One threatened flora species Syzygium paniculatum (Magenta Lilly Pilly), listed as 
endangered under the BC Act and vulnerable under the EPBC Act is located on the 
southern boundary of the site, beside the footpath. The revised scheme will not require 
removal of this tree.  

75. The draft Design Guide advises that landscape areas must be provided in accordance 
with Figure 11, including landscaped private open space and landscaped communal 
open space. 

76. The draft Design Guide advises that a minimum of 1650 square metres of deep soil in 
spaces predominantly located in the areas shown green on Figure 12. 

62



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 June 2020 
 

 

             

Figure 11: Landscape Area (shown green)   Figure 12: Deep soil (shown green) 

 

View analysis 

77. The proposed development would not be visible from the northern entry to Redfern 
Park, but would become visible towards the Oval. From Redfern Park, proposed 
buildings on Elizabeth Street are absorbed by the existing vegetation, with minimal 
visual impacts. 

78. From Redfern Oval the proposed buildings on Elizabeth Street and tower on Walker 
Street would be visible. Although the buildings would be visible, the impact is 
considered low as the views are consistent with the existing views to Waterloo Estate 
buildings from Redfern Oval. 

79. From the Waterloo Conservation Area, the visual impact of the development is 
minimal. The proposed 4 storey-built edge, building setbacks, tree planting and good 
quality design on the corner building in particular, will minimise visual impacts. 

80. From Walker and Kettle Streets the development is visible but is appropriate in its 

context. The established built form in the surrounding area is a mix of medium and 

high-density housing. 

  

63



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 June 2020 
 

 

Wind assessment 

81. An analysis of the Wind Assessment prepared to support the reference scheme and 
the revised preferred scheme demonstrates that all ground level areas can satisfy the 
appropriate wind comfort and safety criteria as outlined in the Sydney DCP 2012 if the 
recommended mitigation measures are incorporated within the detailed design phase. 
Wind mitigation measures will be provided as part of subsequent development 
applications for the site. 

Traffic and transport assessment 

82. A Traffic Impact Assessment has been prepared to support the planning proposal. 
Traffic modelled indicates that all intersections immediately adjacent to the site are 
operating at good to satisfactory operation levels and no intersections have capacity 
constraints. The road network has capacity to accommodate future demand generated 
by the development. 

83. The site is within walking distance Redfern train station (850m) and the future 
Waterloo Metro (900m). The walking connection to Redfern station is along well-
defined pedestrian paths through Redfern Park and along Redfern Street. 

84. The site has excellent access to bus services with bus stops located on Elizabeth 
Street and Phillip Street, adjacent to the site. There is a midblock pedestrian crossing 
linking the site to city bound buses operating on Elizabeth Street. Bus services provide 
access to the City, Redfern, Marrickville, Mascot, Eastgardens, and Bondi Junction. 
These buses operate at relatively high frequencies during peak periods. 

85. The pedestrian network surrounding the site is generally well-developed with footpaths 
along the majority of roads and controlled pedestrian crossings at most signalised 
intersections. Kettle Street and Walker Street have both been closed reducing the 
volume of traffic and making them suitable for cycling and walking and potentially 
limited service access. 

86. The site is well serviced by existing and planned regional cycle routes on Redfern 
Street and Young Street. A number of planned local cycle routes on Walker Street and 
Young Street will improve the cycling network immediately surrounding the site. 

Car Parking 

87. The future redevelopment of the site could result in a maximum of 215 car parking 
spaces on the site. This planning proposal seeks to apply the Category B car parking 
rate in the LEP to the site to determining the maximum number of car spaces. 
However, a broader review of LEP parking rates is currently underway which will take 
into account the increased accessibility of the site with Waterloo Metro station in place. 
This may result in a lower car parking rate being applied in a future LEP amendment. 

88. Notwithstanding, the supporting traffic analysis suggests the number of parking spaces 
is not anticipated to degrade the performance of the road network to an unacceptable 
level. The exact amount of car parking to be provided on the site will be determined as 
part of the detailed design phase. 

  

64



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 June 2020 
 

 

Vehicular Access and Circulation 

89. Vehicular access and circulation is to be in accordance with the draft Design Guide (or 
DCP). Key vehicle access and circulation is shown in Figure 13 and seeks the 
following as referenced in Figure 14: 

'A' No vehicular access to on-site parking below the FPL 

'B' Preferred frontage for vehicular access to on-site parking with a floor level below 
the FPL  

'C' Required service and loading vehicle left in only entry to the above ground 
Access Connections 

'D' No vehicular access to or from Elizabeth Street 

'E' Required service and loading vehicle left out only exit only from the above 
ground Access Connections 

'F' Required service and loading vehicle left in only entry to the above ground 
Access Connections, to be provided if the community facility is not on site 

'G' Shared pedestrian and service and loading vehicles in the Access Connections 

90. Loading and waste servicing is to be in accordance with the draft Design Guide and is 
shown in Figure 12. Areas in pale orange are shared pedestrian, loading and service 
vehicle circulation and parking. Purple lines are potential waste storage locations and 
loading docks. 

          

Figure 13: Access and Circulation        Figure 14: Gradients, Service Access 

65



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 June 2020 
 

 

Heritage 

91. The site is not identified as a heritage item but is located adjacent to a State Heritage 
item and a heritage conservation area. The reference scheme has been designed in 
response to this heritage context, including appropriate interfaces to adjoining heritage 
items and conservation areas. A preliminary heritage assessment finds that the 
proposed development does not generate any unacceptable impacts to surrounding 
heritage items and will not result in visual dominance over, or detract from, the context 
or setting of these items. 

Aboriginal Cultural Heritage and Archaeology 

92. This planning proposal is supported by a preliminary Aboriginal Cultural Heritage 
Assessment. The assessment includes extensive desktop assessment and the 
initiation of Aboriginal consultation in accordance with Department of Planning, 
Industry and Environment guidelines. The results and recommendations in the report 
are preliminary and will be updated as the planning process progresses. 

93. The preliminary assessment concludes that rezoning the site would not result in 
impacts to any known or potential Aboriginal archaeological sites or deposits, or 
Aboriginal cultural values areas. 

94. Although the assessment did not identify any Aboriginal sites, objects, sandstone rock 
outcrops or culturally modified trees during this assessment, the site is considered to 
contain moderate archaeological potential and potential for contemporary and 
historical Aboriginal cultural value.  

95. The assessment recommended further archaeological investigation in accordance with 
Office of Environment and Heritage policies and guidelines. This assessment 
concluded that it is unlikely there would be a requirement for any significant changes to 
the proposal based on the outcomes of the assessment. There may be a need for 
minor re-design and/or mitigation measures (e.g. salvage excavation, surface 
collection, interpretation, etc.) in any areas where significant cultural material is 
identified. 

96. Heritage consultants are currently progressing with further investigation and formal 
Aboriginal community consultation. The final assessment will be provided as 
supporting documentation to any future development applications for the site. 

Design Excellence 

97. Future development on the site should be subject to an architectural design 
competition consistent with the requirements of clause 6.21 of the LEP. The 
accompanying draft Design Guide includes design excellence provisions for an 
architectural design competition. 

Strategic Alignment - Greater Sydney Region Plan 

98. A Metropolis of Three Cities - The Greater Sydney Region Plan is the NSW 
Government's overarching strategic plan for growth and change in Sydney. The 20 
year plan provides a 40 year vision that seeks to transform Greater Sydney into a 
metropolis of three cities. It outlines how Greater Sydney will manage growth and 
change and will guide infrastructure delivery. 

  

66



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 June 2020 
 

 

99. The Greater Sydney Region Plan is to be implemented at a local level by District 
Plans. This planning proposal is consistent with the following relevant directions and 
objectives of the Plan: 

(a) Infrastructure - redevelopment of the site will benefit from additional transport 
infrastructure capacity and will contribute towards the delivery of new community 
infrastructure. 

(b) Liveability - the proposal responds to the increasing demand for social and 
affordable housing options in the inner city. 

(c) Productivity - the sites proximity to a range of public transport infrastructure, jobs 
and services is consistent with the 30-minute city concept. 

(d) Sustainability - the proposal will facilitate the redevelopment of the site with new 
buildings featuring improved sustainability outcomes. 

Strategic Alignment - Eastern City District Plan 

100. The Eastern City District Plan sets the local planning context for the City of Sydney 
local government area and provides a 20 year plan to manage growth. This planning 
proposal gives effect to relevant planning priorities from the Plan: 

(a) Planning Priority E1 – Planning for a city supported by infrastructure 

(b) Planning Priority E3 – Providing services and social infrastructure to meet 
people’s changing needs 

(c) Planning Priority E4 – Fostering healthy, creative, culturally rich and socially 
connected communities 

(d) Planning Priority E5 – Providing housing supply, choice and affordability, with 
access to jobs, services and public transport 

(e) Planning Priority E6 – Creating and renewing great places and local centres, and 
respecting the District’s heritage 

(f) Planning Priority E10 – Delivering integrated land use and transport planning and 
a 30-minute city 

(g) Sustainability Priority E19 – Reducing carbon emissions and managing energy, 
water and waste efficiently 

101. This planning proposal supports the above key directions in that it will provide 
increased residential capacity of a site near to jobs, services and amenities; provide 
new social and affordable housing in an area of increasing demand; renew a 
predominately vacant Government owned site and exceed sustainability targets. 

  

67



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 June 2020 
 

 

Strategic Alignment - Sustainable Sydney 2030 

102. Sustainable Sydney 2030 is a vision for the sustainable development of the City to 
2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of the City, as 
well as 10 targets against which to measure progress. This report is aligned with the 
following strategic directions and objectives: 

(a) Direction 1 - A Globally Competitive and Innovative City - The planning proposal 
will support Sydney’s role as an important centre of business and investment by 
providing additional housing options for workers in a high amenity area located 
within 30 minutes of the city. 

(b) Direction 2 provides a road map for the City to become A Leading Environmental 
Performer - Redevelopment of the site, facilitated by this Planning Proposal and 
through the design excellence process, will deliver new building stock with 
significantly better environmental performance through incentives for higher 
BASIX performance. 

(c) Direction 3 - Integrated Transport for a Connected City - The site is close to bus 
services providing connections to Central Sydney and other areas in the Sydney 
metropolitan area. It is also close to the future Waterloo Metro station. 

(d) Direction 4 - A City for Walking and Cycling - The proposal will support active 
transport use in accordance with this Direction, with public domain improvements 
and new through site connections. 

(e) Direction 5 - A Lively and Engaging City Centre - Retail spaces for local services 
will be provided in key locations to service future and existing residences and 
facilitate activation during the day and night. 

(f) Direction 6 - Vibrant Local Communities and Economies - The proposal will 
provide for safe and attractive open spaces, and improved public domain, along 
with shared communal spaces to encourage community interaction. 

(g) Direction 7 - A Cultural and Creative City - Further opportunities for cultural and 
collaborative expression will be enabled within public and communal spaces. 

(h) Direction 8 - Housing for a Diverse Population - The Planning Proposal promotes 
a diverse supply of housing that supports social and economic diversity. The 
proposal will provide for people of all income levels, household types, ages and 
abilities in housing that they can live in through all stages of their lives. The 
Planning Proposal will encourage a thriving, diverse and a liveable community in 
the Redfern area. 

(i) Direction 9 - Sustainable Development, Renewal and Design - The development 
will provide a sustainable approach to urban density, through providing a range 
of housing types within a dense inner-city suburb. The site is easily accessible 
via transport, walking and cycling. 

Strategic Alignment - Local Strategic Planning Statement 

103. The City of Sydney’s Local Strategic Planning Statement sets out the land use 
planning context, 20 year vision and planning priorities to positively guide change 
towards the City’s vision for a green, global and connected city. 

  

68



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 June 2020 
 

 

104. This planning proposal gives effect to the following planning priorities of the Statement: 

Infrastructure 

I1 – Movement for walkable neighbourhoods and a connected city 

I3 – Supporting community wellbeing with social infrastructure 

Liveability 

L1 – A creative and socially connected city 

L2 – Creating great places 

L3 – New homes for a diverse community 

Sustainability 

S2 – Creating better buildings and places to reduce emissions and waste and use 
water efficiently 

S3 – Increasing resilience of people and infrastructure against natural and urban 
hazards 

Governance 

G1 – Open, Accountable and collaborative planning 

Relevant Legislation 

105. Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

106. Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000. 

Critical Dates / Time Frames 

107. Should Council and the Central Sydney Planning Committee endorse the attached 
planning proposal for public exhibition, it will be forwarded to the Department of 
Planning, Industry and Environment in accordance with section 3.34 of the Act for 
Gateway determination to proceed with consultation or resubmit the planning proposal. 

108. Following the Gateway determination, the typical timeframe is 21 days for public 
authority consultation and 28 days for public exhibition. The Gateway determination 
will also determine the general date for the completion for the amendment to the LEP. 
The terms of the Gateway determination will hopefully determine whether the City 
proceeds with the Design Guide approach or a draft DCP prior to the public exhibition 
process. 

109. Following public authority consultation and public exhibition, the outcomes will be 
reported back to Council and the Central Sydney Planning Committee. 

69



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 June 2020 
 

 

Delegation of Ministers Plan Making Functions 

110. In October 2012, the Minister for Planning delegated plan-making functions to councils 
to improve the local plan-making process. In December 2012, Council resolved to 
accept the delegation. 

111. Council is to receive case-by-case authorisation to exercise this delegation, which is 
granted through the gateway determination process for spot rezonings that are 
consistent with surrounding zones and matters of local significance. Exercising the 
delegation means a faster plan-making process with less involvement of the 
Department of Planning, Industry and Environment. 

112. This report recommends Council seek authority to exercise the delegation of the 
Minister for Planning of the functions under section 3.36 of the Act to make the local 
environmental plan. 

Public Consultation 

113. The public exhibition process for this planning proposal will be determined by the 
Department of Planning, Industry and Environment. It is proposed that the public 
exhibition of the planning proposal and draft Design Guide or draft DCP will run 
concurrently. The consultation will be in accordance with the requirements of: 

(a) the gateway determination issued by the Department of Planning, Industry and 
Environment under section 3.34 of the Act; 

(b) the Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000; and 

(c) the City of Sydney Community Participation Plan 2019. 

114. This would most likely mean the public exhibition would be a minimum of 28 days, with 
notification: 

(a) on the City of Sydney website; and 

(b) in newspapers that circulate widely in the City of Sydney local government area. 

115. The planning proposal and draft Design Guide or draft DCP will be publicly exhibited 
online on the City of Sydney website in accordance the Planning and Assessment for 
Councils during Covid-19 guidelines issued by the Department of Planning, Industry 
and Environment in April 2020 and in accordance with the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Regulation 2000. 

GRAHAM JAHN, AM 

Director City Planning, Development and Transport 

Wayne Williamson, Senior Planner 

70



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Fire Safety Reports 

File No: S105001.002 

Summary 

The City of Sydney regularly receives building reports from Fire and Rescue NSW in relation 
to inspections carried out by Fire and Rescue NSW Authorised Officers. These inspection 
reports are to be reported to Council and Council is required to determine whether to 
exercise its power to issue fire safety orders under Division 9.3 and Schedule 5 of the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 (the Act).  

In response to Fire and Rescue NSW reports, City staff undertake inspections to ensure fire 
safety measures are in full operation and building exits are clear and unimpeded. Fire and 
Rescue NSW inspections revealed fire safety concerns that require Council as the 
appropriate regulatory authority to use its discretion and address the concerns observed at 
the time of the inspection. 

Fire and Rescue NSW has powers under the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 
1979 (the Act) to carry out inspections of buildings and it is required to forward its findings to 
the Councils. 

Attached are details of the reports received by the City from Fire and Rescue NSW. The 
attachments deal with three properties and includes the Fire and Rescue NSW reports and 
the findings (preliminary or final) by the City’s Officer, along with other relevant 
documentation. 

Recommendations are made in the attachments setting out the most appropriate action in 
the circumstances. 

  

1

Item 8.



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that Council: 

(A) note the contents of the Fire Safety Report Summary Sheet, as shown at Attachment 
A to the subject report; 

(B) note the inspection reports by Fire and Rescue NSW, as shown at Attachments B, C 
and D of the subject report; 

(C) not exercise its power to issue a Fire Safety Order under the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979 at this time but note the compliance action as 
recommended by the City's Investigation Officer at 10A-16 Martin Place, Sydney as 
detailed in Attachment B to the subject report; 

(D) not exercise its power to issue a Fire Safety Order under the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979 at this time but note the compliance action as 
recommended by the City's Investigation Officer at 394-404 Victoria Street, 
Darlinghurst as detailed in Attachment C to the subject report; and 

(E) not exercise its power to issue a Fire Safety Order under the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979 at this time but note the compliance action as 
recommended by the City's Investigation Officer at 118A Darlinghurst Road, 
Darlinghurst as detailed in Attachment D to the subject report. 

Attachments 

Attachment A. Fire Safety Reports Summary Sheet 

Attachment B. Inspection Report - 10A-16 Martin Place, Sydney 

Attachment C. Inspection Report - 394-404 Victoria Street, Darlinghurst 

Attachment D. Inspection Report - 118A Darlinghurst Road, Darlinghurst 

  

2



Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Background 

1. The City receives inspection reports and recommendations from Fire and Rescue 
NSW in relation to inspections carried out on buildings located within the City's local 
government area. 

2. Under the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979, (the Act), Fire and 
Rescue NSW has the power to carry out inspections of buildings to determine if the 
building has adequate provision for fire safety and/or is compliant with legislation. 

3. On average, the City receives approximately 50 such reports each year. They can be 
prompted by reports from the Police or others who have a concern relating to fire 
safety in a building.  

4. The inspections are undertaken to ensure fire safety measures are in full operation 
and building exits are clear and unimpeded. 

5. When Fire and Rescue NSW carries out such an inspection, a report and any 
recommendations must be provided to the City. 

6. Under the Act, Council is then required to table the report and make a determination 
as to whether it will exercise its power to issue a Fire Safety Order 1 or 2 in Schedule 
5, Part 2 of the Act. Fire Safety Order 1 requires a person to do or stop doing certain 
specified things to improve fire safety; Fire Safety Order 2 requires a person to cease 
conducting an activity on premises where that activity constitutes, or is likely to 
constitute, a life-threatening hazard or a threat to public health or public safety. 

7. Attached are the details of the reports received from Fire and Rescue NSW, including 
a recommendation for further action. The properties have also been reviewed by City 
Officers. 

8. Personal information has been redacted from the reports in accordance with the 
Privacy and Personal Information Protection Act 1998. 

Relevant Legislation 

9. Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

GRAHAM JAHN, AM 

Director City Planning, Development and Transport 

Andrew Thomas, Executive Manager Planning and Development 

3



Attachment A 

Fire Safety Report Summary Sheet 

4



 

Fire Safety Report Summary Sheet 
Cl.17, Schedule 5 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979, reports to Council, S105001.002  

 

Total number of properties tabled: 3 
 

 
Report – March 2021    

Summary table 
 

Att.  
(A-D) 

Premises Specifics (predominate 
building use) 

Actions/ Recommendation 

A Not applicable – Summary Sheet Summary of clause 17, Schedule 5 matters tabled at Council meeting. 

B  10A-16 Martin Place, Sydney 'Colonial 
Mutual' 

Premises inspected, no significant fire safety issues identified; fire safety certification current and compliant. 
Report to be noted. No further action required. 

C 394-404 Victoria Street, Darlinghurst 'St 
Vincents Hospital' 

Premises inspected, no significant fire safety issues identified; fire safety certification current and compliant. 
Report to be noted. No further action required. 

D 118A Darlinghurst Rd, Darlinghurst 
'Hammond Aged Care' 

Premises inspected, no significant fire safety issues identified; fire safety certification current and compliant. 
Report to be noted. No further action required. 

 

5



Attachment B 

Inspection Report 

10A-16 Martin Place, Sydney 

6



 

 
 

7



 

Council investigation officer Inspection and Recommendation Report 
Clause 17(2) of Schedule 5, of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 

1979 (the Act) 
 

File:     CSM2415132                  Officer: Hieu Van Luu       Date: 4 January 2021 
 
Premises: 10A-16 Martin Place, SYDNEY NSW  2000 

 

Executive Summary: 
 

Council received correspondence dated 4 November 2020 from the Commissioner of Fire and 
Rescue NSW (FRNSW) about 10A-16 Martin Place, Sydney with respect to matters of fire safety. 

The building is located at the north-eastern end of Martin Place in the Sydney Central Business 
District. The subject premises comprises a seven-storey office building with commercial 
occupancies at ground level.  
 

Joint site inspections were undertaken by a Council Officer in the presence of the building manager 
which have resolved the fire safety issue reported by FRNSW  
 
The premises are equipped with numerous fire safety systems (both active and passive) that would 
provide adequate provision for fire safety for occupants in the event of a fire. The annual fire safety 
certification is current and compliant and on display within the building in accordance with the 
requirements of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000. 
 
Observation of the external features of the building did not identify the existence of metal 
composite cladding. 
 
It is recommended that Council not exercise its powers to give a fire safety order at this time. 

Chronology:  
 

Date Event 

05/11/2020 FRNSW correspondence dated 4 November 2020 received regarding Colonial Mutual, at 
14 Martin Place Sydney. Council records have the address of the property as 10A-16 
Martin Place Sydney 
 

06/11/2020 An inspection of the subject premises was undertaken by a Council officer in the 
presence of the Building Manager. 
 
The inspection revealed that no external wall mounted visual alarm device was provided 
on the outside of the building (as is required by the relevant design and performance 
standard).The Building Manager agreed to install the required device. 
 

02/12/2020 The premises was reinspected. The external wall mounted visual alarm device had been 
installed. 

 
  

8



 

FIRE AND RESCUE NSW REPORT: 
 
References: [BFS19/3801 (9589), D20/88107; Trim Ref. 2020/501058]  
 
Fire and Rescue NSW conducted an inspection of the subject premises after receiving 
correspondence on 17 November 2019 in relation to the adequacy of the provision for fire safety in 
connection with the premises. 
 
Issues  
 
The report from FRNSW detailed that the external wall mounted visual alarm (fire) device (strobe 
light) was not on the outside of the building at the designated building entry point, so as to indicate 
the location of the of the fire detection and control indicating equipment. 
 
FRNSW Recommendations  
 
FRNSW have made recommendations within their report. In general, FRNSW have requested that 
Council: - 
 

1. Inspect the subject premises and take action to have the identified fire safety issue 
appropriately addressed; 

 
2. Advise them in writing of its determination in relation to this matter in accordance with the 

provisions of clause 17(4) of Schedule 5 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Act 1979; 

 
 

 

COUNCIL INVESTIGATION OFFICER RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

Issue 
Order 
(NOI) 

Issue 
emergency 
Order 

Issue a 
compliance letter 
of instruction 

Cited 
Matters 
rectified 

Continue to undertake 
compliance action in 
response to issued 
Council correspondence 

Continue with 

compliance actions 

under the current 

Council Order 

 

Other (to 
specify) 

 
As a result of site inspection undertaken by a Council investigation officer provisions for fire safety 
for the subject premises are considered adequate and that the recommendations of FRNSW have 
been complied with.  
 
It is recommended that Council not exercise its powers to give a fire safety order at this time. 

It is recommended that the Commissioner of FRNSW be advised of Council’s actions and 

determination. 

Attachment cover sheet 

Locality Plan 

Fire and Rescue NSW report 

 
Trim Reference: 2020/501058   CSM reference No#:2415132   

9



 

 

10



 

 

11



 

 

 

12



Attachment C 

Inspection Report 

394-404 Victoria Street, Darlinghurst 

13



 

 

14



 

Council investigation officer Inspection and Recommendation Report 
Clause 17(2), Part 8 of Schedule 5, of the Environmental Planning and Assessment 

Act 1979 (the Act) 
 

File: CSM 2447052                              Officer: Craig Hann      Date: 5 February 2021 
 
Premises: 394 – 404 Victoria Street Darlinghurst – Xavier and Aikenhead Building at St 
Vincent’s Hospital 

 

Executive Summary 
 
Council received correspondence dated 21 December 2020 from the Commissioner of Fire and 
Rescue NSW (FRNSW) in relation to the subject premises with respect to matters of fire safety. 

The Xavier and Aikenhead Building is one of the buildings in the St Vincent’s Hospital complex. 
The building contains the main hospital entry foyer fronting Victoria Street and it extends through to 
adjoin Barcom Avenue at the rear. The premises consists of 6 levels facing Victoria Street and 11 
levels adjoining Barcom Avenue.  

An inspection of the premises was undertaken by a Council investigation officer in the presence of 
the hospital’s fire safety manager. It revealed that the fire alarm and alarm signalling equipment 
isolation matters reported by FRNSW have been rectified and there were no significant fire safety 
issues occurring within the building. 
 
The premises are equipped with numerous fire safety systems (both active and passive) that would 
provide adequate provision for fire safety for occupants in the event of a fire. The annual fire safety 
certification is current and compliant in accordance with the requirements of the Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000. 
 
Observation of the external features of the building did not identify the existence of any potential 
combustible composite cladding on the façade of the building. 
 
It is recommended that Council not exercise its powers to give a fire safety order at this time. 

15



 

Chronology: 
 

Date Event 

21/12/2020 FRNSW correspondence dated 21 December 2020 received regarding premises St 
Vincent’s Hospital Xavier & Aikenhead Building, 390 Victoria Street Darlinghurst. Council 
records the hospital address as 394 – 404 Victoria Street Darlinghurst. 
 

29/1/2021 and 
1/2/2021 

Council officer contacted the hospital’s fire safety manager to advise of the issue reported 
by FRNSW, have a preliminary discussion and arrange an inspection. 
 

4/2/2021 An inspection of the subject premises was undertaken by a Council officer in the presence 
of the hospital’s fire safety manager. 
 
The inspection revealed: 

1. The alarm signalling equipment was active and not isolated. 
 

2. The fire indicator panel displayed no faults or isolations requiring maintenance work. 
 

3. The repair works to the damaged fire indicator panel have been completed. The 
panel is operational and compliant.    
 
During the period that the fire indicator panel was damaged and undergoing repair, a 
temporary fire safety plan was implemented involving the engagement of fire 
wardens to patrol the effected part of the building.     
 

4. Maintenance repairs have been completed to the damaged fire indicator panel to 
ensure ongoing performance of the fire alarm and alarm signalling systems to the 
required standard.  

 
The building’s fire alarm and alarm signalling equipment is compliant. 
 

 
 

FIRE AND RESCUE NSW REPORT: 
 
References: [BFS20/3269, D20/101028; 2020/580527] 
 
Fire and Rescue NSW conducted an inspection of the subject premises after reviewing their 
records concerning alarm signalling equipment. 
 
Issues The report from FRNSW detailed a number of issues, in particular noting:  
 
1. whether essential fire safety measures are being maintained to the required standard of 
performance. 
 
FRNSW Recommendations 
 
FRNSW have made a recommendation within their report. In general, FRNSW have requested that 
Council; 
 

1. Inspect the subject premises and take action to have the identified fire safety issues 
appropriately addressed; 

 
FRNSW have referred the matter to council as the appropriate regulatory authority. They await 
notice of any determination in respect of the recommendations in accordance with clause 17(4) of 
Schedule 5 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 
 

16



 

COUNCIL INVESTIGATION OFFICER RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 

Issue 
Order(NOI) 

Issue 
emergency 
Order 

Issue a 
compliance letter 
of instruction 

Cited 
Matters 
rectified 

Continue to undertake 
compliance action in 
response to issued 
Council correspondence 

Continue with 

compliance actions 

under the current 

Council Order 

 

Other  (to 
specify) 

 

 
Inspections undertaken by a Council investigation officer in company with the hospital’s fire safety 
manager revealed that the issues reported by FRNSW have been rectified and complied with.  
 
It is recommended that Council not exercise its powers to give a fire safety order at this time. 

It is recommended that the Commissioner of FRNSW be advised of Council’s actions and 

determination. 

Referenced/Attached Documents: 

Attachment cover sheet 

Locality Plan 

Fire and Rescue NSW report 

 
Trim Reference: 2020/585787   CSM reference No#: 2447052 
 

17



 

 

18



 

19



 

 

20



Attachment D 

Inspection Report 

118A Darlinghurst Road, Darlinghurst 

21



 

 

22



 

Council investigation officer Inspection and Recommendation Report 
Clause 17(2), Part 8 of Schedule 5, of the Environmental Planning and Assessment 

Act 1979 (the Act) 
 

File: CSM 2460675                        Officer: Craig Hann       Date: 2 February 2021 
 
Premises: 118A Darlinghurst Road, Darlinghurst – HammondCare Darlinghurst 

 

Executive Summary 
 
Council received correspondence dated 13 January 2021 from the Commissioner of Fire and 
Rescue NSW (FRNSW) in relation to the subject premises with respect to matters of fire safety. 

The premises consist of a 5-level building with 2 additional basement carparking levels with the 
approved use being for a 42-bed aged care accommodation building.  

An inspection of the premises undertaken by a Council investigation officer in the presence of the 
building’s fire safety manager and maintenance manager revealed that there were no significant 
fire safety issues occurring within the building. 
 
The premises are equipped with numerous fire safety systems (both active and passive) that would 
provide adequate provision for fire safety for occupants in the event of a fire. The annual fire safety 
certification is current and is on display within the building in accordance with the requirements of 
the Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000. 
 
Council investigations have revealed that the identified fire safety maintenance and management 
works have been rectified. The overall fire safety systems provided within the subject premises are 
considered adequate in the circumstances.  
 
Observation of the external features of the building did not identify the existence of any potential 
combustible composite cladding on the façade of the building. 
 
It is recommended that Council not exercise its powers to give a fire safety order at this time. 

23



 

Chronology:  
 

Date Event 

14/1/2021 FRNSW correspondence dated 13 January 2021 received regarding premises Hammond 
Care Darlinghurst at 118 Darlinghurst Road Darlinghurst. Council records the address of the 
property as 118A Darlinghurst Road Darlinghurst. 
 

29/1/2021 Council contacted the building’s fire safety manager to advise of the issues raised by 
FRNSW, have a preliminary discussion concerning them and plan a meeting / inspection. 
   

2/2/2021 An inspection of the subject premises was undertaken by a Council officer in the presence 
of the building’s fire safety manager and maintenance manager. 
 
The building is a recently constructed building, being completed approximately 6 months 
prior to the period of alarm signalling equipment isolation that FRNSW reports on. 
 
The building was undergoing a period of rectification works to correct construction defects 
(whilst the building was occupied). These rectification works required the fire alarm system 
to be isolated so as not to activate unnecessary alarms.  
 
FRNSW has made suggestions to the building managers for improvements to maintenance 
procedures so as to minimise fire alarm isolations in future and to limit risk.   
 
The inspection of the FRNSW issues revealed: 
 
1. Essential Fire Safety Measures – the fire indicator panel was showing the alarm 

signalling equipment and sprinkler system were not isolated or in fault.  The systems 
were operational and compliant; 
 

2. Generally – the fire safety manager advised that new staff training, and maintenance 
management procedures have been implemented since FRNSW’s inspection so as to 
address the issues raised; 

 
3. The building’s annual fire safety certification has been updated since FRNSW’s 

inspection to certify the operation and performance of the installed fire safety measures. 
The building’s annual fire safety certification is accurate and current. 

 
In these circumstances it is considered appropriate to issue written instructions (advisory 
correspondence) to bring attention to the legal responsibilities required to ensure that proper 
fire safety maintenance and management practices are in place at all times. 
 

 

FIRE AND RESCUE NSW REPORT: 
 
References: [BFS20/3273, D21/959; 2021/014029] 
 
Fire and Rescue NSW conducted an inspection of the subject premises after reviewing their 
records of alarm signalling equipment. 
 
Issues The report from FRNSW detailed a number of issues, in particular noting;  
 
1. whether essential fire safety measures are being adequately maintained to perform to the 
required standard. 
 

24



 

FRNSW Recommendations  
 
FRNSW have made 1 recommendation within their report. In general, FRNSW have requested that 
Council; 
 

1. Inspect the subject premises and take action to have the identified fire safety issues 
appropriately addressed. 

 
FRNSW have referred the matter to council as the appropriate regulatory authority. They await 
council’s advice of the determination in respect of the matter in accordance with clause 17(4) of 
Schedule 5 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 
 

 

 
COUNCIL INVESTIGATION OFFICER RECOMMENDATIONS:  

 
Issue 
Order 
(NOI) 

Issue 
emergency 
Order 

Issue a 
compliance letter 
of instruction 

Cited 
Matters 
rectified 
and 
Issue 
letter 

Continue to undertake 
compliance action in 
response to issued 
Council correspondence 

Continue with 

compliance actions 

under the current 

Council Order 

 

Other  (to 
specify) 

 
Inspections undertaken by a Council investigation officer in company with the managers of the 
premises revealed that the above recommendations of FRNSW have been complied with.  
 
However, in these circumstances it is also recommended that the owners of the building be issued 
with written instructions to bring attention to the legal responsibilities required to ensure that proper 
fire safety maintenance and management practices are in place at all times. 
 
It is recommended that Council not exercise its powers to give a fire safety order at this time. 

It is recommended that the Commissioner of FRNSW be advised of Council’s actions and 

determination. 

 

 
Trim Reference: 2021/023168   CSM reference No#: 2460675 

25



 

 

26



 

27



 

 

28


	Agenda
	1 Disclosures of Interest
	2 The Crescent Synthetic Sports Field Update and Proposed Permanent Road Closure - Chapman Road, Annandale
	Attachment A - The Crescent Synthetic Sports Field Concept Design
	Attachment B - Identification Plan - Chapman Road, Annandale
	Attachment C - Community Engagement Report - Chapman Road Closure

	3 Post Exhibition - Planning Proposal - Open and Creative Planning Reforms and Draft Sydney Development Control Plan - Open and Creative Planning Reforms
	Attachment A - Amended Planning Proposal Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012: Open and Creative Planning Reforms
	Attachment B - Draft Sydney Development Control Plan: Open and Creative Planning Reforms (Excluding Entertainment Sound)
	Attachment C - Draft Technical Guidelines - Small Scale Cultural Activities in Spaces less than 500 square metres
	Attachment D - Council and Central Sydney Planning Committee Resolutions
	Cover sheet Attachment D
	Attachment D Resolution of Council 29.06.20 - Open and Creative Planning Reforms
	Attachment D CSPC Resolution 25.06.2020 - Open and Creative Planning Reforms

	Attachment E - Gateway Determination
	Cover sheet Attachment E
	Attachment E Gateway Letter from DoPIE to CoS (002)
	Attachment E Gateway determination (002)

	Attachment F - Summary of and Responses to Matters Raised in Submissions

	4 Post Exhibition - Planning Proposal - 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe - Sydney Local Environmental Plan Amendment and Draft Sydney Development Control Plan
	Attachment A - Summary of and Responses to Matters Raised in Submissions
	Attachment B – Planning Proposal – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe
	Attachment C – Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road, Glebe
	Attachment D – Resolution of Council and Central Sydney Planning Committee
	CM2020 000200  ROC 8.5 - 27.07.20 - Public Exhibition - Planning Proposal - 17-31 Cowper Street and 2A-2D Wentworth Park Road Glebe
	2020 330790  CSPC Resolution - 23.07.20 - Item 9 - Public Exhibition - Planning Proposal - 17-31 Cowper Street and ~ SLEP Amendment and Draft Syd DCP

	Attachment E – Gateway Determination
	Attachment B - Gateway determi~A-2D Wentworth Park Road Glebe
	Attachment D - Gateway Alterat~A-2D Wentworth Park Road Glebe


	5 Post Exhibition - Planning Proposal - 4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills - Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 Amendment and Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012
	Attachment A - Planning Proposal - 4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills
	Attachment B - Draft Development Control Plan - 4-44 Wentworth Avenue, Surry Hills
	Attachment C - Summary of Matters Raised in Submissions
	Attachment D - Resolution of Council and Central Sydney Planning Committee
	Attachment E - Resolution of C~2 Wentworth Avenue Surry Hills
	CSPC Resolution - 05.12.2019 -~nt Control Plan 2012 Amendment

	Attachment E - Gateway Determination

	6 Post Exhibition - Planning Proposal - 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters - Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 Amendment and Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012
	Attachment A - Planning Proposal - 1-3 Burrows Road St Peters
	Executive Summary
	1. Background
	1.1. The Site
	1.1.1. Site identification
	1.1.2. Site location and context
	1.1.3. Road network and traffic
	1.1.4. Future context
	WestConnex St Peters Interchange
	1.1.5. Public and active transport
	1.1.6. Site characteristics and existing development


	2. Existing Planning Controls
	2.1. Zoning
	2.2. Building Height
	2.3. Floor Space Ratio
	2.4. Heritage
	2.5. Planning Proposal Request

	3. Objectives and Intended Outcomes
	4. Explanation of Provisions
	4.1. Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012
	4.1.1. Building height Map

	4.2. Sydney Development Control Plan 2012

	5. Justification
	5.1. Development outcomes
	5.1.1. Building height and mass
	5.1.2. Facade and setbacks
	5.1.3. Landscaping, deep soil and canopy cover
	5.1.4. Land-use
	5.1.5. Design excellence
	5.1.6. Ecologically Sustainable Development
	5.1.7. Vehicle access
	5.1.8. Parking
	5.1.9. Pedestrian access
	5.1.10. Signage
	5.1.11. Public art

	5.2. Other considerations
	5.2.1. Site-specific clause
	5.2.2.  Retention of industrial land
	5.2.3. Traffic
	5.2.4.  Access to public and active transport
	5.2.5. Economic impact
	5.2.6. Efficient use of land in a strategic location
	5.2.7. Land contamination
	5.2.8. Flooding

	5.3. Need for the Planning Proposal.
	Q1. Is the Planning Proposal the result of any strategic study or report?
	Q2. Is the Planning Proposal the best means of achieving the objectives or intended outcomes, or is there a better way?

	5.4. Relationship to the strategic planning framework
	Q3. Is the Planning Proposal consistent with the objectives and actions of the applicable regional or sub-regional strategy (including any exhibited draft plans or strategies)?
	Q4. Is the Planning Proposal consistent with council’s local strategy or other local strategic plan?
	Q5. Is the Planning Proposal consistent with the applicable State Environmental Planning Policies?
	Q6. Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable Section 9.1 Ministerial Directions?

	5.5. Environmental, social and economic impact
	Q7. Is there any likelihood that critical habitat or threatened species, populations or ecological communities, or their habitats, will be adversely affected as a result of the proposal?
	Q8. Are there any other likely environmental effects as a result of the Planning Proposal and how are they proposed to be managed?
	Q9. Has the Planning Proposal adequately addressed any social and economic effects?

	5.6. State and Commonwealth Interests
	Q10. Is there adequate public infrastructure for the Planning Proposal?
	Q11. What are the views of state and Commonwealth public authorities consulted in accordance with the Gateway determination?


	6. Mapping
	7. Community consultation
	8. Project timeline

	Attachment B - Draft Development Control Plan
	Draft DCP
	Citation
	Land covered by this plan
	Relationship of this plan to Sydney Development Control Plan 2012
	Amendment to Sydney Development Control Plan 2012
	Section 6.X.X 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters
	Objectives
	Provisions
	6.X.X.1 Built form, landscape setbacks and access
	6.X.X.2 Design and materiality



	Attachment C - Resolution of Council and Central Sydney Planning Committee
	Attachment D - Gateway Determination
	Attachment E - Summary of Matters Raised in Submissions
	Summary of submissions – 1-3 Burrows Road, St Peters


	7 Gateway Determination - Planning Proposal - 600-660 Elizabeth Street, Redfern - Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 Amendment and Draft Design Guide
	Attachment A - Gateway Determination
	Attachment B - Department of Planning, Industry and Environment Gateway Determination Report
	Attachment C - 22 June 2020 Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee Report - Public Exhibition – Planning Proposal – 600-660 Elizabeth Street, Redfern
	4 Public Exhibition - Planning Proposal - 600-660 Elizabeth Street, Redfern - Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 Amendment and Draft Design Guide


	8 Fire Safety Reports
	Attachment A - Fire Safety Reports Summary Sheet
	Attachment B - Inspection Report - 10A-16 Martin Place, Sydney
	Attachment C - Inspection Report - 394-404 Victoria Street, Darlinghurst
	Attachment D - Inspection Report - 118A Darlinghurst Rd, Darlinghurst




